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No. 126956
IN THE SUPREME COURT

 OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS

In The Matter of the Estate of: ) On leave to appeal from the
) Appellate Court of Illinois

JOHN W. MCDONALD, III ) Second District, No. 2-19-1113
)

Deceased. ) There on Appeal from the Circuit
) Court of the Sixteenth Judicial 

SHAWN MCDONALD, ) Circuit, Kane County, Illinois,
) No. 17-P-744

Appellant, )
)

 v. )
)

ELLIZZETTE MCDONALD, ) Date of Judgment: March 2, 2020
)

Appellee. )

BRIEF AND ARGUMENT OF APPELLANT, SHAWN MCDONALD

NATURE OF THE ACTION

Shawn McDonald (“Shawn”) is the Administrator of his brother, John W.

McDonald, III’s (“John”) Estate. Prior to serving as Administrator, Shawn was appointed

John’s plenary guardian following a contested guardianship proceeding held on May 30,

2017 in Kane County, Illinois. Shawn continuously served as plenary guardian up until

John’s death on December 11, 2017.

Unbeknownst to Shawn, an individual holding herself out as Ellizzette Duvall

Minicelli (“Ellizzette”), allegedly participated in a marriage ceremony with John on

July 11, 2017, despite a court never first determining whether the proposed marriage

would be in John’s best-interest in violation of the Probate Act of 1975. 755 ILCS 5/11a-

17(a-10).

Contested heirship proceedings commenced after Ellizzette sought to be declared

the surviving spouse of John in the trial court. A bench trial concerning Ellizzette’s

1
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purported status as John’s surviving spouse was presided over by the Honorable James

R. Murphy. At the conclusion of Ellizzette’s case-in-chief, the trial court granted Shawn’s

motion for a directed finding ruling Ellizzette failed to make a prima facie case she was

John’s spouse. Among the stated reasons for granting the motion for a directed finding

was Ellizzette’s failure to present any evidence showing a best-interest hearing occurred

prior to the marriage ceremony taking place.

Ellizzette appealed and the Second District Appellate Court (“appellate court”)

reversed the trial court’s decision finding it committed reversible error by barring

Ellizzette from testifying as to her status as John’s heir because the Dead Man’s Act was

amended in 1973 to permit such testimony and the Supreme Court case Laurence v.

Laurence, 164 Ill. 367 (1896) was no longer the evidentiary rule in Illinois. 735 ILCS

5/8-201(d). The appellate court also opined §11a-17(a-10) of the Probate Act does not

require a best interest hearing to take place in order to obtain the court’s consent for a

ward to marry, and further found the Supreme Court case Karbin v. Karbin ex rel. Hibler,

2012 IL 112815, did not support the circuit court’s ruling that a best-interest hearing

was required in Illinois. The appellate court determined it was also reversible error for

the trial court to grant Shawn’s motion for a directed finding, due in part, to a best-

interest hearing never occurring.

On May 26, 2021, this Court allowed Shawn’s timely Petition for Leave to Appeal. 

2
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ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the vigilant protection wards are entitled to requires a best

interest determination pursuant to 755 ILCS 5/11a-17(a-10) to occur in order for a ward

deemed to be without capacity, to marry. 

2. Whether a petitioner claiming to be an heir of a decedent is required to

establish her actual identity in an heirship proceeding.

3. Whether the holding in Laurence v. Laurence, 164 Ill. 367 (1896),

prohibiting a purported spouse from testifying in an heirship proceeding, controls over

legislative amendments to the Dead Man’s Act.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

On November 18, 2019, the trial court granted Shawn’s motion for a directed

finding that Ellizzette failed to make a prima facie case for the existence of a valid

marriage to the decedent, John W. McDonald III (“John”). (C 2167) The trial court also

found there to be no just reason to delay enforcement or appeal pursuant to Illinois

Supreme Court Rule 304(a). (C 2167) Ellizzette filed her Notice of Appeal on December

18, 2019. (C 2243-2244) The appellate court had jurisdiction pursuant to Illinois

Supreme Court Rule 304(a). The appellate court reversed the trial court in an opinion

filed on February 1, 2021. (A1 -A47) On February 9, 2021, Appellant filed his Petition

for Leave to Appeal, and on May 26, 2021, this Court allowed the Petition. Jurisdiction

lies under Supreme Court Rule 315.

3
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case originates from a claim made by the Appellee, n/k/a Ellizzette

McDonald, a/k/a/ Lisa Ann Blaydes, a/k/a Ellizette A.M. Duvall, a/k/a Ellizette Blaydes

Duvall, a/k/a Ellizzette Ann Mareen McDonald, a/k/a Ellizzette Anne Mareen Minicelli,

a/k/a Ellizzette Duvall McDonald, a/k/a Ellizzette B. Minicelli (C570, C599-C609, Sec C

15 - SEC C 25, SEC C 40 - SEC C 50) that she is the surviving spouse of John W.

McDonald, III. 

In the underlying case, the Appellee did not produce any document which

established who she claims to be. She never produced her birth certificate (C751), her

divorce decree (C109) from her former spouse (C1096-1099), or her passport. (See,

Response to Request for Production of Documents (C594-C609, C642-657, C1366 V2),

C734-753). 

Shawn McDonald is the duly appointed Administrator of John McDonald III’s

estate. Also, Shawn was the duly appointed Plenary Guardian of John in a guardianship

proceeding in Kane County commonly known as In Re Estate of John W. McDonald, III,

Case No. 17P151.

The decedent, John W. McDonald, III (“John”) was aware of the guardianship

proceedings and retained an attorney who participated in them. (C145-C149, C549-

C565, C2065-C2067) .  During the guardianship proceedings, John was interviewed over

the phone and in person by Attorney Fred Beer, his court-appointed Guardian Ad Litem,

who prepared a written report detailing John’s inability to care for himself, manage his

finances and his estate, and make decisions related to his health. (C549-565).  

  Although Appellee purported to have had a 30-year relationship with John, that

claim is not supported anywhere in the record. (C2069-C2070). It was made up. John

worked at Johns Hopkins Hospital in Maryland and later in St. Louis, Missouri. Appellee

was living in Australia with another man. 

4
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Furthermore, Raymond Bement was deposed in the underlying Estate proceeding

(17 P744). He testified that, after he officiated at a marriage ceremony where he did not

ask the Appellee for identification (C2016), he traveled to Kane County, Illinois. He was

accompanied by the Appellee and John to attend a guardianship hearing before Judge

Noverini on July 24, 2017. At the deposition, which occurred after the purported

ceremony, Bement testified he told John’s attorney about the marriage (C2067-C2068),

but never informed Shawn or Judge Noverini (C2065).

Shawn McDonald (“Shawn”) is John’s brother (C20).  Shawn did not list the

Appellee as an heir in the Petition for Letters of Administration, but did indicate and filed

a statement that recited the putative marriage between John and her.  After John died

intestate, Shawn stated John had participated in a marriage ceremony with Appellee

(C19-22).  In fact, on December 22, 2017, he filed a pleading in the trial court declaring

the marriage to Ellizzette Duvall Minicelli and John was invalid (C29-31).  An Order of

Heirship was entered on December 19, 2017, by Judge John Noverini who also presided

over the guardianship case. (C26).  Shawn was appointed Administrator of John’s estate

on December 21, 2017 (C27).  After Appellee filed a motion for substitution of judge

(C47-48), the case was assigned to Judge James R. Murphy (C406). Appellee was

granted 21 days to answer Shawn’s Petition and never did (C43).

On January 17, 2018, Appellee filed a Motion to Vacate the Order appointing

Shawn as Administrator (C50).  This motion was denied on April 18, 2018 (C240). 

Appellee was then granted leave to file a petition to be appointed administrator of John’s

Estate (C376), even though the three month time period to do so (755 ILCS 5/9-7) had

expired. At no time did Appellee file a petition to remove Shawn as Administrator.  Also,

Appellee filed a Motion to Stay any hearing on Shawn’s Petition to Invalidate the

Marriage (C69).  On January 18, 2018, Shawn filed a motion to prohibit transfer of

assets (C98).  A temporary restraining order was entered in favor of the Administrator

5
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(C143).  The Court also entered an order binding the parties in the probate case to

orders in the guardianship case, 17 P 151, in which Shawn was made John’s plenary

guardian in May 2017 (C21, C141).  

Shawn filed a motion to turnover blood samples of John’s blood (C111).  After

Appellee failed to comply with discovery, a citation pursuant to 755 ILCS 5/16-1 was

served on Appellee to give testimony (C255). Shawn filed a Motion to Compel Discovery

(C305-C328) on June 5, 2018.  Two days later, Appellee filed a Motion for Judgment on

the Pleadings  (C345-C359) as to her Petition for Letters of Administration she had filed

on May 1, 2018 (C275-C276). At that time, Shawn was still engaged in discovery

(C377).  On June 3, 2018, Judge Murphy entered an order compelling Appellee to

comply with discovery (C400-C401).  On July 6, 2018, the Court ordered counsel for

Appellee to produce her for a deposition (C474).  The court entered another discovery

order compelling Appellee to appear for a deposition on July 19, 2018 (C544).  Shawn

filed another Motion on July 25, 2018, compelling discovery because Appellee failed to

appear as ordered by the Court (C570).  On August 6, 2018, a Motion for Sanctions was

filed against Appellee for discovery abuse (S. Ct. R. 218).  (C621) When Appellee was

finally deposed, her real identity became a factual issue (C736). Appellee was born Lisa

Anne Blaydes on March 21, 1963 (C751).  A completely different identity was used when

she applied for a marriage license with John (C753, C760-C765).

Appellee’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings as to the Petition to be

appointed Administrator was denied on September 10, 2018 (C754).  A trial order was

entered on September 18, 2018 at Appellee’s request (C756).  The same day, the Court

entered an additional order which required Appellee to be fingerprinted if she wished to

pursue being administrator (C757).  On October 17, 2018, in anticipation of trial a

month later, Appellee’s counsel began issuing trial subpoenas (C793, C802, C815, C820,

C823, C828, C833, C838, C841, C848, C853, C858, C861, C866, C871, C885, C889,

6
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C894, C898, C905, C913, C919, C927, C939,C944).  Eight days later, the trial was

continued (C967) at Appellee’s request (C878).

On October 2, 2018, Shawn asked the Court to take judicial notice of the

marriage application and record, marriage license and certification of marriage relating

to Ellizzette Duvall Minicelli and John (C760-C765).  At various places, these records

indicate Appellee was born in Lyon, France, on March 21, 1964.  They indicate the

marriage license is only valid in Edgar County, Illinois, and Raymond Carl Bement was

the Officiant. (C2060-C2099).  Appellee argued in the trial court that Shawn’s motion

for judicial notice was for the purpose of trying to “invalidate Ellizzette’s marriage to the

decedent” (C970).  The Court granted Shawn’s motion (C1058) and entered a case

management order (S. Ct. R. 218) (C1059).

On November 7, 2018, Shawn filed a Motion to Deem Facts Admitted relating to

a Request to Admit (S. Ct. R 216) (C978-C1006).  In it, he sought admissions as to

certain birth records and Appellee referring to herself as being a supposed neurosurgeon

on staff at New York Presbyterian Hospital (C991-C992).  On December 12, 2018,

Shawn filed a Motion to Compel Discovery because of the Appellee’s refusal to turnover

the decedent’s laptop and cell phone (C1079-C1089). On December 12, 2018, Shawn

served an additional Request to Admit (C1091) on Appellee seeking admissions as to

Ellizzette Duvall pleading guilty to forgery (C1094-C1095); and a copy of appellee’s

Judgment of Dissolution to her former husband, Joseph Zollner (C1096-C1109).  In that

divorce decree, Appellee was restored to her former name of Lisa Ann Blaydes (C1108). 

It indicates Appellee was married on June 18, 1988. The divorce judgment was entered

September 17, 1996. At a hearing on the motion to compel, Shawn’s motion was

granted (R2, R15) (A49-A62) (C1390).  Subsequently, Appellee’s trial counsel withdrew

(C1407, C1414).  

7
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Because Appellee refused to turnover the decedent’s laptop and cell phone, a

Rule to Show Cause issued on March 12, 2019 (C1417).  A hearing on the Rule was

conducted on May 1, 2019 (C1609) (R70-R194) (A117-A241).  At the conclusion,

Appellee was sanctioned monetarily by Judge Murphy (C 1611, C1614-C618, C1620).

Due to his concern about Appellee’s true identity and holding herself out as a

physician, Shawn issued a series of Requests to Admit to the Appellee (C1419-C1440)

(C1442-C1450).  Appellee’s trial counsel then reentered the case on April 10, 2019

(C1511).  After the Rule to Show Cause hearing, Appellee was ordered to be

fingerprinted by the Kane County Sheriff (C1612). Those fingerprint records were never

obtained or filed by her.

Thereafter, Appellee’s trial counsel issued multiple subpoenas and medical

records requests (C1674).  These related to physicians who had treated John during the

guardianship proceeding.  None of them were ever called at trial (R242-R412) (A289-

A459).  Only one of John’s colleagues, Visar Belegu, testified that he was unfamiliar with

any of the physicians, Drs. Nadkarni, Greenberg, and Gonzalez, who rendered opinions

on John’s lack of capacity in the guardianship proceeding (R296, R316-R324) (A343,

A363-A371).  Soon after, Appellee’s trial counsel sought to depose all of these physicians

involved in the guardianship proceeding and others (C1749-C1756, C1796-C1797). 

None were ever deposed.

On July 29, 2019, because Appellee’s trial counsel could not timely depose certain

physicians, she sought an order from the trial court extending the time to complete

discovery (C1610) (C1849-C1855).  The Court entered an order authorizing an extension

on August 8, 2019 (C1875).  Thereafter, on August 23, 2019, Shawn filed a Request to

Admit a certain criminal record relating to Ellizzette Duvall a/k/a Lisa Blaydes (C1948)

from the State of New York (C1945-C1952).  This request was a felony record of

Ellizzette Duvall a/k/a Lisa Blaydes being convicted of misrepresenting herself as a

8
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physician (C1954-C1956.  Soon after, Appellee’s trial counsel withdrew from the case

for the second time on September 18, 2019 (C1986).

On October 16, 2019, Shawn filed a motion in limine seeking to bar Appellee from

testifying since her testimony would violate the Dead Man’s Act (735 ILCS 5/8-201)

(C2005-C2039).  A pro se appearance was filed by Appellee on October 23, 2019

(C2043).  A hearing was conducted on October 23, 2019 (R195-R241) (A242-A288). 

At that time, the Court granted Shawn’s Motion for Judicial Notice of the criminal felony

conviction of the Appellee misrepresenting herself as a physician (R213-R214) (A260-

A261).   The Court deferred ruling on Shawn’s Motion in Limine (R237) (A284).  At the

hearing, the Court said the following:

**We have a trial date scheduled.  It’s a firm trial date and it’s going to
go because there’s (sic) witnesses; so I was asking whether you were
going to be involved in preparing your side for the trial**

So I was asking whether it’s realistic that we have a November 18th trial
date, and you said, yes, you want to get it done.*** (R239) (A286)

Appellee filed a response to Shawn’s Motion in Limine on October 30, 2019

(C2045-C2051).  Shawn filed a reply on November 4, 2019 (C2052-C2153).  On

November 13, 2019, a hearing was conducted (C2166).  Shawn’s motion barring

Appellee from testifying was granted (C2197-C2234).

At this hearing, on November 13, 2019, Appellee indicated she was ready to

proceed to trial on November 18, 2019, with her witnesses (C2203).  She outlined who

her witnesses would be at that time (C2204-C2205, C2210, C2211).  At the hearing,

Appellee conceded the fact she did not want to be administrator of John’s estate (C2227)

and she told Judge Murphy she would be at the trial (C2232).  Appellee abandoned her

petition to be administrator on November 13, 2019 (C2227).

The bench trial commenced on Monday, November 18, 2019 (R242-R394) (A289-

A441).  At that time, Appellee claimed she was not ready for trial (R247) (A294),
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claiming to have filed her motion to continue the trial the previous day, electronically

(R248) (A295).

In the motion, Appellee declared her father was given end of life, and her mother

could not testify due to her cancer treatment (R248) (A295).  She said she and her

witnesses had “all come from out of state” (R248) (A295).  She also indicated she had

called the Clerk’s office the previous Friday (R249) (A296) and her “assistant had also

called” (R250-R251) (A297-A298).

The Court located the motion and, in reviewing it, stated “Okay, I have the

motion. So you are asking not only for a continuance of today’s date, but you are asking

for leave to have your attorneys come back into the case?” (R252) (A299) (C2169-

C2171).  After considering all the arguments and Shawn’s argument, the Court stated:

*** THE COURT: The Court is subject to considerations of
Supreme Court Rule 231 when there is an application for a continuance
on the day of trial that this motion was filed 11/18, today, at 3:49 a.m.,
and noticed up for December 3rd at 9:00 a.m., because of somebody at
the clerk’s office saying that’s the best they could do is notice it up, it is
here as an emergency, more or less.  It doesn’t designate or follow our
local rules as far as emergency, but I am considering it and I’ve
considered all your arguments.

And as far as due diligence, from the arguments that you make,
Ms. McDonald, regarding what you don’t have, what you would like to
have, those things have been going on for two months now, when your
attorneys withdrew.  And on Thursday, you represented that you would
be ready nonetheless to proceed pro se, and you represented the same
things that you’re representing this morning as far as father’s end-of-life
treatment.  And then you contacted the clerk’s office and nothing
happened on Friday, nothing happened Saturday, Sunday, until this
morning; and so as far as due diligence, there is - - there’s a want or lack
of due diligence to present this motion. 

There was no due diligence in the motion or the affidavit that
should be attached (R265-R266) (A312-A313).

***

At any rate, I’m still talking.  

 So there are - - there is a lack of showing that the evidence would
be material to this - - to the issues in this case as well.  And so - - and
also the reason that you need to re-engage your attorneys to act for you
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doesn’t show me that there was due diligence on that either, and that
same reason was - - existed for the last two months and nothing was ever
said to prevent us from going forward with the trial today, which we have
reserved time for you and you assured us that we would be ready to go,
or that you would be ready to go even though you didn’t think you were
totally ready.  And as far as your father’s condition, you would still be able
to do this.

Now, without - - so, therefore, what I’m going to do is deny the
motion to continue today.  If you can’t go forward, we’ll take it from
there.  If you can go forward, then you should put on your first witness,
because I’ve already had enough of opening statement through all this
talk in regards to the motion to continue to know what the issues are
going to be.

So you have apparently brought one of your witnesses here today
so - - at least one.  So if you want to call your first witness, we can go
ahead this morning.  Otherwise, we are going to - - we’ll go from there. 
It depends what you want to do.  If you want to talk to the parties you
came with and we’ll take a break for 10 minutes. *** (R267-R268)
(A314-A315)

Thereafter, Appellee said she was ready to call her first witness (R22) (A67).  She

called three:  Diane Boyer (R276) (A323), Dr. Visar Belegu (R295) (A342) and Ray

Bement (R331) (A378).  Neither Boyer or Belegu testified about the purported marriage

ceremony.  Bement was the Officiant.

During his testimony, Mr. Bement testified he was unaware that John McDonald

had a plenary guardian named for him (R348) (A395).  Mr. Bement testified the

purported marriage ceremony was conducted in Piatt, County, not Edgar County (R363)

(A410).  At the time of that ceremony, at trial, he said he did not know who Ellizzette

Duvall Minicelli was.  At his deposition, he testified to the contrary (R365-R367) (A412-

A414).  He admitted there were no witnesses to the marriage ceremony in Piatt County

(R368) (A415).  He never obtained an Edgar County marriage license (R369).  He

testified he only knew the Appellee by the name “Duvall” (R373) (A420).

At the close of the Appellee’s trial evidence, Shawn moved for a directed finding

(R377) (A424).  The Court heard arguments and ruled.  In doing so, the Court found

that Appellee failed to show a valid application for a marriage license in Edgar County,
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a ceremony witnessed by two persons (R390) (A437) in Edgar County, and the

ceremony did not comply with the best interest determination as required under the

Probate Act (R392) (C2167) (A439).  Judgment was entered on November 18, 2019. 

A Notice of Appeal was filed on December 18, 2019 (C2241).

The Appellate Court filed its opinion on February 1, 2021, reversing in part and

affirming in part the trial court. Shawn filed a Petition for Leave to Appeal (#126956) on

February 9, 2021. The Petition for Leave to Appeal was granted on May 26, 2021, and

Shawn filed his notice of election to file a brief consistent with Supreme Court Rule 315

on June 4, 2021. 
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STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The standard for reviewing a trial court’s ruling on an evidentiary matter, such

as the granting or denial of a motion in limine is for an abuse of discretion. People v.

$5,608 U.S. Currency, 359 Ill.App.3d 891 (2nd Dist. 2005). A trial court’s ruling on an

issue involving the Dead Man’s Act will not be reversed unless the error was substantially

prejudicial and affected the trial’s outcome. In re Estate of Goffinet, 318 Ill.App.3d 152,

156 (4th Dist. 2001).

The standard of review on a motion for directed finding pursuant to 735 ILCS

5/2-1110 depends on the nature of the proof adduced. Kokinis v. Kotrich, 81 Ill.2d 151

(1980). The trial court must first determine whether the plaintiff established a prima

facie case by presenting at least some evidence on every element essential to the

underlying cause of action. Kokinis, 81 Ill.2d at 154. A trial court’s determination that

a plaintiff failed to present a prima facie case is reviewed de novo. People, ex rel.

Sherman v. Cryns, 203 Ill.2d 264, 275 (2003). 

If a plaintiff is found to have presented a prima facie case, the trial court then

determines the totality of the evidence presented, considering the credibility of the

witnesses, the weight and quality of the evidence, and any evidence favorable to the

defendant. People ex rel. Sherman, 203 Ill.2d at 275-276.  As to this latter determina-

tion, the trial court will only be reversed if the ruling is against the manifest weight of

the evidence. Kokinis, 81 Ill.2d at 154. 
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ARGUMENT

I. THE VIGILANT PROTECTION WARDS ARE ENTITLED TO INCLUDES REQUIRING A COURT
TO DETERMINE WHETHER IT IS IN THE WARD’S BEST INTEREST TO MARRY.

When a court determines an individual completely lacks capacity, declares them

to be a ward of the court, and appoints a plenary guardian, that ward is entitled to

heightened protection without exception. When the appellate court held the Probate Act

does not require a court to make a best-interest determination before a ward enters into

a marriage contract, it stripped away the vigilant protection this Court proclaimed

disabled persons are entitled to. Karbin v Karbin, ex rel. Hibler, 2012 IL 112815. The

essence of a guardianship is to protect the most vulnerable members of our society from

neglect, exploitation, and abuse. 755 ILCS 5/11a–3 (b).  John W. McDonald, III, was one

such individual. The law harbors vigilance for those who need it most. Only when a best

interest determination as to a ward’s decision to marry is required, can this promise of

vigilant protection be kept while simultaneously preserving the integrity of marriage and

safeguarding family relationships.

 The promise of vigilant protection originates from the fact disabled individuals

are recognized and viewed as a “favored person in the eyes of the law”.  Karbin v.

Karbin, ex rel. Hibler, 2012 IL 112815, ¶45 (quoting In re Mark W., 228 Ill.2d 365, 374-

375 (2008)). At issue in Karbin was whether a guardian had standing under the Probate

Act to institute marital dissolution proceedings on behalf of the ward. Id. Similar to

Shawn’s appointment as plenary guardian of his brother John, the guardian in Karbin

also served in a dual capacity over her  mother’s person and estate. Id. at ¶22. The

analysis in Karbin commenced with an overview of the Probate Act’s adult guardianship

provisions noting a guardian is required to act in the ward’s best interests in all instances

with the guardianship to be utilized only as necessary to promote the well-being of the

disabled person, to protect him from neglect, exploitation, or abuse. Id. at ¶12. In

overruling the majority rule set forth in  In re Marriage of Drews, 115 Ill.2d 201 (1986),
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which prohibited a guardian from instituting a dissolution proceeding on behalf of a ward

absent statutory authorization, this Court noted the Supreme Court and appellate court

have more recently relied on the notion of “implied authority” rather than requiring

explicit authority in determining the power of a guardian to act. Karbin v. Karbin, ex rel.

Hibler, 2012 IL 112815, ¶¶32-34; See, In re Estate of Longeway, 133 Ill.2d 33, 45-46

(1989) (plenary guardian has implied authority under §11a-17(a) to make decision on

behalf of the ward regarding the use of life-sustaining measures); In re Estate of

Greenspan, 137 Ill.2d 1 (1990) (same); In re Estate of K.E.J., 382 Ill.App.3d 401 (2008)

(pursuant to §11a-17(a), a guardian may seek to have a ward undergo involuntary

sterilization). 

The outcome in Karbin was justified by noting the difficulty accepting the view

that the decision to divorce is qualitatively different than the other deeply personal

decisions a plenary guardian has the  decision-making capability of, such as the decision

to refuse life-sustaining treatment or the decision to undergo involuntary sterilization,

both of which can rarely be undone.  Karbin, 2012 IL 112815, ¶42. Whereas with respect

to the decision to divorce, a disabled adult could regain competency making remarriage

to the former spouse possible. Id. So too is the case here, where John could have

regained competency dispensing with the need for a best interest hearing prior to

entering into marriage with Ellizzette. The decision observed the traditional rule

employed in Drews results in inequity to the disabled party who would be at the

complete mercy of the competent party without any consideration for the disabled

party’s best interests. Id. at ¶45. 

In direct response to this Court’s decision in Karbin, the State Legislature enacted

§11a-17(a-10) in the Probate Act. 2014 Ill. Legis. Serv. P.A. 98-1107 (S.B. 2954)
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(WEST).  The section is directed toward the scenario of a ward who seeks to marry

another while under a guardianship and provides as follows:

Upon petition by the guardian of the ward's person or estate, the
court may authorize and direct a guardian of the ward's person or estate
to consent, on behalf of the ward, to the ward's marriage pursuant to Part
II of the Illinois Marriage and Dissolution of Marriage Act if the court finds
by clear and convincing evidence that the marriage is in the ward's best
interests. In making its determination, the court shall consider the
standards set forth in subsection (e) of this Section. Upon presentation of
a court order authorizing and directing a guardian of the ward's person
and estate to consent to the ward's marriage, the county clerk shall
accept the guardian's application, appearance, and signature on behalf of
the ward for purposes of issuing a license to marry under Section 203 of
the Illinois Marriage and Dissolution of Marriage Act. 755 ILCS 5/11a-
17(a-10).

The General Assembly’s heightened concern for the security of a ward is

illustrated through the requirement of clear and convincing evidence as the quantum of

proof as to determining whether a marriage would be in the ward’s best-interest. The

burden of proof is the equivalent of showing such evidence that leaves no reasonable

doubt in the mind of the trier of fact. Matter of Larimore’s Estate, 64 Ill.App.3d 470 (3rd

Dist. 1978). 

It is axiomatic that vigilant protection is a concept that is pro-active as opposed

to reactive. When the appellate court briefly distinguished Karbin at the end of its

opinion and concluded a best-interest hearing pursuant to §11a-17(a-10) is not required

before a disabled ward can marry on his or her own accord, it failed to appreciate and

consider the power balance it endorsed between competent and incompetent parties. 

In re Estate of McDonald, 2020 IL App (2d) 191113, ¶104. The conclusion rendered the

statute itself a nullity and completely undermined a court’s ability and duty to safeguard

its own ward. See Rushton v. Department of Corrections, 2019 IL 124992, ¶14, (a

statute should be in its entirety, keeping in mind the subject it addresses and the

apparent intent of the legislature in enacting it). Common sense is not set aside when

construing statutes. Nelson v Artley, 2015 IL 118058. The outcome is precisely the type
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of outcome this Court warned against in the Karbin decision.  Karbin v. Karbin, ex rel.

Hibler, 2012 IL 112815, ¶45.  The vigilant protection John was entitled to became

illusory. 

Although the facts of Karbin involved the decision of a disabled ward to divorce,

John’s decision to marry is indistinguishable. Like the decision to divorce, the decision

to marry is among the most significant undertakings a person makes in their life. The

decision carries with it a wide range of repercussions and consequences involving rights,

duties and responsibilities. The prospect of financial exploitation, physical or emotional

abuse, and neglect can be the unfortunate end-product of such decisions which are

hastily made without careful, prior examination. This risk is magnified when one of the

parties seeking to get married is subject of a plenary guardianship and the plenary

guardian and court are not involved in the decision making. Long standing family

relationships such as the ones John’s parents and siblings shared with him can be

upended and usurped by another claiming to be the spouse and rightful heir to the

disabled ward’s estate. Scenarios such as these are precisely what a plenary

guardianship seeks to avert. 755 ILCS 5/11a-18; 755 ILCS 5/11a-22. By enacting 755

ILCS 5/11a-17(a-10), the General Assembly created a procedural tool for courts in

Illinois to prevent such devastating outcomes and ensure the consequential decision to

marry would first involve carefully examining whether embarking on such a course is in

the ward’s best-interest. 755 ILCS 5/11a-17(e).

The facts of this case illustrate exactly what can happen when a ward marries in

the absence of a best-interest hearing being conducted first. John’s status as a ward was

the result of untreated and uncontrolled psychiatric and substance abuse disorders. Less

than six weeks after being declared a ward, John and Ellizzette secretly married without

adherence to the two witness rule. Pike v. Pike, 112 Ill.App. 243 (1st Dist. 1904). This

secret arrangement was carried out without the prior knowledge of John’s plenary
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guardian, Shawn, or the consent of the probate court which had recently determined

John to be completely without capacity. As will be discussed in greater detail later in this

brief, the application for John and Ellizzette’s marriage falsely endorsed her actual

identity with a fictitious last name, date of birth, location of birth and listed occupation.

All of this information was untrue. Through discovery in the heirship proceedings, Shawn

learned, and apprised the court of Ellizzette’s employment of  no less than eight different

identities. (A502-A512). A practice for which she was previously prosecuted. This

troubling history was directly connected to the trial court requiring Ellizzette to be

fingerprinted in the lead-up to the trial in order to determine who she actually was.

Because a best interest hearing never took place, a disabled ward was able to marry a

dissembler.    

The end result of the appellate court determining the Probate Act contains no

requirement for a best-interest hearing with respect to a ward’s decision to marry, is

that all wards, such as John, suffer the inequity of being  left to the complete mercy of

the individuals they choose to wed, without any prior consideration for their best-

interests. To reach such a conclusion in the face of the Illinois Supreme Court having

declared the disabled to be among the most vulnerable in our society being entitled to

vigilant protection, was respectfully, erroneous. Karbin v. Karbin, ex rel. Hibler, 2012 IL

112815, ¶48. The requirement of a best-interest hearing not only endorses this

declaration of safeguarding a ward into practice, it strengthens and preserves the

integrity of marriage and safeguards family relationships which is also the stated purpose

of the Marriage Act. 750 ILCS 5/102(2). If the hegemony of these historical values are

to be preserved, the appellate decision must be reversed, and the trial court’s

determination that a best interest hearing pursuant to §11a-17(a-10) is required in

Illinois with respect to a ward’s decision to marry should be affirmed. 755 ILCS 5/11a-

17(a-10).
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II. THE APPELLATE COURT DECISION FAILED TO ACKNOWLEDGE ELLIZZETTE NEVER
ESTABLISHED HER ACTUAL IDENTITY THROUGHOUT THE TRIAL PROCEEDINGS.

When the appellate court concluded Ellizzette had made a prima facie case at the

close of her evidence, it failed to appreciate Ellizzette’s actual identity was at issue,

unresolved and never established through the evidence she presented to the trial court

during the heirship proceedings. It is self-evident that the actual identity of an individual

claiming to be an heir of a decedent in a contested heirship proceeding matters. The

object of heirship proceedings is to determine to whom the law would distribute a

decedent’s estate. George v. Moorhead, 399 Ill. 497 (1942). When considering that

objective, how could the identity of an heir not be elemental? As the petitioner claiming

to be the surviving spouse of John W. McDonald, III, it was Ellizzette’s burden to prove

who she was. In re Estate of Severson, 107 Ill.App.3d 634, 636 (2nd Dist. 1982)(burden

of proof in heirship proceeding is on party claiming heirship).

Since this integral element remained unresolved throughout trial proceedings,

Shawn made a motion for a directed finding at the conclusion of Ellizzette’s evidence on

the basis that she failed to make out a prima facie case as to her purported marriage to

John. By its very definition, a “prima facie case” entails “[t]he establishment of a legally

required rebuttable presumption” or “[a] party's production of enough evidence to allow

the fact-trier to infer the fact at issue and rule in the party's favor.” Black's Law

Dictionary 1330 (9th Ed. 2009). When Ellizzette failed to prove her identity, the trial

court correctly determined the litigation could not proceed to a subsequent stage which

consequently entitled Shawn to judgment in his favor as a matter of law.  Kokinis v.

Kotrich, 81 Ill.2d 151 (1980).

It is important to consider that at the time of trial, a standing court order was in

place for Ellizzette to submit to fingerprinting at the Kane County Sheriff’s Office as a

result of Shawn learning through the discovery process and then apprising the trial court

of Ellizzette’s utilization of no less than eight different identities, a practice for which she
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was previously prosecuted. (A502-A512) (C1945-1952)  Despite multiple orders

requiring her to be fingerprinted, Ellizzette continuously failed to comply with the court’s

directive and she proceeded to trial notwithstanding. Ellizzette’s actual identity was then,

and is now, a mystery. The appellate decision not only failed to appreciate the

outstanding court order requiring fingerprinting, it also never acknowledged the multiple

identities Ellizzette utilized, one of which appeared on her marriage license application

with John. The appellate opinion was silent as to both matters. 

Rather than scrutinizing the identity issue, the appellate court directed its focus

on a decision the trial court made almost a year before trial when it granted Shawn’s

motion for judicial notice of John and Ellizzette’s marriage license and application. The

purpose underlying that motion was not to establish a valid marriage ceremony

occurred, but rather to take notice of the information contained in public records with

respect to Ellizzette’s purported identity. See Muller v. Zollar, 267 Ill.App.3d 339 (3rd

Dist. 1999) (Judicial notice is proper when the matter is part of public record).

Ellizzette’s objection to the factual contents of these documents being judicially noticed

unquestionably revealed her understanding of the motivations behind Shawn’s motion.

(C968-971). 

The falsehoods contained in the marriage documents Shawn sought judicial notice

of concerning Ellizzette’s identity alone were notable. (C764-C765) (A516)  Ellizzette’s

name, birth year and place of birth were all inconsistent with the information which was

listed in her birth record obtained from the Cook County Clerk. Ellizzette was born with

the last name Blaydes, not Duvall.(C751). She was born in 1963, not 1964. (C751). She

was born at Holy Family Hospital in Des Plaines, Illinois, not Lyon, France. (C751). Her

listed occupation as a physician scientist was similarly a work of fiction (C597-C598), one

she was previously prosecuted for in the State of New York following the events of

September 11, 2001, for falsely representing herself to be a doctor. (C 1948 V3). 
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Beyond that, even the location of the purported ceremony occurring in Paris, Edgar

County, Illinois was invented. (C762-C763, C765) Despite all of this information being

fabricated, Ellizzette nevertheless certified to the Edgar County Clerk that it was all

correct to the best of her knowledge and belief. (C764). 

The unresolved issue related to Ellizzette’s identity was also captured during the

trial proceedings when her own witness, wedding officiant Ray Bement testified as to

possessing no knowledge of a person by the name of Ellizzette Duvall Minicelli, the name

appearing on the marriage licence application he purportedly signed. (A413). When

ruling on a motion for a directed finding, the court is required to consider all of the

evidence, including any evidence which is favorable to the moving party. Kokinis v.

Kotrich, 81 Ill.2d 151, 154 (1980). In this particular instance, the evidence favorable to

Shawn was overwhelming. The individual John is alleged to have married does not exist.

Falsifying information on a marriage license related to a person’s name, birth

date, birth place, occupation and the location of the purported marriage does not

strengthen and preserve the integrity of marriage and safeguard family relationships,

the stated purpose of the Marriage Act. 750 ILCS 5/102(2). Deceptive practices such as

these make a mockery of it. So does the fact the officiant who presided over the

purported wedding ceremony possessed no knowledge of the stated identity of the

person he supposedly married. (A413-A414).

The vigilant protection wards are entitled to during their life, naturally extends

to their estates.  In re Estate of Wellman, 174 Ill.2d 335, 348 (1996) (the trial court

protects the disabled person as its ward, vigilantly guarding the ward's property and

viewing the ward as a favored person in the eyes of the law). By failing to consider the

identity issue, the appellate finding enabled those whose actual identity is never

established, the ability to advance fraudulent claims against an estate to the detriment

of a decedent’s true heirs. Because Ellizzette failed to satisfy her burden in establishing
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her actual identity during the heirship proceedings, it cannot be said that a prima facie

case was made, and therefore, this Court should reverse the appellate court’s judgment.

III. ILLINOIS RULE OF EVIDENCE 101 WAS ABROGATED WHEN THE APPELLATE COURT
PERMITTED THE LEGISLATURE’S AMENDMENT TO THE DEAD MAN’S ACT TO USURP THE
SUPREME COURT’S DECISION IN LAURENCE V. LAURENCE, 164 ILL. 367 (1896).

When the appellate court opined this Court’s decision in Laurence v. Laurence,

164 Ill. 367 (1896) no longer remained the rule in Illinois, it did so on the basis that the

decision in Laurence analyzed the Dead’s Man’s Act as it stood in 1896, and since that

time, the Act was amended to no longer include a restriction on a person’s ability to

testify during an heirship proceeding. 735 ILCS 5/8-201(d). In support of its decision,

the appellate court cited the cases of In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill.App.3d 781 (1981) and

In re Estate of Hutchins, 120 Ill.App.3d 1084 (1984). The error of the appellate decision,

along with the decisions in Bailey and Hutchins,  is a statutory rule of evidence was

allowed to control over Laurence, a Supreme Court decision which has remained

undisturbed in the twelve plus decades since it was originally decided. Laurence v.

Laurence, 164 Ill. 367 (1896). This outcome is squarely at odds with Illinois Rule of

Evidence 101, which declares a statutory rule of evidence only to be effective so long as

it does not conflict with a decision of the Illinois Supreme Court. Ill. Rule of Evid. 101.

On that basis alone, the decision in Laurence must control. It is the potential reason

litigants and courts throughout the state continue to find Laurence authoritative despite

the General Assembly’s amendment. In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill.App.3d 781 (1981); 

In re Estate of Hutchins, 120 Ill.App.3d 1084 (1984); In re Estate of McDonald, 2021 IL

App (2d) 191113.  The appellate decision in this case is also problematic in that by

claiming Laurence was no longer the rule, it undermined the very  purpose of the Dead

Man’s Act itself. 

The theory behind the Act is that, as the mouth of the deceased is closed by

death, the mouth of the living who asserts a claim against the dead shall be closed by
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law.  In re Maher’s Estate, 210 Ill. 160, 169-170 (1904). The Act is an evidentiary rule

intended to protect decedents' estates from fraudulent claims and it equalizes the

parties' positions in regard to giving testimony. Balma v. Henry, 404 Ill.App.3d 233,

237-238 (2nd Dist. 2010); In re Diak’s Estate, 70 Ill.App.2d 1, 6 (1st Dist. 1966). The

Act bars only that evidence that could have been refuted by the decedent. Gunn v.

Sobucki, 216 Ill.2d 602, 609 (2005). To allow an heir to testify in direct contradiction to

another person’s claim of heirship is to afford him the opportunity of acquiring a greater

portion of the estate than that to which he may otherwise be entitled. In re Diak’s

Estate, 70 Ill.App.2d 1, 6 (1st Dist. 1966).

The appellate court’s ruling that Ellizzette should have been provided the

opportunity to testify regarding her claimed  marriage to John, would have afforded her

the opportunity of acquiring the entirety of John’s estate irrespective of Shawn’s

objection to her claimed status and his insistence that she represented nothing more

than a legal stranger. The precise scenario was prohibited in Laurence, 164 Ill. 367

(1896). Furthermore, after considering the factual backdrop of this case, the allowance

of such allegations would present an almost impossible proposition for Shawn to rebut

because the marriage between John and Ellizzette was designed to be without a single

witness and most importantly because of John’s death. In re Maher’s Estate, 210 Ill.

160, 169-170 (1904).  If the intent of the Act is to protect John’s estate from fraudulent

claims and also to equalize Shawn and Ellizzette’s positions with respect to giving

testimony, the appellate decision did the opposite. It improperly flipped the spouse’s

burden of proving heirship, described by the court in Bailey as “onerous”, onto the

administrator to instead disprove it. In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill.App.3d at 784 (5th Dist.

1981).

The “onerous burden” in proving heirship for an alleged spouse as discussed in

the Bailey decision is difficult to fathom when considering weddings are historically one
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of the most heavily attended and celebrated events of a person’s lifetime.  Entire

industries across the globe exist because of the significance of the event. There are

photographs and videos taken to memorialize and document the occasion. Marriages and

even engagements are often publicly broadcasted through written announcements in

newspapers, newsletters, and on the internet. Engagement rings and wedding rings are

often exchanged. Dresses or gowns, are typically purchased, rented or borrowed to be

worn during the ceremony. Cards, letters and gifts are received from family, friends, and

colleagues. The list of keepsakes, mementos, and similar items one may acquire from

a marriage ceremony is endless. In the case at bar, Ellizzette offered the trial court none

of these things to consider and an offer of proof like the one made by the petitioner in

Bailey wasn’t even attempted.

In that offer of proof, the petitioner in Bailey testified about when she started

dating the decedent, the date they were married, where they were married, and that the

marriage was witnessed by three individuals.  Bailey, 97 Ill.App.3d at 784 (5th Dist.

1981). The offer of proof was strongly corroborated by nine exhibits and the testimony

of seven disinterested witnesses who testified that the reputation of the decedent and

the petitioner in the community was that of husband and wife, that the decedent held

himself out to be petitioner’s husband, and also engaged in a course of conduct for over

thirty years pointing to the conclusion that they were in fact married. Bailey, 97

Ill.App.3d at 786 (5th Dist. 1981). The evidence presented by Ellizzette in the case at

bar shared none of these notable hallmarks evidencing a marriage present in Bailey.

They are at opposite ends of the spectrum.

An offer of proof informs the trial court, opposing counsel, and the reviewing

court of the nature and substance of the evidence sought to be introduced and is the key

to preserving a trial court's alleged error in excluding evidence. Colella v. JMS Trucking

Company of Illinois, Inc., 403 Ill. App. 3d 82, 93 (1st Dist. 2010). The failure to make
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an adequate offer of proof forfeits the issue on appeal. Pyramid Development, LLC v.

Dukane Precast, Inc., 2014 IL App (2nd) 131131, ¶41. The fact Ellizzette was

representing herself during the heirship proceedings does not modify this obligation. A

court will not apply a more lenient standard to pro se litigants. People v. Adams, 318

Ill.App.3d 539 (2nd Dist. 2001). 

There exists a pressing need for this Court to finally declare whether the holding

in Laurence remains the rule in Illinois. It is evidenced by this case, in addition to the

prior cases of In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill.App.3d 781 (1981) and In re Estate of

Hutchins, 120 Ill.App.3d 1084 (1984). Without the needed guidance, litigants and

probate courts will remain at odds concerning the ability of a purported spouse to testify

about their heirship status with a decedent.  Illinois Rule of Evidence 101 directs the

Court to determine Laurence still controls. Because that decision furthers the purpose

of the Dead Man’s Act, this Court should reverse the appellate decision. 

Finally, even if Ellizzette was afforded the opportunity to testify about the

marriage ceremony she claims to have participated in with John, it does not change the

fact John’s status as a ward of the court was known by her (A430) and a best interest

hearing, required by law and the Illinois Supreme Court, was never held prior to the

ceremony taking place. 755 ILCS 5/11a-17(a-10). Without such a hearing and showing

by clear and convincing evidence that the marriage would be in the best interest of John,

whatever unwitnessed ceremony Mr. Bement presided over in Piatt County (A430),

between Ellizzette and John was void ab initio. 
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CONCLUSION 

Ensuring a ward is vigi lantly protected from neglect, exploitation and abuse is 

not an aspirational concept. It is a clear directive this Court issued through its ruling in 

Karbin. As a disabled person completely without capacity, John W. McDonald, I II 

represented one of the most vulnerable members of our society. His status as a ward 

entitled him to vigilant protection which also extended to his estate. An essentia l 

component of that vigilant protection is a best interest determination as to the decision 

to marry. This critical safeguard ensures long stand ing family relationships such as the 

ones John's parents and sibl ings shared with him remain intact and are not usurped by 

the fraudulent claims of others purporting to be the rightful heir to the disabled ward's 

estate. 

For these reasons, Appellant, Shawn McDonald, respectfully requests this 

Honorable Court reverse the appellate court's judgment and affirm the trial court's 

directed finding in his favor. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Shawn McDonald 

By: 
One of his attorneys 

Patrick M. Kinnally (#3126201) 
Chr istopher J. Warmbold (#6314229) 
Kinnally Flaherty Krentz Loran Hodge & Masur, P.C. 
2114 Deerpath Road 
Aurora, IL 60506 
Phone : (630)907-0909 
pkinnally@kfkllaw.com 
cwarmbold@kfkllaw.com 

26 

SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM 



SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM

126956

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

I certify that this brief conforms to the requirements of Rules 341(a) and (b). The 

length of this brief, excluding the pages or words contained in the Rule 341( d) cover, the 

Rule 341(h)(1) table of contents and statement of points and authorities, the Rule 

341(c) certificate of compliance, the certificate of service, and those matters to be 

appended to the brief under Rule 342(a), is 26 pages. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Shawn McDonald 

By: 
One of his attorneys 

Patrick M. Kinnally ( # 3126201) 
Christopher J. Warmbold (#6314229) 
Kinnally Flaherty Krentz Loran Hodge & Masur, P.C. 
2114 Deerpath Road 
Aurora, IL 60506 
Phone: (630)907-0909 
pkinnally@kfkllaw.com 
cwarmbold@kfkllaw.com 

27 



126956 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF KANE 

) 
) 
) 

ss 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned, being first duly sworn on oath, deposes and states that she 
served via email a copy of the foregoing Brief and Appendix of Appellant, Shawn 
McDonald on the 30th day of June, 2021, or if email delivery is not available, in a United 
Sta tes Post Office Box in the City of Aurora, Kane County, Illinois, before the hour of 
6:00 p.m., with United States postage fu lly prepaid thereon, enclosed in an envelope 
properly and securely sea led, or by other means if so indicated, to : 

Steven J. Roeder 
Ryan Weitendorf 
Roeder Law Offices LLC 
77 West Washington Street, Suite 2100 
cb(cago, IL 60602 
Cl )11a Email: sjr@roederlawoffices.com 
B'Via Email: rpw@roederlawoffices .com 

Robert G. Black 
Law Offices of Robert G. Black, PC 

0 N. Washington Street 
erville, IL 60540 
a Email: rblack@rgb-law.com 

Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the Code of Civi l 
Procedure, the undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this instrument are 
true and correct. 

28 

SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM 



SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM

126956

No. 126956 
IN THE SUPREME COURT 

OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 

In The Matter of the Estate of: 

JOHN W. MCDONALD, III 

Deceased. 

SHAWN MCDONALD, 

Appellant, 

v. 

ELLIZZETTE MCDONALD, 

Appellee. 

) On leave to appeal from the 
) Appellate Court of Illinois, Second 
) District, No. 2-19-1113 
) 
) There on Appeal from the Circuit 
) Court of the Sixteenth Judicial 
) Circuit, Kane County, Illinois, 
) No. 17-P-744 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) Date of Judgment: March 2, 2020 
) 
) 

NOTICE OF FILING 

TO: Steven J. Roeder 
Thomas D. Gipson 
Roeder Law Offices LLC 
77 West Washington Street, Suite 2100 
Chjcago, IL 60602 
C!f\lia Email: sjr@roederlawoffices.com 
IWia Email: tdg@roederlawoffices.com 

Robert G. Black 
Law Offices of Robert G. Black, PC 
101 N. Washington Street 
NaRerville, IL 60540 
~ia Email: rblack@rgb-law.com 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on the 30th day of June, 2021, we have submitted for 
electronic filing with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Illinois the attached Brief and 
Appendix of Appellant, Shawn McDonald. 

Patrick M. Kinnally #3126201 
Christopher J. Warmbold #6314229 
2114 Deerpath Road 
Aurora, IL 60506 
Phone: (630) 907-0909 
Email: Pkinnally@kfkllaw.corn 
Email: Cwarmbold@kfkllaw.com 

Kinnally Flaherty Krentz Loran Hodge & Masur 



SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM

126956

PROOF OF SERVICE 

The undersigned on oath states that on June 30, 2021, I served this Notice via email to 
each person to whom it is directed. 

Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure, the undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this instrument are true 
and correct. 



APPENDIX

SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM

126956



APPENDIX

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Appellate Court, Second District, Opinion 2/1/2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-1

Report of Proceedings Vol. I . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-48
Report of Proceedings 1/29/19 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-49
Report of Proceedings 5/1/19 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-117
Report of Proceedings 10/23/19 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-242
Report of Proceedings 11/18/19 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-289

Diane Boyer (Direct) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-323
Visar Belegu (Direct) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-343
Visar Belegu (Cross) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-363
Visar Belegu (Redirect) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-368
Raymond Bement (Voir Dire) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  A-378
Raymond Bement (Direct) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  A-385
Raymond Bement (Cross) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  A-408
Raymond Bement (Redirect) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  A-417

Report of Proceedings, Vol. II
Report of Proceedings 11/13/19 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-460

Administrator’s Motion to Establish Identity 9/6/18 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-499

Order Granting Motion to Establish Identity 5/1/19 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-517

Circuit Court Order 11/18/19 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-518

Notice of Appeal 12/18/19 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-519

Common Law Record Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A-521

SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM

126956



2020 IL App (2d) 191113-U 
No. 2-19-1113 

Order filed December 22, 2020 

NOTICE: This order was filed under Supreme Court Rule 23 and may not be cited as 
precedent by any party except in the limited circumstances allowed under Rule 23(e)(1). 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

IN THE 

APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS 

SECOND DISTRICT 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

In re ESTATE OF JOHN W. MCDONALD, ) Appeal from the Circuit Court 
III, Deceased ) of Kane County. 

) 
) No. 17-P-744 
) 
) Honorable 

(Shawn McDonald, Petitioner-Appellee v. ) James R. Murphy, 
Ellizzette McDonald, Respondent-Appellant). ) Judge, Presiding. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

JUSTICE HUDSON delivered the judgment of the court. 
Justices Schostok and Birkett concurred in the judgment. 

ORDER 

¶ 1 Held: (1) Reviewing court would presume that the trial court properly denied 
respondent’s motion to vacate order granting petitioner’s petition for letters of 
administration and affidavit of heirship because the record on appeal did not contain 
a transcript of the hearing on respondent’s motions and, in any event, respondent 
was provided opportunity to file her own petition for letters of administration and 
affidavit of heirship; (2) trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying 
respondent’s motion to continue trial; (3) trial court did not abuse its discretion in 
denying respondent’s motion for judgment on the pleadings; (4) trial court 
committed reversible error in barring respondent, pursuant to the Dead Man’s Act, 
from testifying regarding heirship at the hearing on her petition for letters of 
administration and affidavit of heirship; and (5) trial court erred in granting 
petitioner’s motion for a directed finding at the close of respondent’s evidence.     

¶ 2 I. INTRODUCTION

A-1
SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM

126956



¶ 3 This appeal concerns the estate of decedent, John W. McDonald, III. Decedent died 

intestate on December 11, 2017. Four days later, petitioner, Shawn McDonald (Shawn), decedent’s 

brother, filed in the circuit court of Kane County a petition for letters of administration and an 

affidavit of heirship. The circuit court appointed Shawn as the administrator of decedent’s estate 

and declared decedent’s parents and siblings as his only heirs. Respondent, Ellizzette McDonald 

(Ellizzette), purporting to be decedent’s surviving spouse, sought to vacate the order of heirship 

and the order appointing Shawn as the administrator of decedent’s estate. The trial court denied 

Ellizzette’s motion but granted her leave to proceed pursuant to section 9-7 of the Probate Act of 

1975 (Probate Act) (755 ILCS 5/9-7 (West 2016)). Ellizzette then filed a petition for letters of 

administration, an affidavit of heirship, and a motion for judgment on the pleadings with regard to 

her petition for letters of administration. After the trial court denied Ellizzette’s motion for 

judgment on the pleadings, the matter proceeded to a trial. Shawn moved for a directed finding at 

the close of Ellizzette’s case. The trial court granted Shawn’s motion, concluding that Ellizzette 

failed to present a prima facie case on the validity of her marriage to decedent. Ellizzette then filed 

a notice of appeal. 

¶ 4 On appeal, Ellizzette raises five principal issues. First, she argues that the trial court erred 

when it appointed Shawn as the administrator of decedent’s estate because she was not provided 

with statutorily-required notice. Second, she asserts that the trial court erred in denying her motion 

for judgment on the pleadings. Third, she contends that the trial court erred in granting Shawn’s 

motion for a directed finding. Fourth, she argues that the trial court committed reversible error in 

barring her from testifying at the trial on her petition regarding her marriage and heirship. Finally, 

she maintains that the trial court erred in denying her motion for a continuance. For the reasons set 

forth below, we affirm in part, reverse in part, and remand this matter for further proceedings.    
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¶ 5  II. BACKGROUND 

¶ 6 Decedent died intestate on December 11, 2017, in Paris, Illinois. As noted, Shawn is 

decedent’s brother and Ellizzette purports to be decedent’s surviving spouse. 

¶ 7  A. Guardianship 

¶ 8 On March 7, 2017, Shawn filed a petition for the appointment of a guardian for a disabled 

person in the circuit court of Kane County. In support of the guardianship petition, Shawn 

submitted a physician’s report stating that decedent suffered from “bipolar disorder with manic 

and depressive episodes” as well as “alcohol use disorder (severe).” On May 30, 2017, the trial 

court entered an order declaring decedent a disabled person who “is totally without capacity” as 

specified in section 11a-3 of the Probate Act (755 ILCS 5/11a-3 (West 2016)) and appointing 

Shawn as the plenary guardian of the person and estate of decedent. The record suggests that 

decedent did not participate in the guardianship proceedings. When made aware of the 

proceedings, decedent obtained counsel and objected to the order appointing Shawn as his 

guardian. However, the record does not show any trial conducted on whether the guardianship 

should have been entered. 

¶ 9  B. Petition for Letters of Administration and Affidavit of Heirship 

¶ 10 On December 15, 2017, four days after decedent’s death, Shawn filed in the circuit court 

of Kane County (1) a petition for letters of administration and (2) an affidavit of heirship. In his 

affidavit of heirship, Shawn asserted that decedent had been married “once and only once and then 

to Debbie Greene McDonald” with said marriage ending in divorce sometime prior to 2012. Shawn 

stated that on July 11, 2017, decedent “participated in a wedding ceremony with Ellizzette Duvall 

Minnicelli.” Shawn claimed, however, that the marriage was void ab initio because decedent 

lacked the capacity to consent to the marriage. Therefore, Shawn requested that decedent’s parents 
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(John W. McDonald, Jr., and Brenda K. McDonald) and his three siblings (Shawn, Heather Ladue, 

and Brett McDonald) be declared as decedent’s heirs at law. The matter was assigned to Judge 

John A. Noverini. In an order bearing the handwritten date of December 18, 2017, but file stamped 

December 19, 2017, Judge Noverini appointed Shawn as the administrator of decedent’s estate. 

Judge Noverini also entered an order declaring heirship, listing decedent’s parents and three 

siblings as his only heirs. On December 22, 2017, the clerk of the circuit court issued letters of 

office advising of Shawn’s appointment as the independent administrator of decedent’s estate 

pursuant to the order entered by the trial court. 

¶ 11  C. Petition for Declaration of Invalidity of Marriage 

¶ 12 On December 22, 2017, Shawn filed a verified “Petition for Declaration of Invalidity of a 

Marriage” pursuant to section 301(1) of the Illinois Marriage and Dissolution of Marriage Act 

(Marriage Act) (750 ILCS 5/301(1) (West 2016)). The petition asserted as follows. On July 11, 

2017, decedent participated in a marriage ceremony with an individual named “Ellizzette Duvall 

Minnicelli” in Edgar County, Illinois. Shawn first learned of the marriage ceremony when it was 

disclosed to him in open court on November 16, 2017, during a hearing in the guardianship case. 

Because decedent’s person and estate were under plenary guardianship when he participated in the 

marriage ceremony, decedent lacked the legal capacity to consent to the marriage. At the time the 

marriage ceremony was performed, decedent had actual knowledge of the existence of the 

guardianship and was actively participating in litigation in the guardianship case. Further, at the 

time the marriage ceremony was performed, “Ellizzette Duvall Minnicelli” had actual knowledge 

of the existence of the guardianship and was actively assisting decedent in pursuing then ongoing 

litigation in the guardianship case. Shawn prayed for entry of an order “declaring the invalidity of 

the marriage of the Decedent *** to Ellizzette Duvall Minnicelli and further declaring the said 
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marriage to be void ab initio.” Attached to the petition was a copy of a “Certification of Marriage” 

issued by the clerk of Edgar County, Illinois. Shawn voluntarily withdrew this pleading without 

prejudice on March 7, 2018. 

¶ 13  D. Ellizzette’s Motion to Vacate 

¶ 14 Meanwhile, on January 4, 2018, counsel entered an appearance on Ellizzette’s behalf. That 

same day, Ellizzette filed a motion for substitution of judge as a matter of right. Ellizzette’s motion 

was granted, and the matter was transferred to Judge James R. Murphy. 

¶ 15 On January 17, 2018, Ellizzette filed a “Motion to Vacate Order Appointing 

Administration and Order of Heirship.”1 Ellizzette’s motion asserted that the order of heirship and 

the order appointing Shawn as administrator of decedent’s estate should be vacated because Shawn 

obtained letters of office and assumed control of decedent’s estate under false pretenses. 

Specifically, Ellizzette contended that (1) as decedent’s surviving spouse, she is decedent’s sole 

heir and has a superior right to act as decedent’s administrator and (2) Shawn intentionally failed 

to provide her notice of his petition for letters. 

¶ 16 On March 7, 2018, Shawn filed his response to Ellizzette’s motion to vacate. Shawn 

asserted that although Ellizzette participated in a “marriage ceremony” with decedent, decedent 

lacked the capacity to enter into a “marriage contract” because of the guardianship. In support of 

his position, Shawn cited section 11a-22(b) of the Probate Act (755 ILCS 5/11a-22(b) (West 

2016)). Section 11a-22(b) provides that “[e]very note, bill, bond or other contract by any person 

1 On the same date, Ellizzette filed a “Motion to Reconsider Order Appointing 

Administration and Order of Heirship.” The motion to reconsider was substantively identical to 

the motion to vacate. 
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for whom a plenary guardian has been appointed or who is adjudged to be unable to so contract is 

void against that person and his estate, but a person making a contract with the person so adjudged 

is bound hereby.” 755 ILCS 5/11a-22(b) (West 2016). Shawn asserted that marriage is a contract. 

Hence, pursuant to section 11a-22(b), the “marriage contract” entered into on July 11, 2017, 

between decedent and Ellizzette is void. Since the marriage is void, decedent was not married at 

the time of his death and his only heirs at law are his parents and siblings. Shawn did not dispute 

that Ellizzette was not provided notice of his petition for letters of administration. He asserted, 

however, that notice is only required to be served on a decedent’s heirs. Since Ellizzette is not an 

heir, there was no need to serve notice on her. 

¶ 17 In her reply to Shawn’s response, Ellizzette argued that section 11a-22(b) of the Probate 

Act does not address the validity of a marriage, but rather is intended to address transactional 

contracts entered into by a ward. Ellizzette further asserted that her marriage to decedent enjoys a 

strong presumption of validity under Illinois law (see Larson v. Larson, 42 Ill. App. 2d 467, 472 

(1963) (“When the celebration of marriage is shown, the contract of marriage, the capacity of the 

parties, and, in fact, everything necessary to the validity of the marriage, in the absence of proof 

to the contrary, will be presumed.”)) and that the guardianship over decedent did not compel the 

conclusion that he was unable to provide the consent to marriage because the appointment of a 

guardian is not sufficient, in and of itself, to show that the person was incompetent to have consent 

to a marriage (see Pape v. Byrd, 145 Ill. 2d 13, 21 (1991)). Ellizzette added that questions regarding 

the validity of her marriage are governed by the Marriage Act (750 ILCS 5/101 et seq. (West 

2016)). However, section 302(b) of the Marriage Act (750 ILCS 5/302(b) (West 2016)) prohibits 

any attempt to invalidate a marriage after the death of either party to the marriage on the basis of 

one of the party’s incapacity to consent. 755 ILCS 5/302(b) (West 2016) (“In no event may a 
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declaration of invalidity of marriage be sought after the death of either party to the marriage under 

subsections (1), (2), and (3) of Section 301.”); see also 750 ILCS 5/301(1) (West 2016) (“The court 

shall enter its judgment declaring the invalidity of a marriage *** entered into under the following 

circumstances: (1) a party lacked capacity to consent to the marriage at the time the marriage was 

solemnized, either because of mental incapacity or infirmity or because of the influence of alcohol, 

drugs or other incapacitating substances, or a party was induced to enter into a marriage by force 

or duress or by fraud involving the essentials of marriage.”). Despite his knowledge of Ellizzette’s 

and decedent’s marriage, Shawn failed to challenge the marriage during decedent’s lifetime and 

was therefore time-barred from attempting to invalidate the marriage. See 750 ILCS 5/301, 302(b) 

(West 2016). Thus, Ellizzette reasoned, the marriage was valid as a matter of law and she is 

decedent’s surviving spouse and sole heir at law.   

¶ 18 On April 18, 2018, the trial court denied Ellizzette’s “motion to vacate.”2 In the same order, 

the court granted Ellizzette leave to file a petition for appointment of administrator and an affidavit 

of heirship pursuant to section 9-7 of the Probate Act (755 ILCS 5/9-7 (West 2016)). The court 

directed Ellizzette to file the documents by May 2, 2018. 

¶ 19  E. Ellizzette’s Petition for Letters of Administration and Shawn’s Response 

2 Although the trial court’s April 18, 2018, order only references the denial of Ellizzette’s 

motion to vacate, we conclude that it also dispensed with the motion to reconsider, which was 

nearly identical to the motion to vacate and raised the same substantive arguments as the motion 

to vacate. 
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¶ 20 On May 1, 2018, Ellizzette filed her petition for letters of administration and affidavit of 

heirship. In the filings, Ellizzette stated that she is decedent’s surviving spouse. She further 

asserted that since decedent had no children, she is decedent’s sole heir. 

¶ 21 On May 25, 2018, Shawn filed his response to Ellizzette’s petition for letters of 

administration and affidavit of heirship. In his response, Shawn argued that pursuant to section 9-

7 of the Probate Act (755 ILCS 5/9-7 (West 2016)), Ellizzette had three months after the issuance 

of letters of administration to him to file her own petition for letters of administration. Shawn 

argued that Ellizzette’s petition for letters of administration, which was filed on May 1, 2018, was 

untimely because it was filed more than three months after December 22, 2017, the date the letters 

of administration were issued to him. Shawn further asserted there is nothing in the statute allowing 

the court to grant an extension to file a petition for letters of administration outside the three-month 

window. Therefore, he argued, the court lacks jurisdiction to consider Ellizzette’s petition. 

¶ 22  F. Ellizzette’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings  

¶ 23 On June 7, 2018, Ellizzette filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings. Initially, 

Ellizzette argued that the trial court was empowered to extend the filing window for a pleading 

under section 9-7 of the Probate Act (755 ILCS 5/9-7 (West 2016)) beyond the three-month 

window because the language of the statute is permissive and controlling law makes clear that a 

party seeking to challenge an order declaring heirship is free to do so at any time during the 

administration of the estate or after the estate has been closed. Ellizzette also contended that since 

Shawn failed to deny her verified factual allegations, including that she is decedent’s surviving 

spouse, these allegations were deemed admitted. See 735 ILCS 5/2-610 (West 2016). 

Alternatively, Ellizzette argued that the only basis to challenge the validity of a marriage after the 

death of one of the parties to the marriage is “the narrow bar against ‘prohibited marriages’ under 
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the [Marriage Act].” 750 ILCS 5/301(4) (West 2016); 750 ILCS 5/212 (West 2016). Ellizzette 

requested full judgment on the pleadings in her favor, or, alternatively “partial judgment on the 

pleadings in [her] favor *** limiting discovery and hearing on the Petition to the narrow issue of 

whether the Decedent’s marriage to [her] constitutes a ‘prohibited marriage’ under the [Marriage 

Act].” 

¶ 24 On July 3, 2018, Shawn filed a response to Ellizzette’s motion for judgment on the 

pleadings. Shawn reiterated his position that section 11a-22(b) of the Probate Act (755 ILCS 5/11a-

22(b) (West 2016)) bars any contract, including one for marriage, entered into by someone such 

as decedent for whom a plenary guardian had been appointed. Thus, he concluded, any marriage 

contract between Ellizzette and decedent was void. Shawn further contended that judgment on the 

pleadings was inappropriate because there remains a factual issue regarding whether the alleged 

marriage between Ellizzette and decedent was valid. See In re Estate of Davis, 225 Ill. App. 3d 

998, 1000 (1992). 

¶ 25 On September 10, 2018, the trial court denied Ellizzette’s motion for judgment on the 

pleadings as “premature.” 

¶ 26  G. Shawn’s Motion for Judicial Notice 

¶ 27 On October 2, 2018, Shawn filed a motion requesting the trial court to take judicial notice 

of the “Certified Copy of Edgar County, Illinois Marriage Application and Record of [decedent] 

and Ellizzette Duvall Minicelli [sic].” Shawn attached three documents to his motion: (1) a 

certified copy of a “Certification of Marriage” between decedent and “Ellizzette Duvall 

Minnicelli” issued by the clerk of Edgar County, Illinois; (2) a certified copy of a “Marriage 

License” between decedent and “Ellizzette Duvall Minnicelli” issued by the clerk of Edgar 

County, Illinois; and (3) a certified copy of a “Marriage Application and Record” issued by the 
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clerk of Edgar County, Illinois. On November 30, 2018, the trial court entered an order granting 

Shawn’s motion for judicial notice. 

¶ 28 On April 15, 2019, the trial court entered an order setting the matter for trial over several 

dates beginning on November 18, 2019. 

¶ 29  H. Ellizzette’s Counsel’s Motion to Withdraw 

¶ 30 On September 12, 2019, Ellizzette’s counsel moved to withdraw. The trial court granted 

counsel’s motion in an order dated September 18, 2019. The same order further provided that (1) 

Ellizzette shall have 21 days “to find other counsel and/or file a [s]ubstitute [a]ppearance;” (2) the 

scheduled November 18, 2019, trial date would stand; and (3) all pending motions and status of 

counsel would be continued to October 23, 2019. 

¶ 31  I. Shawn’s Motion In Limine 

¶ 32 On October 16, 2019, Shawn filed a “Motion In Limine” seeking to bar Ellizzette from 

testifying or presenting any evidence as to any marital relationship she had with decedent at the 

trial on her petition to establish heirship. Citing Laurence v. Laurence, 164 Ill. 367 (1896), In re 

Estate of Diak, 70 Ill. App. 2d 1 (1966), and In re Estate of Enoch, 52 Ill. App. 2d 39 (1964), 

Shawn alleged that the admission of such testimony would violate the Dead Man’s Act (735 ILCS 

5/8-201 (West 2016)). 

¶ 33 On October 23, 2019, Ellizzette filed an appearance on her own behalf. A week later, 

Ellizzette filed a response to Shawn’s motion in limine. Ellizzette argued, inter alia, that the “plain 

text” of section 8-201(d) of the Dead Man’s Act provides that “[n]o person shall be barred from 

testifying as to any fact relating to the heirship of the decedent.” 735 ILCS 5/8-201(d) (West 2016). 

Ellizzette contended that because her testimony would “relate to facts surrounding the heirship of 

[decedent], this testimony falls precisely within the exception carved out within the Dead Man’s 
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Act itself.” Ellizzette therefore contended that her testimony as to her marriage to decedent, which 

would directly relate to heirship, should not be barred. 

¶ 34 On November 13, 2019, following oral argument by the parties, the trial court granted 

Shawn’s motion in limine. The court explained that “Illinois law says that the spouse cannot testify 

as to heirship, and there’s cases cited, and they weren’t responded to.” That same day the trial 

court entered a written order in accordance with its oral finding, granting Shawn’s motion in limine 

and barring Ellizzette from “testifying regarding her putative marriage to the decedent or regarding 

the decedent’s heirship.” 

¶ 35  J. Ellizzette’s Motion for Continuance 

¶ 36 At the hearing on November 13, 2019, the court asked Ellizzette if she would be ready for 

trial on November 18, 2019. Ellizzette responded that she would not be ready but stated that she 

was aware that “that’s the date” and that she was “not looking to *** waste the Court’s time.” She 

further informed the court that she would be present on November 18 “if [she is] expected to be 

[in court].” 

¶ 37 At 3:49 a.m. on November 18, 2019, Ellizzette filed a “Motion for Continuance” seeking 

to continue the trial to December 3, 2019, or later. In the motion, Ellizzette alleged that she had 

good cause for requesting an extension because (1) her father had been hospitalized in Arizona 

and declared “end of life,” (2) her mother, who she categorized as a “key witness,” would be unable 

to attend the trial due to the status of Ellizzette’s father; (3) Ellizzette’s attorneys withdrew from 

the case due to the “high outstanding balance” of attorney fees which Ellizzette was unable to pay 

because she was involved in an automobile accident that resulted in significant out-of-pocket 

medical expenses; and (4) Ellizzette was unable to obtain the testimony of two key witnesses. 

Ellizzette also asserted that she had paid the outstanding balance owed to her prior attorneys and 
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requested that they be allowed to re-enter an appearance on her behalf. The trial court denied the 

motion for continuance. 

¶ 38  K. Trial 

¶ 39 The matter proceeded to trial on Ellizzette’s petition, with the evidence centered on the 

validity of Ellizzette’s marriage to decedent. In accordance with the trial court’s ruling on Shawn’s 

motion in limine, Ellizzette did not testify. However, Ellizzette called three witnesses in her case-

in-chief: Diane Boyer, Dr. Visar Belegu, and Ray Bement. 

¶ 40 Boyer testified that she was involved in the preparations for Ellizzette’s and decedent’s 

marriage and observed Ellizzette and decedent interacting with each other every week in 2017. 

Boyer also opined that Ellizzette and decedent were happily living together. 

¶ 41 Dr. Belegu, a colleague of decedent, testified that he was aware that Ellizzette and decedent 

had married. Dr. Belegu further testified that he had contact with decedent two or three times a 

week in 2017. In Dr. Belegu’s opinion, decedent was happily married. On cross-examination, Dr. 

Belegu testified that he was not present at any marriage ceremony between Ellizzette and decedent 

and that he is not aware of any witnesses to the marriage. 

¶ 42 Bement testified that he met Ellizzette and decedent in 1982. In 2017, Bement learned that 

Ellizzette and decedent were engaged. Bement participated in preparations for a marriage 

ceremony between Ellizzette and decedent. To that end, on July 11, 2017, Bement performed 

Ellizzette’s and decedent’s marriage ceremony in the participants’ home in Paris, Edgar County, 

Illinois. Bement further testified that he signed the marriage certificate in the kitchen of Ellizzette’s 

and decedent’s home in Paris. After Bement signed the marriage certificate, he, Ellizzette, and 

decedent went to Allerton Park in Monticello (Piatt County) for an additional “more secular” 

ceremony. Bement also stated that he attended a Ketubah signing on July 10, 2017, at Ellizzette’s 
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and decedent’s home in Paris. Bement explained that a Ketubah is “like what Christians would 

call a marriage license” and states what each party will bring to the relationship. Following the 

marriage, Bement interacted with Ellizzette and decedent on professional and personal bases. 

¶ 43 On cross-examination, Bement testified that it was his idea to be the officiant at the 

marriage ceremony of Ellizzette and decedent. He obtained a certificate to become an officiant 

from an online ministry in a process that took between 5 and 10 minutes. The following exchange 

then ensued between Shawn’s attorney, Bement, Ellizzette, and the trial court: 

  “Q. And the marriage ceremony, as you testified on direct, the secular marriage 

 ceremony was conducted in Piatt County; is that a fair statement? 

  A. Yes. 

* * * 

  [Ellizzette]: Objection, Your Honor. Mr. Bement also testified earlier that he 

 performed a marriage ceremony at our home in Paris. 

  MR. KINNALLY [Shawn’s Attorney]: His testimony according to my notes was 

 that the secular part of the marriage was conducted in Piatt County. That’s what he testified 

 to. 

  THE COURT: All right. You’ll be able to redirect questions, so overruled.” 

Bement further testified that the only people that were present for the Piatt County ceremony were 

decedent and Ellizzette. 

¶ 44 On redirect examination, Bement reiterated that he signed the marriage certificate in the 

kitchen of Ellizzette’s and decedent’s house in Paris, Edgar County, Illinois. 

¶ 45 Following Bement’s testimony, Ellizzette stated that she had no other witnesses. Shawn’s 

counsel then orally moved for a directed finding on the issue of the validity of the marriage. 
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Counsel advanced several grounds for his position. First, he asserted that the best evidence of the 

existence of a marriage is the marriage certificate itself, but “[t]hey haven’t produced any 

documents with respect to that.” Second, counsel asserted that “[t]he case law in Illinois” requires 

two witnesses to a marriage, but Bement “conducted a secular proceeding in Piatt County 

apparently with no witnesses.” Third, counsel posited that before a marriage where one of the 

participants is a ward of the court, the Probate Act requires the court to conduct a best-interest 

hearing. Counsel noted that although decedent was a ward of the court, no hearing was ever held 

to determine if the marriage was in decedent’s best interest. Fourth, counsel maintained that 

marriage is a “civil contract,” and the Probate Act prohibits a ward of the court from entering into 

a contract with any other person. Accordingly, Shawn requested that the trial court dismiss 

Ellizzette’s claim that she is decedent’s heir. 

¶ 46 Ellizzette responded that she and decedent “followed the rules according to the Edgar 

County circuit clerk.” Specifically, they “produced the documentation [they] were required to 

produce,” “filled out the application,” and “waited for [the circuit clerk] to contact [them] and tell 

[them] that [their] marriage application for a license had been granted.” Subsequently, Ellizzette 

and decedent “had an interfaith marriage ceremony in Edgar County, Illinois, in Paris, in [her] 

home” and “a religious celebration in Monticello.” 

¶ 47 In reply, Shawn’s counsel asserted that Ellizzette did not refute any of the arguments he 

previously made with respect to the validity of the marriage. Counsel further stated that if Ellizzette 

wanted to prove the validity of her purported marriage to decedent: 

  “[A]ll [she] had to do is prove the marriage certificate, and the reason [she] didn’t 

 is because [she] know[s] [she] can’t. [She] didn’t bring the marriage certificate in here. 
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 [She] didn’t bring the application. [She] didn’t bring the license in here. You should ask 

 yourself why [she] didn’t do that.” 

Ellizzette responded that, prior to Attorney Kinnally’s involvement in the case, her attorney 

produced a marriage license application and marriage certificate and an individual “came to the 

Court to represent that she had issued the marriage certificate license in Edgar County.” 

¶ 48  L. Trial Court’s Ruling on the Motion for a Directed Finding 

¶ 49 The trial court granted Shawn’s motion for a directed finding. The court ruled that to 

present a prima facie case on the validity of her marriage to decedent, Ellizzette had to present a 

valid application for a marriage license and a ceremony performed in Edgar County witnessed by 

two individuals. The court found, as a matter of law, that Ellizzette “did not present a prima facie 

case of a valid marriage ceremony under the circumstances such as would be sufficient to meet 

her burden of proof on all of the elements.” The court stated that “[i]t would have been simple to 

present the evidence of a marriage license and certificate and application and have some witness 

testify about that, but that was not done.” In ruling, the court further stated: 

  “And while it is not as clear as Mr. Kinnally presents as to the case law 

 precedents—and in that I’m referring to the arguments that [Ellizzette] had when she was 

 represented by counsel during motion practice on a motion for judgment on the pleadings—

 it is clear that there was an order finding and adjudicating Decedent as a disabled person 

 and in immediate need of a plenary guardianship and that there was no best-interest hearing 

 held; that the punitive [sic] marriage was not known to the Administrator until November 

 2017; and that the marriage was not properly witnessed or licensed or subject to a best-

 interest determination by the probate court.” 
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The trial court made a finding pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 304(a) (eff. March 8, 2016) 

that there was no just reason to delay appeal. On December 18, 2019, Ellizzette filed a notice of 

appeal. 

¶ 50  II. ANALYSIS 

¶ 51 On appeal, Ellizzette raises five principal issues, which we address as follows. First, she 

argues that the trial court erred when it appointed Shawn as the administrator of decedent’s estate 

because she was not provided with the statutorily-required notice. Second, she maintains that the 

trial court erred in denying her motion for a continuance. Third, she asserts that the trial court erred 

in denying her motion for judgment on the pleadings. Fourth, she argues that the trial court 

committed reversible error in barring her from testifying at the trial on her petition regarding her 

marriage and heirship. Finally, she contends that the trial court erred in granting Shawn’s motion 

for a directed finding. 

¶ 52  A. Notice 

¶ 53 As her initial assignment of error, Ellizzette contends that the trial court erred “when it 

granted Shawn’s petition [for letters of administration and affidavit of heirship] without any notice 

to [her], declared that [she] is not [decedent’s] heir, and thus necessarily declared their marriage 

invalid.” Ellizzette has failed to provide an adequate record to address this claim. 

¶ 54 As noted above, on December 19, 2017, the trial court entered an order declaring heirship 

and appointing Shawn as the administrator of decedent’s estate. That order states that “due notice 

has been given to all parties according to law.” On January 17, 2018, Ellizzette filed her motion to 

vacate the order appointing administration and the order of heirship. The arguments in Ellizzette’s 

motions and her reply to Shawn’s responses thereto are nearly identical to the arguments she now 

raises on appeal and are grounded on the premise that she was not provided the statutorily-required 
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notice. Shawn did not dispute that Ellizzette was not provided notice of his petition for letters of 

administration, but argued that notice to Ellizzette was not required because she was not decedent’s 

heir. The trial court held a hearing on the motions on April 18, 2018, and denied the motion to 

vacate the same day. 

¶ 55 Although not captioned as such, Ellizzette’s argument is essentially a challenge to the trial 

court’s denial of her motion to vacate the order granting Shawn’s petition for letters of 

administration and affidavit of heirship. However, our ability to review this issue for error is 

hampered by the lack of a transcript from the April 18, 2018, hearing on Ellizzette’s motion or an 

acceptable substitute (See Ill. S. Ct. R. 323 (eff. July 1, 2017) (allowing for a bystander’s report or 

agreed statement of facts). As appellant, Ellizzette has the burden to present this court with a 

sufficiently complete record on appeal. In re Marriage of Gulla & Kanaval, 234 Ill. 2d 414, 422 

(2009); Webster v. Hartman, 195 Ill. 2d 426, 432 (2001). As our supreme court has stated, “[a]n 

issue relating to a circuit court’s factual findings and basis for its legal conclusions obviously 

cannot be reviewed absent a report or record of the proceeding.” (Internal quotation marks 

omitted.) In re Marriage of Gulla, 234 Ill. 2d at 422; see also Corral v. Mervis Industries, Inc., 

217 Ill. 2d 144, 156 (2005) (stating that any issue relating to the court’s factual findings and the 

basis for its legal conclusions cannot be reviewed without a record of that proceeding). 

Accordingly, absent an adequate record preserving the claimed error, a reviewing court must 

presume the circuit court had a sufficient factual basis for its action and that it conforms to the law. 

In re Marriage of Gulla, 234 Ill. 2d at 422; Foutch v. O’Bryant, 99 Ill. 2d 389, 391-92 (1984). 

Accordingly, we presume that the trial court’s ruling on the motion to vacate conformed to the 

law. 
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¶ 56 We also observe that, despite the trial court’s decision to deny Ellizzette’s motion to vacate, 

it entered an order allowing her to file a petition for letters of administration and affidavit of 

heirship pursuant to section 9-7 of the Probate Act (755 ILCS 5/9-7 (West 2016)). In fact, Ellizzette 

filed a petition for letters of administration and affidavit of heirship, asserting that she is decedent’s 

surviving spouse and sole heir. The trial court held a hearing on Ellizzette’s pleadings. Thus, 

Ellizzette was given an opportunity to address her claim that she is decedent’s sole surviving 

spouse and only heir. Given these circumstances, we fail to see how Ellizzette was prejudiced by 

any lack of notice. 

¶ 57  B. Continuance 

¶ 58 Ellizzette also claims that the trial court erred in denying her motion for a continuance 

made on the day of trial. To place Ellizzette’s argument in context, we briefly review the 

circumstances surrounding the motion. 

¶ 59 On April 15, 2019, the trial court entered an order setting the matter for trial on November 

18, 2019. On September 12, 2019, Ellizzette’s counsel moved to withdraw. The trial court granted 

counsel’s motion in an order dated September 18, 2019. The September 18, 2019, order also (1) 

granted Ellizzette 21 days “to find other counsel and/or file a Substitute Appearance;” (2) provided 

that the November 18, 2019, trial date would stand; and (3) continued the matter to October 23, 

2019, on all pending motions and status of counsel. At the hearing on October 23, 2019, Ellizzette 

filed an appearance on her own behalf. During that hearing, the matter was continued to November 

13, 2019. 

¶ 60 At the hearing on November 13, 2019, Ellizzette informed the court that she intended to 

call several witnesses at the trial on November 18, including her mother, Patrick Rummerfield, Dr. 

Belegu, Eric Westacott, and Bement. Ellizzette stated that she would not be calling her father 
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“because of his illness.” She also stated that “[t]hree days ago,” i.e., November 10, 2019, her father 

had been declared “end of life” and that he “could die at any day now per the doctors.” Prior to the 

conclusion of the hearing on November 13, the following colloquy took place between the trial 

court and Ellizzette: 

  “THE COURT: Are we ready to go? Are you ready to go then on Monday morning 

 [November 18] at 9:00 with your witnesses? 

  [Ellizzette]: “Um, I would—to answer your question right now, no. I’m not ready 

 at this moment, Your Honor. I’m telling you the truth. I’m not ready at this moment because 

 of some of those things. I don’t want to—but I do know that’s the date, and I’m not looking 

 to—again, I’m not looking to, um waste the Court’s time.” 

  THE COURT: But you are going to be here on Monday then—  

  [Ellizzette]: Yes, sir. 

  THE COURT: —to proceed? 

  [Ellizzette]: Oh, I will be here if I’m expected to be here, Your Honor.”  

¶ 61 At 3:49 a.m. on November 18, 2019, Ellizzette filed a “Motion for Continuance” seeking 

to continue the trial to December 3, 2019, or later. In the motion, Ellizzette alleged that she had 

good cause for requesting an extension because: (1) her father had been hospitalized in Arizona 

and declared “ ‘end of life’ Saturday, December 16, 2019 [sic];” (2) her mother, who Ellizzette 

described as a “key witness,” would be unable to attend the trial due to the health status of her 

husband; (3) her attorneys withdrew from the case due to the “high outstanding balance” of fees 

which Ellizzette was unable to pay because she was involved in an automobile accident that 

resulted in significant out-of-pocket medical expenses; (4) she was unable to obtain the testimony 

of two “primary witnesses,” Rummerfield and Westacott; and (5) she was unable to “liase with 
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her Counsel and take up Pro Se representation within the 60-day trial window” given “the 

substantial health limitations over the past several months.” Ellizzette also represented that she 

had reconciled the outstanding balance owed to her prior attorneys and requested that they be 

allowed to re-enter an appearance on her behalf. 

¶ 62 At a hearing on November 18, 2019, the trial court, after hearing argument from the parties, 

denied the motion for continuance. The court cited (1) a lack of due diligence on Ellizzette’s part 

in presenting the motion or obtaining the testimony of Rummerfield and Westacott and (2) 

Ellizzette’s failure to show that the testimony of the witnesses referenced in her motion would be 

material to the issues in the case. In response to Ellizzette’s concern regarding her father’s health, 

the court stated, “If you have another reason for a continuance during the trial, then you’ll bring it 

up at that point.” The court then asked Ellizzette if she were prepared to proceed. Ellizzette 

responded that she “would like to proceed with the provision that, God forbid something happens, 

the court would consider an emergency.” 

¶ 63 A litigant does not have an absolute right to a continuance. In re Marriage of LaRoque, 

2018 IL App (2d) 160973, ¶ 94. Continuances are within the sound discretion of the trial court. 

Doe v. Parrillo, 2020 IL App (1st) 191286, ¶ 39; see also 735 ILCS 5/2-1007 (West 2016) 

(providing that “[o]n good cause shown, in the discretion of the court and on just terms, additional 

time may be granted for the doing of any act or the taking of any step or proceeding prior to 

judgment”). A critical factor in the review of such rulings is whether the moving party has 

exercised due diligence in proceeding with the case. Somers v. Quinn, 373 Ill. App. 3d 87, 96 

(2007). Moreover, once a cause has been reached for trial, a motion for continuance should show 

sufficient excuse for the delay and the movant should present especially grave reasons to support 

his or her request. Ill. S. Ct. R. 231(f) (eff. Jan. 1, 1970) (“No motion for the continuance of a 
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cause made after the cause has been reached for trial shall be heard, unless a sufficient excuse is 

shown for the delay.”); Teitelbaum v. Reliable Welding Co., 106 Ill. App. 3d 651, 656 (1982) (“The 

moving party must give especially grave reasons for continuance once a case has reached the trial 

stage because of the potential inconvenience to the witnesses, the parties and to the court.”). The 

decision to grant or deny a trial continuance will not be disturbed on appeal “unless it has resulted 

in a palpable injustice or constitutes a manifest abuse of discretion.” Doe, 2020 IL App (1st) 

191286, ¶ 39. An abuse of discretion occurs where the trial court’s decision is arbitrary, fanciful, 

or unreasonable, or where no reasonable person would agree with the position taken by the trial 

court. Control Solutions, LLC v. Elecsys, 2014 IL App (2d) 120251, ¶ 38. 

¶ 64 Ellizzette argues that the trial court erred when it denied her motion for continuance made 

on the day of trial. In her motion, Ellizzette cited five principal reasons for requesting a 

continuance. On appeal, however, Ellizzette focuses on just two of those reasons—her father’s 

illness and her attorneys’ withdrawal. Ellizzette’s failure to argue the three remaining grounds set 

forth in her motion results in forfeiture of those bases on appeal. See Illinois Supreme Court Rule 

341(h)(7) (eff. May 25, 2018) (providing that points not argued are forfeited and shall not be raised 

in the reply brief, in oral argument, or on petition for rehearing); BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP 

v. Mitchell, 2014 IL 116311, ¶ 23 (holding that an appellant’s failure to argue a point in the opening 

brief results in forfeiture). Moreover, after reviewing the record, we find nothing that would justify 

a conclusion that the trial court abused its discretion in denying her motion for a continuance on 

either of the two bases she advances in this appeal. 

¶ 65 With respect to her father’s illness, Ellizzette asserted at the hearing on her motion that her 

father had been hospitalized and declared “end of life” on November 16, 2019, just two days 
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earlier.3 However, this statement is contradicted by an affirmation Ellizzette previously made to 

the trial court. Notably, at the hearing on November 13, 2019, Ellizzette told the court that three 

days prior, i.e., November 10, 2019, her father had been declared “end of life” and that he “could 

die at any day now per the doctors.” Ellizzette could have moved for a continuance at that time but 

did not. To the contrary, she informed the trial court at the November 13, 2019, hearing that she 

did not want to waste the court’s time and that she would be present for the hearing on November 

18, 2019. She then waited until 3:49 a.m. on the day of trial to inform the court that she had changed 

her mind and wanted to have the trial postponed. Given these circumstances, the trial court could 

reasonably conclude that Ellizzette did not show due diligence in waiting until the day of trial to 

file her motion for a continuance. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to 

grant the motion on this basis. 

¶ 66 Ellizzette also argues that the withdrawal of her attorneys before trial “placed her in a 

difficult position, which she sought to remedy by obtaining counsel who *** could have refuted 

the fundamentally flawed legal arguments Shawn presented.” In addressing this issue, Thomas v. 

Thomas, 23 Ill. App. 3d 936 (1974) is instructive. In that case, the plaintiff’s attorney moved to 

withdraw from the case, serving notice of his intention on July 5, 1973. The plaintiff appeared at 

a hearing on July 12, at which the trial court advised her that she should obtain counsel for the trial 

scheduled for July 17, but that she could file for a continuance if she felt she would need more 

3 In her November 18, 2019, motion, Ellizzette represented that her father had been 

declared “ ‘end of life’ Saturday, December 16, 2019.” We presume that Ellizzette meant to state 

that her father was declared “end of life” on Saturday, November 16, 2019, and not on some future 

date. 
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time. The plaintiff indicated that she would have counsel for trial and no continuance was 

requested. On July 17, for the first time, the plaintiff moved for a continuance because she lacked 

counsel. The trial court denied the motion. In affirming, the reviewing court observed that the 

absence of counsel is one factor to consider in deciding a motion to continue, but “it does not 

entitle a party to a continuance as a matter of right.” Thomas, 23 Ill. App. 3d at 940-941 (citing 

Adcock v. Adcock, 339 Ill. App. 543, 548 (1950)). The court determined that the lack of counsel 

“could have been avoided by [the plaintiff’s] own diligence in either securing a lawyer for trial, or 

requesting a continuance prior to the day of trial.” Thomas, 23 Ill. App. 3d at 940. The court further 

determined that the 12 days between when counsel served notice of his intent to withdraw and the 

date of the trial provided the plaintiff with “ample opportunity to extend the time for trial in order 

to obtain counsel.” Thomas, 23 Ill. App. 3d at 940-941. Accordingly, the reviewing court 

concluded that the trial court properly exercised its judicial discretion in denying the motion for a 

continuance.  Thomas, 23 Ill. App. 3d at 940-941. 

¶ 67 In the present case, Ellizzette had substantially more time to request a continuance to obtain 

substitute counsel than the period of time involved in Thomas. In this regard, we note that 

Ellizzette’s counsel moved to withdraw on September 12, 2019. The motion indicates that 

Ellizzette was notified by both e-mail and by certified mail to her last known addresses. The trial 

court entered an order on September 18, 2019, granting the motion to withdraw, providing 

Ellizzette with 21 days to find other counsel and file a substitute appearance and confirming the 

scheduled trial date of November 18, 2019. Ellizzette was provided notice of the order granting 

the withdrawal by certified mail at the same addresses to which the motion to withdraw was sent. 

The record reflects that Ellizzette did not take any action until October 23, 2019, when she filed 

an appearance on her own behalf. Further, at no time between October 23 and November 18, 2019, 
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did Ellizzette move the court to retain substitute counsel. In other words, Ellizzette had 68 days 

between when counsel served notice of his intent to withdraw and the date of the trial to secure 

counsel or request a continuance. Yet, she did not take any action until the day of trial. Given these 

circumstances, the trial court could reasonably conclude that Ellizzette did not show due diligence 

in waiting until the day of trial to file her motion for a continuance. Therefore, the trial court did 

not abuse its discretion in failing to grant the motion on this basis. 

¶ 68 In short, there was sufficient time for Ellizzette to appear before the court to present a 

motion for continuance prior to the date of trial. Ellizzette, however, waited until the day of trial 

to move for a continuance. Under these circumstances, the trial court could have reasonably 

concluded that Ellizzette failed to show due diligence in pursuing her motion for a continuance. 

Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Ellizzette’s motion for a 

continuance filed on the day of trial. 

¶ 69  C. Judgment on the Pleadings 

¶ 70 Next, Ellizzette argues that the trial court erred when it denied her motion for judgment on 

the pleadings. Section 2-615(e) of the Code of Civil Procedure (Code) (735 ILCS 5/2-615(e) (West 

2016)) provides that “[a]ny party may seasonably move for judgment on the pleadings.” A motion 

for judgment on the pleadings is like a motion for summary judgment but is limited to the 

pleadings. Perry v. Fidelity National Title Insurance Co., 2015 IL App (2d) 150168, ¶ 9. Thus, a 

judgment on the pleadings is proper only when the pleadings disclose no genuine issue of material 

fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Gillen v. State Farm Mutual 

Automobile Insurance Co., 215 Ill. 2d 381, 385 (2005); St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Co. v. 

City of Waukegan, 2017 IL App (2d) 160381, ¶ 25. In ruling on a motion for judgment on the 

pleadings, the court considers only those facts apparent from the face of the pleadings, matters 
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subject to judicial notice, and judicial admissions in the record. Gillen, 215 Ill. 2d at 385; St. Paul 

Fire & Marine Insurance Co., 2017 IL App (2d) 160381, ¶ 25. A party moving for judgment on 

the pleadings concedes the truth of the well-pled facts in the nonmovant’s pleadings. Allstate 

Property & Casualty Insurance Co. v. Trujillo, 2014 IL App (1st) 123419, ¶ 16. The court deciding 

the motion must take all reasonable inferences from those facts as true, disregard all conclusory 

allegations and surplusage, and construe the evidence strictly against the movant. Parkway Bank 

& Trust Co. v. Meseljevic, 406 Ill. App. 3d 435, 442 (2010). We review de novo a trial court’s 

ruling on a motion for judgment on the pleadings. State Bank of Cherry v. CGB Enterprises, Inc., 

2013 IL 113836, ¶ 65. 

¶ 71 Ellizzette contends that the facts apparent from the face of the pleadings and the judicial 

admissions of Shawn establish that she was entitled to judgment on the pleadings without the need 

for a trial. Specifically, Ellizzette asserts that in her petition for letters of administration and 

affidavit of heirship, she pleaded that she is decedent’s surviving spouse and his sole heir. 

Ellizzette further asserts that Shawn failed to deny these allegations in his response to her 

pleadings, and, as a result, the allegations in her pleadings must be taken as true. See 735 ILCS 

5/2-610(b) (West 2016) (“Every allegation *** not explicitly denied [in an answer] is admitted.”). 

As additional support for her position, Ellizzette asserts that Shawn, in his verified petition for 

declaration of invalidity of marriage, admitted that she and decedent “participated in a marriage 

ceremony” on July 11, 2017, and attached thereto a copy of the certification of marriage. Ellizzette 

acknowledges that Shawn later filed a notice that he was voluntarily withdrawing his petition for 

declaration of invalidity of marriage, but contends that Shawn remained bound thereby because he 

did not allege that these “judicial admissions *** were the result [of] mistake or inadvertence.” 

See In re Marriage of O’Brien, 247 Ill. App. 3d 745, 748 (1993). Ellizzette concludes that because 
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Shawn’s response to her petition for letters of administration and affidavit of heirship “did not set 

up a defense that would entitle him to a merits hearing,” the trial court erred when it denied her 

motion for judgment on the pleadings. We disagree. 

¶ 72 As noted above, in ruling on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the court considers 

the facts apparent from the face of the pleadings, matters subject to judicial notice, and judicial 

admissions in the record. Gillen, 215 Ill. 2d at 385; St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Co., 2017 

IL App (2d) 160381, ¶ 25. Illinois courts recognize that documents containing readily verifiable 

facts from sources of indisputable accuracy may be judicially noticed. People v. Davis, 65 Ill. 2d 

157, 165 (1976); Centeno v. Illinois Workers’ Compensation Comm’n, 2020 IL App (2d) 

180815WC, ¶ 39; City of Centralia v. Garland, 2019 IL App (5th) 180439, ¶ 10. Public documents 

that are included in the records of courts and administrative tribunals are subject to judicial notice. 

People v. Ernest, 141 Ill. 2d 412, 428 (1990); Centeno, 2020 IL App (2d) 180815WC, ¶ 39; Palos 

Bank & Trust Co. v. Illinois Property Tax Appeal Board, 2015 IL App (1st) 143324, ¶ 11 n.2.; 

People v. Rubalcava, 2013 IL App (2d) 120396, ¶ 31; Curtis v. Lofy, 394 Ill. App. 3d 170, 172 

(2009); NBD Highland Park Bank, N.A. v. Wien, 251 Ill. App. 3d 512, 520-21 (1993); In re 

McDonald, 144 Ill. App. 3d 1082, 1085 (1986). 

¶ 73 Ellizzette’s position ignores that the trial court was entitled to take judicial notice of its 

own files and records. See Palos Bank & Trust Co., 2015 IL App (1st) 143324, ¶ 11 n.2. Likewise, 

this court may take judicial notice of the trial court’s file. People v. Fields, 2020 IL App (1st) 

151735, ¶ 58; People v. Alvarez-Garcia, 395 Ill. App. 3d 719, 726-27 (2009). In this case, the trial 

court’s file demonstrates that in December 2017, Shawn filed a petition for letters of administration 

and affidavit of heirship. In the affidavit of heirship, Shawn stated as follows. He was appointed 

plenary guardian of the person and estate of decedent on May 30, 2017. Decedent was survived by 
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his parents and his three siblings. Decedent had been married “once and only once and then to 

Debbie Greene McDonald” with said marriage ending in divorce sometime prior to 2012. 

Although decedent “participated in a wedding ceremony with Ellizzette Duvall Minnicelli” on July 

11, 2017, the marriage was void ab initio because decedent lacked the capacity to consent to the 

marriage. The trial court’s file further demonstrates that on December 19, 2017, the trial court 

entered (1) an order appointing Shawn as the independent administrator of decedent’s estate and 

(2) an order declaring heirship, which designated decedent’s parents and three siblings as his only 

heirs. The facts that decedent’s parents and his three siblings were named as his only heirs and that 

Shawn was appointed as the independent administrator of decedent’s estate were subject to judicial 

notice as they were readily verifiable. See In re Linda B., 2017 IL 119392, ¶ 31 n.7 (“Public 

documents, such as those included in the records of other courts and administrative tribunals, fall 

within the category of ‘readily verifiable’ facts capable of instant and unquestionable 

demonstration of which a court may take judicial notice.’ ”); Centeno, 2020 IL App (2d) 

180851WC, ¶ 39 (holding that the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Commission properly 

considered arbitrator decision and transcript from another case as such information was “readily 

verifiable and aided in the efficient disposition of the case.”). Accordingly, considering the facts 

apparent from the face of the pleadings, matters subject to judicial notice, and any judicial 

admissions, the record shows that there remained a genuine issue of material fact as to Ellizzette’s 

status as decedent’s surviving spouse and sole heir. See In re Estate of Davis, 225 Ill. App. 3d at 

1000 (“On a motion for judgment on the pleadings, if the pleadings put in issue one or more 

material facts, evidence must be taken to resolve such issues, and judgment may not be entered on 

the pleadings.”). In light of the foregoing, we therefore conclude that the trial court did not err in 

denying Ellizzette’s motion for judgment on the pleadings. 
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¶ 74  D. Dead Man’s Act 

¶ 75 Ellizzette next argues that the trial court committed reversible error in granting Shawn’s 

motion in limine, which barred her from testifying under the Dead Man’s Act (735 ILCS 5/8-201 

(West 2016)) as to her marriage and heirship. 

¶ 76 As noted above, Shawn filed a motion in limine seeking to bar Ellizzette from testifying or 

presenting any evidence as to any marital relationship she allegedly had with decedent at the trial 

on her petition for letters of administration and affidavit of heirship. Citing Laurence v. Laurence, 

164 Ill. 367 (1896), In re Estate of Diak, 70 Ill. App. 2d 1 (1966), and In re Estate of Enoch, 52 

Ill. App. 2d 39 (1964), Shawn alleged that such testimony would violate the Dead Man’s Act (735 

ILCS 5/8-201 (West 2016)). In her response to Shawn’s motion, Ellizzette argued, inter alia, that 

the “plain text” of subsection (d) of the Dead Man’s Act provides that “[n]o person shall be barred 

from testifying as to any fact relating to the heirship of the decedent.” 735 ILCS 5/8-201(d) (West 

2016). Ellizzette contended that because her testimony would “relate to facts surrounding the 

heirship of [decedent], this testimony falls precisely within the exception carved out within the 

Dead Man’s Act itself.” Therefore, Ellizzette urged the trial court to deny Shawn’s motion. 

Following argument on the motion by the parties, the trial court granted Shawn’s motion. The 

court reasoned that “Illinois law says that the spouse cannot testify as to heirship, and there’s cases 

cited, and they weren’t responded to.” Thereafter, the trial court entered a written order in 

accordance with its oral finding, barring Ellizzette from “testifying regarding her putative marriage 

to the decedent or regarding the decedent’s heirship.” 

¶ 77 On appeal, Ellizzette, relying principally on In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill. App. 3d 781 

(1981), argues that the legislature expressly enacted subsection (d) of the Dead Man’s Act (735 

ILCS 5/8-201(d) (West 2016)) to overrule the authority cited by Shawn in his motion in limine. 
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She therefore contends that the trial court committed reversible error in barring her from testifying 

about her marriage and heirship. Shawn responds that the trial court’s decision to grant his motion 

in limine was proper because it relied on Illinois Supreme Court precedent, Laurence, 164 Ill. 367 

(1896), which remains good law and prohibits a spouse from testifying in an heirship proceeding. 

Further, Shawn maintains that even if it was improper for the trial court to bar Ellizzette from 

testifying, she failed to preserve the issue for review by making an offer of proof as to her 

testimony. We review evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion, but interpretations of statutes 

de novo. See Gunn v. Sobucki, 216 Ill. 2d 602, 609 (2005). Additionally, a trial court’s ruling on 

an issue involving the Dead-Man’s Act will not be reversed unless the error was substantially 

prejudicial and affected the outcome of the trial. People v. $5,608 United States Currency, 359 Ill. 

App. 3d 891, 895 (2005). 

¶ 78 We begin our analysis with a review of Laurence, 164 Ill. 367. In that case, the decedent 

died intestate. The plaintiff, the decedent’s putative wife, petitioned the court for half of the 

decedent’s estate. The trial court allowed the plaintiff to testify at trial as to her alleged marriage 

to the decedent. After considering the evidence presented at the trial, the court concluded that the 

plaintiff was the lawful widow of the decedent and was therefore entitled to share in his estate. On 

appeal, the defendants argued that the trial court erred in permitting the plaintiff to testify on her 

own behalf. In support of their position, the defendants relied on section 2 of the Evidence and 

Depositions Act (Ill. Rev. Stat. 1896, ch. 51, ¶ 2), commonly referred to as the Dead Man’s Act 

(see Adrienne D. Whitehead, New Life to the Dead Man’s Act in Illinois, 5 Loy. U. Chi. L.J. 428 

(1974)). At the time of the Laurence decision, the statute provided: 

  “[N]o party to any civil action, suit or proceeding, or person directly interested in 

 the event thereof, should be allowed to testify therein of his own motion or in his own 
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 behalf, by virtue of the foregoing section, when any adverse party sues or defends as the 

 heir of any deceased person, except when called as a witness by such adverse party so suing 

 or defending.” Laurence, 164 Ill. at 372 (citing Ill. Rev. Stat. 1896, ch. 51, ¶ 2). 

The supreme court reversed and remanded the matter, holding that the plaintiff’s testimony should 

have been excluded. Laurence, 164 Ill. at 373. The court explained that the plaintiff “was not an 

heir until she established the marriage which she alleged and which was denied by the heirs, and 

until such marriage was established by proof or conceded she was a stranger to the estate and 

incompetent to testify; and the court erred in permitting her to do so.” Laurence, 164 Ill. at 373. 

¶ 79 In 1973, the Dead Man’s Act as it then existed, was repealed and replaced. In re Estate of 

Babcock, 105 Ill. 2d 267, 272 (1985); Adrienne D. Whitehead, New Life to the Dead Man’s Act in 

Illinois, 5 Loy. U. Chi. L.J. 428 (1974). In its current form, the Dead Man’s Act reads in pertinent 

part as follows: 

  “In the trial of any action in which any party sues or defends as the representative 

 of a deceased person or person under a legal disability, no adverse party or person directly 

 interested in the action shall be allowed to testify on his or her own behalf to any 

 conversation with the deceased or person under legal disability or to any event which took 

 place in the presence of the deceased or person under legal disability, except in the 

 following instances: 

*** 

  (d) No person shall be barred from testifying as to any fact relating to the heirship 

 of a decedent.” 735 ILCS 5/8-201 (West 2016). 

A-30
SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM

126956



As the Babcock court noted, the successor version of the Dead Man’s Act is less restrictive than 

the prior version of the statute. In re Estate of Babcock, 105 Ill. 2d at 272. The Babcock court 

explained: 

  “The successor act *** no longer bars all testimony by interested persons. Unlike 

 the previous statute, the Act now disqualifies the testimony by interested persons only to 

 the extent that the testimony would be to a ‘conversation with the deceased [or person 

 under legal disability] or an ‘event which took place in the presence of the deceased [or 

 person with a legal disability].’ ” In re Estate of Babcock, 105 Ill. 2d at 273.  

We also observe that the successor statute provides several exceptions to its applicability, 

including subsection (d) (735 ILCS 5/8-201(d) (West 2016)), which is at issue in this case.  

¶ 80 In In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill. App. 3d 781 (1981), the court had an opportunity to consider 

the effect of subsection (d). In that case, the petitioner, the putative wife of the decedent, brought 

an action to vacate the respondent’s appointment as administrator of the decedent’s estate. At the 

trial on the matter, the respondent objected to the petitioner testifying about her marriage to the 

decedent. The respondent asserted that such testimony was barred by the Dead Man’s Act since 

her testimony was adverse to the admitted heirs. The trial court sustained the objection, ruling that 

heirship must be proved by disinterested witnesses. On appeal, the petitioner argued that the trial 

court erred in barring her testimony. The reviewing court agreed. In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill. 

App. 3d at 783-84. In so holding, the court stated that the enactment by the legislature of subsection 

(d) in 1973 was “intended to change the rule of Laurence,” which the court termed “harsh.” In re 

Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill. App. 3d at 783-84. The court elaborated: 

 “The language of the amendment is reasonably clear and no other purpose can be discerned 

 in enacting the amendment. Respondent’s interpretation would read the general rule, that 
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 interested parties may not testify as to transactions which took place in the presence of 

 decedent, into the exception contained in [subsection (d)]. Such an interpretation would 

 render [subsection (d)] a nullity.” In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill. App. 3d at 784. 

¶ 81 Further, the Bailey court “question[ed] whether a proceeding to establish the proper 

administrator of an estate is within the scope of the [Dead Man’s] Act.” In re Estate of Bailey, 97 

Ill. App. 3d at 784. The court explained: 

 “Such a proceeding does not directly reduce or impair the decedent’s estate. Application 

 of the testimonial bar of the [Dead Man’s] Act to situations such as this leads to a race to 

 the court house to be appointed or nominate an administrator. Once the appointment is 

 made, any party wrongfully omitted from the selection must shoulder the onerous burden 

 of proving heirship without the benefit of his own testimony.” In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill. 

 App. 3d at 784. 

As such, the reviewing court held that the petitioner should have been allowed to testify as to her 

marriage to the decedent. In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill. App. 3d at 783-84. 

¶ 82 Three years after Bailey was decided, the court in In re Estate of Hutchins, 120 Ill. App. 

3d 1084 (1984), also had occasion to consider the effect of subsection (d). At issue in Hutchins 

was whether certain purported heirs of the decedent were competent to testify to their heirship of 

the decedent under the Dead Man’s Act. The plaintiff argued that the trial court erred in allowing 

testimony from the purported illegitimate children of the decedent on the issue of the heirship of 

the decedent. Citing to Laurence, the plaintiff asserted that, under the Dead Man’s Act, an heir is 

competent to testify in a proceeding to establish the heirship of his or her ancestor only where the 

proceedings are not contested and the establishment of the heirship is routine. The reviewing court 

disagreed. In re Estate of Hutchins, 120 Ill. App. 3d at 1086-87. Relying on the reasoning in Bailey, 
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the court held that the trial court properly admitted the testimony from the purported heirs of the 

decedent on the issue of the heirship of the decedent pursuant to subsection (d) of the Dead Man’s 

Act. In re Estate of Hutchins, 120 Ill. App. 3d at 1086-87. 

¶ 83 Turning to the facts in this case, we agree with the rationale set forth in Bailey and hold 

that the trial court abused its discretion in granting Shawn’s motion in limine, which sought to bar 

Ellizzette from testifying or presenting any evidence as to any marital relationship she had with 

decedent. Quite simply, pursuant to the plain language of subsection (d) (735 ILCS 5/8-201(d) 

(West 2016)), the Dead Man’s Act no longer prohibits interested parties from testifying “as to any 

fact relating to the heirship of a decedent.” See Spencer v. Wayne, 2017 IL App (2d) 160801, ¶ 16 

(noting that the fundamental objective of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to 

the intent of the legislature, the best indicator of which is the plain language of the statute itself). 

Thus, the trial court should have permitted Ellizzette to testify as to her marriage to decedent as it 

directly relates to heirship. In so holding, we observe that the court’s rationale for its finding, i.e., 

that Ellizzette did not respond to the authority cited by Shawn, is not supported by the record. 

While it is true that Ellizzette did not cite any case law in her response to the motion in limine or 

at the hearing on the same, she clearly referenced subsection (d) in her response and asserted that 

the statute allowed her to testify as to her relationship to the decedent. However, the trial court 

never addressed the impact of subsection (d) in ruling on Shawn’s motion in limine.  

¶ 84 Additionally, we reject Shawn’s claim that Laurence, 164 Ill. 367, remains good law. 

Shawn claims that Laurence is still valid precedent because the Illinois Supreme Court “never 

overruled or modified [the] decision *** in the twelve plus decades following its opinion.” 

Shawn’s position completely ignores the fact that the legislature altered the version of the Dead 

Man’s Act interpreted in Laurence to provide that “[n]o person shall be barred from testifying as 
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to any fact relating to the heirship of the decedent” (735 ILCS 5/8-201(d) (West 2016)). This action 

by the legislature effectively overruled the holding in Laurence and its progeny. In re Estate of 

Bailey, 97 Ill. App. 3d at 784 (“[W]e believe that by enacting [subsection (d)] the legislature 

intended to change the rule of Laurence which applied the [Dead Man’s] Act to proceedings to 

establish heirship.”); see also In re Estate of Hutchins, 120 Ill. App. 3d at 1087 (agreeing with the 

Bailey court that the language of subsection (d) was clearly intended by the legislature to change 

the holding in Laurence); Adrienne D. Whitehead, New Life to the Dead Man’s Act in Illinois, 5 

Loy. U. Chi. L.J. 428 (1974) (opining that the addition of subsection (d) “will undoubtedly be a 

boon to [putative spouses] who invariably failed under the old statute to establish heirship” and 

referring to Laurence). When the legislature changes the law in response to a ruling by the supreme 

court, that precedent is overruled when the statute is enacted. See Roth v. Yackley, 77 Ill. 2d 423, 

429 (1979) (recognizing that the General Assembly has the authority to draft legislation and to 

amend statutes prospectively if it believes that a judicial interpretation was at odds with its intent). 

This is exactly what occurred here. Shawn does not even discuss subsection (d) in his brief. 

¶ 85 Shawn also maintains that Ellizzette forfeited this issue by failing to make an offer of proof. 

“An offer of proof informs the trial court, opposing counsel, and the reviewing court of the nature 

and substance of the evidence sought to be introduced.” Colella v. JMS Trucking Company of 

Illinois, Inc., 403 Ill. App. 3d 82, 93 (2010). “When a motion in limine is granted, the key to saving 

for review an error in the exclusion of evidence is an adequate offer of proof in the trial court.” 

Snelson v. Kamm, 204 Ill. 2d 1, 23 (2003). “However, an offer of proof is not required where it is 

apparent that the trial court clearly understood the nature and character of the evidence sought to 

be introduced.” Dillon v. Evanston Hospital, 199 Ill. 2d 483, 495 (2002); see also LaSalle Bank, 

N.A. v. C/HCA Development Corp., 384 Ill. App. 3d 806, 823-24 (2008).  
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¶ 86 Here, Shawn’s motion in limine specifically stated that he “expected that *** Ellizzette 

*** will attempt to testify that she is the surviving spouse of [decedent].” More significantly, the 

trial court, in ruling on the motion, stated “to the extent that the spouse is going to testify as to the 

purported marriage *** I would have to grant the motion in limine based on the law that [Ellizzette] 

can’t testify.” The court later told Ellizzette:  

 “[H]aving ruled as to your ability to testify, that makes it difficult for you to prove 

the validity of the marriage. The marriage may have happened. It may have been valid in 

your eyes, but we’re proceeding under statutes, law, cases, precedent, and rulings on those 

laws as applied to the facts. So I’m not saying you didn’t have a ceremony, but I may—

that may be the effect as it pertains to heirship. It depends what you are able to prove 

without testifying.”  

Given this record, we conclude that an offer of proof was not required because the trial court 

understood that Ellizzette would testify as to her purported marriage to decedent. See Dillon, 199 

Ill. 2d at 495 (holding that an offer of proof was not required because the trial court understood 

that the witness would testify as to the medical standard of care); LaSalle Bank, N.A., 384 Ill. App. 

3d at 824 (holding that an offer of proof was not required because the trial court knew both the 

identity of the proposed witness and the subject matter of his proposed testimony); First National 

Bank of Mount Prospect v. Village of Mount Prospect, 197 Ill. App. 3d 855, 864-65 (1990) 

(holding that an offer of proof was not necessary where expert’s opinion testimony was obvious). 

¶ 87 In short, based upon the 1973 amendment to the Dead Man’s Act, we are compelled to 

conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in granting Shawn’s motion in limine and barring 

Ellizzette from testifying or presenting any evidence as to any marital relationship she had with 

decedent at the trial on her petition to establish heirship. As the trial court’s erroneous ruling 
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precluded Ellizzette from presenting her case in chief, it substantially prejudiced her. See $5,608 

United States Currency, 359 Ill. App. 3d at 896. Accordingly, we reverse the trial court’s decision 

to grant a directed finding in Shawn’s favor on this basis and remand the matter for a new trial. 

However, because additional issues related to the reasons cited by the trial court in support of its 

grant of a direct finding in Shawn’s favor may arise on remand, we address those issues now. 

¶ 88  E. Directed Finding 

¶ 89 Ellizzette challenges the grounds cited by the trial court in support of its decision to direct 

a finding in Shawn’s favor at the close of her case-in-chief. Section 2-1110 of the Code (735 ILCS 

5/2-1110 (West 2016)) permits a defendant to move for a directed finding at the close of the 

plaintiff’s case in a bench trial. In ruling on such a motion, the trial court engages in a two-step 

analysis. Minch v. George, 395 Ill. App. 3d 390, 398 (2009). Initially, the court must determine 

whether the plaintiff presented a prima facie case as a matter of law. Atkins v. Robbins, Salomon 

& Patt, Ltd., 2018 IL App (1st) 161961, ¶ 53. If the court finds that the plaintiff presented a prima 

facie case, it proceeds to the second step and weighs the evidence to determine whether the prima 

facie case survives. Minch, 395 Ill. App. 3d at 398. Where, as here, the trial court did not proceed 

beyond the first stage, we review de novo its determination. In re Foxfield Subdivision, 396 Ill. 

App. 3d 989, 992 (2009). 

¶ 90 To establish a prima facie case, a plaintiff must proffer at least some evidence on every 

essential element of the cause of action. In re Foxfield Subdivision, 396 Ill. App. 3d at 992. To 

legally marry in Illinois, a couple must fulfill the requirements and formalities set out in the 

Marriage Act (750 ILCS 5/101 et seq. (West 2016)). Section 201 of the Marriage Act (750 ILCS 

5/201 (West 2016)) provides that “[a] marriage between 2 persons licensed, solemnized and 

registered as provided in this [Marriage] Act is valid in this State.” Thus, the parties must apply 
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for a marriage license from the county clerk’s office of the county in which they intend to marry. 

750 ILCS 5/202, 203, 207 (West 2016); In re Estate of Crockett, 312 Ill. App. 3d 1167, 1171 

(2000). Both parties must be present before the county clerk or one of his deputies, pay the required 

fee, and sign the license application. 750 ILCS 5/203 (West 2016); In re Estate of Crockett, 312 

Ill. App. 3d at 1171. The parties must then appear before a duly authorized officiant and, after 

consenting to marry, must file the marriage certificate with the county clerk’s office within 10 days 

of the ceremony. 750 ILCS 5/209 (West 2016); In re Estate of Crockett, 312 Ill. App. 3d at 1171. 

We observe, however, that Illinois courts have conferred “spouse” status upon individuals even 

when one of the directory requirements of the Marriage Act has not been satisfied. See, e.g., 

Haderaski v. Haderaski, 415 Ill. 118, 119-22 (1953) (concluding that the lack of a license in an 

otherwise lawful marriage did not invalidate marriage as the statute requiring a license was 

directory rather than mandatory); In re Estate of Bailey, 97 Ill. App. 3d at 786 (noting that, with 

the exception of the lack of a marriage license, the evidence established that the couple was legally 

married). 

¶ 91 In this case, the trial court ruled that Ellizzette did not present a prima facie case of a valid 

marriage as a matter of law. The court ruled that to present a prima facie case on the validity of 

her marriage to decedent, Ellizzette had to present a valid application for a marriage license and a 

ceremony performed in Edgar County witnessed by two individuals. The court found, as a matter 

of law, that Ellizzette “did not present a prima facie case of a valid marriage ceremony under the 

circumstances such as would be sufficient to meet her burden of proof on all of the elements.” The 

court stated that “[i]t would have been simple to present the evidence of a marriage license and 

certificate and application and have some witness testify about that, but that was not done.” In 

ruling, the court further stated: 
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  “And while it is not as clear as Mr. Kinnally presents as to the case law 

 precedents—and in that I’m referring to the arguments that [Ellizzette] had when she was 

 represented by counsel during motion practice on a motion for judgment on the pleadings—

 it is clear that there was an order finding and adjudicating Decedent as a disabled person 

 and in immediate need of a plenary guardianship and that there was no best-interest hearing 

 held; that the punitive [sic] marriage was not known to the Administrator until November 

 2017; and that the marriage was not properly witnessed or licensed or subject to a best-

 interest determination by the probate court.” 

Thus, in concluding that Ellizzette did not establish a prima facie case of a valid marriage, the trial 

court determined that there was no evidence that the purported marriage was properly licensed, 

there was no evidence of a valid marriage ceremony in Edgar County, there was no evidence of 

two witnesses to the marriage, and there was no best-interest hearing to determine decedent’s 

competency to marry. Applying de novo review, we conclude that the trial court erred in granting 

Shawn’s motion for a directed finding on the four grounds cited in its ruling.  

¶ 92  1. License 

¶ 93 First, the trial court erred in ruling that there was no evidence that the purported marriage 

was properly licensed. As noted above, in ruling Ellizzette failed to present a prima facie case of 

a marriage, the trial court stated, “[i]t would have been simple to present the evidence of a marriage 

license and certificate and application and have some witness testify about that, but that was not 

done.” But this finding by the trial court ignores the fact that on November 30, 2018, almost a year 

prior to the commencement of trial, the court granted a motion filed by Shawn requesting that it 

take judicial notice of these very documents. The purpose of judicial notice is to dispense with the 

normal method of producing evidence. See State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. 
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Grebner, 132 Ill. App. 2d 234, 237 (1971); see also Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) 

(defining “judicial notice” as “[a] court’s acceptance, for purposes of convenience and without 

requiring a party’s proof, of a well-known and indisputable fact”); City of Centralia, 2019 IL App 

(5th) 180439, ¶ 10 (noting that a court may take judicial notice of “matters that are readily 

verifiable from sources of indisputable accuracy, such as public records”). “The theory and 

effective application of judicial notice of adjudicative facts not only renders the formal 

introduction of evidence before the trier of fact unnecessary, Secrist v. Petty, 109 Ill. 188 (1883); 

People v. One 1999 Lexus, 367 Ill. App. 3d 687, *** but also precludes the introduction of evidence 

of contrary tenor.” Michael H. Graham, Cleary and Graham’s Handbook of Illinois Evidence 

§ 202.3 (9th ed. 2009). Hence, by order of the court, evidence of a marriage application, license, 

and certificate were before the court pursuant to its ruling on Shawn’s motion. Since the trial court 

had already taken judicial notice of these documents for purposes of the trial, there was no need 

for Ellizzette to re-introduce them. 

¶ 94 Shawn argues that the purpose behind his motion was “to highlight every falsehood 

[Ellizzette] promoted on the Edgar County Clerk, as well as [decedent], a disabled person in need 

of protection from neglect, exploitation and abuse.” However, this purpose is not set forth in his 

motion or in the record. In this regard, we observe that the body of Shawn’s motion consisted of 

one page. In the motion, Shawn simply asked the trial court to take judicial notice, “[p]ursuant to 

the terms of *** trial” of the “Certified Copy of Edgar County, Illinois Marriage Application and 

Record of John Wood McDonald, III and Ellizzette Duvall Minicelli [sic].” Attached to the motion 

were certified copies of (1) a “Marriage Application and Record” of “John Wood McDonald III” 

and “Ellizzette Duvall Minnicelli,” (2) a Marriage License of “John Wood McDonald III” and 

“Ellizzette Duvall Minnicelli” issued by the Edgar County Clerk, signed by Bement as the 
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officiant, and indicating that the marriage ceremony occurred in Paris, Illinois on July 11, 2017, 

and (3) a “Certification of Marriage” of “John Wood McDonald, III” and “Ellizzette Duvall 

Minnicelli.” No court reporter was present for the argument on this motion, and no basis for or 

limitations on the trial court’s order appears in the record. The order granting Shawn’s motion 

simply states that “The Motion for Judicial Notice is granted and the Court hereby takes judicial 

notice of the exhibits attached thereto.” Since there was no limitation on the purpose for which the 

exhibits were admitted at trial, we find Shawn’s position lacks merit.  

¶ 95  2. Ceremony 

¶ 96 Second, the trial court erred when it ruled that Ellizzette did not present some evidence of 

“a ceremony performed in Edgar County.” Bement testified that he celebrated a marriage 

ceremony between Ellizzette and decedent on July 11, 2017, in the parties’ home in Paris, Edgar 

County, Illinois. The “Certification of Marriage” issued by Edgar County, of which the trial court 

took judicial notice, lists the wedding ceremony as taking place on July 11, 2017, in Paris, Illinois 

with Bement as the officiant. In addition, we may take judicial notice that Paris is the county seat 

of Edgar County (https://edgarcountyillinois.com/about/ (last visited Nov. 5, 2020)). See People 

v. Mata, 217 Ill. 2d 535, 539-40 (2005) (noting that a reviewing court can take judicial notice “of 

matters that are readily verifiable from sources of indisputable accuracy”); Trannel v. Prairie 

Ridge Media, Inc., 2013 IL App (2d) 120725, ¶ 20 (taking judicial notice of the population of a 

county); People v. Clark, 406 Ill. App. 3d 622, 632 (2010) (taking judicial notice of park’s 

location). Indeed, counsel for Shawn admitted in arguing the motion for a directed finding that a 

marriage ceremony was performed, stating, “there’s no evidence that there is a valid marriage 

other than what Mr. Bement said, and Mr. Bement said he conducted a ceremony.” The trial court’s 
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ruling that Ellizzette failed to present some evidence of a ceremony performed in Edgar County is 

simply not supported by the record. 

¶ 97  3. Witnesses 

¶ 98 Third, the trial court erred when it ruled that Ellizzette did not present a prima facie case 

because she failed to introduce evidence of two witnesses to the marriage ceremony. Neither 

Shawn nor the trial court cited any statutory provision requiring the presence of two witnesses for 

a marriage to be valid in Illinois. Indeed, our research reveals that while many states have a witness 

requirement, Illinois is not one of them. See, e.g., Alaska Stat. § 25.05.301 (2018) (“In the 

solemnization of marriage no particular form is required except that the parties shall assent or 

declare in the presence of each other and the person solemnizing the marriage and in the presence 

of at least two competent witnesses that they take each other to be husband and wife.”); Cal. Family 

Code § 359(d) (West 2016) (“The person solemnizing the marriage shall complete the 

solemnization sections on the marriage license, and shall cause to be entered on the marriage 

license the printed name, signature, and mailing address of at least one, and no more than two, 

witnesses to the marriage ceremony.”); Del. Code Ann. tit. 13, § 106(a)(4) (West 2016) 

(“Marriages shall be solemnized in the presence of at least 2 reputable witnesses who are at least 

18 years of age and who shall sign the certificate of marriage.”); La. Rev. Stat. § 244 (West 2016) 

(requiring marriage ceremony to be “performed in the presence of two competent witnesses of full 

age”); Kan. Stat. Ann. § 23-2504(a) (West 2016) (providing that a marriage may be validly 

solemnized “[b]y the mutual declarations of the two parties to be joined in marriage, made before 

an authorized officiating person and in the presence of at least two competent witnesses over 18 

years of age, other than the officiating person, that they take each other as husband and wife”); 

Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. § 551.9 (West 2016) (“In the solemnization of marriage *** there shall 
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be at least 2 witnesses, besides the person solemnizing the marriage, present at the ceremony.”); 

Minn. Stat. § 517.09 (2016) (“No particular form is required to solemnize a civil marriage, except: 

the parties shall declare in the presence of a person authorized to solemnize civil marriages and 

two attending witnesses that each takes the other as husband, wife, or spouse.”); Neb. Rev. Stat. 

§ 42.109 (West 2016) (requiring “at least two witnesses, besides the minister or magistrate” to be 

present at the ceremony where the marriage is solemnized); Nev. Rev. Stat. § 122.110 (West 2016) 

(“In every case, there shall be at least one witness present besides the person performing the 

[marriage] ceremony.”); N.Y. Dom. Rel. Law § 12 (McKinney 2016) (requiring “at least one 

witness beside the clergyman or magistrate” to be present at the ceremony where the marriage is 

solemnized); N.D. Cent. Code § 14-03-20 (West 2016) (“Every certificate of marriage must 

contain the full name of each party before and after the marriage and be signed by two witnesses 

to the marriage in addition to the signature of the person who solemnized the marriage”); Okla. 

Stat. tit. 43, § 7 (West 2016) (“All marriages must be contracted by a formal ceremony performed 

and solemnized in the presence of at least two adult, competent persons as witnesses.”); R.I. Gen. 

Laws § 15-3-8 (West 2016) (“The solemnization of marriage shall be in the presence of at least 

two (2) witnesses besides the minister, elder, justice, or warden officiating.”); Wis. Stat. § 765.16 

(West 2016) (“Marriage may be validly solemnized and contracted in this state only after a 

marriage license has been issued therefor, and only by the mutual declaration of the 2 parties to be 

joined in marriage that they take each other as husband and wife, made before an authorized 

officiating person and in the presence of at least 2 competent adult witnesses other than the 

officiating person.”); Wyo. Stat. § 20-1-106(b) (West 2016) (“In the solemnization of marriage no 

particular form is required, except that the parties shall solemnly declare in the presence of the 
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person performing the ceremony and at least two (2) attending witnesses that they take each other 

as husband and wife.”). 

¶ 99 Nevertheless, citing to Pike v. Pike, 112 Ill. App. 243 (1904), Shawn insists that 

“[p]roviding the names of two witnesses is the public policy in Illinois.” At the outset, we note 

that Pike is not controlling as it was decided in 1904 and appellate decisions filed prior to 1935 

have no binding authority. See Choate v. Indiana Harbor Belt Railroad Co., 2012 IL 112948, ¶ 32 

n.4 (noting that appellate court decisions filed prior to 1935 have no binding authority and can 

only be considered persuasive). This technicality aside, we find Pike factually inapposite. Pike 

involved a common-law, “secret” marriage that was neither witnessed by anyone nor publicly 

acknowledged by the participants. At the time of the events in Pike, common-law marriages were 

recognized in Illinois. Pike, 112 Ill. App. at 260. However, one of the parties denied that he had 

married. Pike, 112 Ill. App. at 252. Under these circumstances, the reviewing court “regretted that 

a marriage, such as is claimed in this case, contracted secretly between the parties, no third person 

being present, is legally permissible.” Pike, 112 Ill. App. at 260. The present case does not involve 

the type of marriage at issue in Pike. Indeed, common-law marriages were eliminated by statute in 

Illinois in 1905. 750 ILCS 5/214 (West 2016); Hewitt v. Hewitt, 77 Ill. 2d 49, 62 (1979). Pike is 

simply not persuasive authority for the proposition that a valid marriage in Illinois law requires 

the presence of two witnesses at the ceremony. 

¶ 100 Shawn notes that one of the forms issued by the Edgar County clerk includes a space to 

provide the names of witnesses to a marriage. Shawn therefore insists that if the two-witness 

requirement did not remain the policy in Illinois, “the Edgar County Clerk’s instruction to marriage 

applicants to provide the names of such witnesses would be meaningless.” We find no such 

instruction in the documents submitted. And while the document referenced by Shawn does 
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contain lines where the names of witnesses may be provided, there is no indication that this is a 

requirement to obtain a valid marriage license. Indeed, even though no witnesses are listed, the 

Edgar County clerk issued a marriage license to decedent and “Ellizzette Duvall Minnicelli,” 

thereby confirming that witnesses are not required under Illinois law. Given the lack of authority 

substantiating a two-witness requirement for marriages in Illinois, the trial court erred when it 

ruled that Ellizzette was required to present some evidence that there were two witnesses to her 

officiated marriage to decedent. 

¶ 101  4. Best-Interest Hearing 

¶ 102 Fourth, the trial court indicated that, pursuant to the Probate Act, a best-interest hearing 

was required before decedent could marry. Although not directly cited in the trial court’s ruling, 

this was apparently a reference to section 11a-17(a-10) of the Probate Act (755 ILCS 5/11a-17(a-

10) (West 2016)) which states in pertinent part as follows: 

  “Upon petition by the guardian of the ward’s person or estate, the court may 

 authorize and direct a guardian of the ward’s person or estate to consent, on behalf of the 

 ward, to the ward’s marriage pursuant to Part II of the Illinois Marriage and Dissolution of 

 Marriage Act if the court finds by clear and convincing evidence that the marriage is in the 

 ward’s best interests.” 755 ILCS 5/11a-17(a-10) (West 2016). 

The primary objective of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the 

legislature. State Bank of Cherry, 2013 IL 113836, ¶ 56. The most reliable indicator of legislative 

intent is the language of the statute itself, given its plain and ordinary meaning. State Bank of 

Cherry, 2013 IL 113836, ¶ 56. If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, it must be 

applied as written, without resorting to further aids of statutory construction. State Bank of Cherry, 

2013 IL 113836, ¶ 56. Moreover, a court may not depart from the plain language of the statute and 
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read into it exceptions, limitations, or conditions that are not consistent with the express legislative 

intent. State Bank of Cherry, 2013 IL 113836, ¶ 56. 

¶ 103 The plain language of this provision simply does not require prior approval by the court 

before a ward can marry of his or her own accord. Instead, it provides a procedure to allow a 

guardian to petition the court for authorization to consent, on behalf of the ward, to the ward’s 

marriage. The fact that a guardian may seek an order allowing consent from the court, however, 

does not mean that the ward may not marry unless and until the guardian first obtains the court’s 

consent. We read nothing in the language of section 11a-17(a-10) of the Probate Act which 

expressly declares that a marriage entered into by a ward is void in the absence of a best-interest 

hearing. 

¶ 104 Indeed, this is consistent with Pape v. Byrd, 145 Ill. 2d 13 (1991), in which the supreme 

court held that the appointment of a guardian of a person under the Probate Act is not sufficient, 

in and of itself, to show that the person was incompetent to consent to marriage. In reaching this 

result the court explained: 

 “In this regard, we note that section 11a-3 of the Probate Act of 1975 provides, inter alia, 

 that a court may adjudge a person disabled and may appoint a guardian of his person if, 

 because of his disability, he lacks sufficient understanding or capacity to make or 

 communicate responsible decisions concerning the care of his person. In contrast, section 

 301 of the Marriage Act provides that a declaration of invalidity of a marriage may be 

 obtained where a party, inter alia, lacked the capacity to consent to the marriage because 

 of, inter alia, mental incapacity or infirmity (Ill. Rev. Stat. 1989, ch. 40, par. 301). 

 Moreover, a person lacks capacity to consent to a marriage where he is unable to 
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 understand the nature, effect, duties and obligations of marriage.” (Footnote omitted.) 

 Pape, 145 Ill. 2d at 21-22. 

Based on the foregoing, the court concluded that the test of incapacity under each of the foregoing 

provisions of the Probate Act and the Marriage Act “is limited and does not speak to the incapacity 

required for purposes of the other provision.” Pape, 145 Ill. 2d at 21-22. In this case, decedent was 

adjudged a ward of the court pursuant to section 11a-3 of the Probate Act (755 ILCS 5/11a-3 (West 

2016)). Pursuant to Pape, however, this fact is insufficient, in and of itself, to require a best-interest 

hearing prior to decedent marrying. As such, we conclude that the trial court erred in ruling that 

the lack of a best-interest hearing provided a basis to grant Shawn’s motion for a directed finding 

at the close of Ellizzette’s case. 

¶ 105 Shawn suggests that to the extent Pape constituted persuasive authority, it no longer does 

because the legislature added the language in section 11a-17(a-10) to the Probate Act after the 

supreme court decided Pape. We disagree. Shawn’s argument overlooks the plain language of 

section 11a-17(a-10), which does not prohibit a ward from marrying on his or her own accord in 

the absence of a best-interest hearing. Moreover, nothing in section 11a-17(a-10) expressly 

declares a marriage entered into by a ward without his or her guardian’s consent or a best-interest 

hearing to be a nullity. Shawn also maintains that such a holding ignores a recent case decided by 

the supreme court, Karbin v. Karbin ex rel. Hibler, 2012 IL 112815. In Karbin, the supreme court 

held that a guardian has standing to institute marital dissolution proceedings on behalf of a ward. 

Karbin, 2012 IL 112815, ¶ 52. We read nothing in Karbin that prohibits a ward from getting 

married in the absence of a best-interest hearing. Accordingly, we find Shawn’s reliance on Karbin 

misplaced. 

¶ 106  III. CONCLUSION 
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¶ 107 For the foregoing reasons, we affirm the trial court’s rulings denying Ellizzette’s motion 

to vacate the order granting Shawn’s petition for letters of administration and affidavit of heirship. 

We also affirm the trial court’s decision to deny Ellizzette’s motion for a continuance of trial and 

her motion for judgment on the pleadings. We find, however, that the trial court erred in barring 

Ellizzette from testifying at the trial on her petition for letters of administration and affidavit of 

heirship. Further, the trial court erred in granting Shawn’s motion for a directed finding on the four 

grounds set forth in its oral ruling. The judgment of the circuit court of Kane County is therefore 

affirmed in part and reversed in part. We remand for further proceedings consistent with this 

disposition. 

¶ 108 Affirmed in part and reversed in part; Cause remanded with directions. 

A-47
SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM

126956



APPEAL TO THE APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS

SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS
  

SHAWN MCDONALD

               Plaintiff/Petitioner          Reviewing Court No: 

                                             Circuit Court No:   

                                             Trial Judge:        

 v.

 

ELLIZZETTE MCDONALD 

               Defendant/Respondent

     

  

  REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS - TABLE OF CONTENTS

  
Page 1 of 1

  
Date of

Proceeding     Title/Description                                               Page No.

Table of Contents

This document is generated by eappeal.net

THOMAS M. HARTWELL , CLERK OF THE 16th JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT ©
ST. CHARLES , ILLINOIS 60174

2-19-1113

2017P000744

HONORABLE JAMES R MURPHY

R 1

01/29/2019 ROP ESQUIRE DEPOSITION SOLUTIONS 17P74
4

R 2-R 69

05/01/2019 ROP_ESQUIRE_DEPOSITION_SOLUTIONS_17P74
4

R 70-R 194

10/23/2019 ROP_MARIANN_BUSCH_17P744 R 195-R 241

11/18/2019 ROP GROVE ASSOCIATES REPORTING 17P744 R 242-R 412

2-19-1113

E-FILED
Transaction ID:  2-19-1113
File Date: 2/19/2020 3:45 PM
Jeffrey H. Kaplan, Clerk of the Court
APPELLATE COURT 2ND DISTRICT

10

A-48
SUBMITTED - 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM

126956



126956 

l"'°-ll'D' vuu1n7'-,ln:.Ull vuu1 I MUM>\.:, M. ~ · VVCLL l"'\V\J~I" . , c u. -, n u t.tU~U <J.iJU ' IYI 'g y. IYU- ~II Y 

~ ?11.~.~ 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Kane County, Hlinob 

1/10/2020 1 :55 PM 

In the Matter Of: 

THE ESTATE OF JOHN W. McDONALD, III 

17 P 744 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 

January 29, 2019 

SUBMITTED- 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM 

800.211.DEPO (3376) 
EsquireSolutions.com 

R 2 

A-49 



126956 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
THE ESTATE OF JOHN W. McDONALD, Ill 

January 29, 2019 
1 

1 I N THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL 

2 CIRCUIT - KANE COUNTY , ILLINOI S 

3 IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF : 

4 

5 

6 

7 

JOHN W. McDONALD , III, 

Deceased. 

No . 1 7 P 744 

8 TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS had in t he 

9 a bove-entitled c ause on t h e 29th d ay of Januar y , 

1 0 A . D. 2019 , a t 10 : 45 a . rn . 

11 

1 2 BEFORE : HONORABLE JAMES R . MURP HY 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

16 

1 7 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

2 3 

24 

SUBMITTED-13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM 

800.211.DEPO (3376) 
EsquireSolutions. com 

R 3 

A-50 



126956 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
THE ESTATE OF JOHN W. McDONALD, Ill 

January 29, 2019 
2 

1 APPEARANCES : 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

KI NNALLY, FLAHERTY , KRENTZ , LORAN , HODGE & 

MASUR, PC, 

(2114 Deerpath Road, 

Aurora , Il l inois 60506 , 

630 - 907 - 0909) , by : 

MR. PATRICK M. KI NNALLY, 

-and -

GOSSELIN LAW , P . C ., 

(133 South Batavia Avenue , 

P . O. Box 129 , 

Batav ia, Illinois 6051 0 , 

630 - 879- 1560 ), by : 

MS . GABRIELLE A. GOSSELIN, 

appeared on behalf o f the i ndependent 

adminis t rato r Shawn McDonald; 

800.211.DEPO (3376) 
EsquireSolutions. com 

SUBMITTED- 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM 

R 4 

A-51 



126956 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
THE ESTATE OF JOHN W. McDONALD, Ill 

January 29, 2019 
3 

1 APPEARANCES : (Continued ) 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

LESSER, LUTREY , PASQUESI & HOWE, LLP , 

(1 91 East Deerpath , Suit e 300 , 

Lake Forest , I llinois 60045 , 

847 - 295 - 8800) , by : 

MR. J EFFREY P . O ' KELLEY and 

MR. PATRICK LUTREY, 

appeared on behalf of 

Ellizzette McDonal d . 

23 REPORTED BY : ELIZABETH A. HONDROS , C . S . R., 

24 Certificate No . 84 -4 241 . 

SUBMITTED-13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM 

800.211.DEPO (3376) 
EsquireSolutions. com 

R 5 

A-52 



1 

126956 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
THE ESTATE OF JOHN W. McDONALD, Ill 

January 29, 2019 
4 

THE COURT : Okay . We are he re on the Es t ate 

2 of John McDonal d . 

3 MR . O' KELLEY : That' s correct , your Honor. 

4 Jeff O' Kelley here for Ellizzette McDonald . 

5 

6 

7 

THE COURT : Good morning. 

MR . O' KELLEY : Good morning. 

MR . LUTREY : Good morning. David Lutr e y, 

8 L-U- T- R-E-Y, on behal f of El l i zzette McDonald . 

9 MR . KINNALLY : Good mor ning, jud g e . Patrick 

1 0 Kinnally and Gabr ielle Gossel in f o r Shawn Mc Donald, 

11 the independent administrat o r , who is in court . 

12 THE COURT : Good morning . Okay . So we are 

1 3 here on various issues , motions? 

1 4 

15 

MR . LUTREY : Yes . 

MR . O' KELLEY : That' s c orrect , your Honor , 

16 t hree mot i o n s pending , t wo filed b y t hem, o ne by us . 

17 

18 

19 

20 

THE COURT : Is it Shawn ' s mot i on t o compel ? 

MR . KI NNALLY : It i s . 

THE COURT : Ellizzett e ' s motion to comp el ? 

MR . O' KELLEY : Mot ion for disc losure of 

21 documents , your Honor . 

22 THE COURT : Okay . I' m l ooki ng a t Mr. 

2 3 Kinnal ly ' s cover l ette r of January 24 wi t h courtesy 

24 copies , I be l iev e. 
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5 THE ESTATE OF JOHN W. McDONALD, Ill 

1 MR . O' KELLEY : There s ho u l d be a n additional 

2 courtesy copy l etter f r om our o ffi ce , your Honor , 

3 with t he briefs re lating t o the mot i on for 

4 disclosu re o f medical records . 

5 MR . KINNALLY : The fina l motion , judge, is a 

6 motion to pay certain expenses t hat we f i led on 

7 December 18, 2018 . 

8 THE COURT : All r i ght. Those are t he thr ee 

9 t hat are up t o day that I' m aware of . So wha t do we 

1 0 want to start wi t h? 

11 MR . KINNALLY : I ' l l be happy to take the 

12 l aboring order if you want me to? I ' ll take the 

1 3 motion to compel mot i on and t he mot ion to pay 

1 4 e xpenses . If you want me to do that , I can do that . 

15 

16 Honor . 

17 

MR . O' KELLEY : That' s fine wi t h me , your 

THE COURT : All r i ght. Let ' s hear i t. I ' ve 

18 read your motions her e . 

19 MR . KINNALLY : I don ' t have muc h to add . The 

20 motion to compel was fil ed o n Decembe r 12, 2018. 

21 At tached to it was a partial transcr i p t from a 

22 citation proceedi ng held i n my off ice on August 22 

23 where t he responden t was Ell iz zett e Mc Donald. 

24 Dur ing that inquiry , I r e que ste d that 
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1 t he laptop computer and t he -- or the telephone , 

2 iPhone , of the decedent be turned over to t he 

3 administrator . The record in t hat proceeding shows 

4 at Page 92 o f t he deposition transcr ipt , Pages --

5 lines 7 to 19 t hat t hey already had turned over the 

6 laptop and the iPhone to the s t ate police without a 

7 warrant . Subsequently, I asked them to produce 

8 that, t hose two i tems during t he i nquiry . I 

9 followed up with two l etters in October , which are 

10 Exhibits 2 and 3 to my mot ion . 

11 I had a 201(k) conference with Attorney 

12 O ' Kelley on November 30 . He tol d me t hey ' r e no t 

1 3 going to produce the two items . And, apparently, 

1 4 the basis for their claim not t o produce them is 

15 that somehow t his wi ll maintain t he status quo, and 

16 that t he items might be subject to damage mi suse and 

17 l o ss , none of which have anything to do wi t h 

18 d i scovery under the supreme c ourt r ul es . We ' re 

19 entitled t o this informat ion . 

20 In fact, frankly , t he administrator is 

21 entitled to the two items, period, because this was 

22 a c i tat i on proceed i ng . He brought i t in a c i tation 

23 p r oceeding . He ' s enti t l ed to recover t ho s e assets 

24 t hat are part of t he e stat e. And, number one, the y 
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1 haven ' t produced ei t her . And, number two , they 

2 haven ' t produced any informat ion from either . So 

3 their arguments about damage , misuse, and loss or 

4 status quo are total ly misplaced. 

5 We ' ve requested this on repeated 

6 occasions , and we believe t hat because of t hat , this 

7 has increase d the cost of litigation. And with 

8 respect to t his mot ion , we 're asking t hat a sanction 

9 be imposed for having to bring the motion to begin 

10 with and in t he form o f a payment o f a ttorneys ' f ees 

11 and costs . Thank you . 

THE COURT : Okay . Mr . O' Kelley? 12 

1 3 MR . O' KELLEY: Your Honor , t he demand t hat's 

1 4 been made , and it ' s only been made orally in the 

15 course o f this depositio n and subsequen t ly by 

16 counse l or in letters, i s for the act ual laptop and 

17 iPhone . And I think that's the real source of 

18 concern . I t ' s not for e l ectronically-stored 

19 informati on . The discovery r ules counsel c ites t o 

20 about the production of electronical l y-stored 

21 information , what we have here are the actual items 

22 t hemselves , which a r e t he only i tems t hat stor e t hat 

23 i n formation . The concer n is right now we have a 

24 d ispute as t o who the appropriate estat e 
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1 rep resentat i ve is , as to who i s the appropri a t e 

2 recipient o f all o f t he asset s of thi s estate , and 

3 t ha t dispu te is unresolved . It may very well be, 

4 and we assert tha t it should b e that Shawn will not 

5 be the es t ate representative, a nd that Shawn is not 

6 ent itled to t hese items . 

7 Given that , and, f u rther, given t ha t the 

8 partie s have an extr eme ly content i ous relationshi p, 

9 there is a concern i f we actually hand over t hese 

10 items , not the ES I , the act ual items, t he laptop a nd 

11 t he computer , we may have info rmat i on that is 

12 irrevocabl y l ost . 

13 Now , this Court has a l ready curt ailed 

14 Shawn ' s powers in a lot of other respects , where in 

15 supervi sed a dminis t r at i on . Shawn i s not allowed t o 

16 actuall y make payments o r distribut ions out o f thi s 

17 es tate . He ' s not even empowered t o pay h is 

18 attorneys ' f ees out o f t hi s estate . And al l o f t hat 

19 i s in recognition of t he f ac t t hat we have right now 

2 0 at issue who shou ld even be i n cha r g e of t hi s 

21 estate. 

22 And those are the same powers Shawn is 

23 re l ying on to compel production of t h is l apt op and 

24 phone, again , not the ESI , the laptop and the phone. 
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1 Now, i f we are going to ent e r a p r o t ective o r der , 

2 perhaps, f o r product i on o f t he ESI, t hat may be a 

3 different story . We could make arr angements 

4 potentia l ly to copy that information a nd provide it 

5 to counsel . But actua l ly handing over the l aptop 

6 and the ESI, the only act ual source of that 

7 informati on, is a source of concern. And if it were 

8 to be compel l ed, I' d as k t hat it be compel led to a 

9 disinteres t ed third par ty rat her t han t o Shawn ' s 

10 possession until we can resol ve who should act ual ly 

11 be i n char ge of t h is estat e . 

12 And I , cer tainly, believe , the r e ' s no 

13 basis for sanctions . These are good f ai t h arg ument s 

1 4 as to why we have concerns about producing t hese 

15 i tems , and I expl a ined t hem to counsel when we 

16 spoke . 

17 MR . KINNALLY : Judge , my response is there is 

18 no good f a i th basis . I rece i ved no response to any 

19 of my letters. I receive d no response to t he 

20 r e que st o f the de pos i tion other t han and you can 

21 look at the transcript -- I was told we wi l l tal k 

22 about t hat. 

2 3 Now, Shawn McDonald is the independent 

24 adminis t ra t or o f this estate. Letters of off ice 
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2 adminis trator . At this par t icular time, there 's no 

3 pe t ition t o remove h i m. And he ' s ent it led to have 

4 t hese items , period . More importantly, he ' s 

5 entitled t o have the information as part of 

6 discovery. But as administrator , he ' s entitled to 

7 these two items, and they should b e t urned over to 

8 him, period . That ' s all there is to it . 

9 This is a citati on proceeding . You have 

10 the authority to order it . And as far as the 

11 sanctions are concerned , they don ' t have a basis not 

12 to turn this informatio n over . If they wanted t o 

13 enter into some colloquy with respect to turning the 

14 informat i on over as oppose d to the two channels , I ' d 

15 be happy to entertain that , but they didn 't do i t. 

16 And I asked t hree t imes . What do I have to do? How 

17 many times do I have to ask? And they d i dn ' t do 

18 a nything. They d i dn ' t even respond to my lett ers , 

19 no t even t he court esy o f a response . 

20 So that ' s why i t' s sanct ionable , and 

21 that ' s why we ' re not going to have a col l oquy 

22 anymore becau se they forfeited their r i ght to do 

23 that , and you s hould enter a sanction agains t t hem 

24 and order t hese two ite ms t o be produced . Thank 
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1 you. 

2 THE COURT : Does a nyone have a protective 

3 o r der proposal for t he phone and computer? 

4 

5 

6 

MR. KINNALLY : I do not, judge. 

MR . O' KELLEY: Nor do I . 

MR . KINNALLY: Nor did counsel ever ask t hat a 

7 p r otective order be considered by me. I f I had been 

8 so, I would have e ngaged . 

9 THE COURT : Wel l, does anyone have an expert 

10 who will make a copy o f the contents of, say , the 

11 laptop? 

12 MR . O' KELLEY : Your Hono r , if t ha t we r e 

1 3 o r dered, I ' m sur e we could make arr angements t o do 

1 4 t hat . I don ' t have one as I s t and here , but that 

15 c oul d be done . 

16 MR . KINNALLY : I t hin k we ' re ent i t led to t he 

17 t wo devices , judge . 

18 

19 

MR . O' KELLEY : This i s the issue , your Honor . 

THE COURT : Well , t here ' s some t hing in t he 

20 t ranscript about the -- being in the poss e ssion of 

21 some pol i ce agency at some point. 

22 MR. KI NNALLY: Wel l , it was g i ven to t he 

23 police agency by Ell izzett e McDonald without 

24 warrant , ad t hey returned it to he r . She admitted 
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1 at t he deposi t ion t hat s he has t he laptop , and she 

2 admit t ed t hat she had the phone in her possession . 

3 THE COURT : So at the deposition, she had them 

4 returned? 

5 MR . KINNALLY: She admi tted as of August 22 

6 they were in her possession, and I reques t ed they be 

7 turned over, and they weren ' t turned over. I wrote 

8 two letters asking they be turned over, no r e sponse . 

9 I had a 201(k) conference in this courtroom on 

10 November 30 . They said they were not going to 

11 p r oduce them, and t hat ' s a ll there is to i t . 

12 They're j ust saying we ' re not goi ng to produce i t . 

1 3 We can do that because -- for some reason, but it ' s 

1 4 not provided in the law . 

15 MR . O' KELLEY : It ' s not f or some reason, your 

16 Honor . Just, again , t o c larify, counse l has just 

17 stood here and said that the y ' re not will ing to 

18 accept the ESI . They want the actual devi ces. 

19 That's the i ssue , your Honor. And I explained t o 

20 counsel that Ell izze tte was not comfortable handing 

21 over the actual devices to him, and that was the end 

22 of our conve r sati on . 

23 So t o represent t hat we have not had a 

24 conversation about this or that i t has not been 
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2 THE COURT : The Court i s going t o grant t he 

3 motion to compel the turnover of the t wo i t ems t o 

4 t h e administrat or, and t hen I wi l l ent ertain any 

5 p ro t ectiv e o rder that people want to present wi t hin 

6 14 days . But if you can ' t come to agreement on a 

7 p r otective order as to t h e information on t hose two 

8 items, t h en t h e Cour t may t ake your r espect ive 

9 p r otect ive order s , if yo u have offered them , or 

10 consider any ob j ections to somebody ' s only o ffe red 

11 p r otect i ve order , but the administrator will not 

12 de l ete any i n f o rma t i on , I k now t hat , or comp r omi se 

1 3 t h e -- or add to the two items , but I t hink t he 

1 4 i t ems s h ould be turned over . And El l izzette' s no t 

15 be ing comf o rtabl e wi th t urning t h em ove r to Shawn 

16 because t he y ' re no t friend l y , t hat ' s not a good 

1 7 reason . 

18 These a r e t he p r opert y o f the estate , 

19 and - - u n t il f u r t her o rder of t he Cour t , I gue ss . 

20 So t hos e will b e turned over wi t h in s e v e n -- l e t 's 

21 make it the same 14 days. 

MR. LUTREY: Than k you . 22 

23 THE COURT : And we wi l l set t h i s for a 1 4- d ay 

24 date , e xcept that I' m f i lled up on Feb ruary 1 3 , 
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1 whi c h is Wednesday . February 12 is a hol i day . So I 

2 guess we ' ll have to go t o February 14 . 

3 MR . O' KELLEY : Your Honor , I know I have a 

4 conflict on the 1 4th. I' m sorry. 

5 

6 

THE COURT : That ' s Valentine ' s Day. 

MR . O' KELLEY : Bel ieve i t or no t , I have t wo 

7 other court appearances on Val entine ' s Day . I s 

8 t here a nother day t hat would work? 

9 

1 0 

MR . LUTREY : I can be here on the 1 4th . 

THE COURT : The 15th is open as wel l , t he 14th 

11 o r 15th, whichever you pref e r . 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 15th . 

16 

17 

MR . O' KELLEY : I can do the 15th . 

MR . LUTREY : Go ahead. 

THE COURT : Let ' s make i t 10 : 00 on Friday t he 

MR . O' KELLEY : Understood . 

THE COURT : Okay . What is I know there's 

18 your l aboring o rder , Mr . Kinnal l y . 

19 MR . KINNALLY : Yes , number two , the motion to 

20 pay e xpe nse s . So we fil ed this on December 1 8t h , 

21 and there's two issues ; number one , there is a 

22 stor age fee t hat ' s be i ng paid by my c l ient out of 

23 his own pocket with respect t o storage of personal 

24 property , which was the object of a pe t i tion for 
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1 recovery t hat Ell i zzette filed on June 14 , 2018, and 

2 has since, apparent ly, abandoned. That storage uni t 

3 has documentation in it that belongs to the estat e, 

4 which is disputed by Ellizzette. 

5 And, also, the second part of our motion 

6 is there ' s a car . And this car is some kind of BMW. 

7 It ' s not a collector ' s item. It ' s five years old. 

8 It ' s a depreciating asset . And my client has been 

9 paying $441 per month out of his own pocket for this 

10 car paymen t , which originally was purchased by the 

11 decedent , and he paid approxi mate l y $1 8 , 000 as a 

12 down payment , and Ellizzette has made c laim to it . 

13 So we would like these two expenses to 

14 be paid out of the estate. And the response to this 

15 motion is curious . They provide no justi fi cation 

16 for any oppositi on. And, most i mportant l y, in a 

17 motion that t hey fi led with this Cour t on June 14, 

18 2018, which I have a copy for you and whi ch I have 

19 tabbed, paragraph 57 , they admi t i n t ha t mot ion 

20 previously filed by Mr . O' Ke l ley and h is client, 

21 they admit t hat paragraph 57, which I ' ve tabbed, 

22 that Shawn does have the responsibi l ity as 

23 administrator to pay for the car and t he storage. 

24 And now t hey say that , apparently , he ' s supposed t o 
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1 make t hose payments out of hi s own pocket . 

2 Now, we came t o court originally and 

3 t old t his Cour t we were no t going to do anything 

4 without the Court ' s approval in view of the c l aims 

5 that have been p roffered by Ellizzette, and we ' re 

6 simply as king t his Court to aut horize the payment of 

7 those amounts from t he estate since , one , i t ' s a 

8 stor age unit that houses estate materia l s , personal 

9 deed , papers , whatnot, and this car . 

1 0 If t hey don ' t wan t to authorize t he payment 

11 of the car , then we shoul d just sell it . It ' s not a 

12 collector's item . I t ' s sitti ng there doing nothing , 

1 3 and that would be an alternative. And we ' re fine 

1 4 with sel l ing it if t hat ' s what t he Court wants us to 

15 do . But nobody ' s dri v ing it , and i t's depreciating . 

16 So in my v iew, the adminis t rator is taking the 

17 approp riat e avenue t o address t hese issues and bring 

18 them to t he Court ' s attention . He doesn 't have to 

19 pay t hi s out of his pocket . So t hat's my a r gument . 

20 Thank you. 

THE COURT: Response? 21 

22 MR. O'KELLEY: Yeah , your Honor, our position 

23 i n the response is not that t hese payments can ' t 

24 come from t he es tate. To be very , very c l ear, the 
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1 positi on we ' ve taken is t hat i t s houl d be wi thout 

2 p r ejudi ce to Elliz zette ' s right to asser t t hat t his 

3 BMW and some of the items i n the U-Haul s t orage 

4 facility are her assets . 

5 

6 

THE COURT : Because she ' s a beneficiary? 

MR . O' KELLEY : No , actually. By virt ue of the 

7 fact they are , in fact, hers , not assets of the 

8 e state . So t hat ' s t he core concern , a nd I just want 

9 t o explain . It ' s alleged or at l e a st assert ed i n 

1 0 the motion t o pet ition that these are assets o f the 

11 estate , t he items in this U- Haul s t orage fac ili ty 

12 a nd this BMW . We ha d a pet i tion be f or e this Court , 

1 3 whi c h has no t been abandoned, as counsel 

1 4 c haracterizes , which alleges that t hese items , 

15 certai n of them in t he U- hau l s t orage fac ili ty , and 

16 t he BMW are , in fac t, Ellizzet t e ' s assets . And we 

17 had a petition for recovery on t he basis t hat t hese 

18 a r e not assets of t he e s tat e . 

19 You may recall we stood here , I bel ieve 

20 in November, and I asked the Court t o ult imatel y 

21 continue the hear ing on that petition because we 

22 wanted to proceed on t he i ssue of whethe r t he 

2 3 marr iage was val id , f i r st . And that ' s a l l t hat 

24 happene d was the hearing on t hat p e tition was 
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1 continued pending further Court Or der . I t is s t ill 

2 pending a nd undetermined , a nd counsel i s now asking 

3 to treat t hese as estate assets when it ' s an open 

4 issue as to whether they are. 

5 So if t he Court wants to enter an order 

6 today saying that these payments can be made out of 

7 the estate, that is fine. All we ask is that the 

8 order reflect that that is without p r ejudi ce to our 

9 client to continue to assert that t hese are not 

10 actually estate assets . We don ' t want these 

11 payments to be used as evidence that t hese are not , 

12 i n fact , our c lient's assets if and when we go to 

13 hearing on t hat issue . So the order can simply 

14 reflect that this is without prejudice to 

15 Ellizzette's right to assert that these are her 

16 assets , and that ' s i t . There s hould be no i ssue 

17 beyond that, your Honor . 

18 MR . KINNALLY : Judge , this peti t ion was 

19 scheduled before you in November. We had witnesses 

20 that I had subpoenaed for t hat hearing who we r e 

21 ready to testify, and t hen they came in at t he l ast 

22 minute and basical ly sai d we ' re not going to go to 

23 hearing on t his now. So I ' m not sure what t heir 

24 argument is . All I know is an admini s trator has t he 
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1 responsibility to t he es t a t e to deal wi th estat e 

2 assets , including a storage unit where es tate assets 

3 are held . And at this particular time, there ' s 

4 nothing to say they ' re not estate assets . Maybe 

5 they ' ll prove t hat at some point. I don 't know . 

6 But at this point, you ' ve got 

7 jurisdiction over this, over my client as 

8 administrator, and he wants to pay these expenses 

9 out of t he estate and not out of his own pocket . I f 

10 we don ' t pay them, then i t ' s going to go i n t o a 

11 de fault situation, which I ' m sure the Court doesn ' t 

12 want, whi ch is why we brought i t t o your attenti on . 

13 And that ' s what we wan t . We want an order t hat 

14 these two items can be paid out of the estat e assets 

15 and not out o f my c lient's own pocket . That ' s what 

16 I ' m looki ng for . 

17 MR . O' KELLEY : To be c l ear, your Honor, a ll 

18 we're asking i s that the order a l so reflect that 

19 those payments do not prejudi ce my c l ient ' s abi l ity 

20 to assert that those are her individual assets if 

21 and when we get to trial or hearing on that issue. 

22 So we ' re not saying payment can ' t be made from the 

23 es tate. We just want it clear in t he order t hat 

24 this order is not establishing that these a r e estat e 
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1 assets . That ' s it . We want the opportun i t y to go 

2 to hearing on our petition . 

3 

4 

THE COURT : Okay . 

MR. KINNALLY : Right now t hey are es t ate 

5 assets, j udge. That ' s a l l there is to it. 

6 THE COURT : All r i ght. Wel l, i t seems to me 

7 that the -- both parties should agree that the 

8 vehicle could be sold. But if t he re is no agr eeme n t 

9 as to t hat , t hat t he -- t hen the estate is granted 

10 the abil i ty to pay the storage expenses o f t he 

11 personal property and the car . 

12 

1 3 

MR . KINNALLY : Okay . Thank you. 

THE COURT: And I s t il l suggest t hat t he 

1 4 parties come to an agreement on s e lling it and 

15 depos iting the money in t he account to be 

16 d is t ributed based o n fur t her findings of t he Court 

17 as to he irship . 

18 MR . O' KELLEY : Am I abl e t o add the language 

19 to t he order t hat t his is without prejudice to 

20 Ellizzette ' s r ight t o assert that these are her 

21 assets? 

22 

23 name . 

24 

MR. LUTREY: The car is actua l ly t itled in her 

THE COURT : Right , I unders t and . Yes, without 
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1 p r ejudice . I ' m sure that we ' ll come to that issue 

2 in t he fu t ure . But right now, a nd t hat ' s t he 

3 understanding at the time , was t hey were -- much t o 

4 her chagrin, was that I would keep it in storage 

5 until further determinat ion . So it ' s wasting the 

6 estate to keep it in storage for a year now, since 

7 last January , and or earlier. I ' m not sure when 

8 he died, whether it' s January 

9 

10 

MR . KINNALLY : Decembe r he died. 

MS . GOSSELIN : I t was December 8 that t he 

11 o rde r was entered in the guardianship regarding 

12 THE COURT : 2017 , right . Okay . So we had a 

1 3 year of $450 payments for this car , and not t o 

1 4 mention , if she ' s -- if anybody is paying for the 

15 car still , so i t ought to be sol d , and you ought t o 

16 come to an a g reement on that and then deposit t he 

17 p roceeds t o be determined later who gets i t. 

18 MR . O' KELLEY : The concern with that, just t o 

19 explain , your Honor , is counsel i s r i g h t. This i s 

20 not a collector ' s item . This is no t a fancy BMW. 

21 It was an engagement gift . Now , I understand 

22 counsel may disagree with that , but I think there is 

23 sentimental attachment to this car . I t ' s not 

24 unreasonable , which is why I think she ' d be 
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1 resistant to sell i t , just t o expl ain where she ' s 

2 coming from . 

3 

4 

THE COURT : Got it. 

MR . KINNALLY: Yeah, we ' ll file a petition to 

5 sell it then , judge . 

6 THE COURT: All right. 

7 So next -- that ' s the two motions of the 

8 estate . 

9 MR . KINNALLY: Yes, it is judge . Thank you 

10 for your consideration . 

11 THE COURT: And then we have a moti on from 

12 Ellizzette , right? 

13 

14 

15 

MR. O' KELLEY: That ' s correct , your Honor . 

THE COURT: And which one is that? 

MR . O' KELLEY : Thi s is a moti on -- i t ' s a 

16 combined mot i on to discl ose medical records and to 

17 enter a HIPAA protective order . 

18 THE COURT : Okay . Le t ' s take a break because 

19 you said you had a courtesy copy wi th your cover 

20 sheet on it. 

MR. O' KELLEY: That ' s correct . 21 

22 THE COURT: I r ead i t on-line, so I didn't 

23 locate t hat yet. 

24 MR . O' KELLEY: I have copies i f you need it, 
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1 you r Honor . 

2 THE COURT : I ' m sure you sent i t to me . I 

3 just read it on-line earlier , so .. . 

4 

5 

6 

MR. O' KELLEY : Understood. Thank you, j udge . 

(WHEREUPON, a recess was had. ) 

THE COURT : So thi s is the mot ion -- combined 

7 motion for disclosure of mental heal th records and 

8 motion HI PAA- qualifi e d p r o t ective o r der . 

9 

1 0 Honor . 

11 

12 

1 3 

MR . O' KELLEY : That ' s exactly right , your 

THE COURT : You may proceed, Mr . O ' Ke l ley . 

MR . O' KELLEY : Thanks . 

Your Honor , what this motion concerns 

1 4 is , as you may recal l , we initia l ly subpoenaed some 

15 medical record p r ovi ders in this case o r medical 

16 p r oviders , and counsel objected based on t he Mental 

17 Health Ac t and said that the es t ate did no t consent 

18 t o t he d i sclosur e of those records . So what t he 

19 Menta l Heal th Act provides under those circumst ances 

20 is that this Court can pe rform an in camera review 

21 of those records to determine whether they are 

22 appr opr i ate for d i sclosur e without the consent of 

23 t he estate . 

24 We have directed cert a i n medi c a l 
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1 provider s subpoenas t o p r oduce documents t o your 

2 Honor . I don 't know as I stand he r e i f your Honor 

3 has rece ived any records yet. Wi t h t ha t said, as 

4 I 'll expl ain , the core i ssue here i s whe ther 

5 compet e ncy i s going t o be a n issue that ' s a ddressed 

6 at trial or hearing or discoverabl e . That ' s wha t 

7 this real ly boils down to, your Honor . 

8 

9 

THE COURT: Ca pacity . 

MR . O' KELLEY : Capacity to marry specifical ly . 

10 Medica l records , obv iou s l y , are rel evant to t hat , 

1 1 a nd they a r e mor e p r obati ve than p r ej udic i a l , a nd I 

12 don ' t t h ink counsel d i sputes t hat . What counsel 

13 disput es is he ' s raised vari ous arguments as to why 

14 purportedl y cap ac i ty is not a t issue i n this matter . 

15 So l et me bac k up f or just a moment. We 

16 f i led a mot i o n f o r judgment on t he p l eadi ngs in t h i s 

17 case some time a go. What we said i n that motion was 

18 because the decedent d i ed be f ore t here was any 

1 9 c ha llenge to h is mar r i age , what the l aw says is 

20 t he r e ' s only two base s you can c ha l l enge the 

21 validity of a marr i age after someone dies . This is 

22 under the I l l ino i s Marriage and Di ssol ut i on of 

23 Mar r iage Ac t . The fi r st bas i s is t ha t these people 

24 are b l ood re l ations. And t he second bas i s is t ha t 
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1 t hese peopl e wer e married at the time they marr i ed 

2 one another . And what t he law says i s any other 

3 c hallenge can 't be raised after one of the part ies 

4 to t he marriage dies. 

5 We sought an order from t he Court 

6 limiting t he scope of d i scovery and the heari ng to 

7 t hose two issues . This Court denied t hat motion on 

8 t he basis that it was p r ematur e, and t hat t he se are 

9 arguments that could be raised at t r i al o r hearing , 

1 0 but tha t they wouldn ' t limit the scope o f discovery 

11 at t hi s sta ge of the p r oceedi ngs . In doing so , this 

12 Court eff ectivel y compell ed us to conduct d i scover y 

1 3 on other issues , including capacity , to t he extent 

1 4 t hat it would be necessary to introduce evidence at 

15 t ri a l or hearing on the i ssue o f the decedent ' s 

16 capaci ty t o mar r y . 

17 Now, counse l has raised about three 

18 d ifferent arguments that I need to address one at a 

19 t i me as to why he believe s suppose dl y the issue of 

20 capacity is no t relevant. None o f t hat has me r i t , 

21 but each takes a moment to expla in . The f irst i s 

22 counsel takes the pos i t i on that res j ud i cata bar s 

23 a ny issue of the dece dent ' s capaci ty to marry . In 

24 particul ar , counsel take s the posit i on that t he f act 
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1 t hat t he decedent had a guardianship established and 

2 an adj udi cation of d i sabili ty before he married 

3 somehow means t hat he au t omatically l acked t he 

4 capacity t o marry . That ' s counsel ' s posi t ion , 

5 basically, any effort to address the issue of 

6 capacity t o mar ry now is barred by res judicata. 

7 The l aw simply doesn ' t say t hat, your 

8 Honor . There ' s a case we cited thr ough nume rous 

9 b riefs . We ' ve cited i t in this brief . Counsel has 

1 0 never responded t o it or even acknowl e dged it 

11 exi sts . It ' s t he Pape case from the Illinois 

12 supreme court . Wha t that case says , c l e arly , in 

1 3 black a nd white t erms, is that an adjudication of 

1 4 disability in a guardianship proce eding is not 

15 determinat i ve o f that person ' s capa c i ty to marry . 

16 Having a guardianship doesn ' t mean , by definition , 

17 you lack t he ca paci t y to marry. And t he reason f or 

18 that , as i s explained i n that case ver y c l early, i s 

19 t here are two d iff erent capaci t ies at i ss ue . One is 

20 t he capacity t hat ' s addr e sse d in a guardianship 

21 p r oceeding, to manage your finances , to manage your 

22 medi cal decisions . That ' s what ' s adj ud i cated in a 

2 3 guardianship p r oceed i ng . That is a differen t 

24 capaci ty f rom the capaci ty to marry under the 
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1 I llinois Marriage and Di ssolution of Marriage Act, 

2 which embraces other considerations t ha t are 

3 unrelated . 

4 And what the Pape case said very c l early 

5 is that an adjudication of d i sability doesn ' t mean 

6 you lack t he capacity to marry. So that argument 

7 simply doesn ' t ho l d water that we can ' t address the 

8 issue o f capacity because the re was a guardianship 

9 proceed ing and it ' s res judicata barred . That ' s 

10 simply not true . The law says otherwise . 

11 The second argument raised by counsel is 

12 there ' s a provision of t he Probate Act , Section 

13 lla- 22b, and t hey ' ve returned to this again and 

14 again and again, and this is the l atest reiteration 

15 of this , where they say that this provis i on of t he 

16 Probate Act says that contracts entered i n t o af t er 

17 t he es t ablishment of a g uardianship are void . No 

18 one has cited t o any case , nor does a ny exist , even 

19 sugges t ing t ha t a marriage is cont empl a t ed under 

20 t his s t atute as a contract . Very c l early, this 

21 statute pertains to commercial contracts , debts , 

22 loans , not a marriage between two peopl e. And 

23 that ' s ver y c l ear not only from t he fact that i t ' s 

24 not in t he language of the statu t e, but for t he 
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2 The Pape case a l ready sai d, very 

3 clearl y , t he I l linois Supreme Court , that a 

4 determinat ion o f disability in a guardianship 

5 proceeding doesn ' t mean the person lacks capacity t o 

6 mar r y . So we h ave carved out mar r iage and said it ' s 

7 a different capacity , and some one wh o has a 

8 guar d i ansh ip can sti ll marry . I t is very clear t hat 

9 the law says t h is . And , again , we have cited t h i s 

10 case literal l y a dozen times . Counsel has never 

11 responded to it , has ne ver even acknowledged it 

12 exists , and continues to assert that a guardianshi p 

13 means you lack capacity to marry . I t does not . The 

14 law does not say that . It ' s very clear it ' s quite 

15 t he oppos i te . 

16 Now , t he f i nal posit i on c ounse l t a kes i s 

17 a new one . I t ' s not one t hat' s been raised in any 

18 prior briefs . And that i s t h is : They ' ve pointed to 

19 Section 5/l l a - 17(a) - 10 of t he Probate Act. And wha t 

20 t hat section of the Probate Act says is t his : A 

21 guardian in a guardianship under t he right 

22 circumstances can petition on behalf o f a ward to 

23 enter into a marr i age . But to do so , t he guardi an 

24 has t o have a best interes t he aring so the Court can 
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1 determine whet her i t' s in t he best int eres t s o f the 

2 ward t o get married . 

3 And what the statut e goes on t o say is 

4 i f t he Court enters an order that i t is in the 

5 ward ' s best interests , t hen the clerk sha l l accept 

6 t he guardian ' s applicati on on behalf of the ward. 

7 What does this mean? It means that it sets the 

8 parameters f o r a guardian ' s power a nd a guardi an ' s 

9 a b ility and a guardian ' s standing t o app l y for a 

10 marriage on behalf o f a ward . That ' s it . 

11 And there ' s a case cited by counsel , 

12 Karbin , which flips the situation on its head . I n 

1 3 which case , a guardian petitions t o divorce on 

1 4 behalf of a ward who didn ' t want t o divo r ce . And 

15 the whole i ssue in t hat case was did t he guardian 

16 have t he standing and the power to do that ? And, 

17 ultimately, the Court concluded that it did have the 

18 standi ng and t he power , and that a best int erest 

19 hearing was required . And t ha t best interest 

20 hearing is for the purpose of de t ermining whether 

21 this is , in fact, in the ward ' s best interest or 

22 just what the guardian wants. That ' s what ' s the 

23 purpose of t h is best interest hearing . I t ' s 

24 spe cifically tailored t o separate t he p r e f ere nces o f 
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2 So all of t his i s t o say the law c i t ed 

3 by counsel addresses very specifica l ly a guardian ' s 

4 ability to apply f or a marriage on behal f of a ward . 

5 Counsel i s inter preting this to mean t hat t his i s 

6 the only way a ward can marry is through a guar dian . 

7 Counsel i s taking t he position t hat once t he re ' s a 

8 guardianship , bas i cal l y , onl y t he g uardi a n has t he 

9 p o wer t o appl y for a marriag e on be ha l f o f t he ward 

1 0 and tha t this p r ocedure must be f ollowed f or a valid 

11 marriage . But f or reasons I ' ve already d i scussed, 

12 t hat ' s s imp l y not true , your Honor . 

1 3 And, a gain , I return t o that Pape case, 

1 4 t he one that counsel has never acknowledg ed , the one 

15 t hat makes very clear t ha t an adjudicati o n o f 

16 d i sability i n a guardianshi p p roceedi ng does no t 

17 mean b y defini t ion t hat t he ward lacks capacity t o 

18 marry . Someone can have a g uardi anship and st i ll 

19 marry of t heir own volit ion . And that ' s t heir only 

20 requirement under t he I l l inoi s Marr i age and 

21 Dissolut ion of Marriage Act i s t hat you have the 

22 capaci ty to ma r ry . 

2 3 So counse l ' s int erpre t ation i s 

24 e f f ectively robbing a ward who has the capacity to 
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1 marry of his independent abi l i t y to do so . Counsel 

2 is t r ying to t ake t he posit ion t hat because the 

3 guardian didn 't try to apply for a marriage on 

4 behalf of the ward and because t he guardian didn ' t 

5 seek a best interest hearing , that by def i nition , 

6 the decedent ' s marriage is not valid , and t hat ' s 

7 simply not true . It ' s not a correct interpre tation 

8 o f the l aw, and i t ' s no basis t o precl ude us from 

9 being able t o review and use as evidence , if 

1 0 necessary, medical records that relate to the 

11 decedent ' s capacity , specificall y his capacity to 

12 marry, whi c h I can ' t emphasize enough , is its own 

1 3 specific capacity separate and apart from the issue 

1 4 of capacity in a guardianship proceeding . 

15 Now , your Honor , f or those reasons , we 

16 believe capaci t y is relevant . We would l i ke to be 

17 a b le t o use these records as necessary t o be able to 

18 establish that capacity at t ria l o r hearing or t o 

19 rebut any c hal lenge to i t. And I have a HIPAA 

20 protect ive order to set t he scope of what can and 

21 can ' t be produced if the Court is willing to 

22 discl ose those document s . I have t hat on hand r ight 

23 now . 

24 So I' m aski ng for the opportunity to be 
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1 able to actually review and use t hese documents and 

2 that t hey be d isclosed by t he Court . 

3 THE COURT : I did get some responses from 

4 Sheldon Greenberg, I believe, MDSC ; At torney Scifo , 

5 I believe , who ' s an attorney, not a psychologis t or 

6 a psychiat rist. 

7 MR . O' KELLEY: That one ' s a s urprise to me , 

8 your Honor , but understood . 

9 THE COURT: Because he had some psyche -- in 

1 0 his file , he had psychiatric evaluations , I believe . 

11 MS . GOSSELIN : That is correct your Honor . 

12 Dr . Narni (phonetic) was their independent expert in 

1 3 t he guardianship case . 

1 4 THE COURT: I think t hat ' s in here , but it ' s 

15 unclear . 

16 Then I have a large p r oduction stack o f 

17 papers h ere , and I don 't know who i t' s from because 

18 it doesn ' t attach t he subpoena on top , and my 

19 secretary said 1 o f 4 i s missing, that it ' s produced 

20 2 of 4 , 3 of 4, and 4 of 4 t ha t are highlighted a t 

21 the top , but 1 of 4 is missing. So maybe t hat ' s 

22 what has the subpoena on top or who is p r oducing i t . 

23 MR. O'KELLEY: You r Honor , my best guess woul d 

24 be either Dr . Naus ha d Nonkarti (phonetic) , who we 
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1 subpoenaed a nd direct ed that he produce document s to 

2 yo u , or Dr . Jayarama Naidu , but I don ' t know . 

3 THE COURT : Al l right. Wel l , I have no t 

4 performed the i n camera yet o f t hese documents , but 

5 that ' s what I was saying woul d eventually happen 

6 because I' m no t s u re I have everyt hing . But anyway, 

7 you can still argue this motion . 

8 So a response, Mr . Kinna l l y . 

9 MR . KINNALLY : Okay . So a couple fact s t hat 

10 are not disputed . Number one , the privi l ege of 

11 confidentiality wi t h r e spe ct t o mental health 

12 records sur v i ves death . There ' s no doub t about i t . 

13 And t hat ' s no t disputed in this case . My client , 

14 the admin istrator , stands on t hat privilege , that 

15 t hese records shoul d not be produced because at this 

16 particul ar point i n time , t hose records belong t o 

17 t he es t ate . They do not belong to El l izzet te . 

18 Number two, the issue o f John McDonal d ' s 

19 cap aci t y was already decided on May 30 , 2017 . At 

20 t hat time , a plenary guardian was appoint e d for him, 

21 who is my client . And that case was 17 P 151, which 

22 we fi l ed a mot i on to consol idate that case into this 

23 case , whi ch I don ' t think the Court has ever ruled 

24 on . That guardianship has ne ver been closed . 
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1 Mr . McDonald passed away in Decembe r o f 

2 -- a year ago , ' 17 , I believe . And a final report 

3 was submi t ted t o Judge Noverini , and I do not 

4 believe that report has ever been approved by J udge 

5 Noverini. Everything that they seek in this case , 

6 in t his subpoena , in thi s motion , is what was in 

7 that f i le. So it would seem to me that t hat is t he 

8 appr opriate point , being that t he cases s houl d be 

9 consolidated so you can look at them . 

10 They have no t shown , number one, that 

11 they have good cause to see those r ecords . And the 

12 reason for that is as f o llows: We know that on May 

1 3 30 , 2017 , an order was ent ered that stated t hat my 

1 4 client would be the plenary guardian of h i s brot her. 

15 We know that order became final on July 1 , 2017 , 

16 since no a ppeal was t aken . We know on J ul y 11 , 

17 2017, a marriage ceremony was ce lebrated between the 

18 ward of t he court a nd Ellizzette, I believe in 

19 Paris, I l linois, somewhere . We also know, since I 

20 t ook her deposition , that she was aware that a 

21 plenary guardian had been appointed prior to the 

22 marriage , as was John , and she knew that Shawn was 

23 t he p lenary guardian . 

24 Now , the attorne y for El lizzett e tells 
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1 you that i t ' s my v i ew that t his marriage is invalid 

2 based on t he arguments t hat I ' ve made in my moving 

3 papers in response to their motion . It ' s not my 

4 view . It ' s the legislature ' s view . Number one , the 

5 Illinois Supreme Court in 1905 sai d each person must 

6 be capabl e to assent to a marriage contract. I t' s 

7 Hayman v . Hayman. And we cite it in our papers . 

8 The Il l inois l egislat ure, after the case 

9 that they want to rely on -- so Pape or Pape or 

10 whatever it i s . I n 2014 , a f ter the Karb i n case was 

11 decided by the supr eme cour t in 2012 , passed a 

12 statute , whi c h sai d that a best interest hearing had 

13 to be held by a t rial court with respect to whether 

14 or not a ward cou l d enter into a marriage before the 

15 marriage coul d be ce l ebrated . That ' s not Pat 

16 Ki nnal l y . That' s t he Illinoi s General Assembly . 

17 That ' s the 755 ILCS 5/lla-17 (a)-10 . That is t he 

18 statute that appl i es t o guardianships for d i sabled 

1 9 adults . 

20 More import antly, t he s t atute says , 

21 which Ellizzette has ignored, that unequivocal l y , 

22 unl ess a judge s i gns an order authori z i ng t he 

23 mar r iage through a guardian ' s r eque st, then t he 

24 circuit clerk or the county clerk s ha l l not issue , 
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1 should no t i ssue , s hal l not i ssue a marr i age 

2 license . That ' s what the s t atute says . I didn 't 

3 make t hat up. 

4 So the point is t his : Wards have a very 

5 special p lace in ou r j u r isprudence f or a lot of 

6 r easons . They can ' t help themselves . They need the 

7 Court ' s product ion. Their liberty interests have 

8 been given up by an o r der of t he Cour t authoriz i ng a 

9 plenary guardianship . And i n this part icular case , 

10 no hearing was ever held, no bes t i nterest hearing 

11 was ever hel d p rio r to this marriage being 

12 celebrated . The r e f ore , on i t s face , the s t atute 

13 says the clerk who issu ed the marr i a ge l i cense , 

14 assuming the i n formation provided was accurate , 

15 whic h we believe i t wasn ' t , d i d not have the 

16 aut hori ty t o issue a license wi t hout an order from 

17 t his Court in t he state of I l li no i s . 

18 What do we know? We know t ha t 

1 9 El lizzette knew that a guar d i a ns hip was -- occurred . 

20 We know she kne w that John had a p lenary guardian. 

21 She knew, because s he was talking to John ' s lawyer 

22 at that time , Att orney Scifo , that a p l enar y 

23 guar d i ansh ip had been appointed -- o r had occurred , 

24 and t hey we nt a head and got marrie d a nyway. The 
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1 marriage is not valid because a best interest 

2 hearing has to be hel d, number one . And, number 

3 t wo , once it is held, the Court has to sign an order 

4 which a uthorizes the clerk to issue a license t o 

5 marry. Those aren ' t my views. Those are t he 

6 general assembly that are contained in the stat ute . 

7 So we ' ve discovered this information 

8 with r espect t o -- after t aking Ellizzette ' s 

9 deposition , after talking to the guard ian ad l item, 

10 the former guardian ad li t em, a fter doing o t her 

11 d iscovery with r espect to t he issue before the 

12 Court . They cannot establis h a l egal relat i onshi p 

1 3 to John McDonald . The reason they can ' t est ablish a 

1 4 l egal re l ationship to John McDonald is because t he 

15 marriage by i ts own ter ms i s invalid , not because o f 

16 what my argument is , but because of what t he s t a tute 

17 says with respect t o disabled adults. 

18 There 's another problem wi th t heir 

19 motion . Throughout, I believe i t's Exh ibi t A, 

20 Ellizzette has violated Supre me Court Rule 138 

21 concerning disclosure o f the decedent ' s Social 

22 Security Number . They did it seven t imes . They d i d 

23 it on every subpoena . They had no authority to do 

24 t hat . I t ' s a clear viol a t ion . I t ' s a wi l lful 
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1 violat ion . They know what the law is . They d i d it 

2 anyway . Why d i d they do that ? They didn 't have to 

3 do that . Most, if not all the information , they 

4 wanted in this case coul d come from the f i le that 

5 was before Judge Noverini . All they had to do was 

6 seek an order t o l ook at the information in the fi l e 

7 instead of going through this charade . 

8 The point of t he matter is t h is . 

9 They ' re no t enti t l ed t o t he i n f ormati on . My cl i ent 

1 0 relies on the confident iality o f t he records . If 

11 they want to get thi s information , they can go and 

12 get the i nformation from the guar dianship file . She 

1 3 has no legal relationship at this t ime to t he 

1 4 decedent based on the arguments we' ve made . They ' re 

15 no t my argument s . They ' re t he general assembly that 

16 sai d specifically if yo u want t o ge t marri ed to 

17 s omebody who ' s a ward o f a g uardian , t hen you have 

18 to have a best interest heari ng . You have to have a 

19 j udge sign of f on i t, and you have t o ha ve an order 

20 that authoriz e s the clerk of the coun t y to issue a 

21 license to marry . That ' s what t he statute says , 

22 judge. That ' s why they 're not ent itled to any of 

23 t h is . Thank you . 

24 THE COURT : Are you saying t hat t he 
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1 legis l ature responded per leg islative hi s t o r y t o the 

2 Karbin case and that 

3 

4 

5 

MR . KINNALLY : No doubt about i t. 

THE COURT : and the Probate Act? 

MR . KINNALLY : No doubt about i t. Prior t o 

6 2014, legislat ure did no t have a best interest 

7 requirement . The only time l egislature acted, and I 

8 believe it was 201 4 , was after Karbi n was dec i ded . 

9 And at t hat t ime , they put in the provision --

1 0 Karbin was a common l aw decision , which reversed a 

11 l ot of precedent . Karbin stood f o r t he proposi t i on 

12 if a spouse wants to get a d i vorce , t hen she has t o 

1 3 go to court so that the Court can determine whether 

1 4 it ' s in the best i nterest of the s p ouse who is 

15 sufferi ng from a disability and i n a guardianship 

16 be f ore this s t ate . 

17 After Karbi n was decided, the 

18 legislature , in 2014 , amended t he s t atu te t o require 

19 not only a bes t int erest hearing for divorce, but a 

20 be st interest hearing for marriage . And t hat was 

21 prior to this case starting i n 2017 . Counsel should 

22 have been awar e o f it . Ell izzette shoul d have been 

23 awar e of it . She was repre sented by a l awyer . If 

24 t hey wanted t o enter into a valid marriage , t hey had 
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1 to get some judge in this count y, herself o r someone 

2 else, to s i gn off o n that par ticu l ar order and have 

3 a best interest hearing , and then issue an order 

4 that says the clerk , the county clerk cou l d issue a 

5 l icense to marry . Tha t ' s what t he statute says , 

6 j udge. 

7 

8 

MR. O' KELLEY: Judge, i f I may. 

THE COURT: They didn ' t -- t h i s is the case of 

9 firs t imp ression a f ter t hat, that it does -- t he 

10 legislat u r e didn ' t dot a l l the Is and c r oss all the 

11 Ts with t he IMDMA is what t heir a r gumen t i s . 

12 MR . KI NNALLY: The ir a r gument i s whatever they 

13 want i t to be. All I know, from my perspect ive, is 

14 what the l egis l ature says with respect to t h is 

15 parti cular i nstance , that a best i nterest heari ng 

16 must be conducted . That ' s a l l t he r e is to i t . Why 

17 one was not conducted in t his case, I have no idea . 

18 But Ms . McDonal d h ad t he opportunity . She knew that 

19 a p lenary guardianship was in f u l l f orce a nd ef f e ct . 

20 She kne w it was a final j udgme nt. John McDonald was 

21 represented by an attorney who was tal king not only 

22 to her, but to him -- because I took his deposition, 

23 and my colleague was t here -- f or t wo days , and he 

24 admi t ted that dur ing his deposition . The point of 
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1 t he matter is clear . 

2 I think the legi slatures ' s s t atement is 

3 very exact ing , j udge. It says t h is is what' s got to 

4 happen, and it didn ' t happen in this case. 

5 

6 

7 

THE COURT : One other question to follow-up 

MR . KINNALLY: Sure . 

THE COURT : in response t o the motion for 

8 j udgment on the p l eadings, did you cite the best 

9 interest hearing argument? 

10 MR . KINNALLY: I did not at t hat time because 

11 I didn ' t have all t he information . I didn ' t know . 

12 I hadn ' t t aken Sci fo ' s depos i t ion , and I hadn ' t 

13 taken Ell izzette ' s deposi t ion, and I had not 

14 obtained information from t he guardian ad litem . 

15 Once I d i d , then I asserted i t . 

THE COURT : Mr . O' Kelley , reply? 16 

17 MR . O' KELLEY : There ' s a very import ant point 

18 to be made here , your Honor . Counsel has returned 

19 again and again to what t he stat ute says a nd what 

20 this case says . You can s ee them for yourse lf . 

21 They ' re cited in our b r ie f . I' d encourage you to 

22 look at the Karbin case. They , simply, do not say 

23 what counsel says they say. Karbin , I ' m just going 

24 to briefly address it because counsel has said that 
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1 i t stands for t he p r opos i tion t hat you cannot have a 

2 val id marriage after a guardians h i p unless you have 

3 a best int erest hearing. Li t erally nowhere in that 

4 case is that said . 

5 What was at issue in Karbin was a 

6 guar dian over the objection o f t he ward wanted to 

7 get a divorce for the ward. And the Court had to 

8 examine the issue of did the guardian have the power 

9 to do that? And it went through a very l engt hy 

10 analysis because the prior understanding had been 

11 unless the powers of the guardian were specifical l y 

12 enumerated in the Probat e Act, t he guardian didn ' t 

13 have those powers . But t hat t he l aw had evolved 

14 over time to start finding implicit powers of a 

15 guardian that we r en ' t explicitly enumerated in t he 

16 Probate Act . And t ha t ' s the analys is o f the case . 

17 Does the guardian have the power t o do t his . 

18 And what the Court concluded was yes , we 

1 9 find t he guardian i mplic i t l y has t he power see k a 

20 divorce . But before t he guardian can do that, he 

21 must have a best i nterest hearing . That's what the 

22 case stands fo r. And, again, i t exists. I' d 

23 encourage your Honor t o take a look because it 

24 simply does not say there can be no val id marriage 
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1 in t he absence of a best interest hearing . 

2 The statute is cited, t he ac t ual 

3 language of the statute that counsel keeps 

4 summarizing is cited in our reply brief, and I' m 

5 go ing to read it because I think it ' s important. 

6 What the statute says is, "Upon petition by the 

7 guardian of the ward ' s person or estate, the Court 

8 may authorize and direct a guardian of the ward' s 

9 person or estate to consent on beha l f of the ward to 

10 the ward ' s marriage ." 

11 It ' s empowering a guardi an under 

12 particular circumstances to do t hat . I t i s not 

13 saying t ha t is the only means for a ward to marry . 

14 And, in fact , we know it ' s not because the case law 

15 i s very c l ear t hat t he ward, even though t he r e i s a 

16 guardianship, may have t he capacity to wal k out and 

17 get married of their own vol i tion. And to depri ve 

18 them of t hat would be unconstitutional . 

19 And, finall y, your Honor, thi s bus i ness 

20 of an order, that the statute supposedly says t hat 

21 the only way a clerk can issue an order -- excuse 

22 me, can issue a ma rriage cert i ficate is with an 

23 o r der of the court after a best interest hearing, 

24 that is no t , not what t he statute says. And I' m 
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1 go ing to read i t . The wor ds o f t he s t atut e say, 

2 " Upon presentat ion of a Court orde r authorizing and 

3 direct ing a guardian of t he ward ' s person and e state 

4 to consent to t he ward ' s marriage , t he county clerk 

5 shall accept the guardian ' s application, appearance, 

6 and signat ure on behalf of the ward for purposes of 

7 issuing a license t o marry. " 

8 Agai n, this t ies back t o the guar dian ' s 

9 power and autho r ity to act on behalf of t he ward. 

1 0 Counsel i s plucking out o f thin ai r the notion that 

11 thi s i s t he onl y mean s for a ward t o marry . And, in 

12 fact , that ' s complete l y i nconsi stent wi th t he law. 

1 3 I don ' t n eed to argue t ha t the Probate Act wasn ' t 

1 4 taking into account the requi rement s of the Ill i nois 

15 Marr iage ad Dissolut i on o f Marriage Act . They d id . 

16 These stat utes are consis t e nt. It ' s just counse l 

17 who ' s try ing t o r ead them i n a way t hat ' s 

18 i ncons i stent . There is no legal bas i s f o r counsel 

19 t o stand here a nd assert tha t t hi s statute o r t he 

20 Karb in case r e quire a best inte r est hearing before a 

21 ward can mar ry . That is not anywhere in here , your 

22 Honor. 

23 Now , as t o t he i ssue o f redacted 

24 e xhibi t s , t hat was an honest mistake, your Honor . 
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1 Counse l has made the same mi stake i n these 

2 proceedings i n a prior p l eadi ng and submi t t ed 

3 redacted exhibi t s . We wi l l do t he same. And I 

4 apologize f or t he error . We did not mean to incl ude 

5 i nformation that was protected by Rule 138 , and I 

6 wi l l gladly supply a redacted version. 

7 But as to the broader issue , your Honor, 

8 there' s simpl y no legal basis, and you ne e d to only 

9 look at t he l aw t o see i t doesn ' t say what counsel 

10 says it says . 

11 THE COURT : Al l r i ght . We l l , I ' ve read your 

12 respective briefs , incl uding t he reply, and I know 

13 from your respective briefs what Karbi n was about . 

14 As far as the eventual hearing in this case , I think 

15 t hat t he recor ds t hat are i n the p r obate fi l e or 

16 t hat are here in response to some s ubpoenas could be 

17 relevant t o Ellizzette ' s case , and she ma y use t hose 

18 to talk about capacity as opposed to the j udge ' s 

19 f i nding of a g uardi anship or fi nd i ng of l i mi t e d 

20 capacity or no capacity , but I t hi nk that t ha t 

21 hearing can tal k about or can undercut whatever the 

22 judge may have f ound in t hat guardianshi p case , and 

23 that capaci t y i s a relevant iss ue . 

24 So t he que s t ion t hen becomes whether t he 
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1 subpoenas and t he response t o t he subpoenas can be 

2 disclosed . I t hink t hey can . And thi s i s an 

3 acceptabl e method . I ' m going to overrule t he 

4 privi l ege , the urging of the privilege by t he 

5 administrator on behalf of the decedent. I think 

6 t he mental capacity is an issue in the case and has 

7 been put in as an issue in t he case . And if you do 

8 have an i ssue as to validi ty of the mar r iage or 

9 capacity to enter into t he marriage as opposed to 

10 jus t having the two IMDMA issues that are urged b y 

11 Ellizzette o f bigamy or r e lat ion and there is an 

12 issue of capacity or vo i dness or validity , I t hink 

13 these are rel e vant and can be disclosed. 

14 The only question is should there be any 

15 parts of t hese that are r edacted by t he Court after 

16 an in camera? And I ' ve already sai d that I ' m goi ng 

17 t o do an in camera of these documents. So that' s 

18 a l l I ' ll hol d onto these for for now and take 14 

19 days within which t o redact or wi t hhol d parts of the 

20 r e sponses to the subpoenas . And t hen on the 14-day 

21 date after I sort out who has produced what and 

22 whether I have the complete product i on , because as I 

23 said, my secretary made a note as t o missing section 

24 1 of 4 on one of the productions, I ' ve got t o match 
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if I do have 

2 1/4 , I will find out which one t hat i s, and then 

3 I ' ll let you know what I have. And t hen if that' s 

4 all I have and it ' s not complet e in you answer t o 

5 your subpoenas , to Ellizzette ' s subpoenas , then 

6 Ellizzette can either bring a motion t o compel t he 

7 p r oduction that hasn't been produced or El lizzette 

8 can go to the probate f i le or t he guard i a nsh i p file 

9 and seek an orde r at t hat point from me , I guess . I 

10 think both cases are in front o f me having been 

11 substitu ted, but I don ' t know anything about 

12 consolidat ing t hem yet . 

1 3 MR . KINNALLY: I filed a mot ion to consolidate 

1 4 them, b u t you never ruled on it. 

15 MR . O' KELLEY : I believe you denied t hat 

16 motion , actual l y . 

17 MR . KINNALLY : Maybe you did. I don' t 

18 remember . 

19 

20 

MR . LUTREY : I t was d e nied . 

MR. KINNALLY : I t shoul d be here . I t should 

21 be here . 

22 THE COURT : I t ' s here i n front o f me . I t ' s 

2 3 just not consolidated is my r eco l lection . 

24 MR. O'KELLEY: I think that ' s exactly right , 
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1 your Honor . 

2 THE COURT : If there ' s somethi ng left over o n 

3 that file, for instance, approving t he final report, 

4 I don ' t know if that ' s been noticed in front of 

5 p revious l y in front of J udge Noverini or now or 

6 a fter t he substi tut ion i n fron t o f me. But if I owe 

7 somebody to look a t the final report a nd approve 

8 that report, and then if I owe -- a nd then fo l lowing 

9 up that , if t he phones are to be t urned ove r from 

10 t he one hand of the guardian to the other hand when 

11 he ' s now administrat or , then that shoul d be done , 

12 too, to foll ow up --

1 3 

1 4 

15 

MR. KINNALLY: We can do that , judge . 

THE COURT: for hou sekeeping pu r poses. 

So -- but let me l ook at these . And 

16 l et 's set this f or a ppr oximatel y three weeks so tha t 

17 I can us e those 1 4 days . And I know we did 

18 something else earlie r o n 14 days. I ' m out the week 

19 of t he 18th for some o f t hose days, and there 's a 

20 holiday, so it goe s to t he wee k of t he 25th o f 

21 February. 

22 MR. O' KELLEY: Your Honor , we have an existing 

23 February 15 date we previous ly d i scussed. Do you 

24 have any ob j ection to us --
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MR . O' KELLEY : Wel l , just from t oday . Would 

3 you have any objection t o us moving everyt hing t o 

4 t he 25th instead? 

5 MR . LUTREY : It ' s the 1 4 days. Does t hat g ive 

6 you enough t i me is t he question? 

7 MR . O' KELLEY : Because otherwise we 'd be 

8 coming back --

9 MR . KINNALLY : Wel l , I want my l aptop and 

1 0 phone by the 15th . 

11 THE COURT : Al l right. Well , l et ' s do 

12 everything on the 15th t hen , and we ' ll deal with a 

1 3 closing da t e of court t omorrow because it ' s going to 

1 4 be 50 below or something . And the n there ' s also 

15 President ' s Day or Lincoln ' s birthday on the 12 t h , 

16 next Tuesday , but we ' ll see what we can get done by 

17 the 15th. 

18 

19 

MR . O' KELLEY : Understood . Appreciat e i t. 

There ' s one last small i ssue , your 

20 Honor. On the original motion t o compel , you 

21 granted that motion , but it was my understanding you 

22 weren ' t awarding sanctions . I just want to be clear 

23 i n the order if t hat ' s so . 

24 THE COURT : Correct . I may not have said t hat 
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1 on t he record , but I don ' t feel t ha t we're at t he 

2 po int yet of sanctions on t hat i ssue. And I guess 

3 the request for sanctions , if i t is not t u rned over 

4 on or before the 15t h , would s ti l l be applicable. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

MR . O' KELLEY : Understood. 

THE COURT : Okay . 

MR. O' KELLEY: Thank you , judge . 

THE COURT: You ' ve got to dea l with your 

9 client, and I don ' t know how cooperative your client 

1 0 is . 

11 

12 you. 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

MR . LUTREY : We ' ll inform he r of that . Thank 

THE COURT: All right. 

(WHICH WERE ALL THE PROCEEDINGS HAD 

IN THE ABOVE- ENTITLED CAUSE ON THIS 

DATE . ) 
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I, ELIZABETH A. HONDROS, a Cert ified 

Shorthand Reporter of the State of I l lino i s, do 

hereby certi f y that I reported in s h orthand the 

proceedings had at t h e hearing aforesaid, and t hat 

the foregoing is a true, compl ete a nd correct 

transcript of the proceedings o f said hearing as 

appears from my stenographic notes so taken and 

t r anscribed u nder my personal directi o n . 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , I do hereunt o set my 

hand at Chicago , I llinois , this 14th day of 

February , 201 9 . 

ELIZABETH A. HONDROS 

Cer t ified Shorthand Reporter 

2 3 C . S .R. Cert ificat e No . 84 - 424 1. 
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1 IN THE CIRCUI T COURT OF THE SI XTEENTH J UD I CI AL CIRCUIT 

2 KANE COUNTY , I LLI NOIS 

3 IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF : 

4 

5 

6 

JOHN W. MC DONALD , I I I , 

Deceased . 

) No . 1 7 P 7 4 4 

7 TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDI NGS had in t h e 

8 above- entitl ed cause on the 1st day o f May , A.O. 

9 2019 , at 1 : 30 p . m. 

10 

11 BEFORE : HONORABLE JAMES R . MURPHY . 

1 2 

13 APPEARANCES : 

14 LESSER LUTREY MCGLYNN & HOWE , LLP, 

15 (191 East Deerpat h 

1 6 Suite 300 

17 La ke Forest, Il l inois 60045 

18 847 . 295 . 8800) , by : 

1 9 MR . JEFFREY P. O' KELLEY , 

20 o ke l ley@llmh legal . com, 

21 appeared on behalf of Ell izzett e McDonald; 

2 2 

23 

2 4 

SUBMITTED- 13883363 - Teri DeGrado - 6/30/2021 2:54 PM 

800.211.DEPO (3376) 
EsquireSolutions. com 

R 7 1 

A-118 



126956 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill 

1 APPEARANCES : (CONT . ) 

2 GOSSELIN LAW, P . C., 

3 (133 South Batavia Avenue 

4 P . O. Box 129 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Batavia , Ill i nois 60 510-0129 

630 .879. 1560), by : 

MS. GABRIELLE A. GOSSELIN, 

gabriel l e. gosselin@sbcgloba l. net , 

-and-

KINNALLY FLAHERTY KRENTZ LORAN HODGE & 

MASUR, P . C . 

(2114 Dee r path Road 

Sui t e 2 

Aurora , Illinois 60506- 7 945 

630 . 907 . 0909 , by : 

MR . CHRI STOPHER J . WARMBOLD, 

cwarmbo l d@kfkllaw .com, 

appeared on behal f o f Shawn McDonal d . 

20 REPORTED BY : KIMBERLY A. MURPHY, 

21 CSR NO . 84-2586. 

2 2 

2 3 

24 
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3 

THE COURT : The Es t a t e o f Mc Dona ld, 17 P 744 . 

2 Counsels f o r t he record . 

3 MR . O' KELLEY: Jeff O ' Kelley on behalf of 

4 Ellizzett e McDonald. 

5 MS . GOSSELIN : Ga briel l e Gosselin on behal f of 

6 Shawn McDonald. 

7 MR . WARMBOLD: Christopher Warmbold also on 

8 behal f of Shawn McDonal d . 

9 

10 

THE COURT : What i s on t he schedu l e for today? 

MR . O' KELLEY: A few things , your Honor . 

11 Woul d it be all rig h t if I approach? 

12 THE COURT : Yes , come on up. Then we won ' t 

1 3 have any trouble hearing. 

MR . O' KELLEY: Thank you , Judge . 1 4 

15 So this ranges from t he s imple t o not so 

16 s i mple , so I ' ll start with t he s imple . We ' ve got a 

17 Petition t o Sell and a Motion to Stay hearing on 

18 that Peti t i on t hat we filed f o r t he Court ' s Order . 

19 I unders tand t hat counsel wants to ent er a b riefing 

20 schedule on that Mo t i on t o Stay to which we have no 

21 objection so we woul d enter a briefi ng schedul e on 

2 2 t h is Court ' s Order, i f t ha t ' s okay . 

2 3 

24 

THE COURT: That ' s t o sell a BMW? 

MS . GOSSELI N: Correct . 
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1 

2 

3 it? 

4 

MR . WARMBOLD : Correct . 

THE COURT : And the -- whose Mo t ion t o St ay i s 

MR. O' KELLEY: It ' s ours , your Honor. And I 

5 can get into the merits of it , bu t since counsel 

6 wa nts to respond in wri t ing , we have no objection to 

7 her doing so . 

8 THE COURT : All r i ght . At the e nd of t he 

9 hear ing we wi l l give you a date for hear ing of that 

10 motion . 

11 MR . O' KELLEY : Understood . 

12 THE COURT : Wel l , you' r e going t o brief t he 

1 3 Motion to Stay . Is that what I ' m u nderstanding? 

1 4 MR . O' KELLEY: Counsel has asked to b rief t he 

15 motion . 

16 MS . GOSSELIN : Correct . We jus t rece i ved the 

17 Motion to Stay so we have not ye t had a n opport unity 

18 to respond t o i t . 

19 THE COURT : So we may have a hearing on t he 

20 Motion to Stay that Petition to Sell. Okay . All 

21 ri ght . 

2 2 So t he n what i s the more complex? 

2 3 MR . O' KELLEY: Wel l , before t hat, t he Cour t 

24 last ent ered in its Order that we would have 
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1 continuance of discover y deadlines or adj us tment s o f 

2 t hem i n t hi s ma t ter . Given t hat we withdrew and 

3 have now re-appeared aft er 60 days , I ' m wi lling to 

4 meet with counsel afterward. I have proposed 

5 extensions , and we can come before the Court and 

6 make sure the Court is agreeable with them . That ' s 

7 a simple matter, but that ' s something we can addre ss 

8 a f ter t he he a r ing , if your Honor wants. 

THE COURT : Okay . 9 

10 MR . O' KELLEY: Then the more complex . We ' r e 

11 here bas i cally on two matters for whi c h testimony is 

12 p r obably necessar y . 

1 3 The first is a Rule to Show Cause that 

1 4 arises from this Court ' s Order of J anuary 29 , 2019 

15 that d irected my client Elle McDonald to produce the 

16 decedent ' s cel l phone and t he decedent' s l aptop . 

17 Ms . McDonald is here and is prepared t o 

18 t estify to show cause . She has provi ded t he laptop , 

19 and her t estimony is expect e d t o elicit that s he 

20 cannot l ocate t he cell phone which i s why she has 

21 not produced it . 

22 When we were last here on t his, your 

2 3 Honor , it was Apr il 15 s he was called before the 

24 Court . We in formed the Court that her fathe r was 
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1 hospi t al i zed, and you asked bas i cally for us to 

2 p r ovide you wi t h document a t ion a nd her tes t imony t o 

3 substantiate t hat when we we re here . I have 

4 documents , your Honor . 

5 The question for me is simply -- you 

6 called for us t o produce them in the Order. I can 

7 p r oduce them to counsel and you. They include a 

8 photograph o f her fathe r , vari ous e xcerpts from 

9 medical records and communications f rom peopl e 

10 verifying that she was , in fact , in Arizona . 

11 The issue i s , of cour se , in the two 

12 weeks I ' ve had , I don ' t have f ounda t i onal witnesses 

1 3 for each of t hose documents so I suppose I would 

1 4 l eave it to your Honor . I ' m happy to provide you 

15 wi th copi es o f those , eli c i t testi mony on t hem . I ' m 

16 not sure I can lay a full foundation for each of 

17 those document s , your Honor, asked me to produce . 

18 I ' ll leave it t o you as to what you t hink is best 

19 wi t h regard to that. 

20 Then we are her e also on a Ci t a t ion 

21 issued in Januar y of 2018 . That Citation overlaps 

22 considerably with a Rule to Show Cause. I t seeks 

2 3 p r oduct ion of the lapt op which has now been p r oduced 

24 and is t h e subject o f t he Rule to Show Cause. It 
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1 seeks production o f t he phone which , again , is t he 

2 subject o f the Ru le to Show Cause , and t hen it see ks 

3 p r oduction o f some items of persona l p ropert y which 

4 I ' m expect ing t o elicit t es t i mony from Ms. McDonald 

5 who is here today t hat she does not have possession 

6 of t hose items, and tha t ' s what is up f o r t oday 

7 unless counsel has anything fu r t he r . 

8 MS . GOSSELIN: Yes, we d o . We are revi si t ing 

9 t he issue of fingerprinting . Apparentl y the second 

10 try at fingerprinting was also unsuccess f ul , a nd 

11 thi s morning we spoke with Office r Hoffman , and he 

12 i s requesting t hat Ms . Mc Do nald go over to the jail 

1 3 today and be fingerprinted a t intake or booking, and 

1 4 he said apparently t he re had been some inte r nal 

15 e rro r i n t heir documentat i o n , and he s aid t hat t he 

16 onl y way it c an be done on a t imel y basis is if she 

17 repor t s d irec t l y to the jail a t booki ng . 

18 THE COURT : I think i t was Deputy Hoffman that 

19 delivered an envelope the day t ha t s he -- it was 

20 Li eut e nant Tindall. 

21 MS . GOSSELIN: Correct. He is t he one that 

2 2 actually took the finge r p rints. 

2 3 THE COURT: And he del ivered i n camera a n 

24 envelope that I have not opened ye t , but he said 
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1 t hat the originals were submi t t ed for maybe FBI 

2 p r ocess ing . I ' m no t sure . 

3 MS . GOSSELIN: It ' s my understand ing that what 

4 happened is t hey c hecked the wrong box in t he ir 

5 comput er system, and a b i l l was sent to Ms. McDonald 

6 saying no t hing would b e r eleased or done u ntil such 

7 time as she paid the processing fee, and t hat was 

8 a lso in error , and now t hey ' r e r equesting t hat she 

9 report to booking . 

10 

11 

12 

MR . O' KELLEY: Your Hono r , if I may . 

THE COURT : Go ahead . 

MR . O' KELLEY : She ' s submitted to 

1 3 fingerpr i n t i ng twice a t this point , and it ' s my 

1 4 understanding she is here t oday and can explain 

15 hersel f , i f your Honor wi s hes , t hat s he ac t ual l y has 

16 fingerpri nts on r ecord wi th t he FBI separat e and 

17 a part from t hese proceedings which apparent l y with a 

18 written a utho r i zation can be provided to t he 

19 authorit i es , if that' s wha t' s necess a ry , and ra t her 

20 than hav i ng he r submit t o a third fingerprinting, 

21 that ' s what I had asked u nder the c ircums tances. 

22 She ' s already tried to compl y twi ce, and 

2 3 t h is one -- a nd I woul d argue the f i rs t -- was 

24 t hrough no fault of he r own . Three times to have to 
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1 submit to finger p rint ing when I understand all 

2 t hat ' s necessary is a writt en authorizat ion to 

3 supply them because they ' re already of record wi th 

4 the FBI would solve that problem. 

5 MS . GOSSELIN : Your Honor , we respect fully 

6 suggest that that would no t be acceptable. We need 

7 to have the fingerprints done here i n Kane County. 

8 I t ' s our understanding that Ms . McDonal d 

9 wi t h t he first fingerpri nting de l iberat ely t reated 

10 her fi nger s with a s ubstance to impede the process 

11 of fingerprint ing , and t he who l e purpose of getting 

12 the fi nger p rints is to c heck her c riminal 

1 3 background, not just t he f act o f having t he prints . 

1 4 So t hat i s what we are looking for , and the reason 

15 f o r the fingerprint ing is because she does have a 

16 c riminal background, and s he has requested i n t he 

17 past t o be appointed administrat or o f the estat e , 

18 and if she i s convicted of a felon y , s he cannot 

19 pursue that, and t ha t i s the whole pur pos e o f h aving 

20 the fingerprinting. 

21 MR . O' KELLEY: There ' s much I dispute in t hat, 

22 your Honor . I won ' t get i nto it except to say it ' s 

2 3 my understanding t ha t t hey can be p rov ided wi th t he 

24 fingerpr ints that a lre ady exi st i s what I' m sayi ng . 
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1 To have her have to submit for a third time to 

2 fingerpri nting when fingerp rint ing can be p rov ided 

3 to t hem which my understanding t hey can do the same 

4 background search would alleviate that p roblem . 

5 MS . GOSSELIN: Your Honor , we simply have no 

6 faith that the offered fingerprints are in any way, 

7 shape or form Ms. McDonald's. Given t he history of 

8 t his case, we need our own f i ngerpr i nts . 

9 THE COURT : I have no faith in the Sheriff ' s 

10 Off ice of getting the fingerprints , although there 

11 is some dispute as to how many t i mes s he has 

12 actually been fingerprinted at t he Sherif f ' s . They 

13 say thi s will be the third time, and you say it will 

14 be the second time . 

15 MS . GOSSELIN : I n our experience it ' s the 

16 second t i me . 

17 THE COURT : We l l , I don ' t know what happened 

18 the first time, and that ' s -- nobody has given me 

19 any basis for t hat specul a t ion ; however , I think 

20 with the -- at least with t he allegations, unproven 

21 though they may be, I thin k I wi l l -- and now that 

22 s he is here and not tryi ng to get out of town to 

2 3 catch a plane , as far as I know , whi ch she was the 

24 day of t he fingerprinting, and maybe that caused 
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1 some hurried processes over there , I ' ll let her go 

2 at her convenience t oday or tomorrow or -- or 

3 Friday . I don ' t know where she is going back t o 

4 today, but I will order the appearance at t he Kane 

5 County Sheriff ' s Office and/or Jail for 

6 fingerprinting within 48 hours. 

7 

8 

9 

MR . O' KELLEY: Judge, I have one request. 

THE COURT : Go ahead . 

MR . O' KELLEY: Is i t possible -- basical ly 

10 it ' s my understanding she is in school . She can 

11 elaborate on this . She is he re . I t ' s difficult for 

12 her to be here . She does have something she ' s 

1 3 supposed to submit tomorrow, and, again, she can 

14 speak to this better than me . 

15 Under t he circumstances could you g i ve 

16 her 1 4 days to do t his so t hat she would have a 

17 window o f time if she has to go back t onight or 

18 tomorrow to get this done given that t his is the 

19 t hird time she has had to submi t to fingerp rint s? 

20 THE COURT : I'm not sure where she is saying 

21 she ' s staying these days and if she ' s in Arizona or 

22 New York or something l i ke that , then what ' s the 

2 3 di fference ? 

24 MR . O' KELLEY: The difference is if she had to 
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1 t ravel back in order to get i t done , t hen she would 

2 have t he t ime in which t o do i t. That ' s al l I ' m 

3 asking , your Honor. She can explain, if your Honor 

4 would like , where she has t o be bett er than I can. 

5 If you ' re -- I understand. I f it ' s 48 hours, i t' s 

6 48 hours . 

7 THE COURT : All right . Let ' s see what 

8 happens , and we ' l l revisit thi s at t he end of t he 

9 hearing , but you can put on your evidence now . 

10 Is there any response t o the Rule to 

11 Show Cause proposal that counsel for Ms . McDonal d 

12 has proposed? 

1 3 MS . GOSSELIN: We would like -- we can 

1 4 certainly review what he has , and t hen we can make a 

15 decision without knowing what he int ends to present . 

16 MR . WARMBOLD : I woul d like an opport unity t o 

17 at least see what documentatio n we have, Judg e , and 

18 then we can see . 

19 

20 

THE COURT : On the Citation you mean? 

MR. WARMBOLD : On t he Rule to Show Cause with 

21 r espect to her trip to Arizona and --

22 

2 3 

MS. GOSSELIN: And her actual presence there . 

MR. WARMBOLD: -- t he family member' s 

24 hospita l ization . The Court Order t ha t was entered 
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1 requested specific informat ion t o be provi ded t o the 

2 Court, and opposing counsel has i ndicated t here may 

3 be some deficiencies in that paperwork. We woul d 

4 like t o at least l ook a t it. 

5 

6 

MR . O' KELLEY : I wouldn ' t say defic i encies. 

THE COURT : Do you want t o let t hem do that 

7 before --

8 

9 

10 

MR. O'KELLEY: Tha t' s fine. 

THE COURT : before we get i nto t he hearing? 

MR . O' KELLEY: Of course . My only i ssue is 

11 under and wha t circumstances we need to provide 

12 evi dentiary foundations for these documents . Your 

1 3 Honor j ust requested documents in t he Court ' s Order 

1 4 which I ' m happy to provide to counse l and to you . 

15 The questio n is -- and I can have Elle 

16 t estify a t least as best s he can as to some of t hose 

17 documents . Ot hers , medical records, we 've had t wo 

18 weeks . We don ' t h ave a foundational expert to come 

19 here and l a y a foundat ion for medical records 

20 e stablishing her f a t her was i n t he hospital. 

21 What I' d ask under t he circumstances , 

22 particul arly given that this i s a l so a Citat i on 

2 3 p r oceeding wi th r elaxed e videntiary standard s is 

24 t hat we would be able t o provide t hose to the Court 
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1 simply to demonstra t e why she was not here last t ime 

2 in addit i on to her t estimony . 

3 THE COURT : Will t hey be able to review them 

4 first and then if they have any cross-examination 

5 with regard to that subject area, then they can 

6 visit that at the time --

7 

8 

MR . O' KELLEY: Understood. 

THE COURT : subject to any objections . Why 

9 don ' t we -- if you can provide your document s to t he 

10 Bailiff, she can make a set of copies or two . 

11 MR . O' KELLEY : I have several copies . I ' m 

12 happy to provi de to them and to your Honor . 

13 THE COURT: Let ' s take a 10 or 15 mi nute 

14 recess , and they can review those. You can review 

15 it with your c lient , whatever , and t hen we ' ll come 

16 back for t aking of evidence . 

MR . O' KELLEY : Understood . 

MS . GOSSELIN : Very good . 

THE COURT : Thanks . 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

(WHEREUPON, a r e cess was had .) 

THE COURT : All r ight. Are we ready to go 

22 t hen with witnesses? 

2 3 

24 

MR . O' KELLEY: Sure, your Honor . 

THE COURT : Okay . 
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1 MR . O' KELLEY : The onl y question I have i s we 

2 have a Ru l e to Show Cause . We have a Citat i on. 

3 There is going to be some overlapping issues . I 

4 don ' t know if your Honor wants a comb i ned hearing or 

5 i f yo u want t o separat e them even t hough i t may be 

6 somewhat duplicative, wha t ever your Honor prefe rs . 

7 THE COURT : The Rule is based on the Citation 

8 o r failure to comply with a n Order pursuant to the 

9 Cit a t ion? 

10 

11 Honor . 

12 

13 

MR . O' KELLEY: That ' s exactly rig h t , your 

MS . GOSSELIN : No, because 

THE COURT: Let him f inish his sent ence, and 

14 then you can ob j ect . 

15 MR . O' KELLEY : My unde r stand i ng subj ect to 

16 whatever counsel h as to say i s t he Court ' s Or der 

17 compelled t he p r oduction o f a lapt op a nd a cell 

18 phone . That ' s the i ssue o f the Ru l e to Show Cause 

19 a l ong with e xpl a i ning why s he was not p res ent l as t 

20 time and t hat the Citat ion a l so s eeks, among o t he r 

21 things , in formation relating to t hat same lapt op and 

22 cell phone, among other i t ems of personal property. 

2 3 THE COURT: Okay . And t he Ru l e has already 

24 issued j us t t o clari f y. 
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1 

2 

3 cause. 

4 

5 

MS . GOSSELIN : Yes . 

THE COURT : A Ru l e has issued f or her to s how 

MS. GOSSELIN: Yes , your Honor. 

THE COURT : And s o , t here f o r e, we ' re no t 

6 starting with the Petit ioner on that Ru le bringi ng 

7 her in as an adverse witness to establish a prima 

8 facie case f i rst . 

9 MR . O' KELLEY: As a Rule , cor rect , your Honor . 

10 I t would be me eliciting t est imony in sati s f acti on 

11 of t he Rul e to Show Cause . 

12 THE COURT : Showi ng cause . Okay . All r i ght . 

13 You were going to say , Ms . Gossel in. 

14 MS . GOSSELIN: What I was going to say is 

15 there have been two Citati o ns i ssued , and t he Ru l e 

16 t hat was i ssued wa s based o n her f a i l ure to compl y 

17 with an Order t o turn over t he laptop and t he 

18 computer -- the l aptop a nd t he phone . 

19 The Citat i on that we ' re p r oce edi ng on 

20 now is one that was file d i n January of 2018 and has 

21 never been up before, and whi le it does incl ude the 

22 cell phone and the lapt op , there a r e a number of 

2 3 o t her i t ems involved. So thi s Ci t at i on has nothing 

24 t o do with t he Rule . It ' s j ust there were 
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1 addit i onal fi lings t hat t ook place a f te r t h i s was 

2 fi l ed, but never -- the Cit ation was never i ssued 

3 

4 

THE COURT : Okay . 

MS. GOSSELIN: unti l April of th i s year , 

5 and in the i nter im, a di fferent Or der ha d been 

6 entered requiring her t o t urn over t he l a p t op and 

7 the iPhone, and that is what is the subject of the 

8 Rule, but t h i s Citation is a completely d i fferent 

9 p r oceeding from t hat which e l icited the Rule . 

10 THE COURT : What k ind o f Citati o n is i t , 

11 Ci tati on to Recover under t he --

12 

13 

MS . GOSSELIN : And t o r ecove r assets . 

THE COURT: Okay . That wou ld be your direct 

14 examinat i on --

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

MS . GOSSELIN : Correct . 

THE COURT : as the a dminist rator , I guess . 

MS . GOSSELIN : Correct. 

THE COURT : Attor ney f or t he admi nist r ator . 

MS . GOSSELIN : Corre ct . 

THE COURT : I don 't k now a bout t he 

21 overlapping . I think we should take car e of t he 

22 Rule first. 

MR. O'KELLEY: Su re. 23 

24 THE COURT : And t hen if thi s Ci tation needs t o 
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1 be done in open c our t , Citati o n to -- I assume i t ' s 

2 a Ci tation to Discover first t hat migh t be converted 

3 to a Citation t o Recover under Section 1 6 of the 

4 Probate Act . 

5 MR . O' KELLEY : It ' s characte r ized as a 

6 Citation t o Recover, b u t we were ordered by the 

7 Court to be here for hearing on that Citation, and 

8 s he is here prepared t o testi fy so i f we t r eat it as 

9 a Citat ion t o Discover for the purpose of her 

10 testimony , I hav e no objection . 

11 THE COURT : Okay . Let ' s -- can I see the last 

12 Court Order --

1 3 

1 4 

15 

MR. O' KELLEY: Yes. 

THE COURT : if you have a copy? 

MS . GOSSELIN : There i s there were two 

16 Or der s that were entered , b u t t hat ' s t he subject 

17 Or der . 

18 THE COURT : Okay . Let ' s p r oceed wi t h the 

19 first lis t ed one in t he Or der whic h i s Ru l e to Show 

20 Cause , and I assume t ha t wil l be Mr . O ' Kel l e y ' s 

21 witness --

MR. O' KELLEY: Yes, your Honor. 22 

2 3 THE COURT: firs t , a nd the n after we ' re 

24 done with t hat , e v en t hough t here might have been 
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1 some o verl ap , we wi l l proceed with Ms . Gosselin ' s 

2 direct on t h e Citat i on a nd see if we can keep t hose 

3 separate more or l ess . Okay. 

4 So if you wou ld call you r witness t hen , 

5 Mr . O' Ke l l ey . 

6 MR . O' KELLEY: Yes , your Honor. I cal l 

7 Ellizze tte McDonald. 

8 THE COURT : Okay . I ' l l hav e the Clerk swear 

9 t h e wi t ness in . 

10 (WHEREUPON, t h e witness was duly sworn . ) 

11 THE COURT : Okay . Mr . Ke l l y you may p r oceed . 

1 2 ELL I ZZETTE MCDONALD , 

1 3 called as a witness h e rein , having been f i rs t du l y 

1 4 sworn , was examined and testified as follows : 

15 DIRECT EXAMI NATION 

16 BY MR . O ' KELLEY : 

1 7 Q . Ms . McDonald , can you please t ell us 

18 your ful l name and spe l l i t f o r t h e record? 

19 A. Ell izze t t e Du val l McDonal d, 

20 E-1-1-i- z -z-e -t-t-e D-u-v-a-1 -1 M-c-D-o-n-a-1-d . 

21 Q . 

2 2 t hat right? 

2 3 

24 

A. 

Q. 

Elle, y ou ' re a party t o this mat ter ; is 

Yes. 

Were you ordered t o b e present in court 
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1 on April 15 , 2019? 

2 

3 

A. 

Q . 

4 April 15 ? 

Yes. 

Were y ou abl e t o be in court on 

No . 

May 01 , 2019 
20 

5 

6 

A. 

Q . Please make sure I get t he ques t i on o u t 

7 be fore you r e spond . 

8 

9 

A. 

Q . 

Sor ry . 

Were you abl e to be i n court on 

1 0 April 1 5 , 201 9? 

No , I was no t . 

Wh y i s t h a t ? 

My fat her was hospitalized . 

11 

1 2 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

A . 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

When was your fathe r hosp ital i ze d? 

He wa s t a ken ini tial l y to the hospi t a l 

16 emergentl y on Ap r i l 5 , a nd h e was -- h e is actually 

1 7 still i n t he hospita l . 

18 Q . What was he hospi t a lized f o r ? 

19 A. He sust a i n e d a v e r y s eriou s fall and 

20 fractur e d his p re - f r ont a l b o n e as wel l as whic h 

21 caused -- it went a ll t he way back t o h is pariet al 

2 2 bone, a nd he sus t a i ned two subdural hematomas whic h 

2 3 r e quire d ne u r osurger y , a n d h e a l so has seve r e 

24 c e rvica l s t eno s is of C4 t h rough C6 . 
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1 Q. Now, where did your father live when he 

2 suffered t hese injuri es? 

3 A. 

4 Arizona . 

5 Q. 

6 injuries? 

7 A. 

8 t he 5th . 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 sir . 

16 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

They were a t their other home in 

What was the date he suffered t hese 

I believe it was -- well , the eve ning of 

That ' s Apri l 5 , 2019? 

Yes . 

How l ong was your f ather hospi talized? 

He is sti l l hospi tali zed . 

He has been hospitalized since Apri l 5? 

He has been continua l ly hospitalized, 

Did you visit your father whi l e he was 

17 in the hosp ital? 

18 

19 

A. 

Q. 

Yes , I d i d . 

When did you f irst v i sit your father in 

20 t he hospi t al? 

21 

22 

23 

24 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

I arrived the morning of t he 6th . 

Now --

Apri l 6th . 

Where was you r father hospita l ized on 
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1 Ap ril 6 , 2019? 

2 

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

5 service. 

6 Q. 

7 injuries? 

8 A. 

Mayo in Scottsda l e , Ar izona . 

That ' s t he Mayo Clinic? 

Mayo Clinic in t he north surgi cal 

Where was he originally admitted f o r his 

I t was a non- Banner fac i l i ty . I bel i eve 

9 i t was called Boswell, and he was t ransferred from 

10 t he emergency room at Boswel l Mayo . 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

Boswe ll i s a 

Yes , sir . 

Where is he 

He is still 

How l ong did 

hospi t a l in Arizona? 

now? 

in Arizona at Mayo . 

you vis i t your fa t her i n 

16 Ari zona whi le he was hospit a l ized? 

17 A. 

18 on t he 17 t h . 

19 

20 

21 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

2 2 believe? 

2 3 

24 

A. 

Q. 

It was a litt le ov er two weeks . I l e f t 

You l e f t f r om Ari zona on t he 17th ? 

Ye s . 

You said you arrived on the 6t h , I 

Yes , sir. 

So between the 6th and the 1 7th you were 
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1 i n Ari zo na wi t h your hospit a l ized fa t h e r ? 

2 

3 

A. 

Q . 

4 you r f ather ? 

5 A. 

Yes , sir . 

How d i d you t rave l t o Ar i zona t o visi t 

My g i r l f r iend d r ov e a ll -- we jus t d r ov e 

6 straight t hrough . 

7 

8 

9 

1 0 

11 

1 2 

1 3 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

Who is t h a t g irl f riend? 

Sar a h . 

Sarah ' s l ast name? 

Obannon , O-b-a-n -n-o-n . 

Wher e d i d you sta y while 

At my mother a nd f a t h e r ' s h ome . 

Just to b e c l ear , y ou ' r e say i n g y ou we re 

1 4 a t your mother a nd fathe r ' s home wh i l e you were 

15 v i s i t i ng your fath er i n t he h ospital? 

16 

1 7 

A. 

Q . 

Corr ect . 

Wh e r e is your mot her and fa t her ' s h ome , 

18 at l east t he c i ty? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q . 

Sun Cit y We s t. 

That ' s where yo u s t a ye d f or the e n t i r e ty 

21 of yo ur visit with your f a t her? 

2 2 

2 3 

24 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes , s ir. 

What is you r f athe r ' s c ur r ent condition? 

Gr a v e . He ' s cont inu i ng to b e wa t c hed by 
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1 neu rosurgery as wel l as we ' re hopefu l that we can 

2 continue p rog ressing int o eventually moving him back 

3 to t he rehab wing of the neurosurgical uni t, but 

4 last night he was h a ving he was trans ferred back 

5 to the hospital side of the neurosurgical unit . 

6 Q. What was his t reatment during t he t ime 

7 you were t here generally speaking? 

8 A. Evacuation of two subdural hematomas, 

9 a nd he ' s cont inuing to be treated for t he cervical 

10 stenosis . 

11 

12 

1 3 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

At o r about Apr i l 15 , 2019 -­

What day? 

At or about Apri l 15 , 2019 did you 

1 4 be l ieve that you could leave your father at the 

15 hospi t al to be i n court for these proceed i ngs? 

16 

1 7 

18 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Absolute l y no t . 

Why not? 

There was a reasonabl e belief t hat my 

19 fa t her may n o t survi v e t his condition , t h i s 

20 situat ion . 

21 

2 2 

Q . 

A. 

What was that be l ief based on? 

His pre-existing condi t i on and t he 

2 3 comor bidities that are associated wi th t h i s in 

24 consideration o f his p r e - existing condition . 
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1 Q. Now, you a r e here t oday; is that 

2 correct ? 

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

Yes , sir. 

Why are you here today but you were 

5 unable to be here on April 15th? 

6 A. I was told, again, t hat i t was by demand 

7 that I be here even though I again -- once again , 

8 t his is interfering wi t h my own clinical 

9 responsibilities . 

10 Q. I would l ike t o show you some document s , 

11 if t hat ' s okay . 

12 A. Sure . 

13 (WHEREUPON, said document was marked 

14 Exhibit No . 1 , for identification . ) 

15 BY MR . O' KELLEY : 

16 Q. I ' m now showi ng you what has been marked 

17 as Exhibi t 1 . Do you recognize t his? 

18 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes , I do . 

What is i t? 

It ' s a photograph of my father when he 

21 presented to emergency -- actual l y this was at Mayo, 

22 after he was transported t o Mayo in the wee hours of 

2 3 t he morni ng . 

24 Q. Do you know when this photograph was 
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1 t aken? 

2 A. I t would have been on the 5th because --

3 4th -- bet ween the 5th and 6th . Like I say, these 

4 days became blur r y , but yes. 

5 

6 

Q. 

A . 

You tes t i f ied --

It was t h e night of h is i ntake t hat he 

7 was admitted . 

8 Q . You testi f ied, I belie ve, that you firs t 

9 arrived at t h e hospital on or about April 6 , 20 1 9 ; 

10 is that correct? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q . 

Correct . 

Did you have an opportun i ty to observe 

1 3 your fa t her ' s conditi on when y ou vi s ited on Ap r il 6 , 

1 4 2019? 

15 

16 

A. 

Q . 

I d id . 

Does thi s picture accuratel y , fairly and 

1 7 complete l y port ra y your fa t he r ' s condition when you 

18 saw him o n April 6 , 2019? 

19 A. He obvious l y had -- here he had no t yet 

20 been t rea t ed . By t he t ime I saw h im , he had been 

21 t r eated because he was treated eme r gently. 

22 Q . But does t h i s photograph fa ir l y and 

2 3 accurately and comple t e l y portray h i s cond i t ion when 

24 you saw h im? 
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MR . O' KELLEY: Your Honor , I would as k t hat 

3 Exhibit 1 be admitted into evidence. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

THE COURT : Any ob j ection? 

MR . WARMBOLD: I ob ject to foundation. 

MR . O' KELLEY: Your Honor, the foundation 

THE COURT : I'll admit it. Go a head. 

(WHEREUPON, said document , p revious l y 

marked Exhibi t No . 1 , for 

ident i fi cat ion , was offered and received 

in evidence as Exhibit No . 1 . ) 

MR . O' KELLEY : Your Honor , the f oundation 

13 under Illinois law for a phot ograph is does t he 

14 picture fairly and accurat ely and completely portray 

15 the image . The person need not be t he one who took 

16 t he photograph o r even be p resent when the 

17 photograph is t aken . 

18 THE COURT : Admitted subject to c r oss . 

19 (WHEREUPON, said document was marked 

20 Exhibit No . 2, for identificat ion.) 

21 BY MR. O ' KELLEY : 

22 Q. I' m going t o show you another document , 

2 3 Ms . McDonald, if t hat ' s okay . I ' m now showing you 

24 what ' s been marked as Exhibit 2. 
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A. 

Q . 

A . I t ' s the neuroradi ological report done 

5 b y Dr . Wepler after a subsequent CT had been done on 

6 my fa ther. It ' s a study. It ' s a -- yes . It ' s a 

7 f alaxial study . 

8 

9 

Q . 

A . 

How d i d you o btain t h i s document ? 

My mother p rovided it t o me t h rough t h e 

10 staff t h ere at Mayo . 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Mayo wher e your father was hospital i z e d? 

Yes, sir . 

Does this document have a date on it? 

It actually has several dates . One is 

15 4/5 , the admitting date . Thi s was generated from 

16 t heir sys t em, from t heir CRN system on 4/ 1 1 . So , 

1 7 yes , t hose are the t wo dates that I see immediat ely . 

18 Q . What is your u nderstandin g of what t hi s 

19 document reflects? 

20 A. This docume nt further s ubstan t iate s that 

21 there was -- I don ' t know how deep you want me t o go 

2 2 into t h e clinical aspects , but t here ' s n o 

2 3 ventricular bleeding; however , it was u nencapsulat ed 

24 so the r e was bleeding i n to the b rain . 
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3 

4 

5 

6 

A. The largest subdural hemat oma was 8.5 --

MS. GOSSELIN : Objection. 

THE COURT : Just a second. 

MR . WARMBOLD: Th i s is all hearsay . 

7 BY THE WITNESS: 

A. This i sn ' t hearsay . Sorr y . 8 

9 THE COURT : Your l awyer wil l respond t o 

10 objections . 

11 MR . WARMBOLD : The t estimony t hat ' s being 

12 e lic i ted t o the Court i s in r egar d to statements 

1 3 t hat someone e l se reported to be Dr. Gregory Wepl er 

1 4 made o n this alleged date . I can ' t cross - examine a 

15 p i ece o f paper , your Honor . I could cross-exami ne 

16 Ms . McDonal d , but I can 't c r oss-examinat ion Dr . 

17 Wepler . 

18 THE COURT : Sustained . 

19 (WHEREUPON, said docume nt was marked 

20 Exhibit No . 3 , for ident ifi cat ion.) 

21 BY MR. O ' KELLEY: 

22 Q. I' m now showing you what ' s been marked 

2 3 as Exhibit 3 . Do you r ecognize this docume nt? 

24 A. Yes, sir . 
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Q . 

A. I t is correspondence bet ween myself and 

3 Dr . Bernar d Bendok, the chairma n of neurosurgery at 

4 Mayo . 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Q. 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Now, is there a date on t his document? 

Yes , there i s . 

What is that date? 

April 5 . 

Now, how did you obtain this d ocument? 

I d id a scr een shot f o r my c ounsel ' s 

11 offices , law offices . 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

16 

Q . 

A . 

Where d i d t ha t screen shot come from? 

I t ' s a n i n t ernal mes saging s y stem within 

it ' s a messaging system I have . 

Q . 

A. 

I s it Facebook? 

No . I t's another type o f messenger . 

1 7 It ' s t hrough t he APA . 

18 Q . Now, is thi s a communication basical l y 

19 b e tween you and anot her person ? 

20 

21 

A. 

Q . 

Ye s , si r. 

Are the grayed-o ut port ions your own 

2 2 communications? 

2 3 

24 

A. 

Q. 

Yes , sir. 

Now, t he date o f t h is communicat ion , if 
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1 I ' m understanding correc t ly , is April 5 , 2019 ? 

2 

3 

A. 

Q. 

Yes , sir. 

Is this a true , complete a nd accurat e 

4 copy o f t he communication t hat you made on Apri l 5 , 

5 2 019? 

6 

7 

A. Yes , sir. 

MR . O' KELLEY: Your Honor , I would ask that 

8 Exhibit 3 be admitted into evidence . 

9 

10 

11 

12 

THE COURT : Any ob j ection? 

MR . WARMBOLD: I objec t to f oundation , Judge . 

THE COURT : Response . 

MR . O' KELLEY : Your Honor , I don ' t k now what 

1 3 t he r e p orted deficiency i s in the fou ndation . She 

1 4 has testified this is a true , complete a nd accurat e 

15 copy of her own c ommunication and the date o f t hat 

16 communicat i on and i t ' s -- not t hat hearsay has been 

17 raised, but i t' s no t been offered for the t r u th of 

18 the matter asserted . I t ' s been offered to establish 

19 a date upon which s he knew of her s t a t e o f mind her 

20 fathe r ' s hospi tal iz a tion which is relevant to t he 

21 issue of this Rule t o Show Cause. 

2 2 THE COURT : Any fu r ther on t he foundat i on, 

2 3 what you ' r e missing? 

24 MR . WARMBOLD: Wel l , Judge, t her e hasn ' t been 
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1 any testi mony as far as where t hi s comes from . We 

2 have t he vague answer that t his i s from some sort o f 

3 messaging s ystem . I don ' t know wha t t ha t means. Is 

4 th is f rom a cell phone ? Is this f rom a computer? I 

5 don ' t know. We don ' t have t ha t testimony. 

6 With respect to what -- if the stat ement 

7 contained within this purported me ssage is not being 

8 o f fered for t he trut h of the matte r asserted, so be 

9 it , but I don ' t t hink t here i s sufficient foundation 

10 f or it to be admitted into evidence . 

11 THE COURT : Sustained . Provide some f urther 

12 f oundation as to t ime a nd p lace and sender and 

1 3 r eceiv er, e t cetera . 

1 4 MR . O' KELLEY: Understood . 

15 BY MR . O ' KELLEY : 

16 Q. Ms . McDonald , can you f u r t her explai n 

17 from what source you generat ed t h is part icular 

18 document? 

19 A. Oh , i t was -- I was -- t hat syncs wi th 

20 my phone as well , but I type d i t on t he computer 

21 because I was simultaneously on t he phone with t he 

2 2 emergency room doctor at the t i me . 

2 3 Q. Help me understand. When you generat e d 

24 t h i s particular document when was t hat? 
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A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

The evening of t he 5th . 

When you gener ated t his document? 

Oh , when I made the screen shot for you? 

Correct. 

Monday. 

So that would have been 

Just this past Monday . 

I bel i eve t ha t ' s the 28th or the 29th? 

Yes . 

Now, can y ou describe f or me exactly how 

11 you generated t his document? 

12 

13 

14 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Through Snaggot . 

What is Snaggot? 

It's a program whereby you can grab 

15 things o ff the landing p l atform of a page . 

16 Q. Now, when you created this ori ginal 

1 7 message , how did you do t hat? 

18 A. I was on the p hone , and I went to my 

19 comput er since I coul dn 't use my p hone to t alk t o 

20 one doctor and type to another, and I typed a 

21 message to Dr . Bendok . 

22 Q . What was the program you used to type 

2 3 t hat message? 

24 A. I t ' s -- I don ' t know t he name of it. I 
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5 Q. Is that Facebook messenger or another 

6 messenger se rvice? 

7 A. I would have t o l ook. I would be 

8 speculating . I just have t ha t symbol on my t hi ng , 

9 a nd I j us t hit i t . 

10 Q . Now, when yo u generated this , this i s 

11 what you typed at t hat t ime? 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

16 

1 7 

A . 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

Yes, sir . 

And t hat time 

Yes, sir. 

At 7 : 42 p . m. ? 

Yes , sir . 

And these gra y 

was April 

squares 

5 , 2019? 

reflect a true , 

18 complete and accu rate copy of wh a t you typed into 

19 t he system on Ap ril 5, ' 1 9? 

A. Ye s , si r, 100 percent. 20 

21 MR . O' KELLEY: I would o ffe r again Exh ibit 3 

2 2 into evidence . 

THE COURT: Anythi n g f urther? 2 3 

24 MR . WARMBOLD: J u st for clar i fi cat ion , 
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1 purposes , this is bei ng admitted for proo f as t o the 

2 wi tness ' state of mind, no t for t he t ruth of the 

3 statements contained with in this document? 

4 

5 

THE COURT : I have not seen it. 

MR . O' KELLEY: I can p rov ide you with a copy, 

6 your Honor. 

7 

8 but 

9 

THE COURT : If i t ' s admitted, I ' ll see it, 

MR . WARMBOLD: I just want clarification as 

10 far as what purpose this is being sought to be 

11 admitted for . That's all . If i t ' s be ing sough t for 

12 the truth of the matter asserted wi t hin here, I 

13 would be ob j ecting to hearsay . 

14 MR . O' KELLEY: So my response to that , your 

15 Honor , i s thi s . This document to my r eview -- to my 

16 v iew refl ect ' s Elle 's understanding t ha t he r fa t her 

17 was hospi t alized at that time and on t h is date . 

18 That ' s wha t I am o ffering i t f or. 

19 THE COURT : All right. I ' ll admi t i t subj ect 

20 to cross again. It's Exhibit 3, I thin k. 

21 

22 

2 3 

24 

MR . O' KELLEY: Yes. 

(WHEREUPON, said document , previously 

marked Exhibi t No . 3 , for 

ident i fi cat ion , was offered and received 
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1 in evidence as Exhib it No . 3 . ) 

2 BY MR. O ' KELLEY : 

3 Q . Ms . McDonald , when did you re t urn from 

4 Arizona again ? 

5 

6 

7 with? 

8 

9 

10 

11 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

12 Ari zona? 

1 3 A . 

We left on t he 1 7th. 

When you say " we ," wh o did you travel 

Sarah . 

So Sarah s t ayed with you throughout? 

She did . 

Wher e d i d you t ravel when you l e f t 

We passed t hrough Ill inoi s so I coul d 

1 4 get my dogs , but then I had to re t urn to Virgini a . 

15 

16 

1 7 

18 

19 

20 

21 

t o 

Q . 

t he best 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

What is your f ather ' s c u rrent condi t i o n 

o f your knowl edge? 

Grave . 

Why? 

St able but grave . 

Why grave ? 

Because h e has comorbidities , and t here 

22 are o ther complications t hat have a r isen d u e to his 

2 3 p r e - existing condition . 

24 Q. Did you understand the i mportance of 
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1 be ing present in court o n April 15 , 2 0 19? 

2 

3 

A. 

Q. 

Absol u t e l y not . 

You did not unde r stand t he importance of 

4 being present? 

5 A. I d idn ' t -- what I understood was that I 

6 needed to hand over my computer which I did, but I 

7 didn ' t know I needed to be here to physically hand 

8 it over . 

9 Q. Since you brought up t he computer , I 

10 want to segway to that . 

11 Did you at any t i me have access to John 

12 McDonald , III ' s computer? 

1 3 A . John ' s comp uters were t aken from him 

1 4 we ll before like h is personal personal computers , 

15 J ohn never had i n h i s presence down i n Il l inois o r 

16 New York . Those were taken by Shawn and Br ett 

17 mon t h s be f o re , and t hey re fused to re t urn t hem t o 

18 him. Th i s computer was the compan y compute r . 

19 Q. St op for j us t a moment . You did have 

20 posse ssion of a compute r , corr ect? 

21 

22 

23 

24 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes, sir . 

A laptop computer? 

Yes , sir . 

Who did that computer belong to? 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

The company . 

What ' s t h e company? 

Well , we were using it for EDM . 

Who is we? 

John and I and Jason and several peop le 

6 actually , but t hen when we travel ed we used that one 

7 because i t was so much l ighter just to carry one 

8 laptop rather than eve rybody car rying a l ap t op . 

9 Q . Now, was t hat the on ly comput e r t hat you 

10 have that was John ' s in whole or in part? 

11 A. That was the only one J ohn used because 

12 h e was the -- because I ' m not f o nd o f the Apple 

1 3 platform . 

1 4 

15 

16 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

It was an Apple comput er? 

Corr ect. 

Now, was t ha t t h e onl y comp uter of 

1 7 John ' s in whole or in part that you had in your 

18 possession ? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

23 computer? 

24 A. 

Yes , sir . 

And have you pro duce d that c ompute r? 

Yes, sir . 

Was t her e any de lay in p r oducing that 

The only de l ay was t h e f ac t o f having t o 
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1 p r oduce a computer t hat ' s no t -- it ' s ridi c ulous t o 

2 have to t urn over a computer t hat belongs t o a 

3 company t hat has no t h ing to --

4 Q . What about J ohn ' s iPhone , d i d you e ver 

5 hav e that in your possession? 

6 

7 

A. 

Q . 

I did . 

Now, we are here in part i n response to 

8 a Citation p roceed i ng ; i s t ha t corr ect ? 

9 

10 

A. 

Q . 

Yes , sir . 

Now, when yo u responded to the Citation 

11 i n this matter , did you ind icate that you had J ohn ' s 

12 iPhone? 

1 3 

1 4 

A . 

Q . 

When I responded to the Citation? 

Cor rec t . There was a Citat ion written 

15 i ssued in thi s matter . When we r esponded in wr i t ing 

16 on your behalf , did you i ndi cate that you had John ' s 

1 7 iPhone? 

18 A. I be lieve I h ad the phone s inc e that --

19 what was it January of 201 8 when 

20 Q . My que st i on is : did you indi cat e you had 

21 i t ? 

2 2 

2 3 

24 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes . 

Wh y did you indicate you had it? 

Because I b e lie v e d that I sti l l had i t . 
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1 Q. You were p r eviously deposed in this 

2 matter ; i s that correct? 

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

Yes , sir . 

Did you indi cat e in t he course of t hat 

5 deposition that you believed you had John ' s iPhone? 

6 

7 

8 

9 true . 

10 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

Wh y did you say so? 

Because that ' s what I believed t o be 

Now, have yo u s ubsequently c ome t o l earn 

11 that tha t i s untr ue? 

12 

1 3 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

Have you come to learn that do you no t 

1 4 have possession o f John ' s iPhone ? 

15 

16 

A. 

Q. 

17 came to be? 

18 A. 

Yes. 

Now, can you expl ain f o r me how that 

Well , because when I went to go l ocate 

19 t he p hone , the p hone was n 't where I ha d -- where I 

20 had left it had already been packe d u p b y my mom and 

21 several other people that --

2 2 

2 3 i t ? 

24 

Q. 

A. 

Take a step back. Whe r e had you l eft 

That January I put it on t he table i n 
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1 t he back r oom . 

2 

3 

4 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

Is this Jan uar y , 20 18? 

2018 . 

And is t h is in Paris, I l linois or 

5 another residence? 

6 

7 

8 

9 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Q. 

Par is , Illinois. 

Wher e was t he p hone? 

That was the last p lace I had s een i t . 

So in Paris , Ill i nois -- January, 2018 

10 there is a residence in Paris , I llinois ; i s t hat 

11 correct? 

12 

1 3 

A. 

Q . 

There wa s , yes . 

Wher e was t he phone in the r esidence in 

1 4 Paris , I ll inois in January of 2018? 

15 A. I put i t on t he desk in t h e -- wel l , the 

16 t able i n t he back offi ce . 

1 7 

18 

19 

20 phone ? 

21 

22 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

2 3 t hat phone ? 

24 A . 

In that residence? 

Corr ect. 

And that was the last time you saw t hat 

Corr ect. 

When was t he next time you l ooked for 

I d on ' t know . April , May when I went to 
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1 get the l ast bi ts of my t hings . Those da t es were so 

2 b l u rry . I was just -- t o be honest , I wo uld be 

3 speculating . I was just 

4 Q . I don ' t want you to speculate. 

5 

6 

A. 

Q. 

Okay . We ll , I was j ust --

It ' s my unders t anding t h ere was a move , 

7 is t hat correct, fr om some of the i tems in Paris? 

8 

9 

10 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Yes . 

Can you exp l ain t hat? 

Well , the house -- prior to J ohn and I 

11 going there, t he house was a l ways goi ng to b e s old 

12 o r renova ted a t the ver y least . The only r eason we 

1 3 were there was it was ki nd of a launching pad for 

1 4 all the other things we were d oing . We weren ' t 

15 liv ing l i ving t here . 

16 Q . So as t o items t ha t we re in the 

1 7 residence were they packed for a move o r what 

18 happened to them? 

19 A. Most o f t he house was already packed up, 

20 yes . In fact , the r e was v e ry li t tle t he r e at a ll . 

21 Q . So when you searched for t h e phone where 

2 2 did you search for it? 

2 3 A. I just went into t he back room, and 

24 e verything had already been emptied out o f t he back 
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1 r oom. And I said, "Wha t happened to a ll t he boxes? " 

2 And s he said , " Oh , well , some of them 

3 went t o New York, and some of t hem were the things 

4 that we had to get r id of . " 

5 

6 

MR . WARMBOLD : Objection. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned. 

7 BY MR. O ' KELLEY : 

8 Q . You don ' t need to speak as to what other 

9 peopl e told you . 

Okay . 10 

11 

A. 

Q . Following up , we r e you able to l ocate 

12 the p h one when you l ooked for i t? 

No . 1 3 

1 4 

15 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

Where have you loo ked for it? 

I ' ve empt i ed eve r y s i ngle book box t hat 

16 I even knew that I d i dn ' t even put it i n because 

1 7 t hose b oxes were already gone , but I t hought ma ybe 

18 because I was so emotionall y distraught and 

19 e veryt hing for some reas on maybe it was one place o r 

20 the o the r. I ' v e gone t hrough e verything . 

21 I' ve gone t hrough papers , even t he box 

2 2 o f pots and pans t h inking maybe by accident I picked 

2 3 i t up a nd put it t her e o r something and d i d n ' t -- I 

24 mean --
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1 

2 

3 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Hav e you been abl e t o locate t hat phone? 

No , sir. 

As you sit here today do you know where 

4 the phone is? 

No , I don ' t . 5 

6 

A. 

Q. I f you were ordered to produce t hat 

7 phone, would you be able t o do so? 

A. No, no . 8 

9 MR . O' KELLEY: I have nothing f urther, your 

10 Honor . 

11 

12 

THE COURT : Cross . 

MR . WARMBOLD : Thank you , Judge . 

1 3 CROSS - EXAMINATION 

1 4 BY MR . WARMBOLD : 

15 Q. Ms . McDonald , I want t o go back . Le t ' s 

16 start with your time in Arizona . 

17 You stat ed t ha t you le f t for Arizona on 

18 Ap ril 6th of t his year? 

19 

20 

21 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

No . That ' s no t what I stated . 

When did y o u leave , ma ' am? 

Short ly after that evening in speaking 

2 2 to my mother. I a r r ived on April 6 . 

2 3 Q. Wha t ' s that eveni ng? Are you r e f erring 

24 t o Apri l 5 th t hen? 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Q . 

Yes . 

And you l e f t wi t h your f riend, correct ? 

Corr ect. 

What is your f riend ' s f u l l n ame? 

Sarah Obannon . 

Can you spell t hat last name? 

O- b - a - n - n - o - n . 

Do you spell Sarah is t h e cor rect 

9 spelling S-a-r-a-h? 

10 

11 

1 2 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

13 20 years. 

14 Q . 

Yes . 

How do you know Sara h ? 

She ' s kn own the fami l y f o r we l l over 1 5 , 

When you say " t h e f amily ," you ' re 

15 r e f e r r i ng t o your f amily? 

16 A. Her f a t h e r a nd my f ather we r e f riends , 

1 7 and s h e i s original l y f rom Vi rgi nia . There ' s a l ot 

18 of c r oss i ng over . 

19 

20 

21 

22 

2 3 

24 t ime? 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

Where doe s s he l i v e now? 

Some o f the time in Par is. 

Paris, I l linois? 

Yes, s ir. 

Wher e does s h e l i ve t he res t of t he 
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A. Do I need to provide that info rmation? 

MR . O' KELLEY: If t he question is asked, you 

3 need to --

4 BY THE WITNESS : 

5 A. I don ' t have the exact address of where 

6 she is the other portions of the time. She also has 

7 family that she sees in Virginia. 

8 BY MR. WARMBOLD : 

9 Q . Does that mean she also lives in 

10 Virginia or is your answer you don ' t know? 

11 A. I don ' t know what she considers her 

12 permanent address . 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

What is h e r address in Paris , Illinois? 

I don ' t have that address. 

How l ong have you known her f o r? 

Since t he ' 80s at least , maybe even a 

1 7 little longer . 

18 Q . How did it come about that she was going 

19 t o be dri ving you to Arizona? 

20 A. I wasn ' t able t o g e t a flight t hat night 

21 because there was no flights leaving t hat evening so 

22 s h e just said , " Let ' s jus t drive . We can get there 

2 3 before you would be able t o get a f l ight the next 

24 day and be t here . " 
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1 So we j ust -- I l i t erally jus t grabbed a 

2 few things, and we hopped in the car a nd headed 

3 towards Arizona. 

4 Q. So that doesn ' t exactly answer my 

5 question . I was asking how did it come about that 

6 she was going to drive you to Arizona? 

7 

8 

A. 

Q. 

That ' s how it came about. 

How d i d she find out that your father 

9 was in t he hospi ta l? 

10 A. She was there -- I called her to let he r 

11 know that I was go ing to have to l eave because my 

12 father had been hospi tali zed, and she came over and 

1 3 said, " Have you been able to get a flight ? " 

14 I said , "No ." 

15 She said, "Well , come on . Let ' s go . 

16 I ' ll drive you ." 

17 

18 

Q. 

A. 

What time did you leave Paris , Illinois? 

Oh, I don ' t know what time it was . It 

19 was after midnight. That I do k now . 

20 Q. So does that mean you l eft t e chnically 

21 on April 6, 2019? 

22 A. Once again, I did not leave on 

2 3 April 6t h. I arrived in Arizona on April 6t h . 

24 THE COURT : Ma ' am, just a minute. Settl e down 
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1 and back off t he microphone , please . 

2 

3 

THE WITNESS : Okay. 

MR . WARMBOLD: May I rephrase my question , 

4 your Honor , if it was confusing or if the Court 

5 Repor ter can read it back to the witness. 

6 

7 

8 

THE COURT : One or the other . 

MR . WARMBOLD: I can rephrase it . 

THE COURT : Go ahead and r ephrase . 

9 BY MR. WARMBOLD: 

10 Q . Ms . McDonald , you indicated that you 

11 l e f t with your f r iend Sarah sometime after midni ght, 

12 so my questio n to you was : being that you lef t 

1 3 sometime af t er midnight , would I be right in saying 

1 4 you left on April 6th --

15 

16 

17 

18 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

No , you would not . 

-- 2019? 

No, you would not . 

What date was i t then that you l eft? 

19 You' r e sayi ng you left someti me i n t he early morning 

20 of April 5th? 

21 

22 

23 

24 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

Correct. 

What time d i d you arrive in Arizona? 

I t was g e tti ng -- the sun was coming up. 

So does that mean it was sometime in t he 
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2 

3 

4 

A. 

Q . 

A. I can make -- after I spo ke to my mother 

5 on t he phone as wel l as the physicia n --

6 MR . WARMBOLD: The r e is no ques t ion posed 

7 before the witness. 

8 THE COURT : Ob j e ction sus t ained . Next 

9 question. 

10 BY MR . WARMBOLD: 

11 Q . Did your friend Sarah stay wi t h you the 

1 2 entir e t ime you were in Arizona? 

1 3 

1 4 

A . 

Q . 

Yes. 

Is Sarah the indi vidual who drove you 

15 back to Ill i noi s? 

16 

17 

A. 

Q . 

18 Ap ril 17th? 

19 A. 

Yes . 

You said you arri v ed b a ck in I l l inoi s on 

I d idn 't a rriv e back in Illinois . We 

20 left Arizona on the 17th. 

21 Q . 

22 what date? 

2 3 

24 

A. 

Q. 

When d id you arri ve back i n I l linois , 

I t was sometime on the 1 8th . 

Do you kn ow if i t was t he morning or t he 
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1 evening? 

2 A. I t was l ater -- I wasn 't real l y keeping 

3 t r ack of t ime . I was so exhaus t ed from this whole 

4 ordeal . 

5 Q. When you were staying in Arizona where 

6 did you s t ay overnight for those approximat e two 

7 weeks 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

16 

you 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

when 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

My parents ' hous e. 

that you were out t here? 

My parents ' house . 

Was there any other fami l y that was with 

you wer e out there i n Arizona? 

My mother . 

Do you have any other family out there? 

Not that we con s i der family . 

So wou l d it be fair to say that the 

1 7 people who could verify whether you were t here i n 

18 terms of your family woul d be you r f ather wh o was in 

19 t he hospi t al , your mother a nd t hen your friend 

20 Sarah ? 

21 

22 

A . 

Q . 

Could you r epeat that? 

The people who could ver ify whether you 

23 were in Ari z ona dur ing that t i me per iod would be 

24 your mo t h er, your f riend Sarah or your fathe r . 
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4 A. I have no idea where she is r i ght now. 

5 Q. When did you become aware that you had 

6 to show proo f t o the Court as t o your whereabouts on 

7 April 15, 2019? 

8 A. A couple days ago , I guess. The fact 

9 t hat I have to show proof that my father had 

10 neurosurgery given my experience is easily verified 

11 by contacting t he doctor and speak -- this i s a 

12 medical document . That ' s a l egal document. That ' s 

1 3 e asily verified at Mayo. My fathe r is still a 

1 4 patient there. To think that I would have t o come 

15 and actually justify that my fa t he r nearly died f o r 

16 goodness sake . 

17 MR . O' KELLEY : El l e , I have t o ask you to 

18 answer onl y the question that ' s asked of you . 

19 BY MR. WARMBOLD: 

20 Q. Ms. McDonald , yo u were pre viously shown 

21 what was marked as Exhibit 1. This is the 

22 photograph t hat your attorney had s howed you 

2 3 e arlier. Who took this photograph? 

24 A. To t he bes t of my knowledge my mother 
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1 did . 

2 

3 

Q. 

A. 

What do you base t hat on? 

My conversat ion with her . She sent it 

4 t o my e-mail and said, "Did you get t he p hoto ?" 

5 Q. Did you do a nything else i n Arizona 

6 outside of visiting your fa t her d ur i ng the t wo weeks 

7 you were t here? 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

A . 

Q. 

of visiting 

A. 

and to hel p 

Q . 

Can you give me context? 

I' m as king i f you did a n ything out s i de 

your father wh ile you were in Ar izona? 

My p r ime r eason was to v i s i t my f a t her 

my mother get t hings -- h e l p my mo t her . 

Did Sarah stay with you a t your family ' s 

1 4 home in Arizona? 

15 

16 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

What vehic l e did you d r ive out t o 

1 7 Ari zona and what k ind o f vehicle was it? 

18 A. She has . I t's like a Crosstrai l or 

19 it ' s like a wagon . I t 's like a s ta t i o n wagon 

20 Crosstrail Subar u. I don 't know what k ind of car 

21 her car i s. It ' s not t he type of cars I' ve driven , 

2 2 but it ' s the car s he had fo r awhi le. 

2 3 

24 

Q. 

A . 

Wha t color i s it? 

I t 's like a deep khaki green . 
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1 

2 

Q . 

A. Yes , to the bes t o f my knowledge . They 

3 have several vehicles . 

4 

5 

Q . 

A. 

Who is t hey? 

Her , her b r other , her sister , her 

6 sister- in- law. 

7 Q . They all live t ogether i n Paris, 

8 Illinois ? 

9 A. Yes , t hey do . They live withi n one 

10 house almost right next to the other . They have a 

11 very l arge proper ty , and the homes are al l on l arge 

12 p r operty . Sarah has access to other vehicles if 

1 3 need be . 

1 4 Q . I would l ike t o as k you a couple 

15 questions about this screen g rab or screen shot that 

16 you had testifi ed about a l i ttle earl ie r to . 

1 7 You had stated t ha t t his is 

18 communicati on t hat you s ent a Dr . Bendok? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q . 

Cor r ect. 

And this says yo u sent it on April 5 , 

21 2019 at 7 : 42 p .m. correct? 

22 

2 3 

A. 

Q. 

Correct. 

You indicat e in here t hat you were going 

24 t o be flying down to assist your mom . Are you 
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2 

3 

A. 

Q . When y ou say " mom, " I wan t to c l arify. 

4 That ' s who you a re referring to? 

5 A . My mom , yes. 

6 Q. Your mother? 

7 A . It's the same t hing. 

8 Q . Again , I j us t want to make sure I 

9 u nder s tand . You said yo u were fly ing d own but you 

10 didn ' t fly , corr ect? 

11 A. Corre c t . 

12 Q . When did you first find out that there 

1 3 were no fligh ts going out to Arizona? 

1 4 A . Righ t afte r I was wr iting t hat messag e 

15 to Dr . Bendok when I s tarted l ooking f o r fli g h ts . 

16 Q . So shortl y after t hat i s when yo u found 

1 7 out t here were no fli g h ts? 

18 

19 

A. 

Q . 

That ' s correc t . 

About how long d id i t take you i n t ime 

20 in order t o g e t the r e ? I k now you a pproximated it , 

21 but could you --

2 2 

2 3 

A. At least a day . 

THE COURT: Ma ' a m, please wait f o r the end of 

24 his question because t he court reporter has t o take 
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1 down both the question and answer . 

2 Could t he Court Reporter read back t he 

3 question . 

4 (WHEREUPON, the record was read by the 

5 reporter as requested.) 

6 BY THE WITNESS : 

7 A . It was 24 hours. We left when it was 

8 wee hours of the morning, and we got t here sun up 

9 t he next morning, so I would say 24 hour s , 25 hours , 

10 26 hours . I was exhausted . 

11 BY MR . WARMBOLD : 

12 Q . Do you recall if you guys had to stop to 

13 get gas or refuel the vehicle you were dr i ving? 

14 A . Yes . We had to stop and get gas and use 

15 the restroom . 

16 Q . How many times do you recall s t opping on 

1 7 your way out t o Arizona? 

18 

19 

20 food? 

21 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Five or six t imes at least . 

Any of t hose times d i d you stop f or 

When we went into the stop I pick up my 

22 protein bars that I eat a t the Petrol Shop. 

2 3 

24 

Q. 

A. 

How do you pay fo r those protein bars? 

Wha t do you mean how do you pay for 
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1 them? 

2 Q. How did you pay for t hem when you 

3 stopped at the Petro l Shop? 

4 

5 

6 card? 

7 

8 

A . 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

I gave t he g u y money. 

Did you pay using a credi t card, a debit 

No, no. I ' m a cash pe rson . 

I understand . Did you take a ny 

9 p hotographs with your friend Sarah or your mother or 

10 your f a t her wh ile you were out in Arizona for two 

11 weeks? 

12 

1 3 

A. 

Q. 

No , sir . Th i s wasn ' t a holiday. 

I would l i ke t o move on now, ma ' am, to 

1 4 the issue of this laptop and cel l p hone. 

15 You ind i cated when your attorney had 

16 asked you whet her you had possession of that laptop 

17 o r not, you said yes . 

18 What about t he capability to access that 

19 l aptop. You ind i cat ed i t was a business l aptop. 

20 You used it too ? 

21 

22 

2 3 

24 

A . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

How o ften d i d yo u use it? 

Eve ry day . 

When was t he last time you us ed i t ? 
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A. I t would have been January, 2 017 . I had 

2 t o get oth e r peop le to -- t here we r e t h ings on 

3 there , projects we were worki ng on t hat I needed t o 

4 make sure that -- because t hey said we still need 

5 those fi l es and stuff so -- but t he l ast t ime I 

6 personall y used it would have been January, 20 17. 

7 Like I said, after t hat last computer b r eak- in, I 

8 became very displeased t o p u t it pol i tel y . 

9 Q . Since you conducted bus i ness on t h is 

10 laptop , did you have i t password protected so others 

11 coul d n ' t g e t into i t if t hey were t o obtai n that 

12 l aptop? 

1 3 A . I t had many things on t her e init ial ly 

1 4 before it had been -- before it had been breached 

15 and v i o lated . 

16 Q . What I ' m aski ng you -- i f tha t ques t i on 

1 7 is c onfus ing, I ' m just aski ng did you need a 

18 p a ssword i n o rde r to l og in or be abl e to use t he 

19 l aptop? 

20 A. No, becaus e we l eft it open many times 

21 u n less -- like I said , it was ep isodi c. If we were 

2 2 traveling, we le f t it open. I f we weren ' t, t hen i t 

2 3 was closed. So if it was closed and i t needed to be 

24 r e - opened, yes , t hen i t was passwor d prot ect e d , but 
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1 otherwise , no, even some of the files were password 

2 p r otected, but, like I said, once i t had been 

3 violated and it was suggested --

4 MR. WARMBOLD: Objection, your Honor. There 

5 is no question -- the question I posed to t he 

6 witness has been answered . 

7 THE COURT : Sustained. 

8 BY MR. WARMBOLD : 

9 Q. With respect t o t he iPhone , ma ' am, there 

10 was some questioning with respect t o when you las t 

11 saw this iPhone, and you testified t hat the last 

12 t ime you saw i t it was i n a back r oom in Paris , 

13 Illinois, correct ? 

14 

15 

A. 

Q . 

Correct . 

I s that back room is that t he back 

16 r oom l ocated a t your parents ' residence in Paris , 

1 7 Illinois or some other residence? 

18 A. Well , my parents once upon a time they 

19 t hey ' re part owners of t he property, but , yes , 

20 that ' s at that time , but that ' s where -- the y 

21 weren't l iving there, but yes. 

Who was l ivi ng there? 22 

2 3 

Q . 

A. John and I were staying there . There 

24 was nobody really living t here . The only r eason we 
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1 were staying t here was because of proximit y to have 

2 t o come to court because that wasn 't cons i dered our 

3 residence nor was it considered my parents ' 

4 residence. 

5 Q. Well , from a legal perspective , who 

6 owned that home? Did you or your parents or someone 

7 else? 

8 A. At the time we were in the p rocess of 

9 transferring ownership to me; however , we backed off 

10 of that a fter we learned o f some of the other 

11 activities and things that were going on , and so in 

12 o r de r to protect our assets even furthe r , we deci ded 

13 not to -- t o allow the home to remain in my father ' s 

14 name because I mean 

15 

16 

1 7 

18 

Q . 

A. 

So your father owned it then? 

Corr ect . I s she okay? 

MR . O' KELLEY : Answer the questions . 

THE WITNESS : I was wor ried maybe something 

19 was wrong with her . 

20 MS. GOSSELIN: I ' m very healthy. Thank you. 

21 BY MR. WARMBOLD : 

22 Q . You presented yourself at our law office 

2 3 and were deposed a littl e whi l e back. I t was some 

24 time last year or the year prior, and you were 
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1 questioned wi t h r espect to t he wh e r eabouts o f t he 

2 cell phone, correct? 

3 

4 

A. 

Q . 

I was. 

Isn't it true t hat you testifi ed at that 

5 deposition that it was i n -- the cel l phone 

6 specifically was in one of t he boxes in Paris, 

7 Illinois? 

8 A. I said I thought it migh t be in one of 

9 t he boxes , correct or t otes, correct , yes , I did . 

10 

11 

Q . 

A . 

What did y ou base that on? 

Because when I put it back in t hat room 

12 there were boxes back there just that -- to go 

13 t hrough things about what to keep , wha t ' s to go , 

14 what to keep , and I thought naturally the phone 

15 woul d have been put i n one of t hose boxes . 

16 Q . You have been Court Ordered fo r some 

1 7 time to turn over th is cell phone, correct? 

18 

19 

A. 

Q. 

No, not to my knowledge . 

When did you first become aware that you 

20 had to hand over the cell phone? 

21 A. April, maybe May. I ' m not sure. I have 

22 to tell you between December and probabl y April, 

2 3 May , t hings became -- it was just --

24 Q. When you are 
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A. 

Q. When you ' re saying Apr il , May , are you 

3 referring to May in regards to right now? 

4 A. No , 2017 , 2018 , 2017, 2018. Actual l y to 

5 be honest even there a r e t imes now where i t ' s just 

6 things become just so overwhe l ming t hat i t' s j ust 

7 all you can do is j ust go to bed. I mean , this 

8 e ntire situation has been, I mean , egregi ous, 

9 hideous . 

10 Q. Ma ' am, a l l I ' m asking you is -- let ' s 

11 put it in terms of months , if that ' s easier . 

12 How many months have you known that the 

1 3 cell phone and laptop were two items you were 

1 4 supposed to produce? 

15 MR . O' KELLEY : Objection , calls for 

16 s p ecul at i on . She testifi ed she doesn ' t recall t he 

17 days at the time . 

18 THE COURT : Overr u l ed . You may answer . 

19 BY THE WITNESS: 

20 A. I don ' t reme mber. 

21 BY MR . WARMBOLD : 

22 Q. When did you first start looking for t he 

23 laptop or t he iPhone? 

24 A. I don ' t remember the e xact date . 
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1 Q. Your memory i s totall y exhaus t ed? You 

2 have no i dea? 

3 A. My memory is n ' t tota l ly exhaus t ed t o use 

4 your characterization, but I can te l l you t here are 

5 certain t hings that are t riggers for me, deeply 

6 emotional triggers , and there are some things 

7 that -- there are days you just have to put it aside 

8 because i t's enough to make you want to throw 

9 yourself off of a bridge . 

10 MR . WARMBOLD: I don ' t have anything further , 

11 your Honor . 

12 

1 3 

1 4 Honor . 

15 

THE COURT : Re-direct . 

MR. O' KELLEY: I have no re- direct, your 

THE COURT : Okay . Let ' s take a b reak, and 

16 then we ' ll go into t he Citati o n , I guess , for t he 

17 other items . 

18 (WHEREUPON, a recess was had . ) 

19 THE COURT : Okay . So are we ready t o go on 

20 the Citation , your Honor? 

MS . GOSSELIN: Yes, your Honor. 21 

22 THE COURT : I assume we ' re re-calling 

23 you ' r e re- cal ling Ms. McDonald . 

24 MS . GOSSELI N: Yes , sir . 
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1 THE COURT : Ms . McDonal d , i f you wi l l resume 

2 t he witness s t and . You a r e still under oat h . 

3 

4 

5 

6 

On this one , I t h ink it ' s your burden. 

MS. GOSSELIN: Yes , yo ur Honor . 

THE COURT : So y ou may p roceed . Go a head. 

MS . GOSSELIN: Thank you. 

7 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

8 BY MS. GOSSELIN: 

9 Q . Ms . McDonald , d o you recall g oing to a 

10 gathering a t Shawn McDonald ' s house on Mother ' s Day 

11 of 2017 ? 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

I wouldn ' t call i t a g a t hering , but yes . 

You were present at that time ? 

I was. 

Now, are y ou awar e t hat Joh n had been 

16 storing some of his p e r s onal i t ems at Shawn ' s house? 

1 7 A. I' m aware o f that Shawn was s t oring 

18 J o hn ' s i tems against J o h n ' s will at Sh awn ' s hous e . 

19 Q . But you agree t hat certa i n of John ' s 

20 p rope rty was locate d at Shawn ' s house ; i s t hat 

21 correct? 

2 2 A. 

2 3 t hat day . 

24 Q. 

Of cou r se . That ' s wh y we wanted it back 

So on that day is it correct that J ohn 
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1 removed a number o f i tems from t h e house? 

2 A. He absolutely did not . Shawn wouldn ' t 

3 allow him to . 

4 Q . So nothing was removed from the house on 

5 Mother ' s Day? 

6 A. We left there a nd went straight to t he 

7 police station. 

8 

9 

10 

Q . So nothing at al l was r emoved? 

MR . O' KELLEY: Objection , asked and answered . 

THE COURT: Sustained . 

11 BY MS . GOSSELIN : 

12 Q . Are you aware t hat John stor ed var ious 

1 3 items of personal p roperty a t his p arent s ' house? 

1 4 A . Once again , I ' m aware , yes , to answer 

15 you r quest i on . 

16 Q . Now, on May 30 of 2017 , t he day that 

1 7 John was p l aced -- Sh awn was named as guardian , were 

18 you present a t J oh n's paren ts ' house? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Q . 

No , we were not. 

You we r e not present? 

No, we were not. 

Are you aware of John having ever 

2 3 removed any items of personal p r oper ty of his own 

24 f r om his parents ' hou se? 
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A. 

Q. As far as you ' re aware , was any property 

3 removed from his parents ' house? 

4 A . Early April J ohn took a small suitcase 

5 that had some shorts and T-shirts i n it, and he was 

6 asking where his other belongings were. 

7 Q . Other than t hat, are you aware of any 

8 items of personal p roperty that John removed from 

9 his parents ' house? 

10 A . He took some shirts that were in his --

11 I don ' t know if it ' s a t hree- drawe r c hest o r four -

12 door chest that were in the r oom -- pardon me -- of f 

1 3 t he guest room . He had shirt s, shorts. He had his 

1 4 tennis shoes . He had -- the r e was some suits and 

15 some d ress shirts . 

16 Q. How about a ki l t? Was t here a kil t 

1 7 among t h e items that he t ook? 

18 A. I l ater f ound out t h a t he h ad hi s kilt 

19 wi t h him , y e s. 

20 

21 kilt? 

22 

2 3 

24 

Q . 

A . 

Q. 

A . 

How about a jacke t t hat goes wi t h t he 

Yes . 

And a sporran , the l itt l e furry purse? 

I know wha t i t is . 
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1 

2 

3 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

4 t h e outfi t ? 

5 A. 

6 known t h a t . 

7 Q . 

Was that also par t of i t ? 

I be lieve so . 

How about some Ghillie shoes t o comp lete 

No , he d idn ' t have t hose . I would have 

So other than his clothing, there --

8 t hat ' s all you ' r e aware of? 

9 A. Correct . He wanted to know where hi s 

10 things had been ta ken, a nd hi s f a t her t old him Shawn 

11 c ame and too k t h em . 

12 MS . GOSSELIN : Objection , your Hono r , hearsay . 

1 3 BY THE WITNESS : 

1 4 

15 

A. I was there . I heard it . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

16 BY MS . GOSSELIN : 

1 7 Q . So did you ever see t he bongo d r um set 

18 that belonged to J o hn ? 

19 A. John had so many mus i cal inst rument s 

20 over t h e course o f t he 35 ye ars. I ' v e seen bongos . 

21 I ' ve seen many d rum set s. 

22 Q . Were t he bongos ever -- have you seen 

2 3 bongos in t he last two years? 

24 A. I n the l as t two years? 
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-- I 

that 

Q . 

A. 

can ' t 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

Joh n 

A. 

Yes . 

I believe so , yes , I think so . I t hink 

remember where , but I thin k I have , yes . 

And were the bongos part of the 

Actually can I -- I remember. 

We r e the bongos part o f the belongings 

took with him? 

No . Actuall y I remember now . The 

9 bongos were part o f the big Jerry Springer Kl apuffel 

10 -- and t ha t ' s how I character ize i t with al l due 

11 r espect -- at Shawn ' s house when Shawn wasn ' t 

12 allowing John to take his t hings out of the house , 

1 3 and Shawn would not allow John to t ake anything . He 

1 4 said , " You ' re not taking those ." 

15 I remember John trying t o carry a drum, 

16 and that ' s when John t o ld me , " El le , g o move your 

17 car to the road . " 

18 MS . GOSSELIN : Your Honor , I move that that be 

19 stricke n as nonresponsive t o the ques t ion . 

20 MR . O' KELLEY : Your Honor , she was r e sponding 

21 to t he question, and this is a Citation proceeding 

22 with re l axed evidentiary standar ds . I do fee l it ' s 

23 appropriate given the l i ne of quest i oning that 

24 counsel has c hosen to t ake . 
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2 BY MS . GOSSELIN : 

3 Q. At thi s point in time do you have -- do 

4 you know where John ' s c l othing is? 

5 A. Well , there ' s al l of our clothing and 

6 things that have been in s t orage that we haven ' t 

7 been abl e to get to for three years now, not to 

8 mention the c l othing that a l ong wi t h my s t u f f 

9 t hat 

1 0 Q. Do you current ly have in your possession 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

o r under your control any of John ' s possessions? 

A. No . What do you mean "possessions" ? 

Q. His clothing, his kilt . 

A. You have to unders t and somethi ng . John 

and I , what was mine is his and what is h i s is mine . 

16 That ' s been the way i t ' s been f or lots o f t hings f or 

17 over 35 years . 

18 Q. The question is : do you have i n your 

19 posse ssion or under your cont rol any of h i s 

20 clothing , including , but no t l imited t o the kil t? 

21 

2 2 

2 3 

24 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

I don ' t have his kilt , no . 

Do you have h i s Scotti s h jacket? 

No . 

Do you have his sporran? 
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No. 
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A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q . You just tes ti fied t hat you had p i c ked 

t hat h e had taken those items with him? 

A. Correct, that ' s corr ect . I did tes t i fy 

7 to t hat , but I do not know where t hey are . John 

8 moved a l l that stuff because he did not wan t Shawn 

9 s t ealing it after we knew that -- by the police t hat 

10 t here was an attempt t o kidnap John . J ohn was 

11 petrified that Sha wn would break into the house and 

12 steal more of his stuff . 

1 3 So when I was up here -- d ur ing t he time 

1 4 that I was up her e , by t h e t i me I had gotten home, 

15 J ohn had a ll of our thi ngs removed from the house, 

16 i nclud i ng my s t uff . Most o f our stu ff was already 

1 7 pac ked up to be moved anyway because we weren 't 

18 going t o be returning there in December at all , but 

19 when I walked in t he house I ac t uall y though t 

20 something had happened beca use e ven my things were 

21 gone. He l eft me -- I s hou ldn ' t laugh -- but h e 

22 left me two suits and my jeans and things , and --

2 3 because he figu r e d I would know that h e had moved 

24 t he stuff t o protect i t from Shawn fu r t her s t ealing 
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1 mo re of our s t uff . 

2 

3 

Q. 

A. 

When did he pack up everyth ing? 

It was t hat t he end of November when 

4 I was having -- when I had to come up h e r e for t hat 

5 in i tial f r audul ent Order of Prot ection that Shawn 

6 had filed. 

7 Q . He packed up your things too? 

8 A . Most of our stuff was a l ready packed 

9 because , like I said, we weren ' t even go ing t o be 

10 g o ing back t here . We weren ' t intending to stay 

11 there , but , yes, what l i t t l e i tems were left , li ke 

12 even some of my makeup a nd stu f f , he went ahead and 

1 3 he removed it from the house because h e want e d to be 

1 4 assured that when we were gone ove r the Christmas 

15 h o l idays too t hat nobody woul d come i nto t he house 

16 and take t he s t uff because h e sai d , as it was , we 

1 7 had to replace so many t hings t hat we jus t didn 't 

18 want to be put in t hat posi t i o n again . 

19 

20 

21 

22 

2 3 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

So do you know where he sen t t hem? 

No, I don ' t . 

Have you gotten any bills for storage? 

No, I don ' t . 

Hav e you e ver asked anyone about where 

24 t hey might be? 
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Called p ractical l y every storage 
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4 facility within 70 miles of us, asked f r iends if 

5 John asked them to keep things. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Q. 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

Which friends of John ' s have you asked? 

Pat Rummerfield, Ray. 

Ray who? 

Bament . Of course , the first person I 

10 asked was Diane . " Does John have all of our stuff 

11 out there ." And she said , " No ." 

12 

13 

Q . 

A . 

Who is Di ane? 

She is our close -- she is like 

14 considered family to us . 

15 

16 

1 7 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

What is her l ast name? 

Boyer . 

And that' s t he woman John was staying 

18 with when he died, correc t? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q . 

You mean when he was killed? 

When he died. I don ' t know the 

21 circumstances . When he died it was at her house ; is 

22 t hat correct? 

2 3 A. Yes. He was -- she has a guest home. 

24 He was inside her house a t the time , yes . 
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Q . 

A. 

Q . Who e lse did you ask about where these 

4 items would be? 

5 A. Like I said , I called -- o nce i t was 

6 determined t hat Ray didn ' t have -- h e d i d n ' t as k Ray 

7 to keep them or Pat to keep them or anybody that 

8 t h e y knew, I called storage f acil i t ies as king , do 

9 you have a storage faci l i t y i n this name . 

10 Q . And can you give me the name of a couple 

11 of t h e storage facilities? 

12 A. I just typed stor age fac i lity , just -- I 

1 3 j ust wen t down the lis t on the computer . 

1 4 Q . I ' m as k ing you , can you tell me the name 

15 of one o f t he storage faci l ities? 

A. Like I said, when I typed within t he 70 16 

1 7 all the storage units I called in Ch ampaign t o 

18 Charleston, Il l ino is , Ma t toon , Ch risman . I don 't 

19 use storage faci l i t i es i n t hat area so I don ' t know 

20 their exact names . They coul d have b e en U-Haul . 

21 They cou l d have been some other random names of 

22 whatever these storage places are called . 

2 3 Q. 

24 called? 

And how many of t hem would you say you 
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A. I would be specu l a t ing . I don ' t know . 

Q . Five? 

A. More than five. 

Q . More than ten ? 

A . Definitely . 

Q . Mo r e than 20? 

A. Probably . 

Q . More t han 

A. I t wasn ' t a l l in one d ay . I t was --

10 because it wasn ' t j u s t -- it was our life . Like it 

11 wasn ' t jus t c lothes . I t ' s like t hings that we had 

12 g o tten while we were there and stuff as well and my 

1 3 clothes as well . It ' s just 

1 4 

15 

16 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

And 

The whole reason 

Le t me back u p . You s aid that he packed 

1 7 everyt hing up when you were separated d uring the 

18 Or der of Protecti on? 

19 A. We weren ' t s e parated . We weren ' t 

20 allowed to be t ogether because of this. 

21 

22 

2 3 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

Because of t h e Order of Protection? 

Right . 

And t hat Order of Pro t ection was 

24 t e rmina t e d on Decembe r 8 ; is that correct? 
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A . So Saturday morning I got up . I 
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sai d , 

6 " By the way, John, where is a ll o f our things? " 

7 And he goes, " El l e, don ' t worry about 

8 it ." 

9 Do you want me to paraphrase? I don ' t 

10 know if I sho uld say what he said . 

11 

12 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

A . 

Q . 

You did ask him? 

Yes . 

Did he tell you where 

He said h e would . 

And he had your things 

t hey were? 

t hat wer e gone 

16 too , correct? 

1 7 A. They weren ' t gone . It ' s not l i ke he was 

18 absconding wi t h them . He was just securing them 

19 some where . I had no reason to fear . 

20 Q . So b e tween t he Orde r of Protect ion 

21 terminat ing on Decembe r 8 a nd his death , he never 

22 told you where al l of t h is was being stored; i s t hat 

2 3 correct ? 

24 MR . O'KELLEY: Can we take a brief break ? 
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THE COURT : Yes . Le t ' s take five minutes. 

(WHEREUPON, a recess was had . ) 

THE COURT : Can we have t he last question read 

6 back. 

7 (WHEREUPON, the record was r ead by the 

8 r eporter as r equ e sted .) 

9 BY THE WITNESS : 

10 A . Yes . 

11 BY MS . GOSSELIN : 

12 Q . 

1 3 correct ? 

1 4 

15 

16 

1 7 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

2 3 

24 

A . 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Now, after his death h e was cremated, 

Yes . 

And where are hi s ashes n ow? 

They were spread per hi s wi shes . 

Where were t hey spread? 

Lake Michigan . 

Who spre ad t hem? 

I did . 

Who was present at t h e t ime? 

I was . 

And anyone else present? 

No . 
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Q. And when did he tel l you t hat t his i s 

2 what he wanted done? 

3 A. John and I had talked about these type s 

4 of t h ings since we were in college . I mean, it was 

5 either that or t o be shot t hrough t he Psychlotron . 

6 Q. And d id you ever inform any of h i s 

7 f amily members of your i nte n tion t o dispose of t h e 

8 ashes? 

9 A. I, again , fol lowed John ' s wishe s about 

10 everything t hat we had e ver talked a bout over the 

11 years . 

12 Q . The quest i on i s: did you ever tell 

1 3 John ' s family about your disposal o f the ashes? 

1 4 

15 

A. 

Q . 

No . 

Now, in your ear l ier t estimony you said 

16 John was killed. Wh y did you say that ? 

17 MR . O' KELLEY : Your Honor , I ' m going t o ob j ect 

18 on t he bas i s of r e l evance . This is a Ci tat i on for 

19 personal p roperty, not t he c i rcumstances surrounding 

20 the decedent ' s d e ath. 

21 

22 

2 3 

24 

THE COURT : Sustained. 

MS. GOSSELIN: I have no furt her questions. 

THE COURT: Any cross? 

MR . O'KELLEY: Some bri e f f ol l ow- up , your 
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1 Honor , if that' s okay . 

2 

3 

THE COURT: Fol low- up. Okay . Cross . 

MR . O' KELLEY: However you want to 

4 c haracterize it. 

5 THE COURT : Sure . Go ahead. 

6 CROSS - EXAMINATION 

7 BY MR. O ' KELLEY : 

8 Q . Elle, you testified that you didn 't tel l 

9 John ' s family about spreading John ' s ashes . Can you 

10 tell me why that was? 

11 A. John wanted absol utel y -- there were two 

12 people that John fe l t closest to, Mike and his 

1 3 mother, and he had concerns for his sister , of 

1 4 course, and nieces and nephews, but I mean in the 

15 immediate . He absol utely f o r qu i te some time had 

16 made it -- I don ' t want t o be rude , but vehementl y 

17 clear that he wanted absolutely nothing to do with 

18 Br ett or Shawn ever , and that had gone on for qui te 

19 some t ime actual l y. 

20 Q . 

21 brothers? 

22 

23 

24 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

To be clear , Bre tt and Shawn are his 

Yes. 

I want to be as c l ear as poss i ble . 

He said to me --
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2 BY MR. O ' KELLEY : 

3 Q. I ' m going to ask you some fol l ow-up. 

4 As you sit here , I want to be clear , do 

5 you know where John ' s kilt is? 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

kilt , 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

could 

A. 

Q. 

No . 

Do you have access to John ' s kilt? 

No . 

I f you were ordered to produce J ohn ' s 

you do it? 

No . 

As you s i t here do you know whe r e John ' s 

1 3 Scottish high land wear is? 

1 4 

15 

A. 

Q. 

No . 

Do you have access to J ohn ' s Scottish 

16 highland wear? 

17 

18 

A. 

Q . 

19 you do that? 

20 

21 

A. 

Q . 

No . 

If you were orde r ed to produce i t , could 

No . 

As you sit here do you have access to 

22 John ' s c l othi ng? 

23 

24 

A . 

Q. 

No . 

I f you we re ordered to produce it , coul d 
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1 you do that? 

2 

3 

A. 

Q . 

No. 

As you sit here do you have access t o 

4 any hei r loom fami ly photographs? 

5 A. There were never -- nobody ever saw any 

6 in 30 years nobody ever saw any h eirl oom phot os 

7 of John because if he had had an heirloom p hoto, it 

8 would have been in his office in St . Loui s, in his 

9 office at Kennedy . There were no heirloom photos . 

10 Q . As you sit here t oday you have no 

11 knowledge of even t h e exi stence of any hei rloom 

12 photographs? 

1 3 

1 4 

A . 

Q . 

Never , ever . 

As you sit here today do you have any 

15 other personal e ffects t ha t belong to J ohn? 

16 

17 

A. 

Q . 

No . 

Do you have access t o a ny other personal 

18 effects belonging to J ohn ? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q . 

No . 

If you were ordered to prod uce p e rs ona l 

21 ef fects belonging to John , would you do so? 

22 

2 3 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

I f you we re order ed to p r oduce heirl oom 

24 family p hotographs , could you do so? 
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So is t hat no? 

No. 
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3 

4 

5 

Q. 

A . 

Q. If you we re ordered to prod uce John ' s 

6 remains even assuming t hey were asset s of t he 

7 es tate, could you do so? 

8 

9 

10 Honor . 

11 

12 

A. No. 

MR . O'KELLEY: I have nothing f urther , your 

THE COURT : Any r e - direct? 

MS . GOSSELIN : Just o ne . 

1 3 RE -DI RECT EXAMINATION 

1 4 BY MS . GOSSELIN : 

15 

16 

Q. 

A. 

Who i s Mike? 

Well , t he he 's t he cous i n , but he is 

17 like a ha l f brother . 

18 

19 

20 John . 

21 

2 2 

2 3 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Of whom? 

I t' s Betty 's son . Mike i s re l a ted t o 

How is he r e lated to John? 

Can I get into al l of t hat ? 

MR. O'KELLEY: She aske d . You need to a nswer 

24 t he question. 
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2 A. He ' s -- John considered him a half 

3 b r other . 

4 BY MS. GOSSELIN : 

5 Q. Is that throug h his mother or his 

6 father? 

7 

8 

9 

A. Through h is mother. 

MS . GOSSELIN : No further questions . 

THE COURT : Okay . You may s tep down . Any 

10 other witnesses on the Citation? 

11 

12 

MS . GOSSELIN : No , your Honor . 

THE COURT : Then I ' ll hear a brief summary by 

1 3 each side on the Rul e, first , I guess, the 

1 4 Petitioner on the Rul e or it doesn ' t matter to me 

15 who goes first . Since we went first in order of 

16 p r oofs , t hen Respondent can go fir s t. 

17 

18 b rief . 

19 

20 

MR . O' KELLEY : Sure , your Honor . I will be 

THE COURT : Mr . O ' Kelley . 

MR . O' KELLEY : Thank you , your Honor . We we r e 

21 here on a Rule to Show Cause, and our burden 

22 effectively with t he Rul e havi ng i ssue was t o 

23 p r ovide evidence to es t ablish the following , that 

24 Elle ' s father was hospitalized at t hat April 1 5th 
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1 court appearance that she was supposed to be present 

2 at and that Elle was in Arizona at t he time and 

3 cou ldn ' t leave , and then as to t he underlying Order 

4 t hat was t he sub j ect of t he Rule basical ly providing 

5 cause for purported non-comp l iance wi t h the Court ' s 

6 Order to provide a laptop and a cell phone . 

7 The testimony and documents e l icited 

8 e stablish ed t hat Elle' s fa t her was , in f ac t , 

9 hospital ized dur ing the relevant t ime period in a 

10 dire conditio n , that it was Elle ' s unde r standing 

11 that her father was in a dire condition and needed 

12 t o go to the hospital . She testified at l ength 

1 3 about t he circumstances surrounding that , that she 

1 4 understood it was important for he r to be he re but 

15 simply could not be he re , and nothing has been 

16 undercut in terms of any of the c r oss examination 

17 p rovided by counsel as t o t hat t est i mon y . I would 

18 posit that that burden has been satisfied . 

19 As for t he comput er , that computer has 

20 been produced , and I don ' t think counsel would de ny 

21 that . As for the phone , she has t estified at length 

22 whe r e s he last thought she had i t, that s he d i d, in 

23 fact , believe she ha d it , but when she searched f or 

24 it , she could not locat e it and cannot produce it in 

800.211.DEPO (3376) 
EsquireSolutions. com 

R 152 

A-199 



TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill 

1 accordance wi t h this Court ' s Order . 

May 01 , 2019 
83 

2 If t ha t changes for any reason , I will 

3 gladly produce the phone , but under t he 

4 circumstances it ' s not possible, as she testified, 

5 for her to comply wi th t he Order directing her t o 

6 produce the phone, and i f she were held in cont empt 

7 for failure to do so, t her e would be no ability for 

8 her to p urge that contempt , a nd certainty nothing in 

9 here t hat suggests wi ll fu l d i sobedience . So for 

10 t hat reason I think she satisfied t he Rule . 

11 

12 

THE COURT : Okay . Peti tione r . 

MR . WARMBOLD : Thank you , Judge , wi t h r espect 

1 3 to the Rule to Show Cause there is a number of 

1 4 things at issue . 

15 Wi t h respect t o whethe r Ellizzette has 

16 p r ovided substantial p r oof or suffi c ient p r oof as to 

17 her absence on Apri l 15 , 201 9 which was r e quire d 

18 pursuant to a Court Order , t here is -- the record is 

19 deficie nt in t erms of proof t ha t she has been able 

20 t o submi t to the Court . 

21 Her entire testimony is self-serving, 

22 a nd in order for t his Court to find she has provided 

2 3 proof, your Honor woul d have to believe what she has 

24 t o say, and, qui t e frankly , your Honor , t he 
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1 testimony that was e l icit ed today before al l o f us 

2 was entirely incredible . 

3 The mos t simple question t ha t I woul d 

4 propose would const antly be responded to with a 

5 never-ending narrative . I would have to clarify 

6 with the witness a number of times to get a str aigh t 

7 answer out of her . 

8 One thing t ha t doesn ' t add up i s the 

9 timeline , your Honor . That does not add up, and I 

10 made it cryst a l clear t he question I was as king . It 

11 was e lici ted a number of times. The question I ' m 

12 r e f e rring to is , "When did you leave? " 

1 3 She answe red t hat she left somet ime 

1 4 after midnight . So I clarified, and I 'm sure your 

15 Honor remembers, "So does t ha t mean t ha t you left 

16 the morning o f Apri l 6th? " 

17 And she clearly said, "No . I left on 

18 April 5th, shortl y a fter midnight on April 5 , and I 

19 a rrived in Arizona sometime when the s un was coming 

20 up on Apri l 6th. " 

21 Fair enough. How could you reconci l e 

22 t hat with Plaintiff ' s Exhibit 2 -- o r Ms. McDonald ' s 

2 3 Exhibi t 3 rat her which is purported to be some 

24 communication she sent to some individua l b y the 
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1 name of Dr . Bendok t hat she sent on April 5, 20 1 9 at 

2 7 : 42 p . m. where she te l ls t hi s indivi d ual t hat she 

3 is going to be flying down to assist her mot her. 

4 That does not make any sense. 

5 She said -- and she testifie d s h e d i d 

6 not decide to drive down or i t did not come about 

7 that she would be driving down to Arizona until some 

8 time a f ter this hap pened because she found out there 

9 weren ' t any flights a vailable to her a t t hat date 

10 and t ime . That ' s when s h e decided to dr i v e down t o 

11 Ari zona . That -- you can ' t have i t both ways . 

1 2 You can't say you l e ft s hort l y a f ter 

13 midnight on April 5 t h when you send this message on 

14 the even i ng of Apri l 5th at 7 :42 p . m. sayi ng t hat 

15 you ' r e goi ng to be catchi ng a flight , but t hen 

16 shortl y t he r eafter you c h a nged t o dri v i ng , and then 

1 7 someh ow you arrive across t h e country close to t he 

18 West Coast when t h e sun i s a r is ing on Apri l 6th . 

19 That d oes no t add up. That doe s no t 

20 make s e nse , and I submit t o the Court that t ha t was 

21 not true . The sequence o f events presented create a 

22 factual impossibi l ity . 

23 Further , who is Sarah Obann on and why 

24 isn ' t she here before t he Court to tes t ify and 
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1 p r ovide additional t estimony t ha t could back up and 

2 verify the tes t imony that Ms . McDonal d provided? 

3 Who knows i f Sarah Obannon even exis ts. She is not 

4 here . We had no opportun ity to ask her any o f t he 

5 questions that could potentially verify the 

6 assertions t hat Ms. Mc Donald made. 

7 Addi t ionally , in terms of other 

8 self- serving statements, every t ransac t ion s he said 

9 she made on t he way to Ari zona from I llinois was 

10 made i n cash . I gave her ample opportunities to 

11 find some way we coul d maybe p rove t hat she was in 

12 t r ansit from Illinoi s to Arizona between April 5th 

1 3 o r April 6th , 2019, and the r e just isn ' t any . 

1 4 She d idn ' t fly . We don ' t have any 

15 fligh t i t inerary . We also don ' t even have an 

16 affidav i t from anyone , J udge . She was t here for t wo 

17 weeks. One wou ld t hink t hat it would be possibl e to 

18 reach out to s ome of the medi cal personnel i n 

19 Arizona a nd kind l y as k t hem for a three-sentence 

20 a f fidavit j us t saying, "Elle McDona l d was here on 

21 this date and t ime. " We woul dn ' t even be having 

22 t hat i ssue if that was presented t o the Court . We 

2 3 don ' t have t ha t . 

24 Pivo t ing t o t he i ssue o f the l ap t op and 
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1 the iPho ne , J udge , yes, t he l apt op was eventual l y 

2 p r ovided . I ' m not arguing i t wasn 't p rov i ded, but 

3 the Cour t Order on January 29, 2019 says t hat i t was 

4 t o be prov ided within 14 days . That Order was not 

5 complied with . These are Court Orders . They ' re not 

6 suggestions . 

7 Everything t hat Ms. Mc Donald has done up 

8 until t his point would l ead one to believe t ha t 

9 t hese are just suggestions that your Honor is 

10 proposing t o her . When she said i t ' s ridiculous t o 

11 turn over a computer that bel ongs to a company , that 

12 j ust surmi ses everything in terms o f Ms . Mc Donal d ' s 

1 3 a ttitude for what your Honor says i n the Orders t hat 

1 4 are entered in t his courtroom . 

15 Maybe t hey ' re just ridiculous , and t hey 

16 don ' t have t o be complied with . It ' s wr ong, and 

17 it ' s j ust been -- i t' s been par for t he course up 

18 until thi s po int . We ' ve had issues with obtaining 

19 fingerpri nts . We ' ve had issues obtaining s imple 

20 things such as lapt ops t ha t were clearly within her 

21 possession. I f she were able to tu rn it over t o our 

22 o f f i ce recent ly, one would be l ieve that it was 

2 3 possible to be achieved within 14 days of J a nuar y 

24 29 , 2019 . 
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1 J udge , s he has d i rect ly disobeyed Court 

2 Orders , a nd we as k t hat you enter an Order t o t hat 

3 e f fec t reflect ing t he fact t ha t she has disobeyed 

4 Court Orders . 

THE COURT : Any reply ? 5 

6 MR . O'KELLEY: Briefly, your Honor . I 'm not 

7 going to ge t into parsing t he exact time t hat Elle 

8 left . I don 't think that' s part icul arly important 

9 given t ha t t he Court date was April 15th which i s 

10 obviously several days a fter the departure , be it on 

11 the 5th or the 6th . 

12 All I wi ll say i s in r esponse t o 

1 3 counsel ' s suggestion t hat Ms . McDonald is treating 

1 4 these as suggestions , t hese Court ' s Orders , she has 

15 been here repeatedly . She i s here today tes tifying 

16 about her deceased spouse at leng th . Your Court's 

17 Order directed that she was to p rovi de that 

18 t estimony today and p r ove t he hosp i talizat ion in 

19 Arizona . She has done s o , your Honor , and compl ied 

20 with this Court ' s Order . 

21 And as to t he fi ngerprints, we discussed 

22 t h is, your Honor . Thi s will be the thi rd time she 

2 3 has complied with that Or de r so I object to 

24 counsel ' s charact eri zati on . We a r e here today 
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1 because o f this Court ' s Orde r and seeking t o comply 

2 with what t h is Court wan t s of us, and that i ncludes 

3 Ms . McDonald who testified at length t oday . I t hink 

4 s h e satisfied her burden . 

5 MR . WARMBOLD : If I may ver y briefly, Judge , 

6 just f or purposes of the record, I would l ike t he 

7 r e cord to r eflect t hat as we sit here right now 

8 Ms . McDonald is not h e re . She left the courtr oom a 

9 few minu tes ago . She hasn ' t returned . I hope she 

10 is s t ill wi t hin t he building , but as we s i t here 

11 r ight now s h e i s no t here . 

1 2 THE COURT : I see that , but I assume she ' s 

1 3 s t e pped out into the hall and wi l l be back. 

1 4 At any rate, as to what we heard this 

15 after n oon on t he -- i f somebody can provide me with 

16 the Ru l e or the Pet i t i on f or a Ru l e or bot h , a copy. 

17 

18 

MR . O' KELLEY : I can . It may ta ke a moment. 

MS . GOSSELIN : Here i s the Rule . That ' s based 

19 on t he v i o l ation o f t his Order . 

20 THE COURT : On April 15th we had sche dule d for 

21 hearing the Rule and counsels at t he time for 

22 Ms . McDo nald were re-entering the case and at that 

2 3 time asked fo r a continuance based on t he i r c l ient 

24 be ing out of stat e. 
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1 I ' m no t sure I ' ve had the great est 

2 convincing evidence of her being out of s t ate in 

3 Arizona, and I also would like to have those 

4 exhibits that were admitted today handed up, if we 

5 can, and we will put those in the record, Exhibits 

6 1 , 2 and 3. 

7 

8 

9 

MR . O'KELLEY: I t ' s Exhibits 1 and 3. 

THE COURT : 1 and 3 . I 'm sorry . 

MS . GOSSELIN: I don ' t know if the Court would 

10 like this . This is the Order that was entered on 

11 the 1 9th a l ong with the Rule to Show Cause , and 

12 Ms . McDonal d was made aware of t he necess i ty of her 

13 appearance at that time. 

14 THE COURT: This Order that you just handed me 

15 was an Order dated -- entered on March 19 , 2019 . 

16 MS . GOSSELIN : Yes , your Honor . If you will 

17 recall, I grabbed the wrong form, and I ac t ually on 

18 that date entered a Body Writ , and so I had to come 

19 back and enter the actual Ru l e , if you' ll recal l 

20 that, because it was rather embarrassing for me . 

21 THE COURT : Okay. I got you. So this is in 

22 connection with the Rule issue? 

2 3 

24 

MS. GOSSELIN: Correct . 

THE COURT: All r i ght. Well, on the 
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1 continuance to today to provi de p r oo f s that she was 

2 in Arizona, whi le t hat is those proofs are 

3 somewhat lacking, I think it goes to t he good cause 

4 under Supreme Court Rule 183 to -- and those were 

5 the terms I imposed -- was b r ing someth ing t o prove 

6 that you were in Arizona. 

7 I have her testimony in some detail, 

8 although that is also lacking and somewhat spotty as 

9 t o credibility, but as to that I ' m not go i ng t o hol d 

10 her in cont empt or do anyt hing like that . That was 

11 on t he -- s he had her attorneys he r e . They asked 

12 f or a continuance , so there i s good cau se . 

13 As to the Rule itself and her finding 

14 and a finding that she be held in contempt , there is 

15 an imposs i bility as to t he iPhone . The r e is 

16 compliance , albeit l ate, on the l apt op , thereby 

17 having a laptop turned over l ate caused the filing 

18 of t hi s motion, so to some extent there was a mi nor 

19 conte mpt, civi l cont empt, a nd t he sanction on t hat 

20 would be April 15th and March 19th attorney ' s f ees , 

21 reasonable attorney's fees for one attorney, and 

22 I ' ll give the Pe t itioners 21 days to fi l e a 

2 3 petit ion -- itemized peti t ion as t o f ees f or those 

24 days and today. 
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1 As to t he o t her - - as to t he Citat ion , I 

2 if that' s a ll the evidence t here i s, then there 

3 is no motion as to t he Citation for turnover of 

4 anything, there is nothing I can do a t th is time 

5 u n less there is some reason you want to hold that 

6 open f or other witnesses , b u t I thin k that was t he 

7 hearing on the Citati on as we l l. 

8 

9 

10 

MS . GOSSELIN : Yes . 

THE COURT : So t hat woul d be discharged . 

As to any other sanctions on the Rul e , 

11 those woul d be denied . Submi t t he evidence exhibits 

12 t o the Cl erk , and t he parties may withdraw those if 

1 3 t he y wish . 

1 4 

15 

16 

MR . O' KELLEY : The exhibits , your Honor? 

THE COURT : Yes . 

MR . O' KELLEY : What ever your Honor p refers . 

17 They are t he basis of your Honor ' s ruling . We ' ll 

18 keep them in t he record . 

19 THE COURT : We ' ll keep them i n t he record. I 

20 don ' t know that the r e wi ll be any appeal , but t hey 

21 will be in the r ecord , and eventually we ' l l have the 

22 parties wi thdr aw t hem, whoever submi tted them . 

2 3 Okay . So if you will g i ve me an Order , 

24 and then I know we have another date on t h is 
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me . 

MS . GOSSELI N: I don ' t know what ' s not i ced f or 

7 May 15 t h. 

8 THE COURT : It was Mr . Kinnal l y ' s office ' s 

9 motions , I b e l ieve . 

10 MR . O' KELLEY: I know there was a Citation 

11 date for April 15th . I ' m not sure -- that was t he 

12 date tha t p r eceded t his one , if t here was some sort 

1 3 of entry error . 

1 4 (WHEREUPON , discussion was had off t he 

15 record . ) 

16 THE COURT : I saw a not ice of a mot i on for 

17 May 15th . That ' s up t o you . 

18 As far as the fi ngerprints, that Order , 

19 I t hink , has t o stand on the 48 hours, so we ' ll get 

20 those done finally. 

21 MR . O' KELLEY: Your Honor, I just want to be 

22 c lear. Where e xactly a r e yo u sayi ng t h i s has t o be 

2 3 done ? 

24 MS . GOSSELIN: The j ai l at booking . 
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1 

2 

3 

MR . O' KELLEY : This is the Cook Count y 

MS . GOSSELIN : No . Kane Count y . 

THE COURT : Kane County Sheriff ' s Office and 

4 Jail on Route 38 . 

5 MR . O' KELLEY: This is the same place as t he 

6 first time? 

7 MS . GOSSELIN : Correct , but s he has to go to 

8 booking , and Officer Hoffman , I thin k , i s goi ng to 

9 be gone by now, but he was going t o let t he new 

10 off icer coming on be aware of this situat i on . 

11 

12 no w? 

1 3 

1 4 

15 

MR . O' KELLEY : So she coul d in t heory go there 

MS . GOSSELIN: Righ t now, yes. 

MR . O' KELLEY : Okay . 

THE COURT : She could . Last t i me we were here 

16 t he secu r i ty officer d owns t a i rs made a cal l over for 

17 her , if she wishes , to pave the way, and if not, if 

18 she does it in the next two days , then she ' s on her 

19 own . 

20 

21 

MR . O' KELLEY : Unde rstood. 

MR. WARMBOLD : Your Honor , there is one small 

22 little housekeeping issue with r espect to the laptop 

23 t hat was turned over . I t is passwor d protected. 

24 There is a Court Orde r that was ent ered wi th respe ct 

800.211.DEPO (3376) 
EsquireSolutions. com 

R 164 

A-211 



TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill 

May 01 , 2019 
95 

1 to no part y is to al t er or int erfere wi t h any of the 

2 electroni cally stored informat ion that's on eit her 

3 the phone or the l aptop . 

4 That l aptop we ' re locked out from . We 

5 don ' t have a password to access that laptop. We 

6 reached out to see what steps could be taken. There 

7 is -- Apple did r e ach out a nd indicated speci f ic 

8 l a nguage i f it were ent ered i n a Court Orde r, t he y 

9 could p rovide the password or work around the 

10 password in order to access the laptop . Otherwi se , 

11 the laptop itself is j us t t he unit , but wha t ever is 

12 on t hat piece of electronic equipment , J udge, we 

1 3 don ' t know, but as it stands right now i t ' s unabl e 

1 4 to be accessed . 

15 

16 

THE COURT : What ' s your mot i on? 

MR . WARMBOLD : I woul d ask that an Or der be 

17 e ntered t o --

18 

19 

MS . GOSSELIN : To compl y --

MR . WARMBOLD : t o specifica lly comp l y with 

20 the t erms o f the Court Or der . 

21 MS . GOSSELIN: This is from Apple . This is 

2 2 t he response we j ust recei ved today, and they 

2 3 wi ll 

24 MR . O'KELLEY: Your Hono r , I don ' t want to 
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1 c r eate pape r needlessly . I don 't thi nk we know the 

2 password necessar ily . Al l I woul d ask is t hat maybe 

3 this cou l d be a mo t ion raised before t he next court 

4 date so we have an opportunity t o review i t. 

5 MS . GOSSELIN : This would be something that we 

6 could get done now t o a void additional e xpense . If 

7 the Court would like -- this is the s t atement t hat 

8 Apple -- Shawn spent the day there yesterday t r ying 

9 t o get access actually at the App le Store , and they 

10 escalated it through thi ngs. 

11 Thi s is what App l e is saying t hey need 

12 i n o r der to g i ve a cces s to what's a ctually i n t he 

1 3 computer, and all we are seeking t o do is find out 

1 4 what ' s on the computer . We have possession of it 

15 but 

16 THE COURT : Is there a p rior Orde r t hat she 

17 give the password? 

18 

19 

20 

MR . O' KELLEY : No. 

MS . GOSSELIN : No . 

THE COURT : She d i dn 't r eally g e t as ked t hat 

21 question here . 

2 2 MS. GOSSELIN: She was as ked that quest i on . 

2 3 She was q ue s t ioned about t he password. 

24 MR . WARMBOLD: There was a line of 
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1 quest i oni ng , Judge , with respect t o a password i n 

2 o r der to acces s the computer . The response that was 

3 given was some times there was a password o n the 

4 comput er, sometimes there was not, and then some of 

5 the information within t he computer was a l so 

6 password protected. The r e weren ' t specifi cs in 

7 terms of what information o n that comp u ter is 

8 password protected . 

9 THE COURT : Okay . I f you want to resolve t his 

10 with counsel in the meantime , you may d o so , 

11 otherwise I think t hat you woul d like to p r obabl y 

12 keep your Citat i on open i n t ha t r egard a s far as 

1 3 getting a Turnover Order as t o that . 

1 4 MR . O' KELLEY: Your Honor , this may be fine . 

15 Th i s i s t he first I heard o f i t . We may be able 

16 THE COURT : First I heard too . If t he r e ' s no 

17 p ri o r Order , I ' m no t goi ng to order anyth ing a t this 

18 momen t -- no pri or Order that supposedl y hasn ' t been 

19 complied with a nd t here i s only a n ora l mo t i on, I 

20 think to 

21 MS . GOSSELIN: And we ' r e just trying t o get 

2 2 t h ings reso l ved in as s i mpl e a matter as possi ble . 

2 3 THE COURT: Wel l, yes , but we ' re on the 

24 r ecor d, and it's out o f l e ft fi e l d a li tt l e bit. 
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1 I t ' s more than j us t housekeep ing . 

2 

3 

4 

MR . O' KELLEY : We ' ll talk. 

THE COURT : All r i ght. 

MR. O'KELLEY: There are t he t wo matters we 

5 o riginall y raised before the Court , so with your 

6 Honor ' s permi ssion , we will ent er a briefing 

7 schedule on t hat Mot i on to Stay, set a hearing dat e 

8 t hat ' s agreeable for your Honor . 

9 The only o t her thing -- I know we have 

10 been here quite some time, I apo l ogize , your 

11 Honor -- I do have a p r oposed -- in the Court ' s last 

12 Or der you indicated -- a nd I can show you a copy --

1 3 t hat we would be adjus t i ng d i scov e ry deadlines today 

1 4 f r om the case manageme nt Order t hat was ente red . 

15 I have proposed dates whi c h if you gave 

16 us a b rief leave to d isc u ss t hem, perhaps we coul d 

17 enter today before we leave . I know it ' s late 

18 though . For instance, I know written discovery per 

19 t he Order closed ye sterday. 

20 THE COURT : We ' re t alking scheduling so I 

21 think t he hearing for t he record is over . 

22 

23 

24 

MR. O'KELLEY: That ' s corr ect . 

THE COURT: We can let t he court r eporter go . 

(Hearing concluded at 4 : 1 5 p . m.) 
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I , KIMBERLY A. MURPHY , a Ce r t i fied Short hand 

Reporter of t he Stat e of Illinois , do hereby certify 

that I reported in short hand the proceedings had at 

the heari ng afor esai d, a nd that the foregoing is a 

t r ue, complete , and correct transcript of t he 

proceedings of said he aring as appears from my 

stenographic note s so ta ken a nd transcribed under my 

personal d irection . 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I do hereunto set my hand 

of office at Chicago , Ill inoi s , t h is 3rd day of 

May , 201 9 . 

Certified Short hand Re porte r 

17 C . S.R. Certificate No. 84-2586. 
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TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS May 01 , 2019 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill Index: 1 .. 80s 

18th 85 : 1 

1 49 : 23 86 : 13 

19 
87 : 3,24 

1 34 : 19 
90 : 15 

25: 14 , 17 90 : 15 21 
27 : 3, 9 , 11 

19th 
91 : 22 

51 : 21 
90 : 11 24 

90 : 6,7 , 8 
91 : 2 0 55 : 7 , 9 

10 25 
14 : 13 5 5 : 9 2 

100 26 
34 : 20 

2 55 : 10 
14 2 7 : 20 , 24 

28th 
11 : 16 8 4:22 33 : 8 
87 : 4 , 23 90 : 6 

29 
15 20 5 : 14 

5:23 45 : 13 
14 : 13 73:6 

8 7 : 3 ,2 4 

20 : 1 ,4,10 29th 
2017 

24 : 11 , 13 33 : 8 

3 7 : 1 
57: 1 ,6 
61 : 4 

45: 12 
63 : 11 3 

51 : 7 
83 : 17 

64: 16 

2018 3 
15th 6 : 2 1 29 : 20 ,23 

25 : 5 
16 : 20 31 : 8 

8 1 : 24 
39 : 19 34 : 21 

88:9 41 : 2 ,3 , 9 , 35 : 20 , 23 
89 : 20 36 : 1 14 61: 4 
91 : 20 84 : 23 
93: 1 , 2 , 4, 2019 

90 : 6,7,8 
5 , 7 , 1 1, 17 5 :1 4 

20 : 1, 10 30 
16 

21 : 9 2 2 : 1 64 : 1 6 
18 :3 

2 4: 11,13 79 : 6 

17 26: 9 ,14 , 35 
3 :1 18 31: 1 ,5 66 : 20 

17th 34: 13 68 : 17 

22 : 18 , 1 9 , 37 : 1 
47 : 21 38 

2 4 36 : 5 94 : 4 48 : 16 
4 9 : 18 ,20 

51 : 7 
183 53: 2 1 

91 : 4 83 : 17 

26 : 9 , 13 , 

4 18 4 4: 22 
4 7 : 21 

4/11 60 
28 : 16 5 : 3 

4/5 6th 
28 : 15 21 : 21,2 3 

22 : 21 , 2 4 
48 

11 : 6 26 : 3 

12 : 5,6 
4 4: 18 
47 : 2 3 

93 : 19 
48 : 14 

4:15 49 : 1 
98 : 24 84 : 16, 20 

4th 85 : 18 

26 : 3 86 : 1 3 
88 : 11 

5 
7 

5 
20 : 16 70 

21 : 9 ,1 3 71 : 4 

30 : 8 72 : 1 6 

31 : l , 4 744 
34: 13, 19 3 : 1 
53 : 20 
84 : 18 

7:42 

85 : 1 
3 4 : 15 
53 : 21 

5 th 85 : 2 ,14 
21 : 8 
26 : 2 , 3 
33 : 1 8 

44 : 24 
48 : 20 8 
84 : 18 73 : 2 4 
85 : 13 , 14 7 4: 21 
86 : 12 

8.5 
88 : 11 29 : 3 

80s 
6 46 : 16 

6 
22 : 1 

800.211.DEPO (3376) 
EsquireSolutions. com 

R 171 

A-218 



TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill 

May 01 , 2019 
Index: ability .. Arizona 

A 

ability 
83 : 7 

abs conding 
74 : 18 

absence 
83 : 17 

abso lutely 
24 : 16 
37:2 51:2 
64 :2 74 : 3 
77 : 11,15, 
17 

acceptable 
9 : 6 

access 
37 : 11 
53 : 12 
5 6 : 18 
78 : 7 ,15, 
21 79 : 3 , 
17 95 : 5 , 
10 96 :9, 
12 97 : 2 

accessed 
95 : 14 

accident 
43 : 22 

accordance 
83 : 1 

accurate 
31 : 3 ,14 
34 : 18 

accurately 
26 : 16 , 23 
27 : 14 

achieved 
87 : 23 

Act 
18 : 4 

activities 
59 : 11 

a c tual 
12: 2 2 
90 : 19 

add 
8 4: 8 , 9 
85 : 19 

addition 
14: 2 

additional 
17 : 1 8 6 : 1 
96 : 6 

Additional ! 
y 

86 : 7 

address 
5 : 7 4 6 : 5 , 
12 , 13 , 14 

adjusting 
98 : 13 

adjustments 
5 : 1 

administrat 
or 

9 : 17 
17 : 16 , 18 

admit 
27 : 7 
35 : 19 

admitted 
2 2: 6 2 6 : 7 
27 : 3 ,18 
31 : 8 
32: 10 
35 : 1 , 7 , 11 
90 : 4 

admitting 
28 : 15 

adverse 
16 : 7 

affidavit 
86 : 16, 20 

afternoon 
89 : 1 5 

afterward 
5 :4 

agree 
63 : 19 

agreeable 
5: 6 98: 8 

ahead 
8 : 11 11 :8 
27 : 7 48:8 
63 : 5 
70 : 12 
7 7 : 5 

albeit 
91 : 16 

a l legations 
10 : 20 

alleged 
29 : 14 

a l levi ate 
10 : 4 

allowed 
7 3 : 20 

allowing 
67 : 12 

alter 
95 : 1 

ample 
86 : 10 

and/ or 
11 : 5 

APA 
30 : 17 

apologize 

93 : 4 
98 : 10 

apparently 
7 : 9 , 14 
8 :17 

appeal 
92 : 20 

appearance 
11 : 4 82 : 1 
90 : 13 

Appl e 
38 : 12 , 14 
95 : 7 , 2 1 
96 : 8 , 9 , 11 

appointed 
9 : 17 

approach 
3 : 11 

approximate 
50 : 6 

approximate 
d 

54 :20 

April 
5 : 23 17 : 4 
20 : 1 , 4 , 
10 , 16 
21 :9, 1 3 , 
23 22 : 1 
24 : 11 , 1 3 
25 : 5 
26 : 9 ,1 3, 
18 30 : 8 
31 : 1 , 4 
34 : 1 3, 19 
37 : 1 
41:24 
44 : 18 , 22 , 
24 47 : 21, 
23 48 : 14 , 
20 49 : 1 , 
18 51 :7 
53 : 20 

60 : 21 , 22 
61 : 2 65 : 4 
81 : 2 4 
83 : 17 
8 4: 16, 18 , 
20 85 : 1 , 
13 , 1 4,18 
86 : 12 , 13 
88 : 9 
89 : 20 
91 : 20 
93 : 11 

area 
14 : 5 
72 : 19 

argue 
8 : 2 3 

argui ng 
8 7: 2 

arisen 
36 : 22 

arises 
5 : 14 

arising 
85 : 1 8 

Arizona 
6 : 10 
11 : 21 
12 : 21 
21 : 4 
22 : 2 , 11 , 
14, 16 , 19 
23 : 1 , 3 
36 : 4 ,12 
4 4 : 16,17 
46 : 19 
47 : 3 , 6 , 23 
48 : 22 
49 : 12 , 2 0 
50 : 5 , 12 , 
23 52 : 5 , 
10 , 14,17 
54: 13 
55 : 17 
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TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill 

May 01 , 2019 
Index: arrive .. box 

56: 10 
82 :2 
84: 19 
85:7,11 
8 6 : 9 ,12 , 
1 9 88:19 
90 :3 
91 : 2 , 6 

arrive 
48 : 22 
4 9 : 19,21 
85: 17 

arrived 
21 :21 
22 : 21 
26 : 9 
4 4 : 22 
47 : 23 
49: 1 ,17 
84: 19 

a s hes 
75: 15 
76 :8,13 
77 : 9 

aspects 
28:22 

asserted 
31 : 18 
32:8 
35 : 12 

assertions 
86:6 

assets 
17 :12 
59 : 12 
80 : 6 

assist 
53:24 
85:3 

ass ume 
18 : 1 , 20 
62 :22 
89: 12 

assuming 
80 :6 

assured 
70 : 14 

attempt 
69 : 10 

attitude 
87 : 13 

attorney 
17: 18 
51 : 22 
56: 15 
91 : 21 

attorney's 
91 : 20 , 21 

atto rne y s 
91 : 11 

authorities 
8 :1 9 

authorizati 
on 

8 : 18 9 : 2 

avoid 
96: 6 

aware 
51 : 5 
60 : 1 9 
63 : 1 5 , 17 
64: 12 , 14, 
22 65 :2, 7 
66 : 8 
90 : 12 
94: 10 

awhil e 
52 : 22 

B 

back 
11 : 3 ,17 
12 : 1 

14 : 16 
20 : 21 
2 4: 2 , 4 
40 : 22 
41 : 1 , 1 6 
42:23,24 
4 4 : 15 
48: 1 , 5 
49 : 1 5, 17 , 
19 , 21 
55 : 2 
58 : 12 , 15 
59 : 23 
60 : 11 , 12 
63 : 22 
70 : 10 
73 : 1 6 
75 : 6 86:1 
89 : 1 3 
90 : 19 

backed 
59 : 9 

background 
9 : 1 3,16 
10 : 4 

Bailiff 
14 : 10 

Bament 
71 : 9 

bars 
5 5 : 22 , 23 

base 
5 2 : 2 
60 : 10 

based 
15 : 7 
16 : 16 
2 4: 21 
89 : 18 ,23 

basically 
5 : 11 6 :1 
11 : 9 
30 : 18 

8 2 : 4 

basis 
7: 1 6 
10 : 19 
76 : 18 
92 : 17 

bed 
61 : 7 

behal f 
3 : 3 , 5 , 8 
39: 16 

belief 
2 4 : 18, 21 

believed 
39 : 24 
40 : 5 , 8 

b e long 
37 : 24 
7 9 : 15 

belonged 
66 : 18 

belonging 
79 : 18,21 

belongings 
65 : 6 67 : 6 

belongs 
39 : 2 
87 : 11 

Bendok 
30 : 3 
33 : 21 
53 : 18 
54 : 15 
85 : 1 

Be rnard 
30 : 3 

Betty ' s 
80:19 

big 
67 : 9 

bill 
8 : 5 

bills 
70 : 21 

bit 
97 : 24 

bits 
42 : 1 

bleeding 
28 : 23 ,2 4 

blur 
61 : 1 

blurry 
26 : 4 42 : 2 

BMW 

3 : 2 3 

Body 
90 : 18 

bolt 
34 : 3 

bone 
20 : 20,22 

bongo 
66: 17 

bongos 
66 : 20 , 22, 
23 67:4 , 
6, 9 

book 
43 : 15 

booking 
7 : 13 ,17 
8 : 9 93 :2 4 
94: 8 

Boswell 
22 : 9,10, 
11 

box 
8 : 4 
43 : 15, 21 
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TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill 

May 01 , 2019 
Index: boxes .. clear 

boxes 
4 3 : 1 , 17 
60 : 6 , 9 , 
12,15 

Boyer 
71 : 1 6 

brain 
28 : 24 

breached 
57 : 14 

break 
62 : 15 
69 : 11 
74 : 24 

break- in 
57 : 7 

Brett 
37 : 16 
77 : 18 , 20 

bridge 
62 : 9 

brief ing 
3 :1 9 ,2 1 
98 : 6 

briefly 
88 : 6 89 : 5 

bring 
91 : 5 

bringing 
16 : 6 

brother 
53 : 5 
80 : 17 
81 : 3 

brothers 
77 : 21 

brought 
37 : 9 

building 
89 : 10 

burden 
63 : 3 
8 1 : 2 1 
82 : 18 
89 : 4 

business 
56 : 19 
57 : 9 

C 

C4 
20 : 2 4 

C6 
20 : 24 

call 
19 : 4 , 6 
63 : 12 
94: 16 

called 
5:23 6 : 6 
19 : 13 
22 : 9 
47 : 10 
71 : 3 
72 : 5 ,8, 
17 , 22 , 24 

calls 
61 : 15 

camera 
7:23 

capability 
56 : 18 

car 
47: 2 
52: 20, 21, 
22 53 : 1 
67 : 17 

card 
56 : 5 , 6 

care 

17 : 2 1 

carry 
38 :7 
67 : 15 

carrying 
38 : 8 

cars 
52 : 2 1 

case 
10 : 8 1 6 :8 
89 : 22 
98 : 1 4 

cash 
56 : 7 
86 : 10 

catch 
10 : 23 

catching 
85 : 15 

caused 
10 : 24 
20 : 21 
91 : 17 

cell 
5 : 1 6,20 
15 : 17 , 22 
16 : 22 
32 : 4 
5 6 : 14 
60 : 2 , 5 , 
17 , 20 
61 : 13 
82 : 6 

certainty 
83 : 8 

cervical 
20 : 24 
2 4 : 9 

cetera 
32 : 13 

chairman 

30 : 3 

Champaign 
72 : 17 

changed 
85 : 16 

characteriz 
ation 

62 : 4 
88 : 2 4 

characteriz 
e 

67 : 10 
77 : 4 

characteriz 
ed 

18 : 5 

Charleston 
72 : 18 

check 
9 :12 

checked 
8 : 4 

chest 
65 : 11 , 12 

c hosen 
67 : 24 

Chris man 
72 : 18 

Christmas 
70 : 14 

Christopher 
3 : 7 

cir cums tanc 
es 

8 :2 1 
11 : 15 
13 : 11 , 21 
71 : 21 
76 : 19 
82 : 13 

83 : 4 

Citation 
6 :20 ,21 
12 : 1 9 
13 : 22 
15 : 2 , 7 , 9, 
20 16:19, 
23 17 :2, 
8 , 10 , 11 , 
2 4 18 :1, 
2 , 3 , 6 , 7 , 9 
19 : 2 
39 : 8 ,10 , 
13 , 14 
62 : 16 , 20 
67 : 21 
76 : 18 
81: 10 
92 : 1 , 3 ,7 
93 : 10 
97 : 1 2 

Citations 
16 :15 

city 
23 : 18 ,19 

civil 
91 : 19 

clarificati 
on 

3 4: 2 4 
35 : 9 

clarified 
84 : 14 

clarify 
15 : 24 
54: 3 84 :5 

clear 
23 : 13 
77 : 17, 20 , 
23 78 : 4 
8 4: 10 
93 :22 
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TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill 

May 01, 2019 
Index: Clerk .. correct 

Clerk communicati 
19 :8 ons 
92 : 12 6:9 30:22 

client comorbiditi 
5:15 es 
1 4 : 15 2 4: 23 
89:23 36 : 21 

Clinic company 
22:3,4 37 : 18 

clinical 
38 : 1 ,2 

25:8 
39 : 3 

28:22 
87 : 1 1 

close 
compelled 

71 : 13 
15 : 17 

85 : 17 complete 

closed 31:3, 14 

57 :2 3 34: 18 
66 : 3 98 : 19 

closest 
completely 

77 : 12 17 : 8 
26:17,23 

clothes 27 : 14 
73 : 11,13 

complex 
clothing 4 : 22 5 :1 0 

66: 7 
68 : 4 , 5 , 8 , compliance 

1 3,20 91 : 16 

78 :22 complicatio 

Coast 
ns 

85:18 
36 : 22 

complied 
college 

76:4 
87 : 5 ,16 
88: 19 , 23 

color 97 : 19 
52:23 

comply 
combined 8 : 22 15: 8 

15: 4 16 : 16 

communicati 83 : 5 89 : 1 

on 95 : 18,19 

30 :18 ,24 computer 
31 : 4 ,15, 8 : 5 1 6: 1 8 
16 53:18 32 : 4 ,20 
84:24 33 : 19 

37 : 6,9, 
12 , 18 , 20 , 
22,24 
38 : 9 ,1 4, 
16 ,20 ,23 
39 : 1 ,2 
5 7 : 7 
72 : 13 
82 : 1 9 
87 : 11 
96 : 13, 14 
97 : 2 ,4, 5 , 
7 

computers 
37 : 13 , 14 

concerns 
77 : 13 

concluded 
98 : 24 

condition 
23 : 2 3 
2 4: 19, 22, 
24 26 : 13, 
17 , 2 3 
36 : 15 ,23 
82 : 10 , 11 

conducted 
57 : 9 

confusing 
4 8 : 4 
57: 17 

connection 
90 : 22 

considerabl 
y 

6 : 22 

consider a ti 
on 

2 4 : 24 

considered 
59 : 2,3 
71 : 14 

81 : 2 

considers 
46 : 11 

constantly 
84 : 4 

contacting 
51 : 11 

contained 
32 :7 35 :3 

contempt 
83 : 6 , 8 
91 : 10 , 14 , 
1 9 

context 
52 : 8 

continually 
21 : 14 

continuance 
5:1 89:23 
91 : 1 ,12 

continue 
2 4 : 2 

continuing 
23 : 2 4 
24 : 9 

control 
68:11, 19 

convenience 
11 : 2 

conversatio 
n 

52 : 3 

converted 
18 : 2 

convicted 
9 : 18 

convincing 
90:2 

Cook 

94 : 1 

copies 
6 : 15 
14 : 1 0 , 11 

copy 
18 : 1 4 
31 : 4 ,15 
34 : 18 
35 : 5 
89 : 16 
98: 12 

correct 
3 : 24 4 :1, 
16 7 : 21 
16 : 9 
17 : 15 , 17 , 
19 23 : 16 
25 : 2 
26: 10 ,11 
33 : 4 
37 : 20 
38 : 1 5 
39 : 8 , 14 
40 : 2 
41: 11,18, 
21 42 :7 
45 : 2 , 3 , 8 
48 : 21 
51 : 1 
53 : 19, 21, 
22 5 4: 10, 
11, 18 
58: 13, 1 4 
59: 1 6 
60 : 2 ,9,17 
63 : 21,2 4 
66 : 9 69 : 6 
71: 18 ,22 
73 : 2 4 
7 4: 16 , 23 
75 : 13 
90 : 23 
94:7 
98 : 22 
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TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS May 01, 2019 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill Index: correctly .. death 

correctly 
31 : l 

corresponde 
nee 

30 : 2 

counsel 
3 : 19 4:5, 
14 5:4 
6 : 7 7 : 7 
12 : 11 
1 3:2 , 14 
15 : 16 
67 :24 
82:17 , 20 
97 : 10 

counsel's 
30 : 10 
88 : 1 3,24 

counsels 
3 :2 89:21 

country 
85 : 17 

County 
9 : 7 11 : 5 
94 : 1 , 2 , 3 

couple 
5 1 : 8 
53 : 14 
72 : 10 

court 
3:1,9 , 12, 
23 4 : 2,8, 
12 , 1 9 , 23 
5:5,6,9, 
24 7 :18, 
23 8: 11 
10 :9,17 
11 :8,20 
12 :7,19, 
24 13 : 2, 
6 , 9 , 24 
14:3,8, 
1 3, 19 , 21 , 

24 15 : 7 , 
13 , 23 
16:2,5,12 
17:3,10, 
13 , 16 , 18, 
20 ,24 
18 : 1 ,7, 
11 , 1 2 , 1 4, 
18,23 
19 : 8,11 , 
2 4 20 : 3,9 
2 4: 15 
27:4,7 ,1 8 
29:5 , 9 , 
12 , 18 
31 : 9 ,1 1 , 
22 32 : 11 
34: 23 
35:4,7,19 
37 : 1 43 : 6 
44: 1 1 
4 7:24 
48:4,6, 8 
49:8 5 1 : 6 
54:23, 24 
5 5 : 2 58 : 7 
59:2 
60 : 16 
61 : 18 
62 : 12, 15, 
19 , 22 
63 : 1 , 5 
64: 10 
66 : 15 
68 : 1 
75 : 1 ,3, 5 
76 :21,23 
77 : 2 , 5 
78 : 1 
80 : 1 1 
8 1 : 9 ,12, 
19 8 2: 1 
83 : 11, 18 , 
20 ,22 
85 :20,24 
86 : 22 
87 : 3 , 5 

88 : 1 ,4, 5 , 
9 89:2 , 
12,20 
90 : 8 , 9, 
14, 21 ,24 
91: 4 
92:9,15, 
1 9 93 : 8, 
16 94:3, 
15,2 4 
95 : 8,15 , 
20 96 : 3, 
7, 16,20 
97:9,16, 
23 98:3 , 
5 , 20 , 23 

Court's 
3 : 18 ,22 
5 : 14 
13 : 13 
15 : 1 6 
82 : 5 83:1 
88 : 1 4, 1 6 , 
20 89 : 1 
98: 11 

courtroom 
87 : 1 4 
89 : 8 

cousin 
80 : 16 

create 
85 : 21 
96 : 1 

created 
33 : 16 

credibility 
91 : 9 

credit 
56 : 5 

cremated 
75 : 12 

criminal 
9 : 12 ,16 

CRN 
28 : 16 

cross 
27 : 18 
35 : 20 
44 : 11 
7 6 : 23 
77 : 2 
82 : 16 

cross­
examination 

1 4 : 4 
29 : 16 
44 : 13 
77 :6 

cross­
examine 

29 : 1 4 , 15 

crossing 
45 : 18 

Cross trail 
52 : 18 ,20 

crystal 
84 : 10 

CT 
2 8 :5 

current 
23 : 23 
36 : 15 

D 

0-U-V-A-L-L 
1 9 : 20 

date 
4 : 9 21: 5 
28 : 13 , 15 
29 : 1 4 
30 : 5 , 7, 24 
31 : 15 , 19 
3 5: 17 
48: 18 

49 : 22 
61:24 
85 : 9 
86 : 21 
88 : 9 
90: 18 
92 : 24 
93 : 4 , 11 , 
1 2 96: 4 
98 : 7 

dated 
90: 15 

dates 
28: 1 4 ,1 7 
4 2 : 1 93 :2 
98 : 1 5 

day 
7 : 1 9 
10 :24 
24 : 1 2 
4 6 : 24 
54: 22 
56 : 23 
63 : 10 ,23, 
24 64:5 , 
16 73:9 
96 : 8 

days 
5:3 
11 : 16 ,21 
26 : 4 51 : 8 
61: 17 
62 : 7 
87 : 4 , 23 
88 : 10 
91: 22 ,2 4 
94: 18 

deadlines 
5: 1 98: 13 

death 
74 : 21 
75 : 12 
76 : 20 
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TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS May 01 , 2019 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD Ill Index: debit.effect 

debit demonstrate directed document 23 : 5 
56 :5 14 : l 5 : 15 25 : 13 49 : 14 

deceased denied 
88 : 1 7 27 : 8 ,19 , 

drum 
88: 16 92 : 11 directing 22 28 : 1 , 66 : 1 7 , 21 

83 : 5 3 , 8,13, 67 : 15 
decedent' s deny 1 9 , 20 

5:16 8 2: 20 directly 29 : 19 , 23 due 
7 6 : 20 

departure 
7 : 17 88 : 1 30 : 1 , 5 , 9 36 : 22 

December 88 : 10 discharged 32 : 18 , 24 67 : 10 

60 : 22 92 : 9 33 : 2 ,1 1 duly 
69 : 18 

depos ed 35 : 3 , 15, 19 : 10 ,1 3 40 : 1 Discover 22 5 1 : 12 73 :24 
59 : 23 18 : 2 , 9 dupli cative 

74 :21 documen ta ti 15 : 6 
decide 

deposition discovery on 
40 :5 60 :5 5: 1 6 : 2 7 : 15 Duvall 

85:6 
Deputy 98: 13 , 18 12 : 17 19 : 19 

decided 7 : 18 discuss documents 59 : 12 
85 : 10 describe 98 : 16 6 : 4 , 13,1 7 E 

33 : 10 discussed 13 : 12 , 13 , 
decision 

88 : 21 17 14 : 9 E-L-L-I-Z-
12 : 15 desk 25 : 10 Z- E- T- T- E 

41 : 15 di s cussion 82 :7 deep 
93 : 14 

19 : 20 
28 : 21 detail dogs 

91 : 7 disobedienc e -mai l 
52 :2 4 36 : 14 52 : 4 

determined 
e 

deeply 83 : 9 door earlier 
62 : 5 72 : 6 65 : 12 51:23 

deficiencie Diane 
di sobeyed 

53 : 16 88 : 1 , 3 downstairs 
s 71 : 10 , 12 94 : 16 76 : 15 

13 : 3 , 5 died 
displeased 

early 57 : 8 dress 
deficiency 51 : 15 65 : 15 48 : 19 

31 : 1 3 71 : 18 , 20 , disposal. 65 : 4 
21 76 : 13 drive 

deficient 46 : 22 easier 
83:19 difference dispose 47 : 6 ,1 6 61: 11 

11 : 23 , 24 76 :7 52 : 16 delay easil y 
38 : 22 , 24 difficult dispute 8 5 : 6 ,10 51 : 10 , 13 

11 : 11 9 : 21 driven deliberate! eat 
dire 

10 : 11 52 : 21 y 55 : 22 
9 : 9 82 : 10 , 11 distraught driving EDM 

direct 
4 3 : 18 4 6 : 19 delivered 38 : 3 

7 : 19, 23 17 : 13 doctor 55 : 13 
19 : 2 , 15 32 : 22 85 : 7 , 16 effect 

demand 63 : 7 33 : 20 
88 : 3 

25:6 drove 
51 : 11 
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TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS May 01 , 2019 
IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF JOHN MCDONALD IHdex: effectively . .facilities 

effectively 
8 1 : 22 

effects 
7 9 : 15 , 18 , 
2 1 

egregious 
61 : 8 

elaborate 
11 : 11 

electronic 
95 : 12 

e l ectronica 
lly 

95 : 2 

elicit 
5 : 19 6 : 15 
7 : 4 

elicited 
17 : 9 
29 : 12 
82 : 7 
84 : 1 , 11 

eliciting 
16 : 10 

Elle 
5 : 15 
13 : 15 
1 9 : 21 
51 : 17 
67 : 1 6 
74 : 7 77 : 8 
82 : 2 
8 6 : 20 
88 : 7 

Elle's 
35 : 1 6 
8 1 : 24 
82 : 8 , 10 

Ellizzette 
3 : 4 19 : 7 , 
12 , 19 
83:15 

embarrass i n 
g 

90 : 20 

emergency 
22 : 10 
25 : 2 1 
32 : 22 

emergently 
20 : 16 
26 : 21 

e mo tiona l 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) SS:

COUNTY OF K A N E )

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KANE COUNTY
FOR THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF ILLINOIS

IN THE MATTER OF THE 
ESTATE OF:

 

JOHN MC DONALD, III.  

)
)
)
)
)
)

No. 17 P 744  

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had at the hearing in 

the above-entitled cause, before the Honorable

JAMES R. MURPHY, Judge of said Court, on Wednesday, 

October 23, 2019.

PRESENT:

MR. PATRICK M. KINNALLY, 

appeared on behalf of the Estate; 
Administrator, Shawn Mc Donald.

     MS. GABRIELLE A. GOSSELIN, 

    appeared on behalf of the Estate; 
Administrator, Shawn Mc Donald. 

MS. ELLIZZETTE DUVALL MC DONALD, 

              appeared pro se.
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THE COURT : Okay . This is the Estate of John 

Mc Donald , III, 17 P 744. Would the parties please 

identify themselves? 

MS. GOSSELIN : Gabrielle Gosselin on behalf of 

the Estate of John Mc Donald --

THE COURT: Speak up for ... 

2 

THE COURT REPORTER: There's a fan going up here, 

too. 

MS. GOSSELIN: Oh. Gabrielle Gosselin, 

co - counsel for the estate, the administrator, Shawn 

Donald . 

MR . KINNALLY : Good morning , Judge. Pat Kinnally 

for the Estate of John Mc Donald, III . 

THE COURT: And you are? 

MS . MC DONALD: Ellizzette Mc Donald, on behalf 

of John Mc Donald, III, my husband . 

THE COURT : Okay . There are various motions that 

have been continued to today; and after 

Ms. Mc Donald ' s attorney withdrew -- I believe last 

month, probably in September -- the order said that 

these motions would be entered and continued till 

today and that someone would file a substitute 

appearance for Ellizzette Mc Donald. 

And, Ms. Mc Donald, you say you have an 
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appearance ready to file? 

MS . MC DONALD: I do, sir. 

THE COURT: Do you have that, the original? 

MS. MC DONALD: I have that right here. 

THE COURT: Can you give a copy to counsel to 

your right? You can keep a copy and you can give me 

the original and we'll have this clerk file it, 

because I don't think there's a fee due because 

you've had attorneys before, so I'll allow that to be 

filed. 

And now you have a -- you say that -- I 

mean, we're ready to go on some of these motions and 

talk about them this morning and possibly rule on 

them, but you have an oral motion to continue; 

correct? 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes, sir . 

THE COURT : What is your good cause? First, I'll 

swear you in. If you will raise your right hand? 

(The oath was thereupon duly 

administered to Ms. Mc Donald by 

the Court.) 

THE COURT : Okay. What is the good cause for you 

to delay --

MS. MC DONALD: I --
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THE COURT : the hearing of these motions? 

MS . MC DONALD : Well , I ' ll leave it to you to 

determine if it ' s good cause. 

I have had difficulty coming back and forth 

to the Chicago area because I had a back injury in 

July . I was in a motor vehicle accident in which I 

injured my spine , and as a result of that I was 

unable to travel , you know , and let alone sit for 

more than like 15 minutes at a time and --

THE COURT : Where were you travelling? 

MS . MC DONALD : Actually , Lake Forest , down to 

Indiana. I was on Route 41 , and I believe it was 

Warren County ; and my counsel, Mr. O'Kelly at the 

time , did notify Mr. Kinnally ' s office, and that was 

a matter of discussion as well at my last deposition 

that I had in Mr . Kinnally's office, where I did give 

Mr. O'Kelly , my counsel , a copy of the accident 

report and the medical report . 

THE COURT : Okay . So I ' m just asking about the 

difficulty of traveling back and forth to Illinois . 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes . 

THE COURT : Where were you trying to travel from , 

back and forth to Illinois? 

MS . MC DONALD : Because I'm doing what is known 

4 
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as a BAYR , which is a combined study in residence , it 

depends on -- sometimes I ' m in Minneapolis , sometimes 

I'm in Massachusetts , sometimes I ' m -- and I've also 

been going out to Arizona , because recently I ' ve put 

my father in hospice because my father is at the end 

stages of his -- he has advanced Parkinson ' s , and he 

took a fall in April and he's gotten progressively 

worse , and we had to place him in a facility . 

And my mother also has -- her cancer has 

returned , and so I have been going to Arizona , back 

and forth , and in between my education as well . 

a doctoral student , so like I said , I do these 

four-week stints at different places . 

THE COURT : All right. So --

I ' m 

MS . MC DONALD: Which I actually had to miss some 

of those because of my injury as well . 

THE COURT : Okay . And you your motion also 

contemplates that you need -- you need a little bit 

of time to -- there's a -- for instance , there ' s a 

motion in limine filed by you , and Shawn McDonald has 

filed a response and it ' s ready to go . You said that 

you understood it ' s ready to go , but you are not 

ready to go this morning. Why? Why and how long do 

you need, if you ' re asking for time? 
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MS . MC DONALD: A week. 

THE COURT : Okay . And that's to just prepare 

yourself to argue it? 

MS. MC DONALD: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Okay. Are you prepared to argue 

anything else, like the motion to approve attorney 

representation agreement , Shawn Mc Donald's motion, 

or Shawn Mc Donald's motion for judicial notice , or 

do you want that same week to prepare for all of 

them? 

MS . MC DONALD: I would prefer to have the same 

week to prepare for all of those . 

6 

THE COURT: And you're aware that there's a trial 

set on this in November? 

MS . MC DONALD: I am. 

THE COURT : A bench trial, and is that 

November 18th? 

MR . KINNALLY : It is. 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes . 

THE COURT : And are you still thinking you'll be 

prepared to go to trial on November 18th? 

MS. MC DONALD: Can I ask a question first before 

I answer that? 

THE COURT: Go ahead. 
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MS . MC DONALD : Um , these motions , for example , 

the motion in limine , is that considered a pretrial 

motion and are there rules about how soon, up and to 

the date of trial , that they can be filing these 

motions , because we're less than 

THE COURT : It ' s your motion in limine ; right? 

7 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes. There was one that we filed 

in September, that is correct , and Mr . Kinnally 

responded in a timely manner. 

THE COURT : Well , yeah. 

MS . MC DONALD: And then I found 

THE COURT : We have to take care of those 

motions , pretrial motions, before we get to the trial 

date , yes. 

MS . MC DONALD: But is there a deadline that they 

needed to be in by , for example, like, you know , how 

we had a deadline for deposing witnesses? 

THE COURT : There's probably a deadline for 

dispositive motions before a trial of 60 days , 

according to local rule . 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes . 

THE COURT : But these aren ' t dispositive. These 

are regarding the trial and -- or , they're not 

otherwise not dispositive of anything , any issues ; 
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but they have a motion to approve attorney 

representation agreement that might have a time limit 

on it , for instance. That doesn't have anything to 

do with a trial. 

MS. MC DONALD: We are still within the time 

limit that they would need to file for representation 

for that particular -- I'm mindful of Mr. Kinnally ' s 

wanting to represent Norman for the -- in that other 

matter. 

THE COURT : Okay. 

MR . KINNALLY : Judge , I don't know who Norman is . 

MS . MC DONALD: Oh, I'm sorry. Shawn. John 

always referred sorry. 

THE COURT : All right. So, all right. Is that 

all you wanted to say in support of your motion to 

continue --

MS . MC DONALD : At this --

THE COURT : -- today's hearing? 

MS . MC DONALD : Yes, sir . 

THE COURT : Any response , Mr . Kinnally? 

MR . KINNALLY : Yes. Judge , you entered an order 

on September 18th , which I have a copy of here, and a 

couple of things. 

First of all , she has not shown good cause , 

8 
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because I took her deposition on August 29th . The 

motor vehicle accident that she was involved in was 

July 19th. I took her deposition at my office. It 

lasted approximately three hours. 

There's no documentation here to support any 

of the statements that she has made to you, and in 

fact if anything , what she's told you is that she's 

traveled extensively since August , either to Arizona 

or in pursuit of some BAYR document that she seeks to 

obtain . 

So the order is quite clear. The order 

doesn't say that the matter is continued for status . 

It says it's continued to today's date for ruling. 

So they've had more than enough time to respond to 

this representation agreement, which is a benefit to 

the estate. The statute of limitations is running on 

that . I filed that over a month and a half ago. The 

other motions have all been pending. 

There's no reason to continue this. We're 

within 45 days, if not less, of a trial date, and I 

just want to remind the Court, which I know you are 

familiar with, this is not the first time this case 

has been continued. It was continued last November, 

when she had counsel ; and when we came to do the 

9 
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trial at that time , they withdrew their petition 

for 

MS. MC DONALD: Mm-hmm. 

MR. KINNALLY : To be the administrator. So this 

is a pretty simple case at this time. It's an 

10 

heirship proceeding. There's been no other pleadings 

before the Court with respect to -- other than that 

issue, and we're ready to go ahead. Thank you. 

THE COURT: Just to clarify , what is the bench 

trial -- what are the pleadings that will be 

considered at the bench trial? What is standing, I 

mean, as far as what do I look at as the complaint 

and answer in the, what you call an heirship 

proceeding? 

MR . KINNALLY : That ' s the proceedings before the 

Court, is whether or not she's an heir . 

THE COURT : And so there's a petition for Shawn 

to be --

MR . KINNALLY : Shawn's already the administrator . 

THE COURT : All right . Shawn is the 

administrator . So there's no competing petition for 

administration of 

MR . KINNALLY : Not that ' s 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes. 
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MR . KINNALLY : Not that ' s been pursued , that I ' m 

aware of . 

THE COURT : And it has to do with the validity of 

the marriage? 

MR . KINNALLY : Exactly right. 

THE COURT : All right. Well, then , I mean , we've 

got -- is there other motions that I ' m supposed to be 

listening here to, besides what you have in your list 

of four things we ' re talking about today? 

MR . KINNALLY : No . That's all I have. I put 

that in a letter to y o u at some point . I think I 

listed them. 

of , Judge. 

Those are the only ones that I'm aware 

MS . MC DONALD: That's not true . 

THE COURT : All right . All right . Well, on 

the -- I'll give you a chance to reply to anything on 

the motion , on your oral motion to continue . 

want to say anything further in reply? 

Do you 

MS . MC DONALD : Yes, sir . We are challenging the 

heirship because it was obtained due to a fraud on 

the Court ; and the administration has -- and also the 

administration is supposed to be supervised and it 

has not been adhered to as supervised . In fact , 

Mr. Kinnally ' s client has continued to raid the 

R 205 

A-252 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

12 

estate and act outside the court order . We did issue 

a challenge to that. 

And to clarify , yes , there were many -- I 

did go to the deposition. It was discussed in my 

deposition , the documents that I had already 

previously handed over to my attorneys about my 

injury . Subsequent to that deposition , because I 

traveled against doctor's orders , I re-injured 

myself , and that's when I was no longer able to 

travel , and that's what I am saying . I have missed 

as a result of that. It's interfered with the travel 

that I should have been required to do. 

THE COURT : So you had doctor's orders that you 

weren't supposed to go to the deposition? 

MS . MC DONALD: He verbally told me that he did 

not want me to travel in any way, shape, form , or 

manner, that he needed me to rest , to wear the brace, 

and of course I didn't abide by those . I went ahead 

and , two days later , traveled up here because we had 

already postponed the depositions to my --

You think it ' s funny? 

MR. KINNALLY : I wasn ' t laughing , ma ' am. I was 

just smiling. 

THE COURT : Ma ' am , continue. So you traveled 
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from Arizona to --

MS . MC DONALD: No. At that time I was in 

California, and I came -- went through Arizona and I 

made my way to Illinois , back to Illinois, and went 

straight to their office , actually, and then that day 

went downstate because I was not able to go on to my 

next destination because I actually re-injured 

myself. 

THE COURT: Anything further? 

MS . MC DONALD: And also, it was a -- according 

to what I've been told, it was a status hearing today 

about me getting counsel. 

THE COURT: Did you get a copy of the order of 

withdrawal from your attorney? 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes, sir, I did, and at the 

bottom I believe it says status, unless I've read it 

inaccurately . 

THE COURT : And status of counsel. 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes, sir . 

THE COURT : All right . Well, we've already 

resolved that. You don ' t have counsel, and you're 

going to represent yourself. 

MS. MC DONALD: Yes. 

THE COURT: And your appearance is on file, so 
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you're taking over the case and it's up for hearing 

and a ruling today; and so having heard the motion to 

continue and not finding good cause for continuing 

what's up today, your motion to continue is denied. 

So have a seat. I will address your motion , 

and you can take a look and review your motion in 

limine , and Shawn Mc Donald's response and the other 

motions that are up that you have copies of. 

MS. MC DONALD: I only have that one motion, a 

copy of that one motion , sir. 

THE COURT : Your own motion in limine? 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes . I have a copy of that, and 

I have Mr. Kinnally's response . 

have no other copies of anything . 

Other than that, I 

THE COURT: All right . Well, we'll see if you 

can have -- here's the other motions, copies of them, 

and we'll take -- we'll call the case again in about 

15 minutes to a half an hour. So you can review 

those , and if you have anything to say in response to 

those , I will allow it . Thank you . 

THE COURT : 

(The case was passed and later 

recalled, and the following 

further proceedings were had:) 

Okay. Let's meet again on the 
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Mc Donald Estate. 

Okay . So we're going to start hearing these 

motions that are pending. The motion for judicial 

notice filed on 8/23/19 , that's Shawn Mc Donald's 

motion. 

MR. KINNALLY : And I gave you everything you need 

to know about it. 

THE COURT: I lent it out to Miss Mc Donald. 

MS. MC DONALD: Oh. 

MR . KINNALLY : Okay. 

THE COURT: But go ahead . I have read it. 

MR . KINNALLY : It's a record from the State of 

New York; take judicial notice of a record from the 

State of New York. It's a record from the Criminal 

Court of the City of New York . 

clerk of the court . 

It's certified by the 

Under the case law that I provided you, you 

have the authority to take judicial notice of records 

from other states, and that's what I'm asking you to 

do. 

THE COURT: You're asking me, in advance of 

trial, that you will be asking that at trial? 

MR. KINNALLY : No. I want it to come into 

evidence now. 
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MS . MC DONALD: No. 

MR . KINNALLY : I have the original. I can bring 

it to court. That ' s a copy. 

THE COURT : So you're not really asserting this 

for the trial purposes, for me to take judicial 

notice at trial before I make -- or, as part of your 

case in chief. 

MR. KINNALLY : Well, my understanding is you can 

take judicial notice of a record of a state court , a 

sister court of the United States , at any time, 

either before trial or at trial. I wanted to alert 

the Court that I intend to do that with the original 

record that I have at my office, certified by the 

circuit clerk for the state trial court in New York 

City . 

THE COURT : Okay . And the evidentiary or the 

Illinois Rule of Evidence that's applicable to this, 

do you recall? 

MR . KINNALLY : 201. 

THE COURT : 201. Okay. 2 . 01? 

MR. KINNALLY : I think it's 2 -- yeah, I think it 

is , Judge. The Illinois Rule of Evidence 201. 

THE COURT: All right. Response , Miss Mc Donald? 

MS. MC DONALD: First of all, I don't think it 
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should be let in because they have exceeded the 

number of judicial notices that they have asked the 

Court to be apprised of. I think we're up to , 

something like close to 60 or 70 judicial notices 

that they've attempted to put before the Court. 

Second, this is not an accurate reflection 

of that case and what took place. It's not a full 

and accurate copy, and therefore it's misleading as 

17 

to the voracity of so I ask -- and also, this is a 

case that has already been adjudicated and in fact 

was dismissed on its merits . 

So I'm asking that it be not allowed. It 

has no bearing on my heirship or my being married to 

my husband. 

THE COURT: Reply? 

MR . KINNALLY : It's a certified record from the 

clerk of the court, Judge . Whether it's relevant or 

not is a different issue. The question is whether 

there ' s foundation for its admissibility. The rule 

provides for a foundation for its admissibility , and 

you have the right to take judicial notice of these 

records at any time during a proceeding ; Illinois 

Rule of Evidence 201. 

THE COURT : Any response to the 60 or 70 judicial 
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notices? 

MR . KINNALLY : That ' s just untrue. If you look 

at the record, probably 4 or 5, not 60 or 70. 

MS. MC DONALD: We have --

THE COURT: Just slow down. 

MS. MC DONALD: I'm sorry. I didn't mean to step 

on your words there. 

THE COURT : We do motion , response , and reply. 

MR. KINNALLY : And there's no -- we haven't filed 

60 notices. 

THE COURT : The question on this , is this the 

full, as far as you know, what was requested? 

MR . KINNALLY : That's the court record . It took 

me a year to get it. 

obtain it. 

I hired a lawyer in New York to 

THE COURT : So this is -- and it's disposed of? 

MR . KINNALLY : That's it . It's the entire record 

that was sent to me by the circuit clerk of the state 

court in New York where that proceeding took place. 

THE COURT : It is Rule 201, not 2.01. 

MR. KINNALLY : Right. 

THE COURT : Okay. 201 says that the rule governs 

only judicial notice of adjudicative facts. 

Time of taking judicial notice, 
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Subsection(f) -- Subparagraph (f): Judicial notice 

may be taken at any stage of the proceeding. In a 

civil action or proceeding , the court shall inform 

the jury to accept as conclusive any fact judicially 

noticed. 

19 

And in the commentary to 20l(a), there are 

also references to -- for statutory procedures for 

admitting court, municipal , corporate and land office 

records and patents for land , state patents, and 

state and land sales. See 735 ILCS 5/8- 1201 to 1211. 

Also, see specifically Section 8 - 1003 of the 

Code of Civil Procedure , which addresses both 

legislative facts and common law . Every court of 

this State shall take judicial notice of the common 

law and statutes of every state, territory, and other 

jurisdiction of the United States. 

Also, there are subparagraphs regarding when 

this when judicial notice is discretionary , and 

that is when the court may take judicial notice , even 

if not requested by a party; and when it's mandatory, 

the court shall take judicial notice if requested by 

a party and supplied with the necessary information. 

So I am going to take judicial notice of 

this document, subject to ruling at trial on whether 
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or not -- or , what adjudicative facts are attempted 

to be proven at trial , and subject to possibly other 

statutory procedures as I noted for admitting -- in 

the Code of Civil Procedure for admitting the court 

records of another state or the common law of another 

state, or statutes or other facts , so if those -- if 

there ' s other procedures necessary to further 

validate this. 

But I am taking judicial notice of the five ­

or six- page document that is represented to be the 

court record of the State of New York . 

MR . KINNALLY : Okay . Thank you, Judge . 

THE COURT : I don't know what adjudicative facts, 

other than that there is a document that purports to 

be the entire record of the case in New York . 

Miss McDonald still has the opportunity to 

bring other evidence or contrary evidence at trial, 

if there is other evidence or contrary evidence on 

that particular matter at trial , as part of her own 

case in chief ; but I assume that you will attempt -­

that the -- Shawn Mc Donald will attempt to present 

that document , and then again reconfirm that the 

judge or the court at the bench trial has taken 

judicial notice of that document. 
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And as to any other adjudicative facts 

contained in that document , I think we ' ll still have 

the -- all the rules of evidence will apply as to 

whether something is relevant , which we haven ' t 

determined yet on relevance , whether this is relevant 

to the validity of the marriage, or something like 

that . That's all still to be determined at trial ; 

but pursuant to the Rule 201 , I ' m taking judicial 

notice , as I think it says it ' s mandatory and can be 

done at any time. 

MR . KINNALLY : Okay . 

THE COURT : All right. Next motion. 

MR . KINNALLY : Representation agreement. 

THE COURT : Representation agreement . 

MR . KINNALLY : So this is a motion that we filed 

over a month ago , and the -- you had entered a 

previous order, which is attached to the motion as 

Exhibit A. 

THE COURT : As to investigation 

MR . KINNALLY : Yes . 

THE COURT : of the case? 

MR. KINNALLY : That , we did , and Sean 

Mc Donald signed a representation agreement on the 

30th of July. We ' ve done some initial investigation 

R 215 

A-262 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

22 

with respect to two areas . One was the emergency 

room physician , which is , I believe , dispositive . 

still don't have an expert on that . As to the 

We 

psychiatrist expert , we don ' t have a report. 

believe that we can get one pretty quickly. 

I 

So the statute is running . There ' s no 

reason not to at least follow up on this , investigate 

it further , file a lawsuit , and it's going to benefit 

the estate ; so we ask you to approve that. 

THE COURT : Was there a response filed to your 

motion? 

MR . KINNALLY : No . In fact when I talked with 

Mr. Lutrey before he withdraw for the second time , he 

told me he had no objection to it. 

THE COURT : And when did the statute of 

limitations begin? 

MR . KINNALLY : Date of death , so it's December . 

MS . GOSSELIN : December 11 , 2019 . 

MS . MC DONALD : December 11th , but they don ' t 

have standing because that ' s not been determined . 

THE COURT : We ' re not to your response yet , so 

just a second. December 11th 

MR . KINNALLY : 

MS . GOSSELIN : 

This year . 

2019. 
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THE COURT : 2018, he died? 

MS . MC DONALD: 2017. 

THE COURT: So if it's a two-year statute of 

limitations , 12/11/19; right? 

MR. KINNALLY : Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Okay. You may respond. 

MS. MC DONALD: At the time , we didn't object 

when Mr. Kinnally first brought this before the 

Court, with the understanding that the subjects of 

their investigation would not be other parties; and 

that was agreed upon . 

23 

In addition to that we felt the issue is , is 

that Shawn, it has not been determined that he has 

legal standing because, again, this plays to the case 

where Shawn filed for letters of office, not 

following appropriate procedure, and therefore it's 

not clear that he should be the administrator of the 

estate, and therefore he wouldn't be in a position to 

have standing to be acting on behalf of my husband to 

pursue or move against any other parties. 

So before that can be done, we need to 

adjudicate this case in terms of heirship and who 

would be appointed to be the administrator. And 

again, I apologize that I don't have the legal --
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it's just it ' s putting the cart before the horse , 

saying that it's assuming that Norman has the right 

to just take over. 

THE COURT : You mean Shawn? 

MS . MC DONALD : Shawn. Shawn. I beg your 

pardon , sir. Sorry. 

MR . KINNALLY : May we reply , Judge? 

THE COURT : If she ' s done , you may. 

MR . KINNALLY : My client is the administrator . 

There has been no petition to remove him as the 

administrator . He has been acting as the 

administrator in a supervised capacity. 

We filed accountings with the Court after 

they asked for supervised administration. You 

approved that accounting almost a year ago in April, 

and so he clearly has standing to bring this . 

24 

There's no reason not to pursue it, and for them to 

come in and say that we don't have standing is not 

true , because they have never petitioned to remove 

him , and until they do , he ' s the administrator of the 

estate . 

He settled claims with respect to a car , 

that you authorized , and he has also filed the 

accounting that we requested that he do that . So 
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he's clearly got standing , and we want to move 

forward with representing the administrator to 

initiate a legal action against the hospital where 

the decedent was refused admission , was not admitted , 

in Paris , Illinois. Thank you. 

MS . MC DONALD: I have a question. 

THE COURT : So and the request to serve as 

attorneys is the same firm that you are serving as 

the attorneys for the administrator? 

MR . KINNALLY : Yes. Flaherty is one . He does a 

lot of medical negligence cases. 

do it. 

He's qualified to 

THE COURT : It hasn ' t been raised , but is there 

any conflict at this point , or potential conflict? 

MR . KINNALLY : I don't know of any conflicts , 

since I represent the administrator . I don't see any 

conflict whatsoever. 

decedent's estate . 

He's the administrator of the 

THE COURT : Shawn is? 

MR . KINNALLY : Yes , sir . 

MS . MC DONALD: No , he is not. 

THE COURT : Well --

MS . MC DONALD: And just because you say it ' s so , 

doesn ' t make it so. He obtained those letters 
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fraudulently . You ' re mindful of this, sir . 

MR . KINNALLY : Could you have her address you as 

opposed to addressing me? 

THE COURT : Yes. You will do that. 

MR . KINNALLY : Thank you . 

MS . MC DONALD: Okay. 

THE COURT : So from my experience with the file 

and my reviewing the file numerous times in the last 

two years , Shawn is still the administrator, and I 

don't think that there's any petition to revoke 

that --

MS . MC DONALD: There was. 

THE COURT : administrator. 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes, there is. 

26 

THE COURT : And so as -- in view of the time 

constraints here , I think that Shawn has to -- has an 

obligation to the estate to hire an attorney to 

finish the investigation and possibly file a 

complaint , and the attorneys , my only hesitation 

would be that it ' s the same attorney firm ; but if 

there is -- if there are conflicts or if they do 

arise for some reason , the firm is subject to the 

ethical rules of Illinois, professional conduct 

rules, and would be required to withdraw. 
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So at this point , I don ' t see any problems 

if a single or solo attorney was doing the estate for 

the administrator and the -- that solo attorney also 

needed to review , investigate , and possibly file a 

medical malpractice case within that two-year statute 

of limitations. There are things that need to be 

done quickly , such as get an expert on the standard 

of care that might be applicable to the case , so that 

is granted. 

Okay . Ellizzette's motion in limine. 

MS . MC DONALD : Can I ask a question about that 

other motion we just discussed? 

THE COURT : Go ahead. 

MS . MC DONALD: Am I able to respond to that in 

writing , your ruling, because there's a few things 

that --

THE COURT : You can make -- you can bring another 

motion if you want , a motion to reconsider . Those 

are sometimes entertained here , so -- but that ' s the 

ruling for now and they have to start their 

representation , because they ' re up against the clock. 

MS. MC DONALD : So am I , right? I ' m up against 

the same clock , your Honor. 

THE COURT : All right. Well --
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MS . MC DONALD : Am I wrong ? 

THE COURT : You ' re the spouse . You might have an 

action . I don't know. The estate is saying that the 

estate has an action. You ' re the purported spouse , I 

should say. 

MS . MC DONALD : I am the spouse. 

THE COURT : That ' s subject to whatever case we're 

having a bench trial on on November 18th ; right? You 

understand that, or you're mindful of that? 

MS . MC DONALD: I'm mindful of their allegation , 

yes , sir . 

THE COURT : All right. Next is the motion in 

limine . That ' s for either argument or ruling or 

both . As far as 

for some reason , 

unless you want to say anything, 

supplementing this, I have read the 

motion and the response and I could rule on this . 

You want to say anything further? 

MS . MC DONALD : My con -- well , in regard to 

their legal expert , my -- I don ' t know how they can 

bring in a legal expert , because wouldn ' t that be 

usurping the authority of yourself , I mean , so I 

would think that would be something to be dealt with 

at the appellate level . So in regard to their 

expert , I don ' t think that that should be allowed and 
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that he should be eliminated. 

In regard to the judge, it's almost as 

though they ' re trying to relitigate a case that was 

also -- my husband did not receive due process. He 

was found -- this whole thing was dealt with without 

his presence. He was given inaccurate information. 

It was filed as an act of revenge. My understanding 

is that a court is supposed to eliminate wrongdoing 

and prevent further harm. 

29 

This entire guardianship case was taken out 

of an act of revenge and animus because he was -­

because the brother was aware that my husband was 

starting to speak to authorities, as well as his own 

doctors, about the abuses and things he had sustained 

growing up, and also because of the money that was 

owed to him on numerous occasions. 

I have a question, too . When we were 

downstairs before the honorable judge, on numerous 

occasions opposing counsel made definitive false and 

misleading statements about my husband , claiming that 

he had lost his medical license, that he was not 

allowed to work, none of which were true. My husband 

was working. He had never lost his license to 

practice medicine. 
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He was capable and continued to function in 

that high-level capacity, but yet repetitively, to 

use his words, he was humiliated and degraded and he 

was not given the opportunity, and he was looking 

forward to the day that he could tell his story. 

That's all I have to say, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Kinnally? 

MR. KINNALLY : Yeah, Judge. I think we've laid 

this out pretty well in the response we filed. The 

issue here is whether or not the decedent had 

sufficient mental capacity to enter into a contract, 

30 

not whether he had the capacity to -- did he have the 

mental capacity, based on the record evidence; and 

whether or not it's the ultimate issue in the case is 

not a basis for an objection. It's clear under the 

rule that experts can offer their opinions on the 

ultimate issue in the case. 

In this particular case, the basis for 

Mr. Parsons to appear, the belief that the decedent 

lacked mental capacity was based on the records , and 

I'm going to offer that as an opinion. He's entitled 

to give that opinion. 

which he is , and --

He's qualified as an expert, 

MS. MC DONALD: He's not qualified as a 
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medical 

MR . KINNALLY : 

the Judge. 

Please don't talk to me . Talk to 

The issue in this case is going to be 

whether under the Probate Act there has to be a 

hearing conducted by your Honor, or a circuit judge , 

to determine whether a person lacking mental capacity 

in his entirety has the ability to enter into a 

contract -- in this case a marriage -- and the 

statute clearly says that hearing has to be conducted 

prior to that event happening . 

You know from the Karbin case from the 

Illinois Supreme Court , which was codified into that 

statute , this is required because the court then must 

make a determination as to whether it's in the best 

interests of the ward to be married ; and if the court 

finds the best- interests standard to have been met , 

it issues an order to the county clerk in where that 

marriage supposedly takes place and authorizes the 

county clerk to issue a license to marry . If that 

doesn ' t happen , then there is no valid marriage. 

That ' s what the Probate Act is. You may not 

like it ; Miss McDonald may not like it. That ' s what 

the law is. 
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And in this particular case, Mr. -- or , 

Attorney Parsons is going to testify with respect to 

the capacity of the decedent , based on the records 

that were before the Court , Judge Noverini , which 

included medical reports , included the order entered 

by Judge Noverini, and also other reports from the 

guardian ad litem. In addition, I believe he will 

testify with respect to a different provision of the 

Probate Act that says a ward cannot enter into a 

contract, and if he does , the contract is void. 

So those two bases have been disclosed , as 

required under Supreme Court Rule 213, and they are 

not objectionable because they go to the ultimate 

32 

issue. And we cited to you, and I believe gave you a 

copy of , Illinois Evidence by Cleary on this 

particular topic , and that is Pages 823 and 

subsequent . If you don't have it , I would be happy 

to leave you a copy. 

court today. 

I made a copy before I came to 

So we believe that the opinion is valuable 

because it aids the court in this case who ' s sitting , 

much like a jury -- there is no jury in reaching 

the decision in this particular matter, and that ' s 

the test. If the opinion is one that helps the court 
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make a decision , then it's admissible . 

my argument . Thank you . 

And that is 

THE COURT : If it ' s otherwise admissible . 

MR. KINNALLY : Right. 

THE COURT : It ' s not objectionable. 

MR . KINNALLY : Right. 

THE COURT : Um , all right. 

MR . KINNALLY : And you have our response , right , 

Judge? 

THE COURT : I do . 

MR . KINNALLY : Okay . Thank you . 

THE COURT : Yes . In fact , its attachments , but 

it does not have the 704 Cleary section . 

MR . KINNALLY : Well, you got it now. 

33 

THE COURT : I have it now. It has a lot of other 

attachments . 

MR . KINNALLY : Right. 

THE COURT : As to Attorney Parsons being a 

purported expert on probate matters , I am not sure , 

from even reading the motion and the response , what 

the ultimate issue is going to be in this case , and I 

don ' t really need a statutory interpretation from 

Mr. Parsons. However , he may have some expertise on 

something else that is relevant in this case , so I ' m 
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not going to totally bar him , but I will take his -­

take the motion and the response and Rule 704 with 

the case. 

MR. KINNALLY : Okay. 

34 

THE COURT: And we will treat that as an 

evidentiary matter that may still be objectionable 

for other objectionable reasons, or other 

non-admissibility reasons or non-relevance, or 

whatever, and on the 704 non- applicability, possibly. 

So I'm going to take that with the case . 

As to Judge Noverini, there was no response 

to that, so I assumed that there is -- that that's 

not going forward, as far as subpoenaing Judge 

Noverini to testify. 

MR . KINNALLY : Well, I already subpoenaed him, 

but I'm not going to call him . 

THE COURT : All right . Well, I think there has 

to be some other hearing. 

MR . KINNALLY : There does. There does . I talked 

to the chief judge about it and I told her I wasn ' t 

going to call him. 

THE COURT : Well, I think the chief judge sent a 

letter to all parties 

MR. KINNALLY : She did. 
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THE COURT : 

MR . KINNALLY : 

in that regard. 

Yeah . 

THE COURT: So Noverini, I don't have to rule on 

this, to bar the calling of him, because counsel has 

withdrawn that request to ask for Judge Noverini's 

testimony. It's a file in the court. I think we 

35 

previously have taken judicial notice of the file , or 

it's consolidated with this case. 

MR. KINNALLY: Consolidated now, Judge. 

THE COURT: Part of this case. 

MS . MC DONALD: Well --

THE COURT: And we'll hear all your evidence in 

opposition to whatever facts are trying to be 

presented by virtue of saying, here's the 

guardianship, here's what happened, here's what the 

findings were . If you want to bring in other 

evidence, you certainly may be entitled to that. 

And as far as Robert(Bud)See, nobody said 

anything about (Bud)See , Robert(Bud)See, another 

witness , but I agree with the response of Shawn that 

it's not him that prevented (Bud)See from testifying 

at a deposition ; so they're still entitled to 

subpoena him to testify at trial. 

And if he follows what his usual procedure 
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is , has been , he may ignore that subpoena as well . 

don't know , but it ' s not -- shouldn ' t penalize Shawn 

from bringing a witness that he wants to bring 

MS. MC DONALD : He --

THE COURT : or subpoenaing a witness that he 

wants to have testify. 

36 

I 

MS . MC DONALD: Mr. See has stated that he's been 

bullied by Shawn and that he's in fear. 

THE COURT: Well, that's not part of this. 

MS . MC DONALD: Okay. 

THE COURT : That's his own motion if he wants to 

do something like that . 

MS . MC DONALD: Okay. 

THE COURT : But as far as the motion in limine 

that uses that as the basis that Robert(Bud)See never 

showed up for his deposition or refused to, that 

is -- there's nothing in here that says that Shawn 

caused that . 

MS . MC DONALD : Correct . I concur . 

THE COURT : All right . So that takes care of our 

motions this morning. Do we want to --

MR. KINNALLY : No , no , no. I have a motion in 

limine . 

THE COURT : Oh , you do? 
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MR . KINNALLY : I do . 

THE COURT : All right . 

MR . KINNALLY : Which I filed on the 16th , which 

you should have a copy of. 

THE COURT : Hold on. Let me locate that . I 

don't know if I 

know if I read it. 

unless you have a copy. I don't 

MR . KINNALLY : I don't know if you read it or 

not. I filed it on the 16th. I know I gave you a 

courtesy copy . I don't know if you received it. 

THE COURT : Okay. So before we argue it , it's 

37 

asking that the Court bar Lisa Blades , aka , 

Ellizzette Mc Donald , from testifying or presenting 

any evidence to any marital relationship , if any, she 

had with the decedent . 

MS . MC DONALD : What? 

THE COURT : You've seen that? 

MS . MC DONALD : No . 

THE COURT : Okay . Do you want to respond to it? 

I mean , you haven ' t seen it at all ; right? 

MS . MC DONALD: No. 

MR. KINNALLY : Well , we sent it to her address. 

Actually , we sent it to two addresses . We sent it to 

Lakewood Drive , in Paris , Illinois , and we also sent 
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it to an address in Walnut , California , which is the 

address she put down on the appearance that she filed 

today. 

MS . MC DONALD : Right. 

MR . KINNALLY : We also sent it to an e-mail 

address that was listed previously with respect to 

ellizzette@neorestoration . org. 

MS . MC DONALD: That's correct. 

MR . KINNALLY : And it said , " postmaster confirm", 

that our message had been delivered to the following 

recipients, so I don ' t know why she didn't get it , 

but . . . 

THE COURT : Is it noticed up for this morning? 

MR . KINNALLY : It is. 

THE COURT : Okay . Do you want to respond or look 

at it first , or respond in writing? 

MS . MC DONALD : Yeah. First of all , my name is 

Ellizzette Duvall Mc Donald . We have been through 

this ad nauseam . Lisa is a short version from 

Ellizzette , similar to Elizabeth . 

My name is Ellizzette. 

Lisa , Beth , Liza . 

THE COURT : So you know what he ' s asking for or 

why? 

MS . MC DONALD: He ' s trying to bar me from 
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testifying about my marriage to my husband now? It ' s 

ridiculous . 30 years I was with that man . 

THE COURT : Are you ready to argue the motion 

this morning? 

MS . MC DONALD : No , I ' m not. No , I ' m not , your 

Honor. 

THE COURT : All right. How much -- you're asking 

for what , because I can't go very far out to get 

this to get ready for trial . Obviously it ' s a 

substantial motion , so you should be looking at it 

and responding to it ; and you say you haven't read it 

yet? 

MS . MC DONALD: How much time do I have? 

And I would like to also let you know that 

the 9 Lakewood Drive address , we've repeatedly told 

him it's not a good address for me . My drop box in 

California , the things go there and then it gets sent 

to me . 

THE COURT : Well , you put that on your 

appearance ; right? Walnut Creek , California . 

MS . MC DONALD: Walnut , Illinois -- Walnut 

California , yes , and that was a good address ; and I 

have not received the forwarding yet for that. I get 

notified when there's so much mail , and then they 
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forward it to me , designated where I would like it to 

go to. 

So I haven't seen the mail for this week , if 

it would have been coming in this week. I apologize. 

THE COURT: Is that motion -- is there a lot of 

attachments to that? 

MR. KINNALLY : The only attachments are ones that 

are already in the court record, other than the 

purported marriage license , prior court order 

indicating John Mc Donald, III, is totally without 

capacity, and the case law that I cited -- copies of 

the case law that I cited . 

THE COURT: All right. 

here this week? 

Well, how long are you 

MS . MC DONALD: I was supposed to be here till 

Wednesday. Not here . I'm leaving here today to go 

into the City, and then tomorrow morning I'm going 

downstate and then I'm going to Canada , actually , 

because then it ' s -- this is the last week of my 

term . For this particular term I have exams . 

THE COURT: So when can you come back before 

November 18th to argue this motion? 

MS. MC DONALD: The first week in November. If 

you would like to set it for Friday or Thursday? 
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THE COURT : Friday , November 8th? 

MS . MC DONALD : I would do that if that --

MR. KINNALLY : I ' m out of the office from the 7th 

to the 14th , Judge. 

MS. GOSSELIN : And I'm the lawyer in the lobby. 

MR. KINNALLY : So I can do it the 6th or the 5th. 

THE COURT : 6th or the 5th? 

MS. MC DONALD: I have exams. 7th? 

THE COURT: The 15th? The 1st? 

MS . MC DONALD: The 15th , I can do. I'm not 

I'm completely open. That week, I'm -- the 15th, 

I'm .. . 

MR . KINNALLY : You want to do it on the 15th? 

THE COURT: I don't know . As soon as we can , 

prior to that November 18th . 

MR . KINNALLY : I can do it the 1st. 

MS . MC DONALD: I can't do the 1st . 

MR . KINNALLY : I can do the 5th. I can do the 

6th . 

MS . MC DONALD: I have exams through -- 1 through 

the 7th. 

MR. KINNALLY : I can do the 31st , Halloween. 

MS. MC DONALD: So we ' re looking at , if he's out 

of the office until -- did he say the 8th until 
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THE COURT : Till the 14th. 

MS. MC DONALD: Can we do it the 15th in the 

morning? 

MR. KINNALLY : It's three days before the trial, 

Judge. 

THE COURT: I know. Let's go off the record and 

get this scheduling done. 

(A discussion was had off the 

record between the Court and 

parties, after which time the 

proceedings resumed back on the 

record as follows : ) 

THE COURT: Let's go back on the record. 

MS . MC DONALD: I've been here when you required 

me to be here, your Honor . 

THE COURT : All right, but now we're on the eve 

of trial and you're not able to be here 

42 

MS . MC DONALD: 

THE COURT : 

I'm able to be here on the trial. 

until the 15th. 

MS. MC DONALD: No. I said I could be here on 

the 8th , the 9th , the 10th , the 11th, the 12th, the 

13th. All of those days. 

THE COURT: You did? 
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MS . MC DONALD : Yes . Yes , sir. 

THE COURT : Well , let ' s do it the 8th , then . 

MR . KINNALLY : I ' m out of town , Judge. 

THE COURT : I ' m sorry. That ' s right. 

MR . KINNALLY : 

MS . MC DONALD : 

I'm out of town from the 7th -­

That's what I --

THE COURT : Hold on. 

MR . KINNALLY : Can I finish so I can inform the 

Judge? I should be back on the 13th , in the office 

on the 13th , I believe , which is five days prior to 

the commencement of the trial . 

THE COURT : Can you do it on the 13th? 

MS . MC DONALD : Yes, sir . 

THE COURT : All right. Let's do the 13th. That 

gives us a couple of extra days . If you want to make 

a written response to this motion , you have seven 

days to do so, and that would be by October 30th ; and 

then I will -- I may rule before the 13th if you send 

me a written response . Then you would at least know. 

MR . KINNALLY : But for now , I ' ll put down 11 / 13 . 

What time , Judge ? 

THE COURT : At 10 : 30. 

MR . KINNALLY : 10 : 30 on the 13th? 

THE COURT : Correct. 

R 237 

A-284 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

MR . KINNALLY : Okay . Do you know if you have a 

copy of mine? If you don't, I can get you another 

one. 

THE COURT : Yes, I do. 

MR. KINNALLY : You do? 

THE COURT: All right. 

Okay , great. 

And so then --

MR. KINNALLY : And I have the case law here if 

you want it. 
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THE COURT: Sure. And you can file a response to 

that if you wish , in writing. 

you on the 13th. 

Otherwise, we'll see 

MS . MC DONALD: File a response . Can I ask a 

question? 

THE COURT: Are you asking something on the 

record? 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes, sir . 

THE COURT : What is it? 

MS . MC DONALD: Quite honestly , I just didn't 

remember for a minute. Um , oh. I just -- I 

didn't -- if you could explain to me what you were 

going to say about I'm an absentee litigant, because 

I have been here when I ' m required to be. 

THE COURT: Well, we've had difficulty getting 

everybody here all at the same time, and attorneys 
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withdrawing or attorneys being here and then giving 

you notice , and we ' re -- I ' m having difficulty now 

getting a hearing scheduled . 

It ' s your challenge to the case on the 

validity of the marriage , et cetera; so it ' s your 

litigation and you have to be here for it . 

MS . MC DONALD : Right. 

THE COURT : We have a trial scheduled. It's a 

firm trial date and it's going to go because there ' s 

witnesses ; so I was asking whether you were going to 

be involved in preparing your side of the trial , 

because you had numerous travels and exams in the 

next two or three weeks , and the trial is only 30 

days away. 

45 

So I was asking whether it's realistic that 

we have a November 18th trial date, and you said yes , 

you want to get it done . 

MS . MC DONALD : I didn't pick this fight , your 

Honor , so I guess I'm misunderstanding . I did not 

pick this fight . They picked the fight , starting 

with my husband . 

THE COURT : But you want to litigate it , right? 

That ' s where it ' s at. 

they ' re saying. 

You want to challenge whatever 
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MS . MC DONALD : I just don ' t want to be seen as 

contentious . I ' m not trying to be difficult . I want 

justice for my husband . 

THE COURT : All right. So that ' s -- I think I ' ve 

answered the question. 

MS . MC DONALD : Okay. Yes, sir. 

THE COURT : If you have any other questions , put 

them in the form of a motion. 

try . 

MS . MC DONALD: Thank you. 

THE COURT : Or we'll answer them on the 13th , or 

So that concludes the hearing for today. 

MS . MC DONALD : Yes, sir . 

THE COURT : Okay. Thank you. 

MS . MC DONALD: Thank you. 

MR . KINNALLY : I'll prepare an order . 

THE COURT : Thanks . 

(Which were all the proceedings had 

at the hearing in the above cause , 

this date . ) 

R 240 

A-287 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) 

COUNTY OF KANE ) 
SS: 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I reported in 

shorthand the proceedings had at the hearing in the 

above-entitled cause , and that the foregoing Report 

of Proceedings , consisting of Pages 1 to 46 

inclusive , is a true , correct , and complete 

47 

transcript of my shorthand notes so taken at the time 

and place hereinbefore set forth . 

Official Court Reporter 
Sixteenth Judicial Circuit of Illinois 

Kane County . 
Lie . No . 084 - 001837 
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IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/20 19 

THE COURT : Estate of John 

MR . KI NNALLY : Hi , Judge . 

THE COURT : Good morning . 

MR . KI NNALLY : How are you? 

Mc 

THE COURT : Do i ng wel l , t hank 

Donald, III . 

you. 

MR . KI NNALLY: This is Patrick Kinnal ly and 

Gabriell e Gosselin for the Admi nis t rator , Shawn 

Mc Donald. This comes on for trial today, Judge . 

THE COURT : And that ' s a bench t r ial for the 

pet i tion of Ellizzet t e Mc Donald, I believe, is one 

o f t h e also-known-as names , and it ' s her p etition t o 

be appoint e d as Administrat or ; correct ? 

MR. KINNALLY : Wel l, she abandoned t hat, 

Judge , l ast t ime we were here on Thursday . Here ' s 

t he t ranscript . 

THE COURT : Okay . 

MR . KI NNALLY: She said -- if I coul d f i l e 

that with the Court , she said she didn ' t want to be 

t he Admin ist r a t o r and she sa i d a lot of things . 

THE COURT : Sh e wanted t o be able t o 

designate who would be t he Administrat o r as a 

p r e f e r e nce , i s the way I trans l ated what she sai d . 

MR . KI NNALLY: Okay . Well --

THE BAILIFF : Your Honor , Ms . Mc Donald is 
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IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/2019 

here . She just isn ' t up in the court r oom yet . 

THE COURT: All r ight . We ' ll pass it, then, 

for a moment . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Okay . 

(Recess taken .) 

THE COURT: Okay . Re - call ing John Mc Donald 

estate . 

MR. KINNALLY: Good morning, Judge. Patrick 

Kinnally and Gabrielle Gosselin for Shawn Mc Donald, 

who is present in court . 

THE COURT : Okay. All righ t. We were just 

start ing t o talk abou t 10 minutes ago about what is 

happening t h i s morning. And now Ms. Mc Donald is 

here? 

MS. MC DONALD: Yes, sir . 

THE COURT : Ellizzette Mc Donald? 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes , sir . 

THE COURT : Al l r i g h t . Are you here ready 

for trial ? 

MS. MC DONALD: No , sir . 

THE COURT : Okay . That ' s wha t it's up for 

today. What is your p l an? 

MS . MC DONALD : We fi led a motion for 

continuance due to the fact that y e sterday my father 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 
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IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/20 19 

was given end of life , and h e ' s in Arizona 

hospitalize d, and I need to go there . My mother was 

also s upposed to be one of the key wi tnesses in this 

case , s i nce bot h my parents were around my husband 

for the l ast year of h i s li fe , and s h e ' s a l so 

under goi ng cancer t r eatment and is -- for h e r to 

come here and test ify at t hi s t i me wou ld be a b i t, 

wel l , arrogant of me , obviously , t o ask her t o l eave 

my father ' s bedside . We removed life-sustainin g 

suppor t of my --

THE COURT: Ho l d on. Did y ou send -- when 

did y ou fil e this mot ion? 

MS. MC DONALD: We filed it yes t erday e v ening 

a f ter I spok e to my fat he r ' s doctor when I cal led . 

THE COURT : Did you send i t to counsel , t o 

the o t h er side? 

MS . MC DONALD: It was done e l ectronically 

where Mr. Kinnally ' s name is on the l ist. 

THE COURT : All r ight . And do you have a 

copy of t he mot ion? 

MS . MC DONALD: I don ' t , Your Honor , because 

I jus t got rig h t away to get here thi s mo r n i ng . 

I ' ve come from out of state as we l l . We have al l 

come from out of state . 
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THE COURT : Al l r i g h t. Well, I received a 

call Friday from one of the deputy c l erks i n t h e 

clerk ' s office that you had called t h em , and s h e 

relayed your message to me . 

MS. MC DONALD : We were t r ying to f i nd out 

what we needed to do . Tha t was t h e first time 

Dr . Gonzal ez called me and said my dad was going to 

be put on end of life and t hat my mother had made 

the decision to -- not to not with hol d treatment but 

to not take l ife- sus t a ini ng measures . And I said, 

what do I do? In the case of my father exp iring , 

wha t s hou l d I do? Because t he clerk was off that 

day, Fri day , and so we spoke to Vladimir . 

THE COURT : The c l erk was o f f? 

MS. MC DONALD: I asked if you had a clerk; 

and he sai d , no , that Paul was off on Fr i day ; and 

his answering machi ne even said he was going to be 

h e re on Monday. So Vl adimir said thi s is an unusual 

circumstance , because asking for a hearing -- h e 

said we can schedule a heari ng in December but the 

date will have a lready passe d or t he t rial will have 

already s upposed to have commenced today, so he was 

trying aggr ess ively , he t ried very concert i vely t o 

try to hel p me . 
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And I said, what do I do i n t h e 

case of my dad ' s death ? I said -- as you can 

imagine , I just got off the phone with my fath er ' s 

doctor and I and I sai d these deci sions are being 

made without me bei ng present , because I had asked 

my mother not to make t hese deci sions unti l I got 

back to Arizona . But , unf ortunately, I t h i n k in 

her --

THE COURT : So did you a lso t alk t o a Jill at 

the clerk ' s office? 

MS. MC DONALD: No , sir , I just spoke to 

Vladimir. I r e membe r his name b ecause he 

transferred me to Paul , because I got a message 

machine saying he would be in on Monday . 

So I cal led back and I got t o 

Vladimir aga i n ; and he said, you weren ' t able to 

speak to Pau l ? And I sai d , no , and I was o n hold . 

And he came back and said, okay, I ' l l g o ahead and 

give you a December 3 r d hearing date at 9 : 00 a . m., 

he said . And he was concerned about what was the 

word he used -- because I said , what ' s tha t ? I 

forget . 

Because I a l so had my ass i s t an t 

call and for her t o be checki ng, so it was l i ke she 
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was on t he phone and I was on t he phone , because we 

we re trying to find out what the procedures were 

under t hese exigent circumstances . 

THE COURT : Your assistant was call i ng the 

clerk ' s office? 

MS . MC DONALD : My assistant . 

THE COURT : Who is your assistant ? 

MS. MC DONALD : Rachel . 

THE COURT : All r ight . Well --

MS . MC DONALD : I said , could you jus t help 

me out? 

THE COURT: For the r e cord, I got a call from 

t he clerk ' s office that said that you had called 

them and that you would not be here this morning 

bec ause your father had died . 

MS . MC DONALD : No , I said I would be -- when 

I spoke to Vl adimir -- in fact , he can contest t hat 

I said , look , I wi l l come. And he said , at t his 

point -- I hate to say it , Ms . Mc Donald , b u t at 

t h is poin t , yes , t hat ' s really t he only op tion you 

have , is t o come and speak to the Judge . So I said , 

I ' ll come , but I sai d , I ' l l j ust do what I have to 

do , that I had a l ready spoke to you b efore and let 

you know that these are diffi cu l t t imes --
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THE COURT : Ho l d on . Can the clerk pri nt out 

somethi ng? If i t was accepted for filing , i t should 

be on t here . 

(Document printed . ) 

MS . MC DONALD : Sor ry . Because 

Mr . Vladimi r --

THE COURT : Hol d on. 

MS. MC DONALD : As I stand here , when we were 

coming in , my mother has been a ggressively trying t o 

reach me but I ' m choosing not to t ake t he call r ight 

now. And God forb i d , because I ' m here and she ' s 

t here, some t hing has happened , there ' s not 

THE COURT : Okay . I have the motion . 

So you ' re aski ng not onl y for a 

continuance of today ' s date but you're aski ng for 

l eave to have your a ttorneys come back into the 

case? 

MS. MC DONALD : Ye s , sir. I ' ve cured my 

i ndebtedness to them and the r e would be -- that 

would give them the time t o prep are to put together 

t he exhibi t l ist and proceed with sub poe nas for 

witnesses . They wi thdrew exactl y 60 days f r om t he 

date o f tria l , and , unfortunately , it was at t hat 

point t hat we shoul d have submi t ted those thi ngs t o 
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Mr . Kinnally ' s offi ce . 

THE COURT: Th ings? Wh at things? 

MS . MC DONALD: Exhibi t s and witness lists . 

Aga in , to make it equitable . 

THE COURT : Okay . Response , Mr . Kinna lly? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Wel l , first of all , this was 

scheduled f or next week , December 3rd, so i t ' s not 

scheduled for t oday . As a matter of procedure , we 

nor mally wou l d no t ice it up fo r today . 

Second thing is, as the transcript 

shows , whi ch I filed with you this morning from last 

Thursday , Ms . Mc Donald indicated that she would b e 

here t oday ready to proceed after you asked her 

twi ce . I ' ve outlined t ha t toward t he end of t he 

transcript , Judge . I can show you where i t is . 

And she indicated t h a t s he didn ' t 

want t o waste t ime , t hat s h e was abandoning her 

claim of the Administrator , and the r ecord indicates 

t hat . 

More imp ortant ly, Sup reme Court 

Rule 231 says t hat if you wan t a continuance on the 

day of t rial o r close to it , then you shoul d tell 

the Court what the witnesses are going to say so the 

Court can de t ermi ne whether or not t here is good 
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cause wi t h respect t o t heir absence . 

So , in this case , she i dent i fi e s 

var i ous witnesses , does not indicat e wha t they ' re 

going to say , does not indicate that they have any 

testi mo n y that rela t es to heirship , and , t herefore , 

they ' r e not material . And since they ' r e not 

materia l , Supreme Court Rule 231 says that you 

s hould not grant a motion for con t inuance o n the day 

set fo r hearing . 

I want to remind the Court, this 

isn ' t the first time this has happened . We were 

read y for t r i al l ast , I belie ve , October or 

November. At t hat time , Ms . Mc Donald was 

represent ed by lawye r s who have been in and out o f 

t h is case t wi c e, and t hey are the ones who , at t he 

time t hat case was called for t rial , said they were 

not r eady t o go and abandoned their request at that 

time . 

So I ' ve been on t h is f i le s i nce 

January o f ' 18 . I ' ve taken 1 4 depositions to date . 

I have engaged i n tremendous discovery for my 

client . Most o f it was taking depos i tions of t heir 

witnesses , none of whom a r e going to -- none of whom 

are in the court r oom today other than Mr. Bement . 
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And since the proponent, Ms . Mc Donal d , i s no t going 

to t e stify in t his case, based on your order of l ast 

week , I don ' t see any reason why we shou l dn ' t go 

ahead, J udge . Thank you . 

THE COURT : Anything fur t her , Ms . Mc Donald? 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes . Any o f the 

represen t ations t h a t Mr . Ki nnally just made are 

ac t ually i naccurate , wi t h all due respect , You r 

Honor . I had no knowledge of how t o proceed in this 

situat ion ; t herefore, I followed t he directive t o 

the best I coul d of Vl adi mir , and he did indicat e 

t hat t h is was a si t ua t ion t hat I woul d nee d t o come 

here . As I said to you on Wednesday, I did, in 

fact , i n d i cat e on Wednesday that I was not prepared 

for t rial . 

THE COURT : You mean Thur sday, November 1 3 t h? 

MS . MC DONALD : Okay . I apol ogize . 

Thursday. Thursday, Nove mbe r 13th . I indi cate d 

t hat I was not p r epared for t r ial but that I woul d , 

i n fac t, not disresp ect the Court and that I would 

be here , you know , make every at t empt t o be here , 

that I ' m no t j ust no t going to show up. 

That bei ng said, I did indicate 

that I wasn 't p repared and that I had on l y just been 
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in touch with my counsel t o re-enter . 

Also, my witness lis t was submit t ed 

60 days prior to t rial , and wi t h some part i cu l arity 

the witness l ist does indicate what the witnesses 

wil l be t estifying to . They a re mate rial to t h e 

case because , again , these were peopl e that wer e 

around my husband i n the days and weeks l eading up 

to his dea t h. They have intimate knowledge of his 

l i fe , i n addition to that , and this he irship . My 

attorneys on l y withdr ew from the case one other time 

when it was when I was in a simil ar s i tuation , if 

y ou r ecal l , when my father -- when this downward 

s piral started when my father fell and s u s tained his 

t r aumat i c brain injur y in April . 

And with no d i s r espect , I mean , I ' m 

mindful t h a t t here ' s case l aw about the procedures 

and these sorts o f things , but this i s not my area 

o f expert i se and this is out of my depth to be able 

to know what the r ules of the Court are i n regard to 

a nyth ing other than my being p r esent , tha t I need t o 

be here since I ' m one of the peopl e captioned in 

thi s case . And I wou l d l ike the opportunity to have 

representat ion who can respectful l y represent my 

h usband's wishes and to cont i nue on wi th t he work 
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that they ' ve already done . I t i s t o no fau lt of 

t heir own t hat I had a s i tuation whereby I h ad 

not - - t hat I hadn 't put forward to be able t o mee t 

my financial obligations to them, one t hat ended up 

being -- I couldn ' t keep due t o my own heal th event 

when I was in the acc i dent , whi ch a l so that ' s a 

whol e o t her t hing , but the r eality i s , is that I ' m 

no t prepared today. 

My counsel wi t hdrew 60 days prior 

to trial . I was not in the posi t ion because of my 

own spine injuries and due to my motor vehi cle 

accide nt t o put t oge t her exhibits and subpoe na 

witnesses and t hings of this nature . 

Our witness list was submi tted on 

time . These p e ople we would like to be abl e to 

call . Mr . Rummer field and Mr . Eric Westacot t a re 

material to thi s case . They strong l y wish to want 

to t estify. Unfortunate l y , the subpoenas that were 

being i ssued to them by opposing counsel did not 

meet t h e f ramework o f the law in t he stat e that they 

reside . 

Both of t hem a re quadriplegics. 

They wanted -- Mr . Westacott informed me a couple 

weeks ago that there is -- the re are laws that 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

R 257 

A-304 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/20 19 Page 16 

require us to allow them t o tes t ify given their 

disability . Of course he ' s an attorney, so I d e fer 

to his expert ise . 

Again, I was p r etty f razzled the 

other day when I found this a ll out because my 

mother was making decisions . As o f this morning , I 

haven 't had a chance to l ook a t it yet , but my 

mother had forwarded t o me -- I haven ' t prin t ed i t 

o u t and looked at i t a document from t he hospital 

regarding my father ' s health status; and my father ' s 

primary care doctor , Dr. Gonzalez , is prep aring a 

note t hat , unfortunate ly , I didn ' t have at the t ime 

of submitting t his motion for continuance b e cau se I 

onl y spoke to him yesterday af t ernoon . He said that 

it was unreasonable for me to expect - - which I 

knew -- my mother to leave my dad ' s beds i de . I knew 

that , Your Honor . I woul dn ' t ask my mother to do 

that . 

THE COURT : So what is your p l an , to go to 

Arizona t oday ? 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes , sir . We l l , to go back 

down t o Midwes t and get my things and head toward 

Arizona , absolutely . 

THE COURT : To where ? 
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MS . MC DONALD : Arizona , yes, sir . 

THE COURT: You said go down to --

MS . MC DONALD: Go down t o Paris , I l l i n o i s , 

and take c are o f s ome t h i ngs ther e a n d set things 

up. I h ave some peopl e t hat l ook a f ter p r ope rt i es 

ther e. I a l ways have peopl e in New Yo rk t h a t l ook 

a f ter t h i n gs , but t here ' s some t hings I need to take 

care o f there and t hen head t o Ar izona because I ' v e 

d e cided to -- I 'm not sure ye t whether I ' m goin g t o 

take t h e service dog or no t t hat was my f a t h er ' s . 

THE COURT : Just f or the r ecord, you r mot ion 

a nd not i ce show your address is 3 40 South Lemon 

Stree t , Walnu t , Californ i a. 

MS . MC DONAL D: Th a t ' s my mai l i ng a d d r ess , 

sir, t ha t ' s no t my resident ial address. 

THE COURT : Your r e s identi a l addre ss is i n 

Pari s , I l l i nois? 

MS. MC DONALD : Tha t ' s what I ' m using at this 

time . 

THE COURT : What' s t he address? 

MS . MC DONALD: 9 Lake wood Drive , Par i s , 

I l lin o i s. I ' m not l i v ing the re . I n fact , there ' s 

been p eopl e i n and out o f there becau se i t ' s a 

r e ntal prope rty for my it ' s --
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THE COURT : And as far as heirship , 

Mr . Kinnally, what would you be prepared to put on 

as witnesses? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Wel l , as I told you on 

Thursday, Judge , we have fi ve witnesses . Two , I 

believe , are -- no , three are under subpoena which 

woul d incl ude Attorney Parsons ; At t orney Scifo ; Mike 

White , who l ives in Michigan ; Shawn Mc Donald would 

testify; as well as J ohn Mc Donald, Shawn ' s father 

and the Decedent ' s father . 

THE COURT : What i s the status o f the 

heirshi p i n this case as of now , before thi s hearing 

commences? 

MR . KI NNALLY : The stat us o f the heirship is 

t hat we d o not belie ve Ms . Mc Donald is an h eir . 

She has to p rove that she is , and I don ' t think she 

can do that . 

THE COURT : Okay . So that ' s what the court 

f ile would show now --

MR . KINNALLY : That ' s exactly wha t t h e 

court 

THE COURT : without this hearing? 

MR . KI NNALLY : That ' s exactly what t h e court 

fi le would show . She was l ist e d originally . I 
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wasn ' t i nvol ved when the petit i on f or letters of 

admini stration were filed . Sh e was l isted at that 

time b ut not listed as an he ir with respect to 

relatives of the Decedent . That was prepared by 

Ms. Gossel in . She can speak to that bett er than I . 

I was not in t h e case at t hat t ime . It was in 

December o f ' 17 , I believe. 

MS. GOSSELIN: That is correct , and she was 

mentione d in the affidavit of heirship . There was a 

statement in the affidavi t of heirship stating that 

the Decedent had particip ated in a marriage 

ceremony ' but he was under p l enary guardianship a t 

t hat t ime and, there fore , the marriage was void 

ab init io . 

THE COURT : All r ight . Well --

MS . GOSSELIN : And Judge Noverini d i d sig n 

o ff on the order declaring guardianship , naming the 

two p arents and the brothe r and sisters . 

MS . MC DONALD : Your Honor? 

THE COURT : Yes . 

MS . MC DONALD: Judge Noverini had already 

been removed from the case . Subsequen t to 

Judge Noverini being removed from the case, they 

fi led let ters of office . I was no t l ist ed on t he 
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ori ginal appl ication f or letters o f office . 

Our estate attorney at that time 

contact ed Ms . Gosse l in Mr . Kinnal l y was no t 

listed as t he attorney of record -- and actually 

i n f o r med her I was not l i sted on the records of 

o ffi ce ; a n d i f she did not , in fact , correct h e r 

appl ication f o r let t ers o f offi ce , t hat he would be 

turning her in to the ARDC a nd have her sanct ioned, 

at which time he r eceived anot her lette r . 

I ' m sorry . Did you want to say 

something? I know you ' re l aughing again. 

THE COURT: You can j ust t alk t o me, please . 

MS. MC DONALD: Okay . Then on January 4th 

Mr . Lut rey had been retai ned . I n December he came 

to court and he also spoke to Ms . Gosselin about 

this matter . Her response to him is , we don ' t 

acknowledge the marriage . One of the other --

THE COURT : Al l r i ght . So y ou have -- and 

you have wi tnesses as to hei r ship who a r e go i ng to 

be whom n ow? I know there was -- we discussed this 

at length on Thursday , as t o whether or not you 

filed a witness list . 

MS . MC DONALD : I did . 

THE COURT : And counsel fo r t he Admini strator 
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doesn ' t t hink you d i d . 

MS . MC DONALD: I d id . 

THE COURT : And I don ' t know wha t you h ave 

filed . Howeve r , we d i d see a 213 -- Rule 213 

discl osure form t h a t was not complet e , but it was 

presumably f i l e d . We don ' t know whether it was 

fi l ed . I t doesn ' t have a ny fi l e s t amps , but i t is 

at t ached as an exhi bit t o a couple o f pleadings that 

we discussed on Thursday, November 13th . 

So as to heirship, you want 

Mr. Rummerfield and Westacott to testify about what? 

MS. MC DONALD: Mr . Rummerfie l d can 

specifical ly a t tes t -- t est ify as to heirship 

because of the numer ous conversations he had with 

J ohn over -- e ven more recent ly as well as in the 

y e a rs -- you know , through the years. Bu t to be 

specific , in t hat l ast year they h ad significant 

conversat i ons about what John ' s goals and wishe s 

wer e moving forwa r d in life . 

Mr. Eric Westacott is not 

testifying t o t he heirshi p; but h e ' s testifyi ng t o 

the mental fi t ness of Dr . J ohn Mc Dona ld becau se Dr . 

Mc Donald was, in fact , e ngaged i n work; and Mr . 

Eric Wes t acott was one of the people assisting h i m 
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in lin i ng out and l ooking at various legal document s 

t hat John was having h im vet due to Dr . Mc Donald 

being offe red seat s on corporat e boards . 

THE COURT : Ar e those -- so he has opinions? 

MS . MC DONALD : Yes , s ir . 

THE COURT : About fi tness or capabi l ity? 

MS . MC DONALD : He has an opinion based upon 

his working wi t h John. We filed I ' m not --

again , forgive my l ack of knowledge in r egard to the 

witness l i s t . 

After I was here on Thursday, I 

liaise d with Mr . Lutre y and Mr. Jeff O' Kel l e y , our 

counsel , and they supplied me wi th document s showing 

that the witness list had been supplied and with -­

a s they - - t o u s e their words , with particulari ty 

they indicated what all of our witnesses would be 

testifyi ng t o . 

They also supplied through another 

attorney in the fi r m, Mr. Nate Katz , a supplemental 

witness list in ter ms of expert s ; and I do know one 

o f the doc t ors that was corning from the McLean 

Hospita l a t Ha r vard was going to be coming to 

testify as t o t he -- in regard to a ddiction, 

s ubstance abuse , and what the medi ca l profession 
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defines d i sabi l ity t o . Those documents were 

provided n o t onl y to opposing counsel but t h ey were 

fi led wi t h the Court . 

THE COURT : What about the -- any subpoenas 

i ssued to these two wi tnesses t hat you want ? 

MS . MC DONALD : No , sir . We did not have a 

need to depose them . 

THE COURT : No , I mean for trial today. 

MS . MC DONALD : No , sir, no subpoenas for 

trial have been issued to any of my wi t nesses . 

THE COURT : The Court is subject to 

cons i dera t ions of Supreme Cou r t Rule 231 whe n the re 

is an appl ication for a continuance on the day of 

tr i al a n d that this motion that was fi led 11/18 , 

today, at 3 : 49 a . m. , a nd noticed up f or De cember 3rd 

at 9 : 00 a . m. because of somebody at the clerk ' s 

o ffi ce saying that ' s the best they could do is 

not ice it u p, it is h e r e as an emergency , more or 

less . It doesn ' t designate o r follow our l ocal 

r u les as f ar as emerg ency , but I am consideri ng it 

a nd I ' ve considered all your arguments . 

And as f ar as due d il igence , from 

the arguments t hat you make, Ms . Mc Donald , 

regardi ng wha t you don ' t have , what you would like 
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to have , those things hav e been going on for t wo 

months now, when your attorneys withdrew . And on 

Thursday, you represented that you would be ready 

nonetheless to proceed prose , and you represented 

the same things t h a t you ' re representing t hi s 

morning as far as your father ' s end- of- life 

treatmen t. And then you contact ed t he c l erk ' s 

o ffi ce and nothing happened on Friday , nothing 

happened on Satur day , Sunday, until this morning; 

and so as far as due dil igence , there is -- the r e ' s 

a want or a l ack of due dilig ence to present t hi s 

motion . 

The re was no due di l igence in t he 

motion or the affidavi t that should be a t tached . 

MS . MC DONALD : Wha t ' s that? 

THE COURT : No -- no showing of due di lig ence 

as to obtain i ng the testi mony of Patrick Rummerfield 

or Eric Wes t acott. That you di lig e ntly - - there ' s 

nothi ng in this motion that says t hat you d i ligent ly 

tried t o get t heir t estimony here and that you 

couldn ' t ge t i t for wh a tever r eason . And if you did 

sever al weeks ago , f or instance , then you p r obably 

should have ma d e that motion several weeks ago . 

MS. MC DONALD : I wasn ' t in a posi t i on to 
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make that mo t ion , Your Honor . 

THE COURT: I know because you d i dn ' t show up 

here . 

MS . MC DONALD: I didn ' t -- I didn ' t miss 

cour t . 

THE COURT : After your l awyers withdrew until 

l ast Thursday. 

MS. MC DONALD : That was the next court da t e 

scheduled. I never blew off a court dat e , Your 

Honor . 

THE COURT: You can make your own court 

dates , as you know. 

MS. MC DONALD: I didn ' t know t hat . I 

apol ogize . I wasn ' t aware of t hat . 

THE COURT : At any rat e , I ' m s t ill t alking . 

So t here are -- t here is a lack o f 

showing t hat t h e evidence would be material to 

this -- to the issues in t hi s case as well . And 

so -- and also the reason that you need to re-engage 

your a t torney s to act for you doesn ' t show me that 

t here was due d il igence on t hat either , and t ha t 

same r eason was -- exi sted for the l as t two months 

and nothing was ever said t o prevent us from going 

fo r ward with t he t ria l today , which we have reserved 
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time for and you assured us that we would be ready 

to go , or t hat you would b e ready to go even t h ough 

you didn ' t think you were totally ready . And as far 

as your father ' s condition , you would still be able 

to do t his. 

Now , without -- so , therefore , what 

I ' m going to do is deny the mot i on t o cont i nue 

today . If you can ' t go forward , we ' l l take it from 

there . If you can go forward , t hen you shou ld put 

on your first witness, because I ' ve al r eady had 

e noug h of an op ening statement through a ll this tal k 

i n r e gards t o t he motion to continue t o know what 

t he issues are going to be . 

So you have apparently brought one 

o f your witnesses here today so -- or at least one . 

So if you want to call your first witness , we can go 

ahead this morning . Otherwise , we are going to -­

we ' ll go from ther e . It dep e nds what you want t o 

do . If you want to talk to t he pa r ties you came 

with a nd we ' l l ta ke a b r e a k f o r 10 minut es . 

MS . MC DONALD: Can I ask a question? 

THE COURT : Yes . 

MS . MC DONALD : I don ' t understand wh at you 

mean when you refer to due d i ligence . I d id -- I 
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have been in const ant cont act wi t h my pri or counsel 

about what I nee ded t o do, a nd I was mindful t hat -­

THE COURT : Bu t there was a t rial scheduled 

today . 

MS . MC DONALD: I ' m mindful o f that. 

THE COURT : Al l r i ght . 

MS . MC DONALD : So I didn ' t know what I 

needed to a t tach to s how that due di l igence . I 

haven 't -- because of the late natur e i n which I 

spoke to Dr . Gonzale z in Arizona last night, like I 

said, I haven ' t had the o pport unity to see what has 

been sent over to me in terms o f his l e tte r t o 

attach to -- because I had intended to attach to the 

mot i on t o cont inue what his -- i n support of my dad . 

I also want to comment about las t 

Thursday when I was here . I said I wasn ' t -- I said 

I d idn ' t say I was willing to relinquish heirship . 

What I sai d i s I ' m not here for things . I want my 

mar r i age and I want t he abil i ty to appo i nt the 

persons t hat my husband would have wished f or to a ct 

o n his behalf . This is -- I ' m out o f my dep t h here , 

Your Ho nor ; and God forb i d , like I said p rio r to us 

coming up here , my mother has left , prior to coming 

up here , at l east three messages that I did not look 
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a t because I didn ' t want t o be 

THE COURT: All r ight . Well, I ' l l give you 

time to decide what you want t o do going forward . 

10 minutes, 15 minutes , i f you need it . So we ' l l 

resume at 10 : 05 . 

MS . MC DONALD : And God forbi d something ' s 

happened with my f ather a nd we commence , what 

about -- am I required then to be here tomorrow and 

the next day and t hen --

THE COURT : When the trial starts , t h e 

trial 's ongoing. I f you have another reason for a 

conti nuance d uring t he t rial , then you ' l l b r i ng i t 

up at that point . 

MS . MC DONALD : I don ' t wan t to be here when 

my dad dies . 

THE COURT : You want to go . We ' ll take a 

break . 

(Recess taken. ) 

THE COURT : Okay . Let ' s resume . 

Please come forward again. Okay. 

Ms. Mc Donald, are you prepared t o 

proceed wi th wi tnesses? 

MS . MC DONALD : I would like to proceed with 

the p rovision that, God forb i d somet h ing happens , 
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the Cou r t would consider an emergency . 

THE COURT: Okay . We l l, we can cross t hat 

bridge when we come to it . 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes , sir . 

THE COURT : Okay . But you ' re ready to call 

your first wi tness? 

MS . MC DONALD : I am . 

THE COURT : Okay. Then who is your firs t 

witness? 

MS . MC DONALD : Di ane Boyer . 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. KI NNALLY : Who? 

THE COURT : Diane Boyer . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Yeah, that ' s not a wi tness 

t hat was listed . 

THE COURT : Al l r i ght . Hold on . Where am I 

finding t h e --

MR. KI NNALLY : I ' l l g e t it fo r you. 

THE COURT : Exhibit 9 o r whateve r it was . 

MS . MC DONALD : It was a rather leng thy list, 

Your Honor , and Diane is definite l y on the list . 

THE COURT : Here we go , Exhib i t F . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Righ t . This is t he l ist t hat 

I told you never was filed . 
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MS . MC DONALD : Mr . O' Kelle y on Frida y sent 

me copi es of t heir filing, a nd this i s the list that 

was filed a l o ng with a suppl emental l is t t h a t was 

fi l ed by Mr . Nate Kat z . 

THE COURT : A suppl emental list? 

MS . MC DONALD : Yes , those wer e f o r the 

exper ts , Your Ho nor , but Ms . Boyer i s no t an exper t. 

She ' s here as a p rel iminary . 

MR. KI NNALLY: It says here s h e ' s going to 

testify s upposedly about p hys i cal and mental healt h 

capacity o f Joh n Mc Donal d, I II . I don't know what 

t ha t ' s g o t t o do wi t h heirship . 

Th e Court ' s a l ready determined that 

J ohn Mc Donal d , II I , was a ward of t h e cour t a nd 

lacked tot al capaci t y back i n May of 201 7 , so I ' m 

no t s u r e e ve n if it was disclose d and liste d t hat 

i t ' s got anythi ng to do wi th why we're here t oday . 

THE COURT : Perhap s we can d e l ineate wh ich 

pleading s , i f any , we a r e go ing o f f of to de t ermine 

whether p eti t ion a lle gat i ons have been answered 

a nd -- u nless I ' m jus t h a v ing a h e ar i ng on h e irship 

without p l e adings. 

MR . KI NNALLY : No . 

THE COURT : Okay. 
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MR . KI NNALLY : So t he ori g inal -- I g a v e you 

a list of docume nts o n Wed nesday 

THE COURT : Okay . 

MR . KI NNALLY : which was my witness l i s t 

as well as my trial exhibit li s t. 

THE COURT : Right . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Okay. I can go through it if 

you wan t , Judge . 

So the r elevant judgment s are 

Nos . -- I ' m going f r om the first page -- 1, 2 , 7 -­

that was your o rder denyi ng their motion to vacate 

t he o rder of admini s t ration and my c l ient b e i ng 

a ppointed I beli e ve the y fi l ed a pe t ition at some 

point f o r heirship , but I d idn ' t put that i n my 

exhi bit l i s t because I don ' t repr esent her and I 

did n ' t thi n k t h a t was significant at least from my 

advocacy s t andpoint . 

THE COURT : All r i g h t . So at this poin t , the 

issue i s the validity of t he marr i age? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Tha t ' s right . 

THE COURT : Th a t ' s what -- p r e s umably 

whatever p eti t i on f o r heirship that Ms. Mc Do na l d 

fi l ed says t ha t it ' s val i d, and that is t h e proofs 

that she wan t s to p resent today i n s u pport of t hat 
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peti tion . 

MR . KI NNALLY : That ' s true . 

THE COURT : I don 't hav e t h a t pet i t i on in 

front o f me, but we'll get it on the screen . 

And then you can -- as f a r as Diane 

Boyer tes tifying , you may cal l her and we ' l l h ave 

her sworn by t h e c l e rk . 

Okay . Diane Boye r? 

MS. MC DONALD: Can I sit down 

THE COURT : You may, yes . 

MS. MC DONALD: -- and as k the questions? 

THE COURT: Ye s , you can sit d own . 

Mr. Clerk, could you swear in t he 

witness? 

(Wi t ness sworn . ) 

THE COURT : Al l r i g h t . You may proceed t o 

the witness stand . 

Ms. Mc Donald , wh o i s the gent leman 

next t o you? 

MS. MC DONALD : This is Visar Belegu . 

THE COURT : Okay . We ll, h e ' s not a party so 

he has to s i t i n the back b enches . 

MS . MC DONALD: Okay . I ' m sorry . 

MR. KI NNALLY : Can we make a mot i on to 
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exclude witnesses? 

THE COURT: Motion t o exclude witnesses 

including any that you int end t o cal l as we ll ? 

MR . KI NNALLY : No , not as far as I ' m 

conce r ned . 

THE COURT : Pardon? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Motion t o exclude t heir 

witnesses. If you want to make it mutual , we can do 

it . 

THE COURT : Okay . Well , I would , for 

fairness , exclude anybody tha t is intended to 

testi fy . 

MR. KINNALLY : The only person t hat would be 

excluded woul d be Mr . Mc Donald, Sr . Shawn 

Mc Donald is the independent administrator so h e ' s 

here . The other two l adi es I ' m not call i ng. 

THE COURT : All r i ght . So Mr . Mc Donald, 

Sr. , i f you would wait outside , ple ase . I ' m going 

to gran t the mot i on to e x c lude and Dr . and Mr . 

wh o are your other t wo -- are t hose witnesses? 

MS . MC DONALD: Bement . 

THE COURT : I s he intended to testify? 

MS . MC DONALD : Yes, sir . 

THE COURT : So witnesses , when you ' re ready 
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to test ify, you may come back , we ' ll call you back; 

otherwi se , wai t outside, and when you ' re ready t o 

testify , we ' l l call you . And t hen presumabl y after 

you have testified you ' l l be able to remain , if you 

wou l d like , and hear the rest o f the witnesses , but 

for now , witnesses a r e excluded . 

Ms . Mc Donald, you may proceed . 

MS. MC DONALD : Ms . Boyer -- i s it okay if I 

refer t o her as Diane? 

THE COURT : You can ask her questions . 

MS. MC DONALD: Okay . 

DIANE BOYER 

call ed as a witness herein , having been first duly 

sworn , was examined and testified as fol l ows : 

Diane? 

wou ld . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Okay . I s it o kay if I refer to you as 

Yes , certainl y . 

Do you know why we ' re here t oday? 

Yes , I do . 

THE COURT : Let ' s identif y her first , if you 

THE WI TNESS : I ' m Diane Boyer . 
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THE COURT : What ' s you r address? 

THE WITNESS : My a ddress is 7500 Il l inois 

Highway 1 , Paris , Il linois . 

THE COURT : Thank you . 

All right. Ms . Mc Donald, you made 

proceed furthe r . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

today? 

Q . 

A . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Are you fami l iar with why we are here 

Yes , I am . 

Did you know Dr . John Mc Donald? 

Yes , I did . 

During the course of the t ime t hat you 

knew Dr . Mc Donald, were you a wa re o f his i ntentions 

to be married t o me? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Foundation objection . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Did you ever witness Dr . Mc Donald at 

a n y time to be incap able of manag ing his own affairs 

or making sound decisions or anything i r regul ar 

outs i de t he a p p r opri ate boundaries o f normal 

conduct? 

A. No . 
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MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j e ction , Judge . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. No . 

THE COURT : There ' s an objecti o n . Sustained . 

Can you e stabli s h when and where 

and who a n d how thi s witness knows you or Dr . -- or 

Mr . Mc Donald, III ? 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q . When was the f irst t ime you met 

Dr . Mc Donald, to the best of your recol l ection ? 

A. To the best of my recollect ion , and I ' m 

sorry , I ' m no t good with date s , but it was when y ou 

a nd John and several other people I knew wer e a t t he 

U o f I and I was up there he lping you move and 

I think that ' s what we were doing . Anyway , we 

met him I met him then for t he fi rs t t ime . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , move t o s trike . 

That ' s nonresponsive to t he quest ion. There ' s no 

f oundation wi t h r espect to it . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

o r 

I 

Q. So in the past two ye a r s -- I gues s it ' s 

been in t h e past thr ee years , hav e you had the 

opportu n ity t o i n t eract wi th myse l f and my husband? 
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A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

And unde r what -- what were those 

circums t a nces? 

A . Well , when I had -- the first time I saw 

you when you came back to Paris , I saw you guys a t 

Wa l *Mart , and then we started talking after that ; 

but then the real interact i on I had was when John 

came out t o my house and lived with me for two 

weeks , a nd that was because of a f r audulen t court 

order that separated you two . 

MR. KINNALLY: Ob j ection , Judge , as to 

" f raudulent ." 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Judge , could we have a little 

foundation as t o what year we are in here? 

THE COURT : Yes . 

Dates , times , who was present , 

things like that is what fou ndation is about. If 

t here ' s conversations , you have to have a f oundation 

f or who was t here , when i t happened , when it was . 

So proceed, re - ask . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. So you sa i d -- can you give me a time 

and dat e the next time you saw myself and my husband 
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at Wal*Mart? To t he best of y our recollection , when 

was that? 

A. 

Q . 

April of ' 17 . 

You indi cated t hat there came a t ime 

that J o h n r esided a t your h ome . And when was t h a t , 

to t h e best of your r ecol lect i on? 

A. I t was -- it was December , but it may 

have been t he end of November . I ' m no t g ood wi t h 

THE WI TNESS : I apologize , Your Honor , I ' m 

not good wi t h dates . 

BY MS. MC DONALD: 

Q. And you t e sti fied that J ohn was staying 

out t here because of a court order? 

A. Yes . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . Leadi ng . 

Go ahead, ask another question . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Did you ever attend cour t wi th my 

h u sband and myself? 

A. Yes , once . 

Q. And what was t h e nature of those court 

proceedi ngs? Why we r e we going to cour t? 

A. To est ablish t hat you were married and 
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you shouldn ' t have been sep arat ed . 

Q. Was there a time before that, t h ough , 

that you b r ough t John to court where he fi l ed - -

MR . KI NNALLY : Judge , could we have some 

foundat ion as to thi s court appearance , p lease . I ' m 

sorry to i nterrupt , but I ' m going to object again . 

THE COURT : Whi c h court appearance? 

MR. KI NNALLY: I don ' t know . They said t hey 

were going to cour t o ne time . She said she went one 

time t o court t o determine whether or not a mar r iage 

was valid, that ' s what I got , and I don ' t know when 

t hat is and I would like to know . 

THE COURT : Okay . Sustained . 

Go ahead . 

MS . MC DONALD : I don ' t believe she was 

testifying t o determine whether our ma r r i a g e was 

valid . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. You did know that our marr i age was 

valid, did you no t ? 

A . Yes . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . I t call s f or a 

legal conclusion . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Page40 

Q. Was there a time that you accompanie d my 

h usband a n d I to go to court in the f all of 2017 

before t h e Honorabl e J udge Steven Gars t to get an 

order o f p r o t ection because o f t he harassment and 

the stal ki ng and the substantial bullying that we 

were -- t hat John and I were experiencing whenever 

we were in Paris? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MS. MC DONALD: Your Honor , can I ask , like , 

wh y t hat ' s sust ained? That ' s signifi cant t o this 

a nd I ' m no t trying to be argument ative . 

THE COURT : No , it ' s a general objection for 

various reasons . Could be -- first of all , it ' s 

leading 

MS . MC DONALD : Al l right . 

THE COURT : assume s facts not in evidence , 

a nd i t may be irr elevant . 

MS . MC DONALD : Can I rep hrase the q uestion? 

THE COURT : Ask anot her question . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Did you accompany us to court i n Edgar 

County in the fall of 20 17? 
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A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

And, to your knowledge , as a nonlegal 

profess ional , wha t was the p u rpose o f us going to 

court -- of J ohn and I going to court? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . I t' s no t relevant . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . In the fall of 20 17 , were you wi t ness to 

a n y bullying , stalking, trespassing on t he prope r ty 

o f my hu sband and my res i dence where we were staying 

when we were down in Pari s , Illinois? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Objection . I t ' s not relevant . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Were you involved in t he preparat ions or 

the knowledge o f John and I intending to get 

married? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

When , to the best of your knowl edge , do 

y ou firs t remember that being brought to you r 

attention? 

A. 

Q. 

Probabl y a month bef ore you got married. 

Did you ever have any independ ent 

conversat i ons wi th John about his intent ions t o 
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marry me and p reparat i ons for t he marriage ceremony? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Object i on, cal l s for a hearsay 

response . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q . Did you , yourself , ever i nitiate a n y 

conve r sat i ons with John regarding h i s int entions to 

marry? 

A. 

Q . 

Yes . 

And can you character ize what some -- in 

summary , what that conversation was? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Objection , cal l s f or a hearsay 

response b y the Dece dent . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MS . MC DONALD : I would like Diane t o be able 

to testify as t o what her question s to and what her 

conve r sati on what her words were to Dr . Mc Donald 

and not what my husband ' s r e sponse s necessarily we r e 

to her , but she can testify to the fact that she had 

a conver sation wi t h my husband in r egard t o plans 

fo r our marriage ceremony . 

THE COURT : Okay . 

MR . KI NNALLY : She already testified to t hat, 

J udge . She said she had a conversat ion . 
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THE COURT : Rig ht, she t estified t o that . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Was there ever a conversation about us 

p erhaps being married on your property? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . That cal l s for a 

hearsay r esponse because it woul d have been uttered 

by t he Decedent . 

MS. MC DONALD: No , it wouldn ' t have been . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A . Yes , I invited --

THE COURT: Wait a minute . When t here ' s an 

ob j ect ion, don ' t testify unt il I rule on it . 

THE WITNESS : Yes , Your Honor. 

THE COURT : Okay . Can I hear the question 

back, please . 

(Quest i on read .) 

THE COURT : Sustained; no foundation . 

Who is " us " ? 

MS. MC DONALD : My husband and myse l f . 

THE COURT : Okay. Sustained as t o t h e 

original object i on . 

Rephrase . Ask another ques tion . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Did my h usband and I e ver d i scuss with 
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you the poss i b i lit y o f having our ceremony on your 

prope rty? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Same objection , J udge. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned as to t h e Deceden t . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Did you ever offer a conve r sat i on wi th 

us o r o ffe r t o have us be -- my husband and I be 

married on your p r operty? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Same objection , J udge . And I 

wou l d also remind the Court as we indicated las t 

week t hat Ms. Mc Donald cannot testify in this case 

a nd she's a t tempt ing t o do t ha t through thi s wi t ness 

by the l eading nature of her question . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Do you know who Shawn Mc Donald is? 

Yes . 

Did John -- did my husband wish t o have 

a r elationship or did John ever state to you what 

his intentions were i n r egard to Shawn Mc Donald? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Were you e v e r in fear personal l y of 
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Shawn Mc Donald? 

A . Not for me but for John . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Move to s t rike as t o " for 

John . " 

THE COURT : Overruled . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Could you elaborat e as t o what your 

concern s were in terms of your f ears regarding John? 

You j ust test ified that you weren 't 

necessari ly i n fear of Shawn Mc Dona l d but that y ou 

were for J ohn. Could you elaborate on that? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge. I t ' s not 

relevant. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Page45 

Q. I s it your personal belief that John and 

I shared a common belief? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ection. It ' s not relevant. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Do you believe t ha t Shawn Mc Donald 

should be the r epresentative of my husband ' s est a t e? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Jud ge . He is t he 

represent ative . What her belief i s does not matter. 
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THE COURT : Sustai ned as to relevance . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Do you believe that t h ere is any 

evidence that could be presented as to why Shawn 

Mc Donal d shoul d no t be al l owed to be the s u pervised 

admi nistrator of my husband ' s estate? 

MR . KI NNALLY: Objection , re l evance . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MS . MC DONALD : The relevance , Your Honor , is 

that in the course of the year of 20 1 7 , there was 

significant criminal act i vity that was going on even 

prior to the guardian ship be i ng filed by Mr . Shawn 

Mc Donald . Numerous report s were fi l ed with the 

At torney General ' s office for ident ity t heft , the 

U. S . Postal Service , Soci al Security, and many other 

government agencies where even prior to 

THE COURT : Well , wait a minute . 

MR. KI NNALLY : Judge --

THE COURT : Th e obj ection was al r eady 

s u stain e d and now you ' r e t estifying your self . So go 

a head and as k another ques t ion of this witness . If 

you ' r e done wi t h thi s witness , then they can 

cross - examine . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Do you believe t hat my husband knew what 

i t meant to be married , t ha t he was capable of 

knowing what t h e duties and responsibilities we r e to 

be married? 

A . Yes . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , foundat i on , J u dge. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Do you be lieve that there ' s any r eason, 

foundational l y , I guess , t hat this case should be 

brought? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Objection . It ' s irrelevant . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MR. KI NNALLY : She ' s no t in the pos i tion to 

answe r t h a t . 

MS . MC DONALD: Your Honor , I do be l ieve 

she ' s i n a position to answe r that because John 

spent signifi cant time with h e r , s he knew J ohn's 

wil l , and you can ' t have i t both ways . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Jud ge . She ' s now 

testify i ng. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . It has t o be her 

t es timon y, no t yours. 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Do you believe t hat I am t he legal heir 

of J ohn Mc Donald? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge , cal ls for a 

legal concl usion . 

MS . MC DONALD : I ' m not as king -­

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MS. MC DONALD: I ' m not as k ing her t o render 

a legal opinion . I ' m asking her based upon her 

i n teractions with my h usband and I ove r the course 

o f a year what she percei ved our re l ationship to be 

as a t r u e and valid marr i age . 

MR. KINNALLY : Objection . She ' s now 

testifyi ng . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

Ask her t hings about what she may 

have observed o r but no t what h er bel i ef is . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Did you observe -- and let ' s keep i t t o 

2017 -- John and I interacting t oget her? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes , many times . 

I n terms o f frequency , was it once a 

month? Twice a month? Once a week? Twice a week? 

A. Pretty much e very week . 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

Page48 

R 290 

A-337 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

15 

16 

1 7 

18 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/2019 

Q . And t hen during the week, was that out 

i n publ ic? Was it a t our home? Your home? Coul d 

you be speci fi c? 

A. All three . We went out to dinner , you 

were at my house , I was a t your house . 

Q . We r e these arranged events or was t h e r e 

a casual ness about it t ha t we would drop in or you 

would drop in unannounced? 

A. 

Q . 

Yes . 

Did you have t h e opportunity to observe 

John and I t ogether in an impromp tu -- where it 

wasn ' t planned? I t was l i ke you just came by? 

A. Yeah , practically everything was not 

planned t hat we did, except for when I t ook you out 

for your wedding dinner . 

Q . And when -- l et ' s start wi t h when you 

came by o ur house . Can you give some 

characterization as to what you witnessed, how we 

lived our l i fe? 

MR . KINNALLY : Foundation , object ion . 

MS . MC DONALD: I ' d like t o establish that we 

were living together as husband and wife . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection . She ' s testifying . 

THE COURT : The objection was to foundation . 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

Page49 

R 29 1 

A-338 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

1 5 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

2 1 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/2019 Page 50 

Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. When you came over t o t he house , were 

there times where you just specifical ly spoke to me 

o r did you speak to J ohn or did you spea k to both of 

us? 

A. 

Q. 

Both of you . 

Did you ever witness anything out of t he 

ordinary or of any conce rn? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection, Judge . It ' s not 

re l evant. 

THE COURT: Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. I n your personal opinion , did you 

believe that we were -- that we were happi ly -­

liv ing toget her happi l y and that John was happy? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

Did he e v e r indicate to you i n any way 

t hat he was happy? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , calls for a hear say 

r esponse of the Decedent . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. You tes t ified that you t ook us out for 
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dinner after our wedding . Do you remember when that 

was? 

A. 

wedding . 

Maybe three or four days af t er the 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , Judge . She doesn ' t 

know . 

THE COURT : Overruled . 

MS. MC DONALD : Pl ease allow her to finish 

a nsweri ng . 

If you could repeat yourself . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. I said it was eit her t h ree or four days 

after the wedding . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. And was it well known among fri ends and 

family and a ffiliates and colleagues that we had 

married? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j e ction , foundation . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MS . MC DONALD : I would like to es t ablish 

t hat t h is was a wedding that had been being planned 

for wel l over nine months and that, i n f act , t here 

was to come to the Court --

THE COURT : Wait , just ask quest i ons of the 
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witness . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Along with yourse l f , were there o t he r 

people awar e that John and I we r e to be married? 

A. 

Q . 

Ye s . 

And were there other people wh o 

cel ebrated our marriage subsequent t o the marriage 

openly? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , Judge , foundation . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MS. MC DONALD: Your Honor 

THE COURT: Any furthe r quest i ons? 

MS. MC DONALD: At this time I ' ll let them . 

THE COURT : All r i ght . Does anyone need a 

break right now? We have only been going about 

25 minutes . 

MR . KI NNALLY : I don ' t have any questions , 

Judge . 

THE COURT : No question s , okay . 

Wait , your client wants t o talk to 

you . 

MR. SHAWN MC DONALD : Can I s p eak wi th my 

counse l ? 

THE COURT : Go ahead . 
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MS . MC DONALD : Your Honor , i s Ms . Bo yer free 

to step d own? 

THE COURT : One moment . 

MR . KI NNALLY : No questions . 

THE COURT : Al l r i ght . You may s t ep down , 

Ms . Boyer . Thank you . 

THE WITNESS: Thank you . 

(Wi t ness excused . ) 

(Th e r e was a conversat ion off the 

record . ) 

MR. KI NNALLY : Do you want to take a break , 

Judge, or keep going or --

THE COURT : Do you have another witne ss at 

thi s time? 

MS . MC DONALD : Yes , Dr . Vi s ar Bele gu . Do I 

need to get him? 

THE COURT : Yes . 

(Recess t ake n.) 

THE COURT : Calling t h is wi tness? 

MS . MC DONALD : Yes , Dr . Belegu . 

THE COURT : Okay . Dr . Belegu , if you woul d 

step in front o f the c lerk here and be swor n . 

(Witness sworn . ) 

THE WI TNESS : I do . 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

Page 53 

R 295 

A-342 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

2 1 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/2019 

THE COURT : And you may p r oceed over by where 

t he bailiff i s . 

THE WITNESS: Thank you . 

THE COURT : Okay . Doctor , be f o r e we begi n, 

I ' ll ask you t h e i dent ificat ion quest i ons . 

Wh a t is your name , address , a n d 

occupati o n ? 

THE WITNESS: Visar Belegu . I live a t 

7 06 Hat herleigh Road, Bal t imor e , Maryland 21212. 

I ' m a scienti s t . 

THE COURT: Cou l d you spell your f irst and 

last name , p l ease? 

THE WITNESS : First name is V- i - s - a - r . Last 

name is B-e-1 -e-g-u . 

THE COURT : All r ight . Ms . Mc Dona l d, you ' re 

asking t he questions o f th i s wi tness. Go ahead. 

VISAR BELEGU 

called as a wi t n e ss h e r ein , having been first duly 

sworn , was examined a nd test i fied as fol lows : 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Dr . Bel egu , may I refer to you as Visa r? 

Yes , ma ' am . 

Are you fami l i ar wi t h why we are here 
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today? 

A . 

Q . 

I b el ieve so . 

Would you stat e for the Court wha t you 

believe t h e reasons for us being h ere are? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , Judge . That ' s go t 

nothing t o do with thi s case . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q . I s i t your understanding that we are 

here in regard to the estat e of your colleague, Dr . 

John Mc Dona l d? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes , ma ' am . 

Are you aware that Shawn Mc Donald, my 

husband ' s brot her , i s c hal leng ing t he veracity of my 

marriage and John ' s marr i age to me? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ect to the f orm of the 

question because she ' s now testifying with r espect 

to the re l ationship. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. 

married? 

A . 

Q. 

Were you aware t hat John and I had 

Yes, ma ' am . 

When did you become aware of t hat? 
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A. I t was September , I bel ieve i t was 11th , 

2 017 . 

Q . Were you aware prior to tha t date of 

John and my intenti on to marry? 

A. 

Q . 

Yes , ma ' am . 

Was this something that only you knew o r 

was it something t hat was known amongst our friends , 

col l eagues , f amily members? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , Judge . How would 

he know t hat ? 

THE COURT: Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Did you ever have conversat ions with 

o t her people t hat we re friends of yours and J o hn ' s 

t hat you shared in common about John ' s inten t ions t o 

marry me? 

A. Yes , ma ' am . 

MR. KI NNALLY : Foundation, objection . 

THE COURT : Ove rruled . 

Next question . He answered . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. Yes , ma ' am , I did d i scuss John ' s wi ll , 

desire , a n d such to marry . 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ect i on. Now he ' s 
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testify i ng wi t h respect to wha t John said, Judge . 

I t ' s a hearsay response . 

THE COURT : He was finishing his answer , I 

take it . 

THE WI TNESS : Yeah . 

THE COURT : Next question that doesn ' t as k 

for hearsay . 

MS. MC DONALD : I ' m sorry , sir? Your Honor? 

THE COURT : Next question that does n o t ask 

for hearsay . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Did you p e rsonal l y , Visar, spe ak to 

other people about John ' s intentions t o get married? 

A. Ye s , I did . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge . That 

clearly calls for a hearsay response. These people 

aren ' t before the Court . 

THE COURT : I unders tand. You didn ' t as k 

what t hey said -- she didn ' t ask, so over ruled . 

MR . KINNALLY : Okay . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. So , yes , I d i d . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. And approximat ely how long were you 
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a ware o f , in your belief , of John ' s i ntent i ons t o b e 

married to me? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection, form o f t he 

question ; foundation 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MR . KI NNALLY : -- hearsay response. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q . To the b est of your recol lection, when 

was t he first t ime t hat you met me? 

A. I t was right after I went to work f or 

John in St . Lou is , wh ich was March 2004 , r i ght af t er 

I had graduated . 

Q. And were there times subsequent to that 

t hat you were aware t ha t I was i n a relationship 

with my hu sband? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection . That ' s not 

r elevant. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Is i t your opinion -- no t a legal 

opinion , but is i t you r opi nion that Joh n and I 

under stood t he responsib i lity o f be ing husband and 

wi fe? 
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MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . I t' s no t relevant. 

THE COURT: Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Do you believe that his f amily wou ld 

have been aware o f John ' s intent ions to marry me 

prior to the filing o f any guardianship? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection . I t' s no t relevant . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q . Did you ever witness John in any way t o 

be incapaci t ated or disabled or incap able of 

rende r i ng astut e decisions or general e veryday 

decisions or being able to care for himself on a 

day-to-day bas i s? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , foundation . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MS . MC DONALD : I ' m sorry? 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MS . MC DONALD : Your Honor , they have alleged 

t hat my husband was disabled . The fact is that the 

e n tire guardianship case was brough t with frau dul ent 

documents . 

THE COURT : All r i ght . If we ' re arguing 

their object ion now, I ' ve already ru l ed on it . I t 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

R 301 

A-348 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

1 5 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/20 19 

was no t a good ques t ion . Nex t . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Were you aware that J ohn was - - t h e r e 

was a court proceedi ng that involved John i n a 

g u a r dian s hip p r oceeding? 

Yes , I was . A. 

Q. And did you bel iev e t h a t John was in 

need o f a guardian? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , Judge . He ' s not 

qua l ified t o answer t hat . 

THE COURT: Sustai ned . 

MS . MC DONALD: Your Honor , I do b e l ieve that 

Dr . Belegu has the right to be able to answer to t he 

best of hi s -- though he was not a t rea t i ng 

p h ysician of my husb a nd, he does he is a 

pro f ess i o nal and he v i ews the wo r ld thr ou gh a 

profess i o nal medical /scient ist l ens . He spent over 

two d e cades working on a daily basis with my 

h usband, and he was f ully awa r e o f my husband ' s 

capacit y to conduct b usiness and carry out his life 

wi t hout the need of a n assis t ant . 

MR . KI NNALLY : I object to the 

characteri zations , Judge . She ' s now testifying . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 
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Do you have any othe r question s f o r 

Dr . Bel egu ? 

MS . MC DONALD: Yes . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. I n 20 1 7 , we re you working with -- was 

ther e a t i me where you wer e working with my hu sband 

i n a forma l -- i n a pro f ess i onal capacit y? 

A. 

Q . 

Yes . 

And dur ing that time , did you have the 

op portu n i ty to travel with my h u sband in a 

pro f ess i o n a l capaci ty in 2 01 7 a f ter and dur ing t he 

guardiansh ip p r oceeding ? 

MR. KI NNALLY : I ' m going t o ob j ect t o t h is . 

She has not es t ablished wh e n t h i s wi t ness became 

aware o f t he g uardi anship . He only i ndicat ed t h a t 

he knew abou t i t . I woul d l ike some fou ndation wi t h 

respect to t ha t , p l ease . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Dr. Bel e gu, when did you become aware of 

t here b e i n g a guardian s hip b e ing fil e d a g a i n st John? 

A. J uly 2 01 7, I believ e i t was. 

THE WI TNESS: Can I expand on t hat, You r 

Honor? 
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THE COURT : No . Next question . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. How did you become aware of guar dianship 

proceedi ngs? 

A. Through conver sat i ons wi t h Joh n . He was 

very upset wh e n t hat had happened . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , J udge , as to what 

John said. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Were you ever contacted by anybody else 

i n r e gard t o their a ttempts t o gain privile ge ove r 

John? For example, were you ever contacted by Shawn 

Mc Donal d? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge , 

characterization wi th respect to the quest i on. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

Re phrase . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Were you ever contacted in 2017 by Sha wn 

Mc Donald? 

A. I believe i t was J a nuary of 201 8 t hat I 

was contact ed b y Shawn . 

Q. Did you e v e r have any knowle dge of Shawn 
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Mc Donal d pri o r to January of 2018? 

A . 

Q . 

Yes . Of course, yes . 

And what -- and in t he year of 201 7 , to 

the best of your recollection , was t h e r e ever a time 

that Shawn Mc Donal d attempted t o contact you or did 

contact you? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Judge , he jus t tes t ified he 

talked to him in January of 2018 for t he first t ime. 

MS . MC DONALD : That ' s not what he tes t ified 

to , Your Honor . 

THE COURT : Overruled . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. Right . So I did get a voicemail in 

January of 2018 . I believe I got t ext messages from 

him, a nd it was around January of 20 17 . It might 

have been December 2016 . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Did you help John Mc Donald move out of 

his condo i n Bal timore? 

MR . KINNALLY : Ob j ection . I t ' s no t relevant . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Was there ever a time where you had 

items belonging to John becau s e -- just t o store 
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after he moved out of t he condo in Baltimore? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Object i on . It' s not r elevant. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Were you ever cont a c ted by Shawn 

Mc Donal d and asked t o ship i tems of John to him -­

to ship items of John ' s to Shawn? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Objection. It ' s no t relevant. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. During the t ime that John and I were 

married, did you eve r have conversations -- any 

conversation, other t han the text messages or 

perhaps e-mail s you r ecei ved -- from Shawn 

Mc Donald ? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , assumes a fact not 

i n evidence at this time --

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MR. KI NNALLY : -- mean ing t he marriage. 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. In 20 17 , were you in r egular con t ac t 

with J ohn Mc Donald? 

A . 

Q. 

Yes , I was . 

And i n frequency , a pproximat ely how 
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frequen t l y were you in contact with John Mc Donald? 

A . I would say at least once a week a n d 

then probably a litt le b i t more t h an that, maybe two 

or t hree times a wee k , at t imes . 

Q. And were those casual conversat i on s, h i , 

how a r e you doing ; o r were they of a p r o f ess ional 

natur e ? Coul d you character ize t h e nature o f your 

cal l s and p erhaps give a length of the cal l s? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j e ction, cal l s for a 

response of the Decedent , which is h e a r say . 

MS. MC DONALD: I do believe Dr . Bel egu can 

attes t to , s i nce he was a party t o the cal l s , the 

l engt h and t he nature of the call . 

THE COURT : Overruled as to calling for 

hearsay . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. Yeah , so some of them were personal . 

John a nd I k ne w e ach other for a whi le . Some of 

t hem wer e of a p r ofessional nature . 

John was -- he kep t me sort of 

up to date on t he t hings he was doing , and some o f 

i t related t o t he wor k we had done befo re . A lot o f 

imaging s t uff was d i scussed, MR I imaging , h uman 

connect ome i maging, because that was somet hing we 
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were worki ng on befor e . 

And then t hat summer of 2017, he 

had as ked me to eval uate --

MR . KI NNALLY : Now I object to it , Judg e . 

Now he ' s sayi ng wh a t he sai d and that i s hear say . 

He said h e asked, the Decedent as ked him . 

THE COURT : I t ' s not as f ar as I know, 

it ' s not on this issue , the t ru t h of t he mat t er 

a sserted . Let him finish . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. Rig ht . So that summer he asked me t o do 

some work on e valuating a company on some 

technology, and t hat was the mat t er that we t ook 

t rips t ogether . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. So you t r ave l ed just -- was i t just --

just was you and John traveling in 2017? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Ye s. 

For the business/professiona l p urposes? 

Yes . I t was John and I only , yes. 

And so is i t your test imony that John 

was engaged i n professiona lly working i n 20 1 7 ? 

A . 

Q. 

Yes , he was . 

And did you, in fact, publish a paper 
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where John is also an author in a major scien t ific 

journal t hat came out -- that was sub sequent l y -­

appeared p rior -- after --

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge , form of the 

q uestion. 

THE COURT : Coul d you rephrase that? 

Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q . Did you a nd John publish a scien tific 

paper as t o the work you were working on then and 

prior to my husband ' s death? 

A. Yes . 

MR. KINNALLY : Objection , Judge . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. And when was that paper published, 

Dr . Beleg u , to the best of your recollection? 

A. I believe the l ast paper we had together 

was p ublished in - - either late 2017 or e arly 2018 , 

a nd i t was a project that we h ad wo r ked o n together 

f or qui t e a while . 

Q. You ' re aware that John passe d away in 

December o f 2017 . Was the paper accepted -- was t he 

scient i fi c paper accepted for publ ication p r ior to 

my husband ' s death ? 
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A. I bel ieve i t was . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Object i on, Judge , as to the 

form o f t h e question . She ' s now testifying as to 

her mar i tal relationship in the q uestion . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Was t h e paper ' s acceptance t o be 

publ ished accepted prior to John ' s dea t h? 

A. Yes , I belie v e the paper was accepted 

prior to h is death . I mean , we worked on i t for 

quite a wh ile , but I think it was accepted be f ore he 

passed, yes . 

Q. So it ' s your testimony that -- let ' s 

just narrow i t to the six mont hs pri or t o J ohn ' s 

passing -- you were worki ng, would you say, on a 

weekly basis , a daily basis wi th John in a 

profess i o nal capaci ty? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j e ction , Judge . She ' s 

leadi ng t h e wi t ness . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Ye s or no , were you worki ng with my 

husband i n t he six month s prior to h i s death in a 

professional capaci ty? 
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A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

We r e you aware of J ohn ' s accepting a 

pos i tion commencing in 2018 on an internat i ona l 

l evel? 

A. Ye s , I was . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge . It ' s not 

re l evant. 

THE COURT : Overruled . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . At any time did you feel that y ou had 

the fiduc i ary respons ibi l i t y t o contact t he medica l 

board, the scient ific board, the I RB, or any 

i ns ti t utional board i n regard to my husband ' s 

ability t o conduct his dut i es p r ofessional l y? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge. I t ' s not 

relevant. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MS. MC DONALD : It ' s r elevant consideri ng 

Your Honor , I would argue t hat it ' s relevant 

considerin g t hey 're trying to argue that my h usband 

was incapable of managing his a f fai r s whe n, i n fact , 

my husband was not onl y capable of manag i n g h i s own 

a ffai r s , h e was functioni ng at an extraord i nari ly 

h igh capacity as one of t he wor l d ' s renowned a nd 
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leading scient ists and he was t raveling freque ntly 

with Dr . Be legu . 

MR . KI NNALLY: I object t o t he 

characteri zation wi th respect to the marital 

re l ation s h ip . Numbe r one , we are not argui ng 

anyth ing here , Judge . What we ' r e arguing i s t h e 

fact that an order was ent ered by t h i s Court 

declaring John Mc Donald , III , to be t otal l y wi t hout 

capacity and a wa r d of the court. That ' s a fact . 

So that is not an argument . That ' s a fact . It ' s an 

order issued by this Court. Thank you . 

THE COURT: All r i ght . We l l , if we ' re done 

with questions for this wi t ness and want to resume 

arguing , we can do t hat i n chambers . I don ' t know 

t hat t here ' s any argument pending . The objection 

was sustai ned as to r elevance . 

So if you have any f urther 

questions for Dr. Belegu , please ask them so we can 

get on with this . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Did you have the opportuni t y to witness 

J ohn and I a f ter our marriage communi cati ng, 

interactin g wi t h each other? 

A. Yes , I did . 
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Q . Did you e ver have any reason for concern 

r e gardi ng the l e gitimacy or conce rns about our 

marriage? 

A . No , I did not . 

MR . KI NNALLY: Ob j ection , Judge , assu mes a 

fact not i n evi dence . It ' s not r elevant . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q . Is i t your testimony her e today that 

John ' s wishes were well known amongst yourself and 

y our col leagues to enter into a marri a g e wi th me and 

t hat subsequent to t hat marriage he was happily 

married? 

MR . KI NNALLY: Ob j ection ; i t' s no t relevant . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Did you become aware at some t i me that 

John was taki ng step s in speaking to federal 

prosecu tors and c r iminal atto r neys in regard to his 

brother Shawn ' s misrepr esentat ions of h i m? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , it's not re l evant . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Are you aware of any ongoing 
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i nvest igati on o f ident i ty theft or any type o f 

criminal actions that are be i ng loo ked i nto at t his 

time in a current investi gation int o Shawn Mc Dona l d 

and h is misrepr esentations of Dr . John Mc Donald? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j e ct i on . I t' s no t relevant . 

THE COURT : How i s thi s r e l evant ? 

MS . MC DONALD : I t ' s re l evant, Your Hono r , in 

t ha t we have a lways cont ended that the 

g u ardi ansh ip ' s case wa s based upon fraudule n t 

d ocuments t hat were present ed to t he Court that did 

not meet the fra mework o f the Court to bring a 

guardians h ip case ; t hat my husband was not disabl ed; 

a nd t hat , in fact , unfortunately since his death , 

they have now tried to s hanghai that guardi anship 

a nd u se that as the b a sis by which they claim my 

husband was incapable of being married or , in fact , 

even caring f o r himself . 

My husband , i n fact , not only as I 

stated could not only car e f o r himsel f , but he was 

perfect ly capable of minding his own affairs a nd 

cond ucti ng h i s daily b u s ines s bot h personal l y and 

p r o fe ss i onall y . And wi th -- i n all ho nesty --

THE COURT : That sounds like a n issue f o r t he 

g uardi ansh ip court, which is gone now . 
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MS . MC DONALD : Exactly . 

THE COURT: All r ight . Sustained as to 

relevance . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Do you believ e that J ohn coul d not 

did you ever have any concerns that John could not 

conduct his personal a ffairs? 

MR. KI NNALLY: Objection. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Do you believe that John was happily 

married? 

A. Yes . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , cal l s for a 

conclusion with respect to a f ac t not in e vide nce at 

this time . 

THE COURT : Overruled . The answer can stand . 

MS. MC DONALD : I didn ' t hear that. 

THE COURT : Ove rruled . The answer stands . 

Do you h ave any other quest i ons for 

t he wi tness ? 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Can you r epeat your answer , Dr . Belegu? 

THE COURT : It stands . Yes , he said . 
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MS . MC DONALD : Okay . 

BY THE WI TNESS : 

A. Ye s . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Do you believe that this i s a fair 

proceeding in cons i derat i on of what you know of the 

circumstances surrounding my husband ' s death? 

MR. KI NNALLY: Objection , Judge . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MR . KI NNALLY : That ' s totally improper . 

MS. MC DONALD: Can I ask him if there ' s 

a nything he woul d like to say to t he Court? 

THE COURT : No . 

MS . MC DONALD : Okay . 

THE COURT : All r ight . Cross-examinat ion? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Bri efly . 

Q. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KINNALLY : 

Dr . Bel egu , my name ' s Patri ck Ki nnal l y 

a nd I rep resent the Administrat or of John 

Mc Donald, III ' s , estate . I ' ve never had t h e 

opportunity to meet you . My questions will be 

brief . 

A. Okay . 
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Q. 

A . 

Q. 

Do you know Dr . Nadkarni? 

No, I do not . 

Do you know t ha t he gave an opinion in 

this case with respect to John Mc Donald , II I ' s , 

capacity? 

A. 

that, no. 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

I do no t -- I don ' t know that he did 

Do you know Dr. Greenberg? 

No , I do not . 

Do you know that he gave an opinion with 

respect to John Mc Donald ' s capacity p rior to -- or 

i n the guardianship proceeding? 

A. I know the decisions were rendered, you 

know, but J ohn didn ' t discuss t he names of the 

p h ysicians with me so I do not know the names . 

Do you know Dr . Gonzalez? 

No . 

Page 75 

Q. 

A. 

Q. Did you know t hat he gave an o p inion and 

testified i n thi s case , not only in the g uardianship 

case , but this case , with respect to J ohn 

Mc Donald ' s capacity? 

A. So as I stated , you know, t hese issues I 

discussed with John , but John never went into the 

names of the p h ysicians t ha t ei t her he saw or 
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Q . 

A . 

Q . 

A . 

Q. 

You ' ve never read t heir repor t s -­

Ab sol ute l y not . 

- - of any of t he s e doc t ors , h ave you? 

No , absolutel y not . 

They ' re i n a better pos i t i on wi th 

r esp ect t o the c linical care that they gave t o him; 

i s t hat a f a i r statement , Doct or? 

A. 

Q . 

Can y ou r es t ate t he ques t ion , please? 

Yeah . Wo u ld you agree wi th me that 

Dr . Nadkarni , Dr . Greenberg , and Dr . Gonzal ez were 

i n a better position to determine what c linical care 

or what capacity J ohn Mc Donald had based on the ir 

i nvestigation of him? 

MS . MC DONALD : Objection, Your Honor . 

MR . KI NNALLY : They off ered h i m. 

MS . MC DONALD : Dr . Belegu has already 

testified he d idn ' t know who the physicians were 

and, t herefore , it ' s not 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MS . MC DONALD : -- not a ppropriat e f or him 

t o --

MR . KI NNALLY : They offered h i m, Judge . They 

o ffe r ed him as a witness on h i s capacity . I t ' s in 

their discl osure . 
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THE COURT : Well , you object ed to it mostly . 

MR . KI NNALLY : I did . 

MS . MC DONALD: Your Honor , i t would be 

i nappr opriate for us to share with a n o t her cl inical 

hea l t hca re profess i ona l . 

THE COURT : Well , we don ' t need a n y more 

discuss i on . Your objecti on was sus t ained . 

MR. KI NNALLY: Al l right . 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q . Wi t h respect to t he order o f 

g uardian s h ip in this case , you don ' t know when i t 

was e ntered , do y ou? 

A. I know when i t was granted . Li ke I 

sai d , I spoke to John . He sai d , I t hink it was , 

like about mi d to the end of July . 

Q. So if the order was ent ered i n on 

May 30th , 20 17 , that woul d be news to you ; i s t hat 

right? 

k now . 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

I t was -- when it was entered? 

Yes , sir . 

I mean , I don ' t r e cal l it , so I don ' t 

Yo u neve r knew when it was e n ter ed? 

When it was ente r ed? 
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Q. 

A . 

Q. 

Right . 

No, I don ' t know . 

You have no familia r ity wi th t he 

guardian s hip p r oceeding other than wh a t p eople have 

tol d you ; i s t hat a fa i r statement ? 

A. No , absol utel y not. I d i scussed t h e 

i ssue wi t h J ohn seve r a l times. 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

Did you ever a t t end any of the h earings? 

No . 

Did you ever r ead any of the reports o f 

the p h ysicians? 

Page 78 

A. I believ e those -- I can ' t read t hose b y 

HIPAA r u les . 

Q. I didn ' t ask you whether you could or 

y ou coul d n ' t . I asked you wh ether you did, s ir . 

Yes o r no . 

A. 

Q. 

I t ' s against t h e law, so no . 

Okay. Did you e v e r tal k to t he g u ardian 

ad l i tem in the guardianship p roceeding? 

A. 

Q. 

Who would t hat be? 

I ge t t o ask the ques t ions. You can 

answe r . I f you don ' t know , that ' s f i ne . 

A . I d on ' t know if I ' ve spoken to a p e r son . 

Q. Do you know a man named Fred Beer? 
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A. 

Q. 

ceremony of 

No , I don ' t . 

Okay . No w, wi t h respect to t h e mar r i age 

the s u pposed marr iage ceremony 

between Ms . Mc Donald and J ohn Mc Donald , you were 

not in attendance , correct ? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

I was not , no . 

You were not t here? 

No , I was not . 

You know of no witnesses to t he 

marriage; is t hat true? 

A. No , I do not know o f any witnesses t o 

t he marriage . 

MR. KINNALLY : Thank you . That ' s a l l I have, 

J udge. 

THE COURT : Redirec t based on t hat c r oss? 

Q. 

RED I RECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

At some p oint did John d i scuss with you 

t hat a g uardianship had been entered and if -- and 

you tes tified that you thought it was a r ound J u l y . 

So could i t have been that you spoke t o him about 

the guar d i anshi p pri or to that but you are just not 

specific as to the specific date that t he 

guardianship was ent ered? 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

Page 79 

R 321 

A-368 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

2 1 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/2019 

MR . KI NNALLY : Judge, I object to t hat based 

on h e arsay and based on the form of the ques t ion . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. At any t ime did John discuss wi th you 

that he was having to be psychol ogically evaluated 

by psychiatri c hea l t hcare professionals? 

Yes , he did discuss that. 

Page 80 

A. 

Q . Are you awar e that Dr . Nadkarn i actually 

i ndi cated t hat Dr . Mc Donald was not a candidate f or 

guardiansh ip? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge. Now she ' s 

going to t estify for Dr . Nadkarni . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Did J ohn ever speak to you about what 

the findings were of his c linical evaluation wi t h 

his expert , who is Dr . Nadkarni? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Object i on , J udge . That 's a 

hearsay response. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. We r e you aware that Dr . Greenberg was --

was there e v er a discuss i on r egarding Dr. Greenberg 
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evaluat i ng John? 

A . I don ' t remember -- I don ' t recal l t he 

name , but J ohn did convey that he was evaluated 

several t imes . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Judge , objecti on . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Were you aware t hat -- have you been 

i n formed that ther e is a gentleman by the name of 

Dr . Ramon Gonzalez? 

A. 

Q. 

I don ' t know t h e name . 

Okay . Was -- did John eve r discuss with 

you t hat a doctor who he had never seen wrote a 

physician ' s note on behalf of Shawn to t he Court ? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge , call s for a 

hearsay response . 

THE COURT : Overruled . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. Yes , John was l ivid about that . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. To your knowledge , did John -- was John 

see king to rep o rt that to the Il linoi s medi cal 

board? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ect i on. I t' s no t relevant . 
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THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Was t hi s medi cal physician ' s note one of 

the pillars that was used t o br i ng t h e guardian ship 

case 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. -- agains t John , to your knowledge? 

MR. KI NNALLY : He 's no t in a position t o 

answe r that question . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

Any oth e r r edirect based on what 

was brou ght out on c ross -examinat ion? 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Do y ou believ e t hat I am t he r i ght fu l 

heir t o John Mc Donald ' s estate? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge . That ' s not 

his d e cis i on to make. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MS. MC DONALD : I have no furt he r q ues t ions , 

Your Honor . 

THE COURT : Okay . Thank you , Doctor . You 

may s t e p down . 

THE WI TNESS : Thank you . 
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THE COURT : All r i ght . We ' ll ta ke a 

15- minute break, resume at 11: 25 . 

(Recess taken . ) 

THE COURT : Okay . You may cal l your next 

witness , Ms . Mc Donald . 

MS . MC DONALD: I would l ike to cal l Mr . Ray 

Bement , Your Honor. 

THE COURT : Mr . Bement , if you approach t he 

clerk, t he c lerk will adminis t er the oat h . 

(Witness sworn . ) 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. KI NNALLY : Judge , be f ore he begi ns , I 

would like t o be heard on this wi t ness with your 

permiss ion . 

THE COURT : Is it brief or long? 

MR . KI NNALLY : It ' s very brie f . 

THE COURT : Okay . Could I have -- Mr . 

Bement , could I have you sit outside for a moment 

a nd we ' ll ca l l you back . 

THE WI TNESS : Okay. Sur e . 

THE COURT : You ' ve b een swo r n . 

MR. KI NNALLY : I would like t hese wi tnesses 

exc luded, Judge, as well . 

THE COURT : They have t e stified . 
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MR . KI NNALLY: I don ' t know if they ' r e going 

to b e recalled . 

THE COURT : That ' s tru e . Are they on your 

witness l i s t ? 

MR . KI NNALLY : They are not . 

THE COURT : Okay . And --

MR . KI NNALLY : Shawn is my c lient. 

THE COURT : They were already here . Okay . 

All right. 

Could I have you wa i t outside un t i l 

further notice? 

You may be seated . You can address 

me from there. 

MR . KI NNALLY : Okay . I b r ough t t he issu e of 

Mr . Bement ' s t est imony up last Wednesday . Here 's 

the tra nscr ipt . 

(Handed t o Judge . ) 

MR. KI NNALLY : So t he issue at that time was 

t he a f fidav i t , a nd t h e a r gumen t that I made at that 

time you indicated you would reserve unt il today ' s 

da t e becau se the argument t hat I made in my reply to 

the mot i o n i n l imi ne that I f iled was t he 

inconsistenc i es in Mr . Bement ' s aff idavit as opposed 

to h is depos i t ion . Speci fical l y on page 2 of t h e 
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reply t hat I filed on Nov ember 4th, I out lined those 

i nconsi ste ncies on pages 36, 53 , 51, 4 7, 49, 61 , 45, 

66 , and other pages wi t h respect to the deposition 

that he gave . So I would like to voir dire this 

witness before they s tart review o f that . 

THE COURT : You mean as far as the 

deposi t ion ? 

MR. KI NNALLY : As far as his affidavi t , 

J udge . 

THE COURT : A discovery depos it ion o r in -­

MR. KI NNALLY : I ' m going to use the affidavit 

a nd I may use t he d e position . Otherwise I can wait 

u ntil 

THE COURT : No , I mean , you ' re want i ng to 

voir dire t h i s witness here in court? 

MR . KI NNALLY : I do . 

THE COURT : Before h e testifi es? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Base d on the a f fidavi t t hat 

was f i led and g i ven to you last Wednesday . 

THE COURT : And why would 

MR . KI NNALLY : The r e ason is because of t he 

i ncon sistenci es that I outlined in t he affi davi t 

with r espect to his prior sworn testimony and in 

view of t he notary t hat was on t he a f fidav i t t hat 
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was submitted t o t he Court that came from the State 

o f New York . 

THE COURT : And to wha t purpose -- i f you 

complete that voir dire, what do you antici pate 

doing? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Wel l , I don ' t know . I don ' t 

know wha t he ' s go ing to say . I don 't know what 

t he -- I want t o know the circumst ances u n der which 

the affidavi t was made because I believe , as I 

argued last Wednesday , tha t he ei ther lied a t hi s 

deposition and perjured himself or t his affidavit is 

a fraud on t he Court . 

MS. MC DONALD: Your Honor , I object t o t his 

in regard to t h is i s as i f you' re t hrowing out a 

broad ne t on a fishi ng expedition when , i n fact, a 

notar y , when t hey sig n a document , is attestin g to 

the fact that t he pe r son before them is t he person 

signing t he document. They ' r e not attesting to the 

veracity of the document . A notary is a notary and 

valid whether it is i n the Stat e of New York , 

Oklahoma , and as I s t a ted on Thursday , or i n the 

U. S . Con s ulate ' s office i n Sydney . 

Furthermore , in regard to your 

statement s that Mr. Bement ' s t est i mony i s 
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inconsis t ent , there were several ins t ances whereby 

you have cherry- picke d Mr . Bement ' s testimony and 

taken i t out of cont ext , and I believe t hat 

Mr . Bement should be affor ded the opportunity to 

q u a li fy hi s s t atements in context to which they were 

being made . 

THE COURT : That ' s kind of t he purpose h e ' s 

asking fo r 

MS . MC DONALD : Yeah . 

THE COURT : is f or clar i fi cat ion . He ' s 

asking to vo ir dire , in other words , to question the 

witne ss as t o t he inconsistencies and maybe give him 

a n opportunity to clarify that . 

MS . MC DONALD : I object to t hat , Your Honor . 

He had sufficient time to call Mr . Bement back for 

another deposi tion . In f act , he had subpoenaed 

Mr . Bement for a deposit i on befor e and canceled . 

THE COURT : Obj e ction is overruled. I ' ll 

allow the voir d ire o n a limi ted basis to precede 

t he direct questioning of p laint i f f -- or of 

Petitioner as her witness in her case in chief . 

So you may call back bailiff , if 

you ' l l cal l back Mr . Bement, we ' l l limit that to 

15 minu tes . 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

R 329 

A-376 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

2 1 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/2019 Page 88 

MR . KI NNALLY: Oh , I don ' t t h i nk i t wi ll be 

t hat l ong, Judge, but I appreciate t hat time . 

THE COURT : Al l r i g h t. 

THE BAILIFF : Are t h e other witnesses allowed 

back? 

THE COURT : No. 

THE BAILIFF : Okay . 

THE WITNESS: Am I still sworn in? 

THE COURT : Yes . Would you state you r name , 

address , and occupation for t he r ecord and spell 

your first and last name? 

THE WITNESS: Yeah, i t ' s Ray , R- a - y , Bement , 

B- e - m- e - n - t . And you asked for my address? 

THE COURT : Address and occupation , yes. 

THE WI TNESS : 1005 North Randolph, Ch ampaign, 

Illinois 60120 . And my occupati on i s I ' m a licensed 

cl inica l soc i a l worker in the state of I l l i no is . 

THE COURT : Al l r i ght . Thank you. 

THE WITNESS : Uh-huh . 

THE COURT : We are going to proceed with 

questions a t thi s t ime , f irst from Mr . Kinnally and 

then from Ms . Mc Donal d , a nd thi s will be on a 

limited basis with r egard t o your aff idavit a nd your 

deposit ion test imony. 
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sworn . ) 

THE WITNESS : Okay . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Can I approach, Judge? 

THE COURT : Yo u may approa ch . 

(Wi t ness p reviou s l y 

RAY BEMENT 

called as a witness herein , having been fir s t du l y 

sworn , was examined and t es t i fi ed as fol lows : 

Q. 

VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Mr. Bement , my name ' s Pat Kinnally. You 

were in my o ffi ce on J u l y 3rd , 201 9 ; is that right ? 

t hat? 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

You gave a deposi t i on . Do you remember 

Oh , I remember that , uh-huh . 

Nice to see you again . 

THE COURT : You ha nd ed h im what d ocument? 

MR . KI NNALLY : I handed him, wi t h you r 

permission , Bement Exh ibi t No . 1 , whi ch is an 

affidavit for Raymond C . Be me n t which is undated and 

was filed wi th thi s Cour t on October 30th , 201 9 , as 

p art o f a r esponse to motion i n limine by El l izze t te 

Mc Donald. 
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THE COURT : Al l r i g h t. 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q. So , Mr . Bement, when did you s i gn t h is 

document? 

A. I t was t he - - i t was on a Fri day . I t 

was on a Friday . 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Q. 

Brookl yn? 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Where d i d you sign i t? 

In Brooklyn. 

Brooklyn , where? 

New York . 

Okay. And what were y ou doing in 

I 'd ra t her not say, if that ' s okay . 

We r e you there to see a notary public? 

Well , for thi s particular document , yes, 

but that wasn ' t my main goal for be ing in Brookl yn. 

Q. 

A. 

Why were you in Brooklyn? 

I would r ather not say . 

MS. MC DONALD : I object , Your Honor . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. I was on a date and I would ra t h e r not 

put that i n the recor d 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q. Okay . That's fine . 
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A. -- to be honest wi t h you . 

MS . MC DONALD: It ' s not foundat i onal too . 

THE COURT : Overruled . 

MS . MC DONALD: The reason Mr . Bement was in 

Brooklyn --

THE COURT : Overruled . 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

me . 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

Who prepared the document? 

I prepared the document. 

Where? 

I n Champ aign . I t ook the document with 

So when did you prepare the document ? 

Please , s ir , just answer the 

question . You don ' t have t o be argumentative? 

A. No , I sat through a deposition with you 

and you called me a liar , sir . 

whole 

Q. 

A. 

We ' ll get to t hat . 

You called me a liar . You cal l ed my 

THE COURT : Sir . 

MS. MC DONALD : Objection . 

THE WI TNESS : This is real l y emotional. I ' m 

sorry . It ' s very emotional . 
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THE COURT : Do you need t o t ake a break? We 

have only j ust s tarted. 

day . 

THE WITNESS: No , we ' v e all had breaks a l l 

THE COURT : Ar e you r eady to go then? 

THE WI TNESS : Oh , sur e . 

THE COURT : Well , listen to t h e ques tion and 

respond to t he ques tion . 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

So you p r epared t h is a f f i davit? 

Yes , s ir . 

Alone or with somebody e l se? 

By myse lf firs t and then I edit e d i t . 

Who did you g ive i t to ? 

A friend t o check my spel ling . 

Okay . Who was that? 

A friend that I work with . 

Okay. What's the person ' s name? 

Chri stine Mc Donald . 

Okay . Did you pro v ide t his affidavit t o 

Ms . Mc Donald? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yeah , because I had to get it s i g ned. 

Why did y o u c r eate it? Tell the J udge . 

I created t he document because --
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MS . MC DONALD : Objection , Your Honor . 

This -- it ' s b e e n established that Mr . Bement 

s ubmit t ed the document and that it is his 

testimony that the statements in the document are 

his and t hat he s i gned to the ver aci ty o f the 

document. 

THE COURT : Overruled . 

You may answer. 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A . I create d the document b e cause I went 

back over my depos i tion and I realized that I wasn ' t 

really that accurat e, but I wasn ' t aske d r e a l ly 

specific questions so I thought I would should flush 

out my depos i t i on . 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

Who asked you t o create this document? 

No one asked me to c r eate it . 

So you -- you ' r e t ell ing this Court that 

you wen t bac k and r ead your depos i tion and you felt 

t hat you had t o cor rect i t a nd creat e an a f f i davit 

to be fi led in this cour t? I s that your tes t imony? 

A. No , what I d i d -- okay . You ' re rolling 

your eyes at me l ike I ' m lying . 

Q. I ' m not r oll ing my eyes . I t urned to 
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l ook back at my client . 

A . I saw exactly what you d id . You did 

th is d u ring t he deposition . 

Q. Don ' t t ell me that . Please just speak 

to t he Jud ge . 

THE COURT : Yes , i f you have any problems , 

you can t alk t o me. No back and forth . Just answer 

t he questions. 

MS. MC DONALD: Can I ask a ques t ion , Your 

Honor, so we can move 

THE COURT : I don 't think we need 

sugge stions . All we need is answers t o que stions . 

If there ' s a good objection to a question --

MS . MC DONALD : I concur. 

THE COURT : then bring it up . 

MS . MC DONALD : I was going to sugges t to 

perhaps let Mr . Bement know that, if you could just 

respond to Mr. Kinnally' s ques t ions to the Judge , 

a nd I concur with the Judge . 

THE WITNESS : That ' s no t wha t I meant. 

MR . KI NNALLY : Could we read the ques t ion 

bac k, Judge? 

THE COURT : All r i ght . Is there a q uestion 

pending? 
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MR . KI NNALLY: There was . 

THE COURT: All r ight . Cou ld we go back to 

that question that was pending . 

(Quest i on read . ) 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. What I d id was I went back and l ooked at 

my deposition , yes , and I h ad received a let ter that 

I was not go i ng t o be subpoenaed or I was -- I was 

not going to be nee d ed for this trial and I couldn 't 

understand why I wouldn ' t be needed f o r the t rial . 

So I wen t back to read the deposition and I thought 

maybe I was too g ene r al, so I wen t back to look a t 

my facts and create a timeline because I d i dn't 

suppl y one dur i ng the deposition . I wasn ' t asked 

for one and I t hought it was a hole i n it . 

THE COURT : Al l r i g h t . Next q uestion . 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

So you ' re he r e u nder a s ubpoena t oday? 

No . 

So in your affidavit, it ' s your 

testimony be f ore thi s Court in paragraph 8 t hat y ou 

signed the ma rriage lic ense and the certifi cate in 

the din i ng room o f the Pari s home; is t hat r ight ? 

Is t hat your t estimony now? 
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A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

And it ' s your t estimony before t h is 

Court t oday and in t h i s affidavit t hat you r ead the 

vows with r espect to J o hn and Ellizze tte Mc Donald 

i n Edgar County? I s that you r t estimony before thi s 

Cour t? 

A. 

Q. 

I n their l ivi ng room, yes . 

That ' s your t es timony today and t he 

t e stimony in t h is affidavit? You 're cle ar about 

that? 

A. Yes . 

MR. KI NNALLY : Okay . Tha t ' s all I have . 

Thank you , Judge. 

THE COURT : Thank you. Any quest i ons about 

t hose mat t ers t hat have been asked in t h i s v oir 

dire? Jus t Mr . Kinna ll y ' s questions a nd hi s 

answe r s? Un l ess you ' re going to cover them in your 

g e nera l q uestions to him . 

MS. MC DONALD : I ' m going to cover t h em in my 

general q ues t ions . 

THE COURT : All r ight . Then you may proceed . 

Go a head. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 
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Q. 

A . 

Q. 

Mr . Bement , may I refer t o you as Ray? 

Yes . 

How long have yo u known me , 

approximately? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Since 1 98 2 . 

And how l ong d i d you know John? 

The same amount o f t ime . 

Since t ha t time , were you aware o f a 

r elationsh ip between John and myself? 

A . 

Q. 

Yes . 

Was this someth ing that was known 

amongst your o t her friends? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

After you graduated from the University 

o f I llinoi s and we all wen t our sep arat e ways , d id 

you have the o pportun i ty to inter act with myself or 

John? 

was? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Ye s. 

And how frequently would you say t hat 

It was --

MR. KI NNALLY : Foundat i on , objecti on . I 

don ' t know when he g r aduated, Judge . 

THE COURT : Sustained . Time and place . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. So after mid 1980 at t he University o f 

I l linois , Urbana-Champaign , did you h ave t he 

opportu n ity aft er the mid 1980s to interact with or 

speak to J ohn o r myse l f? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

And were you aware at t hat t ime that 

t here was s ti ll an o ngoing relationship? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j e ction, J udge. Ag a i n , 

foundation . Originally i t was ' 82 , now we ' r e back 

to 1980. 

MS . MC DONALD: I said 1985 is when we 

graduated, ' 84 , ' 85 . He indicated that he firs t met 

US in 1981 , I 82 , 

THE COURT : Oka y . What transact ion are you 

re ferr i ng t o now and when was i t? 

MS . MC DONALD: Transact i on? 

THE COURT : Aware n e ss . You said , "Were you 

aware . " 

MS. MC DONALD : I want to es t abl i sh the fact 

t hat Ray --

THE COURT : Ask the questions but first set 

the time f r ame . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. So, Ray, so you -- we re you aware after 

19 -- t he mid 1980s , when we all gradua t ed, that 

John and I cont inued a relationship? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , J udge. It ' s a 

l eading question . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MR. KI NNALLY: Assumes a fact not in evidence 

as to people graduat i ng . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. We r e you aware of me being in a 

relationship with John after 1985 ? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

Were you aware of John being in a 

re l ationship with me a fter 1985? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

Were you aware of me continuing that 

re l ationsh ip with John into 1 990 , when John was 

working i n S t . Louis? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , l eading . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. In 1 990 , we r e you aware that I was 
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continu i ng a relat i onship with John ? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Same objection . 

THE COURT : Su stained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. We re you aware that J ohn was -- had 

ult imately moved to St . Louis ? 

A. 

Q . 

Ye s . 

During t hat time that John was living in 

St . Louis , were you awar e of a relat ionship that I 

was having with J ohn? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , foundation . I 

don ' t know when he moved to St . Louis . The witne ss 

hasn ' t said it eithe r . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MS . MC DONALD : I ' m sorry? 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. There came a point in - - between 201 4 , 

2015 , 2016 , 2017 when I was spending mo r e t ime in 

Illinois , in t he Midwest . Are you aware o f that? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection . The witness is now 

testify i ng . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. To the b e st of your recollection , when 

was the firs t time in recent years t hat we 

reconnected and were in --

A. 

Q . 

2015 wi t h you , yes . 

And at that time , had I communi cated 

with you being in a r e l ationshi p wi t h John? 

MR. KI NNALLY: Objection. She ' s testifying . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Did you know if I was in a relationship ? 

Yes . 

And who was I in that re l a t ionsh i p with? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . She ' s t estifying 

again . 

THE COURT : Overruled . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. You can answer. 

THE WITNESS : So I should a nswer? 

THE COURT : Go ahea d . 

THE WITNESS : I ' m sorr y . I ' m confused . 

THE COURT : I f I sustain the objecti on , you 

don ' t a nswer . If I overrule it , you can answer . Go 

ahead and answer it. 
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BY THE WITNESS : 

A . Okay . God - -

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . So the quest i on was , who was I in a --

THE COURT : Wa i t , wait . Okay . If there ' s -­

do you know what the question was? 

THE WITNESS: No , I l os t it . 

THE COURT : All r ight . Can I have t h e court 

reporter read bac k the question? 

(Quest i on read . ) 

BY THE WITNESS : 

sure . 

A. I ' m no t sure a t t hat t ime . I ' m not 

THE COURT : All r i ght . Next q ues t ion . 

MS . MC DONALD : Your Honor , I t hink --

THE COURT : Next q uestion . Can we g e t to t he 

wedding , the marriage , et cetera? 

MS. MC DONALD : Yes. 

THE COURT : Because I thin k some of this 

previou s stuff has already been talked about as 

being i r relevant . 

MS . MC DONALD : I would like to establish 

that Mr . Bement had a lengthy history o f friendship 

on a professional and a persona l l e vel wi t h my 
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h usband a n d I , that t hat he -- g i ven t hat, h e 

also had an opinion as to how substantial our 

re l ation s h ip was. 

MR . KI NNALLY : Judge , I object t o h e r 

testi fyi ng agai n . 

THE COURT : You don ' t want to stipul a t e to 

that s tatement ? 

MR. KI NNALLY: I do not. 

THE COURT : Okay . Yes , don ' t tell me what 

you want t o es t abl i sh, j us t establish it wi th this 

witness , if you can. 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. I s i t your opinion that John and I were 

i n a r e l ationsh ip over a period of year s, if not 

decades? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . It ' s not relevant. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. I n 20 17 , did you become awa r e t hat J ohn 

a nd I were engag ed? 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Yes . 

And how d i d you b ecome aware of tha t ? 

Joh n called me on the phone and t old me . 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ection, move to strike . 
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Call s f or a hearsay r esponse . 

MS . MC DONALD: Your Honor, Mr. Bement n eeds 

to be able to tel l the Court when --

THE COURT: Ov e rruled . The answer would 

stand as an except i on to hea r say; int ent . 

Go ahead . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. And did John a t t ha t t ime ask y o u to 

marry us or did that come later? 

MR . KI NNALLY: Sarne ob j ect ion . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONAL D: 

Q. Did you p ar t i cipate in pre parat ions fo r 

a marriage ceremony b e tween J ohn and myself? 

A . 

Q. 

Yes . 

We r e the preparat i ons f or t hat marr i age 

ceremony -- did they commence i n March , April , and 

May of 201 7? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Objection . I t's a leading 

q uest ion . 

THE COURT: Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Did you he lp us prepare f o r a marriage 

ce r emony i n April of 20 1 7 in t e rms o f the 
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prepara t ion? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Same objection . 

THE COURT : Su stained . 

Can you just ask him what he d id so 

he can answer and not adopt your words? 

MS . MC DONALD : Sur e . Ri g h t . 

THE COURT : No , ask him somet hing . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q . Can you tell t he Court what you did to 

prepare John and I for marriage? 

A. Over t he period of , I would say, two , 

t h ree mon t hs , we were social with one anothe r and 

our conversations l e d to discussions about 

relationship . And we began to talk about what i t 

mean t to be in a relationship . I was breaking up 

with someone and so t he conversation just kind o f 

morphed around being middle-aged and being in a 

r elationship. And so we beg an having conversations 

about what i t meant to be in a relationship i n our 

50s . 

Q. At any point did we sit down with you 

and go t hrough some o f the questions that a r e 

required in the J ewi sh faith , accord ing to the 

rabbini cal law, i n o rder for you to dete rmi n e 
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whether or no t you woul d marry us? 

MR . KINNALLY: Objection . It's a leading 

q uestion . 

THE COURT: Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. At any time did you sit down -- at any 

point did you go t hrough a series of ques t i ons with 

John a nd I t o prepare for -- to determine whether or 

not you would marry us? 

A . 

Q. 

Yes . 

And did there come a point that you 

determined based upon your own morale and beliefs in 

keeping wi t h the rules - - our religious faith that 

you felt comfortable in marrying J ohn and myself? 

MR. KI NNALLY: Objection, Judge . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . Leading agai n . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Okay. I want -- if I may digress. 

Mr . Bement , were you fami l i ar that 

John was in l itigation regarding his brother filing 

for a plenary guardianshi p over him? 

A. 

Q. 

No . 

You weren't awar e that John was i nvolved 

in a litigat ion for -- that his brother had filed a 
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guardianship case against him? 

MR . KI NNALLY: Objection, Judge . I t ' s asked 

and answered . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Do you know what a plenary guar dian ship 

i s? 

MR. KINNALLY: Objection. It is not 

r elevant. 

MS . MC DONALD: It is relevant because 

opposing counsel contends that my husband was u nder 

a plenary guardianship . And, in fact, as we ' v e 

already es t ablished, as Your Honor has stated, t his 

is a matter for the guardianship court , but the 

plenary g uardianship was something that Mr . Bement 

can speak t o not onl y professionally but personally . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

THE WI TNESS: So does that mean I answer 

t hat? 

THE COURT : That means you don ' t answer. 

THE WITNESS: I don' t answe r. Okay . Thank 

you. 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Do you know who Shawn Mc Donald i s ? 
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MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . I t' s no t relevant. 

MS . MC DONALD: It is relevant because h e ' s 

the one wh o i s bringing the case . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Judge , we ' r e not bringing a 

case . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Were you aware t hat a guardiansh ip had 

been granted to Shawn Mc Donald over John Mc Donald 

in absen t ia? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , Judge , asked and 

a nswered. He said h e was unaware of t he 

guardianship. 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. We re you aware of a g uardianship over 

John Mc Dona l d? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j e ction. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Did you ever a t tend court where John 

Mc Donald appeared with his attor ney in a 

guardian s hip p r oceeding? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ect i on. 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

R 350 

A-397 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/2019 Page 109 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MS . MC DONALD: Your Honor , Mr . Bement 

clearly appeared in the guardiansh ip court wi t h my 

husband; and, in fact , I do believe h e misunderstood 

the ques t i on before because c l ear ly Mr . Bement 

THE COURT : Wai t a minute . No more 

testifyi ng . You ' re asking the ques t i ons for t hi s 

wi t ness ' s t estimony . 

MS . MC DONALD : Does he have an opportunity 

i f he mi s u nderstood t he question t o change h is 

a nswer or to q ualify his answer? Because i t ' s very 

clear that he did no t unders t and t he quest i on 

because --

THE COURT : You ' re test i f ying . You con tinue 

to testify . If you wa nt me t o j ust suspend t his? 

Ask anoth e r ques t ion and let ' s get to t he wedding , 

i f that ' s what you ' re getting to . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. So o n July 1 1 th , did you pe r form a 

wedding ceremony? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

And d i d you sign a weddi ng ce r t i f i cate 

for Joh n Mc Donal d and myself? 

A. Yes . 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

R 351 

A-398 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/20 19 Page 110 

Q . After we signed the weddi ng certificate , 

did we leave to go to Allerton Park? 

THE COURT : Can you --

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge . 

THE COURT : not l ead him . As k h i m what 

happened next i f that ' s 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Okay . What happened next? 

THE COURT : All r ight . 

MS . MC DONALD : Sorry . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. Okay . I signed t he certificate in t he 

kitchen, on the kitchen table . Both of them went in 

and changed clothes . We agreed to meet in Champaign 

a nd t hen proceeded to Al l erton Park . 

MR . KI NNALLY : I didn ' t hear that . Pardon 

me? 

THE WI TNESS : We p rocee ded to Alle rton Park 

after that . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Thank you , sir . 

THE COURT : Next ques t ion . 

BY MS. MC DONALD: 

Q. At Al lerton Park , we r e there any 

addit i onal ac t ivities regardi ng t h e ceremony 
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performed? Was there a relig ious portion? 

A . Yeah . It was more s e cular at Allert on 

Park , yes . 

THE COURT : Could you read back the answer . 

(An swer read.) 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. The night before you perf ormed a 

marriage ceremony at our home in Paris , Il l inois , 

did you, in keeping with t he Jewish f aith, at t e nd 

our home for a Ketubah s i gning? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ection. I t's a leading 

ques t ion. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Did you s ign a Ketubah on July 10th? 

Yes . 

And could you , for the Court , explain 

what a Ketubah is? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Object i on , J udge . It ' s 

irrelevan t . It does not matter whe t her t hey had a 

r eligiou s ceremony o r not in the State of Il l inois . 

I t ' s irrel eva nt . 

THE COURT : Overruled . I ' l l l e t him answer , 

if he knows . 
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Do you know ? 

BY THE WITNESS: 

A. The Ketubah i s the -- like what 

Christians would call a marriage license , me aning 

what one par ty's bri nging to the relat ions hip ; and 

what the other party ' s bringing to t h e relationship , 

and it ' s d one on a very formal piece of parchment, 

usually lambskin . I t ' s very beaut iful , act ually . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Af t er we were married, d i d you h ave the 

opportunity to int eract with John and mysel f? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

And was t hat on a professional basis, a 

personal bas i s , or both? 

A . 

Q. 

Bot h , I would say . 

Professional l y , coul d you tell the Court 

what we were engaged in? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j e ction , Judg e . How is this 

re levant to anything we 're doing her e? 

MS . MC DONALD : It goes t o my husband ' s state 

o f mind and his abili t y to function , again , at a 

high capacity and be not only cognizant o f --

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Were you involved in a project t hat 

included my husband and myself and t he NFL , the NHL , 

and various other elite sports teams with the Human 

Connectome Project after you performed our marriage 

ceremony? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection . I t' s no t relevant, 

Judge . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. 

disabl ed? 

Was J ohn , in your op inion , deemed 

MR. KINNALLY : Objection , Judge , call s for a 

conclus ion . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Do you believe John was suicidal? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j e ction. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Do you believe John was homicidal ? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Do you b e lieve t hat John was incapabl e 

of caring for h imse l f? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. I s it your opinion t hat John was happi l y 

married? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , Judge . It ' s 

irrelevant . 

THE COURT: Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Is it your opinion that John was seeking 

to be emancipated from family ? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , Judge . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Are you aware of criminal activit y 

towards John that involved h i s brother? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . I t ' s i rrelevant . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS. MC DONALD: 

Q. At any time did you feel , based upon 

your profess i onal l icensure , t o report concern --
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to report any conce rns ? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Object i on, foundation, 

irrelevant. 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. We r e you ever in fear ? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , irrelevant . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . We r e you ever in fear for John? 

MR. KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , irrelevant . 

MS. MC DONALD: It ' s not irrel e vant . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Do y ou believe t hat J ohn neede d a 

guardian? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , irrelevant . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MS. MC DONALD : It ' s not irrel evant . 

Mr. Bement works in t h e c apac i ty and p a rt of his 

princi pal r o le i s t o work in a capacity assessing 

guar dian s hips. 

THE COURT : All r ight . Well, I ' m not going 

to allow that, so if there are no o t her ques tions 
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that are relevant , p r obably to just t he ceremony 

itself or relevant to that ceremony, then you ' r e 

probably done with you r questions . 

MS . MC DONALD: It ' s not --

THE COURT : Al l r i ght . Anythi ng f u r ther? 

MS . MC DONALD : I defer to you , Your Honor . 

THE COURT : Don ' t defer t o me . Do you h a v e 

a n y o t her ques t ions t h a t migh t be re l evant to the 

ceremon y? 

MS . MC DONALD : Your Honor , there are many 

thing s that are rel evant to the ceremony and to my 

relat ionship , but , again , as I expressed e arl ier , 

t h is isn ' t my bailiwick and I don ' t know that 

Mr . Bement should be here during thi s , but the r ole 

o f the Court I though t was to s e e k the truth and t he 

truth 

THE COURT : Yes , you ' re correct . He 

shouldn ' t be here whi le we are talking like this . 

We ' re gett i ng into t h e c r oss-examination next , so 

let ' s ge t done wi t h t h at a nd t hen we can go to 

lunch . 

MR. KI NNALLY : Okay . Do you want me t o g o? 

THE COURT : It ' s a little after 12 : 00 . How 

mu c h t i me do you --
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MR . KI NNALLY : It ' s going to t ake a while . 

THE COURT: All r ight . Let ' s resume at 

1 : 00 o ' clock . 

MR . KI NNALLY : That 's fine . I have one 

witness coming at 1 : 30 . I don 't know if we ' l l need 

him, but I want to alert t h e Court . I don ' t want to 

interrupt their case . 

THE COURT : Le t ' s come bac k at 12:45 t hen . 

That ' s a l itt le over half an hour , if you can all do 

that in t hat time . 

And, in t h e meantime , I ' m going t o 

i nstruct t he witness , please don ' t talk about your 

testimony with anyone between now and coming back at 

12 : 45 . 

MS . MC DONALD : Your Honor --

THE COURT : You ' l l still be under 

THE WI TNESS : I can sit here? Can I sit here 

in the room? 

THE COURT : Well , you can sit outside t h e 

room, but I t hink they ' re p robably going t o lock the 

door for half an hour . 

THE WI TNESS : I don ' t have anywhere else to 

be . 

MS. MC DONALD : Your Honor , in considerat i on 
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o f t he fact t hat I may , in fac t, need to leave 

today, I ac t ual l y would l i ke to continue to proceed, 

also so t hat Mr . Bement can leave . 

THE COURT : We ' re not going t hrough lunch , if 

that ' s wh a t you ' re a s king . The staff shoul d h ave a 

chance to get some l unch . 

MS . MC DONALD : Al l right. 

THE COURT : All r ight . So let ' s come b ac k a t 

q uarter t o 1 : 00 . 

(Recess t a ken . ) 

THE COURT: Okay. Your p r evi o u s two 

witne sses , do you inte nd to cal l t hem again? 

MS. MC DONALD: Yes . 

THE COURT : You do? All right . Then t hey 

have t o be excluded u nti l t hey ' re done testifying . 

MS . MC DONAL D: Al l right . 

THE COURT : Okay . 

MS. MC DONALD : I ' m not -- to qualify , I ' m 

not su r e but --

THE COURT : I understand, but you may . 

MS . MC DONALD: I may . 

THE COURT : Okay . All righ t . The n when we 

left for l unch , Mr . Bement was on the witness s t and . 

So , if you wou l d r e sume t hat seat 
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again , Mr . Bement . 

(Witness complies . ) 

THE COURT : Yo u ' re still under oat h . 

THE WITNESS : Yes . 

THE COURT : Yo u may proceed wi th cross , 

Mr . Kinnal l y . 

Q . 

CROSS - EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KINNALLY : 

Mr . Bemen t , i t' s my understand i n g that 

you hold l icenses in the State of Il l inois in 

cosmetology and also as a behavioral social worker ; 

is that right? 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

onl y . 

No , that is incorrect . 

Okay . What a re your licenses i n , t hen? 

I ' m a licensed clinical social worker 

Page 119 

Q. You were a l i censed cosmetologist a t one 

point? 

A. Yes . 

Q. Okay . And it ' s my understanding, also , 

t hat you had very little cont act between yourself 

and J ohn Mc Donald, III , and Ellizzette Mc Do na ld 

between t h e years of 2000 and 20 1 6 ; i s that right? 

A. What did you say? 
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MR . KI NNALLY : Can she read i t back? 

THE COURT: Ye s . Go a head . 

(Question read . ) 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. Yeah . 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

Okay . 

Yes . 

And i t was your idea to be t he officia nt 

at this cer e mony --

MS. MC DONALD: Objection , Your Honor , in the 

form of the que s tion . 

MR. KINNALLY : Thi s is cross , Judge. 

MS . MC DONALD : I t was not Mr . Bement ' s idea . 

THE COURT : This i s cross-examination , so 

unlike u nder direct exami nation , he can lead the 

witness . So overrul ed . 

MR. KI NNALLY : Could she read it back , Judge , 

please? 

THE COURT : Go ahea d , Madam Court Reporte r. 

(Ques tion r ead .) 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A . Yes . 
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BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q. Okay . And in order to do that , you 

obtained a certificate from the Universal Life 

Church Minis try; is t hat right? 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Q. 

That ' s correct, u h - huh . 

That was an online -­

Ye s . 

event? 

Took about 5 t o 10 minutes? 

Yes . 

And the marr i age ceremony, as you 

test i f i ed on direct , the secular marriage c e remony 

was conduc t ed in Piatt County ; is that a fair 

s t atemen t ? 

A . 

Q. 

Yes . 

Okay . 

MS . MC DONALD : Sorry . Could you repeat 

that? I didn ' t hear it. It ' s hard to he ar back 

her e . I ' m sorry . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Do you want to read t h at back, 

Judge? 

THE COURT : Okay . Madam Court Repor ter , 

cou ld you r ead it back, please? 

(Question read .) 
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MR . KI NNALLY: Can I go ahead, Judge? 

THE COURT: Go a head, yes . 

MS . MC DONALD: Obj ect i on , Your Honor . 

Mr . Bement also t estified earl i e r that he perfo r med 

a ma rriage c eremon y at our h ome in Paris. 

MR . KI NNALLY : Hi s t esti mon y accordi ng to my 

notes was that the secul a r part of t h e marr iag e was 

condu c t ed in Pi a tt County . That ' s wh a t he t es tified 

to . 

THE COURT : Al l r i gh t . You ' l l be able to 

redirect quest i ons , so overr u l ed . 

BY MR . KINNALLY: 

Q. And p r i o r to conducting that mar riage 

ceremony , you never knew a person named El l izzet te 

Duvall Min nice l li; i s t hat a f a ir stat ement , si r ? 

MS . MC DONALD : Objec tion , Your Honor . 

Mr . Bement has already tes t if i ed t hat he has kn own 

me since 1 9 -- I b el i e v e i t was ' 81, ' 82. Again , we 

wou l d have t o refer t o the record . 

THE COURT : I understand . Overru l ed . 

You cannot coach t h e wi t n e ss or 

make i ndi catio n s t o t he witness , i f t hat ' s what 

you ' r e do i ng back t here . 

MS. MC DONALD : No , I ' m not trying to coach 
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him . 

THE COURT: Or s ha ke your head . 

MS . MC DONALD : Mr . Kinnally has refu sed to 

acknowledge me as Ellizzette Duvall Mc Donald since 

the beginning and i t becomes a matter of are we here 

for the t ruth or are we here for circle work? 

Mr . Bement a l ready t estified 

THE COURT : Wait. Wai t . We don ' t need any 

editorial on question afte r question . Your 

objection was overruled , so let the question be 

a nswered and finished . We ' ll move on to t he next 

one. 

You may answer it . 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A . I knew her . I kn ew her . 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q. Sir , listen to my question , please . Did 

you know Ellizzett e Duval l Minnicelli at or about 

t he t ime you performed the ce r emony in Piatt County , 

yes or no? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

Okay . Did you g ive a d e p osition at my 

o ffice on Ju l y 3rd, 2019? 

A. Yes . 
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Q . And a t t hat time a lady who was sitting 

to your l e ft, much like the l ady sitting to your 

left , t ook down your answers t o the ques t ions t hat 

were asked; i s that true? 

A. 

Q . 

Ye s . 

Okay . And at that time you tol d t h e 

truth ; i s n ' t t hat right? 

A. 

Q . 

Yes . 

Okay . And were the following q uestions 

asked a nd answered , page 55 , beginning at l ines 5 . 

" So prior to today 's date you ' ve 

never seen t his docume nt? " 

Answer , "No ." 

"And did you know t hat El l izzette 

put down her name as Ell izze tte Duval l Minnicelli? " 

Answer , " That ' s what it says here . " 

" You don ' t know h er by that name , 

do you? " 

"No . No ." 

" Do you know t hat t he person that ' s 

i ndicated on thi s document as Ellizzette Duvall 

Minn icelli ind i cated she was born in Lyon , Fra nce? " 

"That ' s news to me ." 

Were t hose the que stions and your 
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answers t hat were g i ven on that dat e? 

A . 

Q . 

Yes, I didn ' t know her by 

Thank you. 

Now , once the alleged marriag e 

ceremony you conduct ed in Piatt County 

MS . MC DONALD: Obj ect ion , Your Honor . I t i s 

not the a l leged . I have a valid marriage 

certificat e . 

THE COURT : Ove rruled . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Let me do it this way with 

your permi ss ion , Judg e . 

BY MR . KINNALLY: 

Q. The cere mony that was conducted by you 

i n Piatt Count y , t here were no witnesses ; i sn ' t that 

true? 

MS . MC DONALD : Objection , Your Honor . 

Mr . Bement has already testified that he performed a 

ceremony i n our home in Edgar County and Mr . 

Kinnal ly is cont i nuin g to insist t hat i t was in 

Piatt County . 

THE COURT : Overruled . 

MR. KI NNALLY : Do you remember t he q uesti on , 

sir? 

THE WI TNESS : No , I don 't. 
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MR . KI NNALLY : Madam Court Report er , coul d 

you read it back with the Judge ' s permission , 

please? 

THE COURT : Go ahead . 

(Quest i on read . ) 

BY THE WITNESS : 

A. Yes . 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q . Okay . Th e only people t hat were present 

at that t i me when you were in Piatt County were John 

Mc Donal d , I I I , and El lizzette Mc Donald ; i s t hat 

right? 

A. Correct . 

MS . MC DONALD : Objection , Your Honor . 

MR . KI NNALLY : He has already answe red i t . 

MS . MC DONALD : We are her e to determine the 

validity of my marriage i n Edgar County , not Piatt 

County. 

THE COURT : All r ight . You ' l l get a chance 

to redirect q uestions to t he wi t ness . Overruled . 

BY MR . KINNALLY: 

Q. The mar r iage l i cense that was obt ained 

to pe r form a ceremony either in Edgar -- in Edgar 

County was obt a i ned b y you ; i s t hat right ? 
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A. No . 

MS . MC DONALD: Ob j ection, Your Honor . 

Mr . Kinna lly is well aware that a marriage l icense 

is ascertained by the applicant , the parties 

engaging i n a marr i age . 

MR . KI NNALLY : It doesn ' t matte r what I know . 

I t mat t ers what t h e wi tness knows. 

THE COURT : I t ' s overruled . Can we just get 

through t h is questioning and t hen you ' ll get a 

chance at r edi r ecti ng questions t o the witness and 

you can c l arify any other i tems t h at you hav e to 

clari fy in argument ? But I don ' t need argument a t 

every ques t ion. 

MS . MC DONAL D: Can I say something? 

THE COURT : Go ahead . 

MS . MC DONALD : When I was ques t ioni ng , t here 

appear ed t o be an a r gument at every --

THE COURT : That was an obj e ction to leading 

q uestions or foundation or relevance . 

BY MR . KINNALLY : 

Q. At t he t ime of your deposi t ion, isn ' t it 

t r ue t hat you t old me everything before t he cour t 

reporter wi t h r espec t to t h e location o f the 

ma r riage , the ce r emony itself, and t h e na t ure of the 
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relationship between the par t ies? 

A . I answere d your quest i ons , yes . 

MR . KI NNALLY : I don ' t have anything else , 

Judge . Thank you . 

THE COURT : Al l r i ght . That was 

c r oss - examinat i on and now i t ' s time f o r redirect , if 

you have any ques t i ons based on the 

cross - examination . 

Q. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Ray, you were asked if -- and i t was 

state d that you had v e ry litt le contact b e tween 

myself and John between the years 2000 and 2016 . 

Can you t ell t he Court why that was? 

A . Well , our careers we re going in all 

different directions. And so there wasn ' t the 

familia l , like , weekly interaction wi th one another . 

But there was contact . 

a nd I? 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

To be clear, who asked you to marry John 

John did, John did but -- yeah . 

Whose i dea was it --

MS . MC DONALD : I wasn ' t party t o the 

conversat i on so I hav e to admi t . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. But I' m asking whose idea was i t t hat 

you ma rry us? 

MR . KI NNALLY: I object to that , J u d ge . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. I s it your testi mony that J oh n asked you 

t o mar r y u s? 

MR. KI NNALLY: Aske d a nd answered . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Did y ou know -- did you know i n 

reg ard to my name , were you aware that I was 

re f e rred to var ious names such as El l e , Lisa , Li zzy , 

i n college and that my name was something -- my 

formal na me was someth i ng othe r than that? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Objection , re l evance . 

MS. MC DONALD : Re l e vance is -- is t hat 

t hroughout t he p r oceedings --

THE COURT : Overr uled . 

You ma y answe r . 

BY THE WI TNESS : 

A . I ' m just confused . I ' m l i ke d azed . 

Ye s. I knew you by othe r name s , y e s . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. And did you know those were j ust 

variations of my formal name , El lizzette? 

A . Yes . 

Q. And did you know me as El l izzette 

Duval l? I mean , d i d you learn that that was my 

formal name a t some point? 

MR. KI NNALLY: Object to t his , Judge . 

THE COURT : Sustained as to t he form . 

MS . MC DONALD : I ' m sorry? I didn ' t hear 

that . 

THE COURT: Sustai ned as to form. 

Res t ate . 

MS . MC DONALD : Okay . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. Could you state what you learned my 

formal name was? I don ' t know if we can call i t my 

formal name , but my full name was other than what 

people r e f er r ed to me as? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Same objection . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned; form . 

Rep hrase . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. Could you just stat e for the Cou r t wha t 
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other name s you knew me as? 

A . 

name Duva l l . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

I only knew Duv a ll . I only knew t h e 

My f irst name? 

Ellizzet te . 

Oh , r i g ht , but d i d you kn ow me by o t her 

names oth e r t han El lizzett e? Did you know that I 

was --

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Lisa . 

-- Lisa? 

Yeah. 

Go on . Were t here o t hers? 

El l izzet t e; El l e; Bl a ydes, last name ; 

and t h e n Duval l . 

Q. 

A. 

with you . 

Q. 

Right . 

And that was a ll that I k new associate d 

Okay. Thanks. 

Did you perfor m a l egal -- the 

legal portion of our marriage ceremony in our h ome 

i n Par is , Il l inois , i n Edgar county? 

MR . KI NNALLY: Ob j e ct i on . That ' s f o r you t o 

d ec i de . 

Page 131 

THE COURT : Sustained as to legal conc lus ion. 
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Re phrase . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q . Where did you perform - - where did you 

sign t he marriage certifi cate? 

A. I n Edgar Count y in Paris , Illinois . In 

your kitchen , on the kitchen tabl e . 

Q. 

but -- okay . 

A. 

Q . 

I ' m sorr y to have t o keep re- asking 

Okay . 

So it ' s your testimony that after we 

l e f t there , we perfor med a religious portion o f the 

ceremony whi ch was in Montice llo in Piatt County? 

MR. KINNALLY : Objection , Judge . She ' s 

trying t o impeach her own witness . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MS . MC DONALD : I ' m sorry, what was that? 

I ' m not trying to impeach my own witness . I ' m being 

v e ry clear. 

THE COURT : Sustained . No answe r necessar y . 

Next question . 

BY MS . MC DONALD: 

Q. After you perfo r med the ceremony in 

Edgar County , as you testified before, did we go t o 

Monticello? 

Grove & Associates Reporting and Video Services 
(630) 462-0060 www.groveandassoc.com 

R 374 

A-421 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

1 2 

1 3 

14 

1 5 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

2 1 

22 

23 

24 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF: JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill 
Report of Proceedings - 11/18/20 19 Page 133 

A. 

Q. 

Ye s . 

It wa s s t ated that you told Mr . Kin nally 

everything about t he ceremony in your deposition . 

Would t hat be r e asonably true? 

A. 

Q . 

everything? 

A. 

Q . 

A . 

Q. 

I answered h i s q u e s t i ons . 

But wou l d you say t hat you told h im 

No . 

Okay . 

No . 

So do you bel ieve --

MS . MC DONALD: I can ' t as k any othe r 

q ues t ions? I can only ask to what 

THE COURT : Go a head and ask a question and 

we ' l l tell you . 

BY MS . MC DONAL D: 

Q. Do you believe that your words h ave been 

taken o u t of context and cherry- picked a nd 

misrepr esented? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection . Doesn ' t mat t er , 

irre l evant . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

BY MS . MC DONAL D: 

Q. You tes t i f i ed e arlier t hat af t er 
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receiving the trans c ript of the deposition you g a ve 

at Mr . Kinnally's office for your own personal, I 

guess, benefi t , you chose to create a time l ine or t o 

ref l ect back on a timelin e of the event s ; i s t hat 

accur ate? 

MR . KI NNALLY : I object , Judge . I t ' s beyond 

the scope o f t h e d irect . He has already asked and 

a nswered it on direct -- or t he scope of cross. 

THE COURT : Sustained . Beyond the scope o f 

the direct -- o r cross , rather . 

BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. When J ohn and I applied for the mar r iag e 

certificate , were you aware t hat we needed to 

present documents of your ordination to t he circuit 

clerk in Edgar County? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , assumes a fact not 

i n evidence that they applied fo r a mar r iage 

license . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MS. MC DONALD : It ' s assumed that we applied 

for i t because i t was given . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Ob j ection , Judge. She ' s 

testifyi ng now . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 
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BY MS . MC DONALD : 

Q. And it was your -- it ' s your 

unders t anding , Mr . Bement , Ray, t h a t you performed a 

legal ceremony in good fai t h between John Mc Donald 

and myself? 

MR . KI NNALLY: Objection , Judge . 

THE COURT : Sustai ned . 

MR. KI NNALLY: Cal ls for a legal conclu sion . 

MS . MC DONALD : I have no fu r the r ques t ions , 

Your Honor . 

THE COURT : Al l r i g h t . Any recross? 

MR. KI NNALLY : No . 

THE COURT : All r ight . Thank you , 

Mr . Bement . You may step down and you ' re excused . 

THE WI TNESS : Thank you . 

THE COURT : Do you have any other wi tnesses 

today? 

MS. MC DONALD : No , sir. 

THE COURT : You said you had a wi t ness at 

1 : 30? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Yeah , but I ' m going t o move 

for a d irect ed f indi ng , Judge . The best evi dence o f 

any marriage , purported marriage, is the cert ificate 

itself . They haven ' t produced any documents with 
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respect t o that . 

MS . MC DONALD: I object . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Le t me finish , please . I ' m 

addressing the Court . 

Indeed , t he i ssue in this case , as 

we ' ve indi cated previous l y , is whethe r or not t h e 

marriage i s a valid marr i age . The t estimony from 

all of the witnesses indicate , and indeed 

Mr . Bement , t hat he wa s unawar e of t he guardi anship 

proceeding; that he conduct ed a secu l a r proceeding 

in Piatt County apparent l y wi t h no witnesses. 

MS . MC DONALD: Again , that ' s fa l s e. 

MR. KINNALLY : The case law in I llinois wi t h 

respect t o this couldn ' t be clearer . The l aw says 

you must have t wo wi t nesses t o a marriage . They 

have no witnesses to this purported ceremony . 

Mo r e importantly , as we argued in 

our motion in l i mine , which you have a cop y of and 

wh ich I attached is Mr . Bemen t ' s discover y 

deposi t ion , we made t h e following argument s : One , 

Illinois Probat e Ac t provides that befo r e a marriage 

can be conducted whe r e the -- where one par ticipant 

is a ward of the court l i ke John Mc Donald , III , 

that you o r t he probate court must conduct a 
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best-int eres t heari ng . 

We know , and you can take judici al 

not i ce of the fac t, that t here was a guardi ansh ip 

proceedi ng in t his case . You can take not i ce of t he 

fact that John Mc Dona l d , II I , was made a ward of 

thi s cour t on a p l enary basis wi t hout any capaci ty 

whatsoever . And we know based on t he r ecord before 

you t hat no one knew of the marriage until November 

of 2017 . 

The Probat e Act says under t hose 

circumstances , if a marr i age is to occur and to be 

valid, then a best- in t erest hearing must be 

conducted by t he Court to de t ermine whether t he 

marriage of t he two parti es , one o f which i s t he 

ward, in t his case Mr . Mc Donald 

MS . MC DONALD : Excuse me . 

MR . KI NNALLY: -- is in his bes t i nterest . 

That was not done . The b e st - inte r e st heari ng , if 

you fo und that i t was a val id marriage , would then 

result i n an order , a nd the order would be issued t o 

a county clerk i ndica t ing t hat the marriage cou ld 

take place . 

Mo r e importantly , Judge , t h is is 

not , as t he s t atut e says , a ma tter o f j us t a simple 
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preponderance of t he evidence . It must be clear and 

convincing evidence t hat i t ' s in t he best i n t erest 

of t he ward . We have not heard any test imony in 

this case that would indicate that this marriage is 

valid based on that s tatut e . That ' s number one . 

Number two , we also have a probate 

provision , whi c h I c ited in my motion in limine 

which you have a copy of , or t he response t o the 

motion in limine r e ply , which indicates t hat a ward 

cannot enter into a contract with any othe r person 

unless -- and in t his part icu l a r case it says he 

can ' t enter into a contract , and a marriage is a 

civil contract . And if they do enter into a 

contract , the law says , in the statute t hat I 

quoted, that the contract is invalid and it ' s void 

as to the ward . 

Those are the two bases f o r our 

argument that this is not a valid marriage. Plus 

t here ' s no evidence t hat t he r e is a valid marriage 

other t han what Mr . Bement said, and Mr . Bement s aid 

he conducted a ceremon y . 

The r e ' s no evi dence of i t o ther 

than what he said , and for those reasons I do not 

believe t hat she has shown in t his case , 
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Ms . Mc Donald , that she i s an heir o f the Decedent . 

I t woul d have b e en a simple proposition for her to 

produce a marriage l icense , a marriage appl ication , 

and a marriage cert i f i cate . Mo r e importantly , it 

wou l d have been very s imp le for Mr . Bemen t to do 

that . They chose not to do that and they have not 

shown by a preponderance of the evidence , if t hat ' s 

t he s t andard you ' re going t o use . 

But if you look a t the best 

interest of Joh n and you look at t he Probat e Act , 

the clear and convincing s t andard would be the one 

t hat would be require d for a bes t- inte rest hearing . 

I know you can ' t conduct the best - interest hearing 

now and t he reason you can ' t is because my client , 

Shawn Mc Donald, was deprived o f being able t o 

i nvalidate the marriage because he d idn ' t l earn 

about it until November o f 20 17 . Indeed you will 

s ee p leadings that we r e ini tiated by my co-counsel 

i n the guardianship case whe r e she attempted to do 

t hat , but because of Mr. Mc Donald ' s unt imely death , 

t hat never occurred . 

I think it ' s p retty clea r , Jud g e , 

based o n the record t hat you have before you that 

they haven ' t p roven their case and t hat you s hould 
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dismiss t heir claim, the c l aim t hat Ms . Mc Donald is 

a n heir of t he Decedent, as a matter of fact and as 

a matter of l aw . Thank you . 

THE COURT : Okay . Counsel has made a mot ion 

for a directed findin g at t h e c l ose of Pet i tioner ' s 

case , a nd you may r espond to that wi th your 

arguments . 

MS. MC DONALD: Wha t is a direct ed finding? 

THE COURT : That means t hat t he case would b e 

over becau se you haven ' t proven your case . 

MS. MC DONALD: I would l ike to know what can 

be d one about t he fact tha t opposing counsel has 

blatantly lied about their knowledge of the wedding. 

I t was known by Shawn even prior to July t hat J ohn 

a nd I were gett ing married , and , in f act, t h ere was 

evidence ascer t ained to show that , in fact , Sh awn 

was very aware that J ohn and I were mar r i ed . And 

now here he comes. He d i dn ' t petition to i nval idat e 

t he marriage while John was alive . No, he instead 

waited u n til after he -- until John wasn ' t h ere to 

speak for himse l f because he knew what John had 

already s tated in another court . 

They were well aware of the 

ma r riage and t he guardiansh ip was a fraud on t h e 
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Court , and they were wel l aware of t hat as well . 

Documents used to b ring the guardianship case were 

wr i tten by -- allegedly written by a ph ysician who ' s 

also now stated they did not write those documents . 

Bu t unfortunatel y we didn 't have the opportunity to 

i nvalidate the guardianship . 

Mr . Bement mi sunderstood the 

ques tion . He was clearly aware of the guardianship 

case because he was a n advocate for John and he 

attended court during the guardianship case with us . 

Furthermore , I s houl dn 't be t he one 

having to de f end the valid ity of my marriage . And , 

i n fact , if you want to challenge the validity of my 

marriage , your case shoul d be brought against t he 

Edgar County clerk 's o ffi ce . 

My husband and I fo l lowed the rules 

according t o the Edgar County c ircuit clerk . We 

produced the documentation we were required to 

produce . We filled out the application . We waited 

for them to contact us and tell us t hat our marria ge 

application for a license had been granted, at which 

time we p i cked that up; and we had an i nterfaith 

marriage ceremony in Edgar County , I l linois, in 

Pa r is , in my home . Afterwards , we had a rel i gious 
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c eleb ra t ion in Monticello . 

And if we ' re her e for the tru th , 

let ' s speak t o the t r u t h of the matter . I had a 

legitimate marr i age t o my husband . He testified t o 

that even in t h e other court . And , again , it 

shouldn ' t be me who suddenly has to s it h e r e a n d 

de f end t he legitimacy o f my marriage when I a lready 

have a government - i ssued marriage cert i ficat e from a 

government c i rcui t cle r k ' s office in Edgar County , 

and I ' m jus t extraordinari ly d i sapp o i nt ed being the 

daughter o f l aw enfor cement and a l ong line o f 

barri sters and jurists t o b e sitt ing h e re t oday and 

have peopl e blatantly lie t o this Court when they 

knew that I was married , Your Honor , back i n July of 

2017 . 

And that ' s a ll I have to state , 

Your Honor . 

THE COURT : Any argume nt , rep l y on t h e 

motion? 

MR . KI NNALLY : Judge , very briefly . 

The re ' s been no s t ate ment , 

evi d enc e , l aw p resented which refu t e s any o f t h e 

arguments t hat I made in my opening s tate ment . The 

issue o f a ward o f t his Court is a s i gni f icant one , 
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especially when t ha t ward i s -- has no capacit y . 

The Co urt takes a v e ry zealous view of prote cting 

the r igh t s o f the ward , as we ll it s hould, when a 

person i s in that conditi on . It can ' t be 

contr overted now and i t wasn ' t c ontrovert ed then 

that unfortunately J ohn Mc Donal d , III , was a ward 

o f t his Court . That ' s c l ear . 

MS. MC DONALD : It was con t roverted, Your 

Honor . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Please , ma ' am, let me finish . 

That order , t hat judgment , was 

e n tere d b y Judge Nove rini af t er consul t ation with 

t he doctors that are indicated in the reports that 

were fi led wi t h t he Court . And wh a t should have 

happened and what - - a nd that order was ent ered in 

May of 2017 . And what should have happened but 

didn ' t happen i s that if John wanted to get married , 

then he s h ou l d have come before the Court with 

respect to his abi lity to ma rry . Instead, we have 

t h is ceremony that t ook p lace in Piatt County 

MS . MC DONALD: In Edgar County . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Geez , excuse me . And tha t 

ceremony was a secular cer emony which t hey needed to 

produce some document --
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MS . MC DONALD : Tel l the trut h . 

THE COURT: Ma ' am . 

MR . KI NNALLY: -- t o show that , in fac t, it 

occurred . Why they d i dn ' t do that , I don ' t know . 

Bu t to bri ng Mr . Bement i n here and basical l y tell 

you, and h e tol d you , he d i dn ' t know anything about 

the guardi anshi p . Well , maybe he should h a v e and 

maybe they shou ld have t old h im b u t they d i dn ' t . 

The point of t he matte r at this 

particular time , the marriage is not valid for t he 

reasons I s t ated. 

You can look at t he Crocke t t case 

t hat I indicated in my submissions to t he Court 

where c l ear l y there is no doub t t h a t people have the 

abi l i t y to cont e s t t h e validity of a marriage eve n 

where t h e c e remony was conducted by p roxy . And in 

that case , t he Court held t hat you can ' t cond u c t -­

and it was not going to give crede nce to a marriage 

t hat was conducted b y p r oxy r ight before the ward 

died . This was prior to t he s t atute be i ng enacted 

wi t h respect to bes t int erest prio r to Carbon , 

another case t hat I c i ted i n my materi als . Bu t i t 

cou l dn ' t be clearer here . 

If they wanted to prove it , al l 
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they had to do is prove the marriage cert ificate , 

a nd the r e ason they didn ' t is because they know they 

can ' t . They didn ' t bring the marriage certificate 

in he r e . They didn't bri ng the appl i cation . They 

didn ' t bri ng t h e license in here . You shoul d ask 

yourself why t hey d i dn ' t do that . 

MS . MC DONALD : Your Honor 

MR. KI NNALLY: So they can ' t a ttack the law 

that we have in the case because there i s no law 

that support s t heir position . 

MS. MC DONALD: Your Honor , we stood before 

you on December 8th with a valid marriage 

certificate . After t hat , t hree days later , my 

husband ' s life was t aken , which is still a matter of 

i nves t igation . 

THE COURT : Al l r i ght . Well --

MS . MC DONALD : My counsel , in fact, produced 

a marriage l i cense a pplication and marriage 

cer t ificate , whi ch you contin ued to ins i st to try to 

c hallenge . Ms . Ogle came to t he Court t o represent 

t hat s he had issued t he marriage certificat e license 

i n Edgar County, but Mr . Ki nnall y wasn ' t a part o f 

the case then . 

And, again , I object to t he 
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reference to my es teemed husband being referred to 

as a ward when he was perfectly capable, and the 

entire guardi anship case was brought ou t of revenge 

and it was a fraud and you killed him . 

No t h ing further to say, Your Honor . 

THE COURT : Al l r i ght . I ' m going to take 

1 0 minutes and give you a ruling on t he motion. I 

have t o review some materials . Thank you . 1 0 t o 

15 . 

(Recess t a ken . ) 

THE COURT : Okay. Yo u may be seated . 

Okay . We are current l y deciding a 

motion for a direct e d finding at t he close of the 

Petitioner ' s case in chief . And the issue that this 

hearing is about is t he v a lidity o f the marriage , 

the ceremony , t he contract , and whether such a 

marriage , if i t was in fac t conducted according to 

Illinois l aw or coul d hav e been conducted under the 

Probate Act when it happened -- if it happened . 

The puni t ive s p ouse , E l lizzette , is 

c hallenging the heirship claime d b y the 

Administrator t hat i s on fil e with t he Court , and 

she has a tte mp t ed to es tab lish the validity of t he 

ma r riage. We hea r d from t hree witnesses , Diane 
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Boyer from Paris , I l linoi s, Dr . Visar Bel e gu of 

Baltimore , and Ray Be ment of Champaign , Illinois . 

The Pet i t i oner , El l izzette , a t t empt ed to e l icit 

testimony from each of the three witnesses r egarding 

the l ongstanding rel ationship between the Decedent 

and the Petitioner and the witnesses ' r espect i ve 

views and bel iefs , whether they had a close 

relat ionship and that everybody knew about that 

close r elationship and they lived t ogether as 

husband and wife after the wedding c e remony . 

Petitioner a l so tried to e l icit test i mony regarding 

t he De cedent ' s capacity and mental acuity i n that he 

was still working on projects with Dr . Belegu and 

s t i l l sharp on issues he was working on . 

Nei t her the longstanding 

rel ationsh ip nor the alleged competence of the 

Decedent a t the time of the purported marr i age are 

rel evant to whether the marriage was valid or void; 

a nd if it was valid, the Pet i tione r would t hen 

become t he spouse with p reference to nominate an 

admini strat or and also , unde r int estat e law of 

I l linois , she would become the sole heir of the 

Decedent . 

This was the hearing to p resen t the 
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relevant evidence to establish t he validi t y o f the 

marriage; i . e ., to present a prima facie case of a 

va lid appl ication fo r a marriage license , a ceremony 

performed in Edgar County and witnessed by two 

witnesses . That would est ablish , a t a mi n i mum, the 

prima f aci e case to present Petitioner as the spouse 

i n t his proceeding, which woul d ul t imatel y be 

which is u l timately about heirship . If she had 

present e d a prima facie case , t hen we would go on t o 

hear t estimony of the witnesses for the 

Administrator as t o other issues -- or the issues of 

t he val i d ity of t he marr i age . We would have heard 

from t hose witnesses as well . 

The repeated ques t i oning of t he 

witnesses , only one o f whom was present at the 

purported signing of the license , abou t i ssues o f 

how close t he Decedent and the Petit i oner were or 

how sharp the Decedent was do not convert the lack 

of evi dence on the main issue into a mo r e convincing 

argument f or t he Court to consider or c r edit . Ther e 

is no evidence of a -- ther e was no evidence 

p resented on t hose i ssues , whi ch are necessary t o a 

prima f aci e case . 

As a mat t er of law , Pe t i t i oner did 
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not p resent a prima facie case of a valid marriage 

c e remon y u nder the circumst a nces such as woul d be 

s u fficient to mee t her burden of proof on all of the 

elements . In doing so , the Court has considered al l 

o f t he evi dence presented . The Court does no t 

consider i ncompetent evidence . In other words , 

incompetent evidence being at t empted tes t imony by 

t he Petitioner herself when she was subject t o a 

motion in limine t o not testify in t his proceeding . 

It would have been simple t o present the evidence of 

a marriage license and certificate and app l ication 

a nd have some witness testify a b out that , but that 

was not done. 

So even considering the evidence in 

its aspect mos t favor a ble t o the Petitione r , the 

case comes up short on presenting . The motion i s 

go ing to be granted . The Court makes a finding o f 

judgme nt i n f avor of the Administrator - - or a 

f indi ng or judgment i n favor of the Admi nistrator . 

And while it is not as c lear as Mr . Kinnally 

presents as to the case l aw p r ecedents -- a nd in 

that I ' m referring to t he arg uments that Petitioner 

had when she was repr esented by counse l during 

motion pract i ce on a motion for judgment on the 
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pleadings -- it is c lear t hat t here was an o rder 

finding and adjudicating Decedent as a disabled 

person and in immediate need of a plenary 

guardianship and that there was no best-interest 

hea ring held ; that t he punitiv e marr i age was not 

known to the Admini strator until November 2017 ; and 

that the marriage was not properly wi tnessed or 

licensed or subject t o a best - int eres t determination 

by t he probat e court . 

The r efore, t he motion for directed 

finding is granted. 

MR. KI NNALLY : Thank you , Judge. We ' l l 

pre pare a n order . Thank you . 

THE COURT : And I would p r obably attach to 

t hat order a 304(A) findi ng, because I think that 

resolves only part of t he issues in this case , but 

probably it resolves the issues with regard t o t he 

spouse. 

MR. KI NNALLY: It does . We ' ll do that . 

THE COURT : So we may o r may not need t he 

304(A} finding, but I would state t ha t i t is 

p r obably t o be -- shou ld be appealed a nd t hat you 

have time limi t s for appea ling , if you wish t o 

appeal . 
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So that 3 04(A) findi ng t hat I ' m 

going to say there ' s no just reason to delay appeal 

i s to advi se t h e Pe t itioner that time is of the 

essence o n appeal ing a f inding like this , if you 

wi s h to appeal , j us t so you know . So that con c l udes 

the hearin g f o r today . 

MR . KI NNALLY : Tha nk you , J udge. 

* * * * * 
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STATE OF ILLINOI S 

COUNTY OF DU PAGE 
ss . 

I , Lynette J . Neal , CSR. No. 84 - 004363 , RPR , 

do hereby cert ify t h a t I repor t ed in shorthand t he 

p roceedings had a t the trial of the above-entit l ed 

cause and that the fo r egoing Report of Proceedings , 

Pages 1 through 152 , inclus i ve , is a t rue , correct , 

and complete transcri pt of my shorthand notes taken 

at the time and p lace aforesaid . 

I f u rthe r ce r ti f y that I am not cou nsel f or 

nor in any way re l ated to any o f the parties to th i s 

suit, nor am I in a n y way, directl y o r i n d irect ly 

interested in the o u tcome thereof . 

This certification applies on ly to those 

transcr ipts , o r igina l and copies, prod uced under my 

direction and control; a nd I assume n o 

responsib ility f or t he accur acy of a n y copies which 

are not so produced . 

I N WI TNESS WHEREO F I have hereunto set my 

hand this 5 t h day of 

Certifi ed Shorth and Repor ter 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS  )
                   )  SS:
COUNTY OF KANE     )

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE 16TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF:      )
 )

JOHN w. MCDONALD, III,               )
                                     ) No. 17 P 744
                   DECEASED.         )     
                                     )
                                     )

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had at the        

hearing in the above-entitled cause, before the 

HONORABLE JAMES R. MURPHY, Judge of said Court,      

held on November 13, 2019.

APPEARANCES:  

     KINNALLY FLAHERTY KRENTZ LORAN HODGE & MASUR, PC
     BY:  MR. PATRICK M. KINNALLY, 
          Attorney at Law 

- and -
 
     BENSON MAIR & GOSSELIN     
     BY:  MS. GABRIELLE A. GOSSELIN,
          Attorney at Law, 
          
          on behalf of the administrator the estate

     MS. ELLIZZETTE MCDONALD,

          appeared pro se 

JENNIFER L. JOYCE, CSR
Official Court Reporter
License No. 084-003401
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(Whereupon, proceedings were had

 in open court as follows:)

THE COURT:  Good morning.  

MR. KINNALLY:  Good morning, Judge. 

THE COURT:  Estate of McDonald.  

MR. KINNALLY:  Patrick Kinnally for the 

administrator of the Estate of John McDonald.  

MS. GOSSELIN:  Gabrielle Gosselin, also for the 

Estate.  

THE COURT:  Good morning.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Good morning.  Ellizzette McDonald.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And so we are here prior to a 

scheduled bench trial date of November 18th.  This is 

November 13th.  What is up this morning or what's on 

the agenda?  

MR. KINNALLY:  Well, there was a hearing on our 

motion in limine that was briefed.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. KINNALLY:  And consistent with your pretrial 

order, I prepared our witness list and our trial 

exhibit list, which I'll serve a copy on my opponent.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Before we get into whatever 

motion we're having a hearing on, is it anticipated 

that the burden of proceeding would be on the 
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administrator first?  

MR. KINNALLY:  No.  

THE COURT:  No.  What is anticipated?  

MR. KINNALLY:  They filed a petition, as I 

understand it, to be appointed administrator, and they 

have not filed a petition to remove the administrator 

who is the existing administrator, so I believe it's 

their burden.

THE COURT:  And the validity of the marriage 

becomes an issue at what point?  

MR. KINNALLY:  I guess it depends how my opponent 

wants to proceed.  

THE COURT:  I guess it's an issue because of 

preferences as to who becomes the administrator in an 

estate, whether a spouse has a preference to a brother 

of the decedent?  Is that how that issue is going to 

come in?  

MR. KINNALLY:  That would be with respect to the 

heirship.  There's two issues here.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. KINNALLY:  So who is the administrator?  It's 

our position we're the administrator.  No one has 

petitioned to remove us, so we're the administrator. 

And on the heirship proceeding, it's her burden to 
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prove that she's an heir.  

THE COURT:  And those are both -- those issues are 

contemplated to be addressed on November 18th at a 

bench trial hearing?  

MR. KINNALLY:  That's correct, Judge, and the issue 

in the heirship proceeding is going to be the validity 

of the marriage.  That's my understanding.  That's why 

we filed the motion in limine some weeks ago, which 

indicates, under Illinois case law, that she can't 

testify that she's the wife of the decedent, and we 

gave you those cases.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. KINNALLY:  And we also gave you a case,      

Pike v. Pike, which indicates that the marriage in 

itself is invalid because the solemnization 

requirements of a marriage under Illinois law require a 

marriage to have two witnesses.  

MS. MCDONALD:  That's not true.  

THE COURT:  And there are no witnesses to this 

marriage -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  That's not true. 

MR. KINNALLY:  -- as shown by the documents we 

filed in our request to admit, of which there are 

eight.  
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THE COURT:  Okay.  And -- 

MR. KINNALLY:  The only other thing I would add, 

Judge, is there's two other statutes, which we have 

outlined in the materials that we have given you 

previously, as well as our trial exhibits, and those 

are The Probate Act, Section 17-10 -- or let me -- I 

may have the number wrong.  Let me see. 

No.  It's 755 ILCS 5/11a-17(a-10), and that 

requires that when a person is declared a ward of the 

court without capacity, which is what happened in this 

case based on the order entered in May of 2017 by  

Judge Noverini, that if that person, the ward, wants to 

get married, then there must be a best interests 

hearing to determine whether that marriage is in the 

ward's best interests, and that statute provides that, 

and the statute also provides that once you hold that 

hearing, that you then issue an order to our county 

clerk or the county clerk where the marriage is to be 

celebrated, authorizing the marriage.  That statute was 

based on the Supreme Court opinion of Karbin v. Karbin, 

which is 2012 IL 112815. 

And the other statute that we're relying on is 

755 ILCS 5/11a-22(b), which provides that any contract 

entered into by a ward of the court is void as to the 
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ward.  It's our position based on the Barber v. People 

case, which is 203 Ill. 543, which we have already 

briefed, that a marriage is a civil contract, and the 

Supreme Court reaffirmed that holding in In Re: or 

excuse me -- Jambrone v. David, 16 Ill.2d 32. 

So that's our position, Judge.  That's 

yours.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  This is the administrator's 

witness list and attachments.  

MR. KINNALLY:  I thought you would want -- 

according to your pretrial order, that's what you want, 

so I brought it up.  I didn't bring the booklet up, but 

I can bring it up tomorrow.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And, Ms. McDonald, you are the 

person being asked -- asking to be appointed 

administrator, right?  

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  And so you have -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  Well, I'm asking to have the right 

to appoint someone as administrator that my husband 

would have wanted.  I'm aware of what my husband's 

wishes are.

THE COURT:  So you want to have the right to 

designate who an administrator would be?  
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MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, sir.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So you heard the description of 

what our hearing is going to be about.  Is that your 

understanding as well?  

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, sir.  

THE COURT:  So do you have witnesses that you 

intend to call on Monday, the 18th -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, sir.  

THE COURT:  -- to start your case in chief?  

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  And have you given that list of 

witnesses to counsel or to the Court?  

MS. MCDONALD:  I believe we filed that list in 

September, but I can update that, and I know that it 

was sent over, and I would be happy to resubmit that.  

MR. KINNALLY:  I would just like to know who they 

are, Judge.

MS. MCDONALD:  I can tell you.  

MR. KINNALLY:  Good.  

THE COURT:  Well, wait.  I think there was 

something attached maybe to the respondent's -- are we 

calling Ms. McDonald the respondent or the petitioner?  

There was a 213 disclosure list, which is 

attached to -- as an Exhibit F -- 
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MR. KINNALLY:  That's mine.  

THE COURT:  -- to your -- to the administrator's 

motion in limine.  Maybe that's what Ms. McDonald is 

referring to, this list here.  

MS. MCDONALD:  No.  It's -- no, sir.  No, sir.

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. MCDONALD:  It was one that Mr. Lutrey's office 

had filed.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, this says -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  But I have seen Mr. Kinnally's.    

I'm sorry, sir.

THE COURT:  This says "preliminary witness 

disclosure," and it doesn't have a filing stamp on it 

or anything, so I don't know when it was filed, if it 

was filed.  But if Mr. Lutrey filed something else, I 

don't have that handy.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  So maybe you can describe -- without 

giving away your strategy or anything, describe 

generally which witnesses are going to testify as to 

heirship or the marriage or the other issues that we 

talked about previously.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Karen Blaydes, she's my mother and 

the mother-in-law, and she's going to testify as to 
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our -- over three decades of the relationship and the 

marriage and the planning of the marriage, and also she 

was present during much of the time that this last 

situation has gone on. 

We did remove my father -- I just want to make 

that known in case this paperwork shows up -- because 

of his illness. 

Patrick Rummersfield is going to testify as to 

the long-standing relationship between myself and John 

and knowing me. 

Dr. Visar Belegu.  

MR. KINNALLY:  I'm going to object on that one, 

Judge, because he's never been disclosed.  They haven't 

disclosed any witnesses.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, we have.  

MR. KINNALLY:  Let me just make my objection.    

The only document that I received, which I don't know 

if it was ever tendered to the Court, is Exhibit 9, 

which is attached.  I figured this was coming, which is 

attached to my reply to the motion in limine.  It's 

this one.  

THE COURT:  Got it.  

MR. KINNALLY:  So I don't know who these people 

are.  
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THE COURT:  It looks like the same that I was 

referring to in Exhibit F.  

MR. KINNALLY:  That's right.  

THE COURT:  Preliminary Illinois Supreme Court Rule 

213(f) witness disclosures -- 

MR. KINNALLY:  Uh-huh.  

THE COURT:  -- from Ellizzette McDonald.  

MR. KINNALLY:  So I'm just objecting to it 

because -- 

THE COURT:  So your -- go ahead.  

MR. KINNALLY:  They haven't disclosed anything.    

I mean, he was before the Court, and they said they 

were preliminary disclosures.  He hasn't even contacted 

these people.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Excuse me.  I didn't hear you.    

You said -- 

MR. KINNALLY:  We were before the Court, when    

Mr. O'Kelly and Mr. Lutrey were here in September, 

before they withdrew, or August, and told the Court at 

that time that they were going to -- they have 

contacted certain people to testify, opinion witnesses, 

but they had never -- they had never retained them, and 

they couldn't give you what their opinions were because 

they didn't have them.  That was 60 days prior to the 
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trial, and I objected then, and they said they were 

going to finalize it, and they never did.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Can you just let me know when I'm 

allowed to speak?  

THE COURT:  Go ahead.  

MS. MCDONALD:  I strenuously reject everything, in 

due respect, that Mr. Kinnally is saying.  My counsel, 

who are absolutely excellent, I have no complaints with 

them.  They have contacted and been in constant contact 

with all of our witnesses.  We made it very clear.  One 

of the things we were objecting to is our witnesses 

were being harassed and bullied, and the proper 

paperwork wasn't being filed in order to subpoena them 

for depositions.  And so many of them retained counsel 

on their own because they did not wish to comply with 

the subpoenas for depositions based upon the way that 

they were -- these were out-of-state people, and some 

of them were out of the country, in fact.  They -- and 

some of them are, in fact, attorneys, and they said the 

subpoenas they were receiving were not legitimate, and 

therefore they would not comply with the subpoenas 

unless they were filed appropriately in their 

jurisdiction.

I know one of the witnesses, Mr. Eric 
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Westfield -- Westacott -- sorry.  Eric Westacott, who 

is an attorney, also spoke with opposing counsel's 

office.  I don't know if he spoke with Mr. Kinnally or 

Ms. Gosselin, but he did speak with their office and 

suggested -- and told them they would be willing to 

comply if the subpoenas were sent accurately, at which 

time they reproffered saying, well, if we would come 

down there, would you at least meet with us?  And Eric 

Westacott said, I'm not promising anything until the 

paperwork is filed correctly.  And he also represents 

Mr. Patrick Rummersfield and Dr. Visar Belegu, all of 

whom said that the subpoenas they received were 

received after the deadline for depositions.  The 

deadline was set by Your Honor for August 30th.  They 

were receiving subpoenas mid-September, wanting to do 

depositions around October 16th. 

So, again, Eric Westacott, who also represents 

these other two gentleman, stated that he would not be 

complying with the subpoenas to do the depositions 

because they were not in keeping with the -- I guess, 

the rules.  So there was that issue.  

Also, Mr. Jeff Murray as well as Michael 

Pattison, they also did not receive what they said was 

a legitimate subpoena.  They said the proper -- again, 
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it was not filed.  Mr. Pattison lives in Arizona.  Jeff 

Murray lives in England. 

Also, James Ryan, who lives in Japan, he also 

did not get proper paperwork.  The paperwork they were 

receiving looked like it was printed from the internet, 

and it didn't have any court stamp or anything on it, 

and it would just be this paperwork that was printed -- 

like, for example, from Missouri -- but there was no 

signatures, no stamps, nothing attached to a subpoena 

that they had done.  And I'm happy to produce --     

Mr. Westacott actually sent me copies of that just last 

week, less than five days ago, and I'm happy to produce 

that. 

And I know this was an issue before the Court 

when Mr. Lutrey's office -- in fact, there was 

discussion back and forth regarding being able to 

subpoena these people who were out of state and out of 

the country and organizing to have them deposed.  And I 

do know that they spoke to some of these people at 

length because I've had some of them contact me to ask 

what is going on because they said they keep getting 

phone calls to do a deposition, but they said they're 

not going to answer to it until they get paperwork that 

they say their solicitor and their attorneys say is in 
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keeping with the law.  

THE COURT:  All right.  So back to Patrick 

Rummersfield -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, sir.  

THE COURT:  -- which is where -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  He's in Missouri.  

THE COURT:  -- Attorney Kinnally objected, I think, 

and also Visar Belegu.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Belegu.  

THE COURT:  Belegu.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Uh-huh.

THE COURT:  You mentioned those names.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Right.  

THE COURT:  So you are bringing them to testify?  

MS. MCDONALD:  Mr. Rummersfield was going to -- we 

were checking to see if we can do a video because he 

has terminal cancer.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  And Visar Belegu?  

MS. MCDONALD:  He is coming here physically to 

testify, sir.  

THE COURT:  And what is he?  Is he an expert or a 

professional?  

MS. MCDONALD:  No.  He is -- John's best friends 

were Dr. Belegu and Pat Rummersfield for over two 
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decades, and they've known me, and they know -- you 

know, they've traveled the world with John.  They're 

going to testify as to his relationship and any matters 

that the Court needs to, you know, hear in order to 

make a decision, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Who else then?  

MS. MCDONALD:  Mr. Eric Westacott, also somebody 

who has not only -- he has represented my husband at 

times in scientific matters, patents and things of this 

nature, but he is also a close friend for over two 

decades, as well.  He can also testify as to the things 

that John was working on prior to John's life being 

taken. 

Jeff Murray, who is also a father and a good 

of my husband who was -- he was in constant contact 

with my husband clear up until the days before this 

happened.  He is also the father of a patient of my 

husband for over two decades. 

Jim Ryan, who is the owner of a stem cell 

research company, also has worked with my husband over 

two decades. 

Do you want me to keep going?  

THE COURT:  I guess that's generally -- generally 

you're going to bring witnesses that are going to talk 
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about your relationship with John McDonald for decades 

or for this time period -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  Decades.  

THE COURT:  -- or whatever, the time period before 

his death?  

MS. MCDONALD:  All of the above, sir.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. MCDONALD:  As well as -- 

THE COURT:  So I don't know whether there will 

be -- whether they have any knowledge as to what you -- 

as to the circumstances of the marriage.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, they do.  

THE COURT:  Even though they're in Maryland or 

other states, Missouri?  

MS. MCDONALD:  Because up until the point that my 

husband died, we were around them frequently, at least 

every other weekend, and John spoke to them daily.  

THE COURT:  Were any of them present for the 

marriage ceremony?  

MS. MCDONALD:  No.  John and I elected to have our 

ceremony the same way we had our relationship, and we 

elected to have Ray Bement, who is also one of the 

people who is going to testify, conduct the ceremony 

with our understanding -- and then after that, we were 
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going to have a celebration following that to invite 

everybody later, because John and I had both been 

married before, and we weren't looking to have a 

ceremony where a lot of people were involved. 

We have a deeply-held belief that energy is 

dispersed, and which wanted to contain the energy that 

we had shared over all this time between us, and it was 

something that -- this is something that John and I had 

shared and talked about for years.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So back to the objection to any 

witnesses, Rummersfield or Belegu -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  Belegu.  

THE COURT:  Belegu. 

MS. MCDONALD:  That's okay.  It's a difficult -- 

it's a different name.  

THE COURT:  What's the basis for the objection?  

MR. KINNALLY:  They never disclosed them.  You're 

not going to find a document where they disclosed them.  

It's not been filed.  

MS. MCDONALD:  How was it that -- 

MR. KINNALLY:  I have it, Judge.  It's not 

file-stamped.  

THE COURT:  This one?  

MR. KINNALLY:  Right.
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MS. MCDONALD:  I'm not trying to be -- 

THE COURT:  Exhibit 9?  

MR. KINNALLY:  Right.  In fact, there's no notice 

that it was ever filed.  If you're going to limit these 

people to what is in this document, then -- if all 

these people are going to testify, I mean, we have 

rules.  They haven't complied with the rules.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Touche´.  

MR. KINNALLY:  Ma'am, don't interrupt me.  Do not 

interrupt me, please.  So that's our objection, Judge.  

We're -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  You obviously -- 

MR. KINNALLY:  -- ready to go on Monday.  

THE COURT:  Wait.  Just let him finish.  

MR. KINNALLY:  I don't want to delay this.  That's 

our objection for the record.  

THE COURT:  All right.  So -- and does your motion 

in limine that is pending and about to be heard relate 

to any of those witnesses or --   

MR. KINNALLY:  No, it does not.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes.  It relates to Mr. Ray Bement, 

and if I could -- 

MR. KINNALLY:  No, it doesn't.  This it is my 

motion, please.  The Judge has asked me a question, 
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which I'm going to respond to. 

My motion relates to preventing Ms. McDonald, 

as she is known, from testifying in this case based on 

Illinois case law which indicates that she is not a 

person who can testify due to The Dead Man's Act.  

Also, my reply indicates that the affidavit 

submitted by Ray Bement, who I deposed, is a fraud on 

the Court, and the reason it's a fraud on the Court is 

because her response attaches an affidavit from Bement, 

which is notarized by a person in New York, not in 

Illinois.  There's no indication that Mr. Bement 

traveled to New York to have the document notarized.  

More importantly, the notary public law that we cited 

in our response, indicates that a notary is only good 

for three years, and this particular notary, whoever it 

might be, indicates that her commission expires in 

2026. 

More importantly, the affidavit that was filed 

in response to my motion in limine, as indicated in my 

reply, is totally inconsistent with what Mr. Bement 

testified to at his deposition. 

For example, when I took his deposition, which 

is Exhibit 2, and it's in the materials that I gave you 

a copy of, and I took it on July 3, 2019, Mr. Bement 
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testified that he had very little contact with the 

parties between 2000 and 2016.  That's on Exhibit 2, 

Page 36;

That he was only aware of the parties casually 

dating between the years 1982 and 1987, which is 

Exhibit 2, Page 53;

That it was his idea to marry the parties, not 

John McDonald's, Exhibit 2, Page 51;

That he obtained a license from the Universal 

Life Church Ministry by obtaining -- spending 5 to 10 

minutes on a website in order to obtain the 

qualifications to marry the parties, Exhibit 2, Pages 

47 to 49;

That the marriage ceremony was conducted in 

Piatt County, not Edgar County, where the marriage 

license was issued, Exhibit 2, Page 61;

That he never knew a person named Ellizzette 

Duval Minnicelli, Exhibit 2, Page 55;

That he never reported the marriage ceremony 

being filed in Edgar County, even though it was 

conducted in Piatt County, Exhibit 2, Page 66;

That there were no witnesses to the marriage 

ceremony he conducted in Piatt County, Exhibit 2,   

Page 60 and Pages 63 and 64; and
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That he, Bement, was not going to testify as 

to the mental capacity of John McDonald at trial, 

Exhibit 2, Pages 71 to 73.  

The affidavit was created and attached to the 

response to the motion in limine in direct 

contradiction of that testimony that was given under 

oath before a court reporter, much like this lady who 

is sitting next to you, Judge, in my office, on July 3, 

2019.  And to submit to this Court an affidavit that 

contravenes that, before some notary public in the 

State of New York, shows that the affidavit is either a 

fraud on this Court or Mr. Bement has perjured himself.  

That's my argument.  

THE COURT:  Any response?  

MS. MCDONALD:  I, once again, strenuously reject 

everything Mr. Kinnally is saying.  He has 

cherry-picked out of Mr. Bement's deposition, and in 

fact, in the surreply, Mr. Bement has added two extra 

points in regard to his affidavit that he submitted 

that was attached to my motion in limine, my response.  

THE COURT:  You have a surreply, did you say?  

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, sir.  

THE COURT:  And that has been filed?  

MS. MCDONALD:  I'm sorry, sir?  
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THE COURT:  And that was filed?  

MS. MCDONALD:  This morning.  

MR. KINNALLY:  I haven't seen it.  

MS. MCDONALD:  I have a copy here I'm happy to 

provide.  I know that they said that copies would be -- 

let me put my glasses on. 

The notary -- the notary's -- according to     

Mr. Bement, the notary expired -- 

MR. KINNALLY:  Judge, I object to this.  I have 

never seen this.  

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. KINNALLY:  It is inappropriate to file things 

on the day.  You never gave anybody any authority to 

file anything after -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  I'm happy to -- it was 

electronically filed, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  If somebody is talking, then let them 

finish, and then you can get an opportunity.  

MR. KINNALLY:  First of all, I object to her giving 

you that document, Judge, with all due respect.  I have 

not received it.  The court order that was entered the 

last time we were here, which is October 23rd -- I have 

a copy -- indicated the protocol that we were supposed 

to use with respect to this particular trial in 
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conjunction with your standing pretrial order, which is 

a matter of record, and you filed it a long time ago.  

There's no provision for filing a surreply.  

In fact, the reason we're here today is because  

Ms. McDonald had other matters that she told the Court 

she needed to attend to, which I respect.  That's fine. 

That's her choice.  But there's no provision for filing 

a surreply, so we object to that, and I don't think you 

should consider it.  I mean, we're here on the 13th. 

We're going to trial on Monday.  

THE COURT:  I agree.  I agree with the fact that 

you can't file a surreply unless there's something that 

you have to -- because it's a motion, it's a response, 

and it's a reply.  Unless something new came up in the 

reply, and you come and say to the Court, something new 

came up in the reply that I need to file a surreply to, 

Judge; can I do that? --  

MS. MCDONALD:  Something new did come up.  

THE COURT:  -- then you really can't file it. 

You can argue things that are in the motion, the 

response, and the reply.  So you're arguing -- I 

believe you are arguing that Mr. Bement had some 

renewal of -- or his notary had some renewal.  I'm not 

sure what you were arguing, but that's what you were 
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responding to, I believe, is the notary problem with 

the affidavit.  

MS. MCDONALD:  There is not a notary problem.  

According to Mr. Bement, the notary's -- upon him 

connecting it, he informed me that the notary's year of 

expiration was not 2026; it was 2020. 

The fact that the notary is from New York -- 

it doesn't matter if the notary is from New York or 

it's from the U.S. Consulate in Sidney, Australia.   

The notary is the notary. 

But the new issue is -- what I have placed in 

the surreply is that all of this becomes moot in the 

fact that I have a legal marriage document, that the 

due diligence was done by a government office that 

issued that certificate after -- my husband and I 

applied and followed the rules, and then subsequent to 

us having a marriage, we returned those documents to 

Edgar County, which they were vetted, and they issued 

us our marriage certificate after having receiving the 

marriage license.  

Second, the marriage was performed in Edgar 

County.  The legal portion of the marriage was 

performed in Edgar County.  Afterwards, yes, we went to 

Monticello.  That's about 30 minutes away from where we 
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were.  It's a place that's known for having wedding 

receptions and things of this nature.  But we signed 

the legal document and everything at our dining room 

table in our home in Paris, Illinois, Edgar County.   

It is not required that we have witnesses.  We checked 

with the rabbi, we also checked with the interfaith 

minister, as well as with the county clerk. 

I'm also happy -- I know that one of the other 

names that was on the witness list was Ms. Ogle, who 

was the person who issued the marriage license in Edgar 

County, who can testify as to my husband's ability and 

competency. 

And then finally, in both my reply and, of 

course, the document that I guess isn't allowed to be 

rendered today -- can I take this back?  

THE COURT:  You may.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Okay.  I'm sorry I'm so clunky about 

this.  It's just this isn't my bailiwick. 

See, here, according to the Illinois Civil 

Code, it says, "that specifically prohibits a court 

from declaring a marriage invalid based upon a party's 

lack of capacity to consent when one of the other 

parties to the marriage is deceased." 

The guardianship ended also at the time of my 
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husband's death, and it was also being challenged.  

That's all I have to say, Your Honor.  I don't 

mean any disrespect.  

THE COURT:  All right.  

MS. MCDONALD:  I just -- this is beyond my scope of 

knowledge and so forth.  

THE COURT:  Reply?   

MR. KINNALLY:  Judge, I think this is a pretty 

serious issue.  Number one, they have not provided the 

Court with any documentation -- excuse me -- any case 

law that indicates the cases that we have cited are 

incorrect.  They're all Supreme Court cases.  They all 

indicate that an heir, such as a purported spouse, 

cannot testify because of The Dead Man's Act.  It's 

because there is no case law that contravenes it.

But more importantly, the document that     

Mr. Bement produced, or Ms. McDonald produced and he 

signed, is a serious affront to the Court because 

clearly in his deposition, if you look at my reply, you 

will see that he unequivocally says that the marriage 

ceremony was conducted in Piatt County.  It's Page 66.  

He unequivocally testifies that no witnesses to the 

marriage ceremony he conducted in Piatt County were 

available.  There were no witnesses.  That's Exhibit 2, 
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Page 60 and Pages 63 and 64.  

The affidavit that was submitted by         

Ms. McDonald I believe was created by her.  I don't 

believe that the affidavit is truthful.  I think it's 

perjurious -- either his deposition is or the affidavit 

is -- and it's a fraud on the Court if it's not 

perjury.  Clearly, this is not just an issue of 

credibility, Judge.  This is an issue of testimony that 

was adduced by me from Mr. Bement in my office at a 

deposition under subpoena on July 3, 2019, and the 

affidavit attempts to contravene what was done under 

oath, and witnesses can't do that, Judge.  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  What is the relief you're seeking, to 

strike the affidavit, to bar the witness, to bar part 

of the witness?

MR. KINNALLY:  Well, I would assume the Court will 

deal with that when we -- if and when he shows up.  

What I'm seeking with this particular motion 

is two things:  One, to prevent Ms. McDonald from 

testifying, and two, to alert the Court that the 

affidavit that was filed in this case by her and 

apparently in conjunction with Mr. Bement, clearly is 

at odds with the testimony that he gave before a 

licensed court reporter in the State of Illinois.     
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So he can't have it both ways, and I guess we'll deal 

with that when we -- when he shows up, if and when he 

shows up.  I don't want to prejudge that or preadvocate 

that.  

So today all I'm asking is that she be barred 

from testifying because they don't have any -- you 

know, they don't have any basis to say that the case 

law that I have given you is incorrect.  These are 

Illinois Supreme court cases.  

THE COURT:  So there is a motion in limine to bar 

the purported spouse from testifying because of case 

law.  The response to the motion in limine to bar 

brings up Mr. Bement's affidavit and his conducting of 

a marriage ceremony, and the reply says that that is 

contradicting or contradictory of what he testified to 

in his deposition so that it shouldn't be considered or 

it should be -- or there should be some relief at 

trial.

So to the extent that the spouse is going to 

testify as to the purported marriage and the Illinois 

law says that the spouse cannot testify as to heirship, 

and there's cases cited, and they weren't responded to 

other than by Mr. Bement, I would have to grant the 

motion in limine based on the law that you can't 
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testify.

Now, there are other issues that I think that 

you're bringing in.  I'm not sure if they are all 

related to the marriage validity or the marriage 

ceremony to put you in the position to testify, but I 

believe that the motion in limine is talking about you 

testifying about heirship, that you are the spouse 

coming in and asserting that there was a marriage 

ceremony and that it was valid. 

And since there was no answer to those cases, 

at this point I don't know what else to do other than 

to grant the motion in limine to bar the spouse from 

testifying. 

And Mr. Bement, as far as his affidavit, as 

far as him testifying as to a ceremony, wherever it 

was, I think the relief will be at trial in that he can 

be cross-examined or impeached as to his testimony and 

his credibility by the variance between his affidavit 

and what he testified to under oath at a deposition.  

And as to the affidavit itself, responding to 

the motion, it doesn't do anything for me.  I'm 

agreeing with the administrator as to the motion in 

limine.  It doesn't respond to the actual motion in 

limine as to a spouse testifying or purported spouse 
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testifying. 

MS. MCDONALD:  Actually, it did. 

THE COURT:  So I know you disagree, and I know you 

have your right to disagree and your right to appeal.  

We are not at that stage yet.  We're not -- we still 

have a hearing scheduled on Monday, and at that point 

we proceed with the petition to have yourself appointed 

as an administrator, Ms. McDonald.  

MR. KINNALLY:  Judge -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  Is there ever -- 

MR. KINNALLY:  I'm sorry.  Go ahead. 

MS. MCDONALD:  Go ahead. 

MR. KINNALLY:  What time are you going to start, 

Judge?  

THE COURT:  I believe it's scheduled for -- 

MS. GOSSELIN:  I believe 9:00. 

THE COURT:  It's on Monday? 

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, sir. 

MS. GOSSELIN:  Yes, Monday. 

MR. KINNALLY:  I think we have three days. 

THE COURT:  It is at 9:00, and it's set for Monday, 

Tuesday, and Wednesday.  We may come in a little later 

on those days.  

And then are there -- is there a motion in 
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limine that I have not ruled on that is filed by 

Ellizzette McDonald?  

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, the one that was filed this 

morning.  

MR. KINNALLY:  I don't know what that is.  That's 

too late.  

MS. MCDONALD:  Am I allowed to just say something 

without all of the -- just being very matter of fact -- 

THE COURT:  Go ahead.  

MS. MCDONALD:  -- because I think it's the easiest 

for me?  

I'm not looking to be the administrator.  I'm 

well aware that -- I'm well aware of who my husband 

would want to oversee his affairs, number one.  I want 

my marriage.  I'm not out for any material gain or 

financial gain or anything.  I want my marriage, that's 

it.  They've had my material things, John and ours 

things, now for over two years.  He can have them.    

He sell them.  He can do whatever.  He took my 

husband's life, Your Honor. 

I'm not here because of that.  I'm here out of 

respect for my husband and his marriage and to have my 

marriage and my 38 years of a relationship with this 

man respected. 
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Three days ago my father was declared end of 

life.  I have to prioritize my life.  My father has 

been there for both myself and John, in fact, since 

1981, my whole life.  I belong with my mother, who has 

cancer, and my father, who could die at any day now, 

per the doctors.  I have come here out of respect for 

the Court because I was expected to be here. 

I feel the situation has gotten so far out of 

hand, the truth will never come out.  Instead, it's 

turned into this erroneous, wrongful, and blatant false 

mud-slinging. 

Again, I just want my marriage, Your Honor.  

I'm not looking for money.  I'm not looking for things.  

He can have the motorcycles, the stolen diamond, all of 

the accounts.  He's already raided everything.  He did 

that well before he started declaring -- trying to 

declare my husband incompetent.  He didn't want my 

husband to talk about the abuses that they have 

sustained.

I know the real reason this happened, and it's 

not at all what was said in the Honorable Judge 

Noverini's court or what has been presented here before 

you, Your Honor. 

That's all I want.  I don't want to waste the 
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Court's time.  I just want my marriage validated, and I 

want to be able to honor my husband.  That's all.  

That's all I have to say.

I'm not an attorney.  I can't -- I don't know 

all these rules.  Oh, and by the way, I have spent  

over two million dollars fighting this.  The reason  

Mr. Lutrey withdrew is because I had -- my last bill 

was $80,147.  They are outstanding counsel.  Those men,   

Mr. Lutrey, Mr. O'Kelly, and Mr. Katz, the entire law 

firm represented my husband with dignity and the way in 

which my husband lived his life, but, of course, they 

needed to withdraw because I had to come up with that 

$80,000.  I'm the only person paying for this, and as 

of the other day, I have, in fact, paid them in full, 

but it's too late.  Well, I don't know, but I believe 

it's too late for them to re-enter the case.  Again,   

I just want it to be known that I have no complaints 

about my counsel.  I think they were outstanding.  

That's all.  

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, having ruled as to 

your ability to testify, that makes it difficult for 

you to prove the validity of the marriage.  The 

marriage may have happened.  It may have been valid in 

your eyes, but we're proceeding under statutes, law, 
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cases, precedent, and rulings on those laws as applied 

to the facts.  So I'm not saying you didn't have a 

ceremony, but I may -- that may be the effect as it 

pertains to heirship.  It depends what you are able to 

prove without testifying. 

And also, I would say -- I mean, I don't know 

what the relevance is of going back three decades to 

your previous relationship to whether that ceremony 

that took place in 2017 for that one day -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  I'm just saying -- 

THE COURT:  -- is valid.  I don't know how it helps 

to say that you had a relationship going back to the 

1980s or '90s -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  Uh-huh.  

THE COURT:  -- how that helps to convince us under 

the law and the facts that there was a valid and not a 

void or voidable marriage in 2017.  

MS. MCDONALD:  My husband -- 

THE COURT:  So at any rate -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  My husband was not incapacitated.  

There are people that are able to testify to his mental 

fitness.  We also have -- so in bringing it to current, 

it's because my husband was of sound mind and capable 

of knowing and understanding what it was to be married 
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and to make that decision.  He was not under any 

influence of drugs or anything that they have alleged 

in previous hearings. 

In reference to the three decades, I'm just 

saying one of the things that they have alleged is they 

have alleged everything from the fact that, oh, John 

and I just met to he didn't know me, and I'm just 

responding to that, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. MCDONALD:  But in regard to the law, my husband 

was of sound mind.  He wasn't under any influence or 

anything of any type of substances.  He understood 

completely and was, in fact, working at a high 

capacity, which these witnesses can testify to because 

they were working with him prior to his death in a 

professional capacity, as well. 

And we applied for the marriage under the 

Illinois law, and we were granted the marriage license, 

and then in keeping with the way John and I had always 

talked and wanted to, we got married, and we were 

planning for the September -- the following September, 

to have a celebration.  

THE COURT:  All right.  

MS. MCDONALD:  And, of course, Mr. Bement can 
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testify to that, and he would also -- I don't -- not  

to speak for him, but I know he feels strongly that his 

words have been taken out of context, that they have 

been misrepresented.  He indicated he felt -- well, he 

would like an opportunity to clarify and speak to the 

Court and tell Your Honor about what his perceptions 

were.  

THE COURT:  Are we ready to go?  Are you ready to 

go then on Monday morning at 9:00 with your witnesses? 

MS. MCDONALD:  Um, I would -- to answer your 

question right now, no.  I'm not ready at this moment, 

Your Honor.  I'm telling you the truth.  I'm not ready 

at this moment because of some of those things.  I 

don't want to -- but I do know that's the date, and I'm 

not looking to -- again, I'm not looking to, um, waste 

the Court's time.  

THE COURT:  But you are going to be here on Monday 

then -- 

MS. MCDONALD:  Yes, sir.  

THE COURT:  -- to proceed?  

MS. MCDONALD:  Oh, I will be here if I'm expected 

to be here, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Is there anything further 

before we adjourn for the day?  
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MR. KINNALLY:  I would just like to note we have 

five witnesses under subpoena, and I have indicated  

to them that they should probably be here Tuesday.  

I think that would probably -- one of them is a medical 

physician.  Two of them are lawyers.  One of them -- 

one of the witnesses is a lay witness, Mike White, who 

is coming from Marquette, Michigan.  So I don't want 

to -- I just want to let you know that that's when I 

kind of indicated that they should be here.  

THE COURT:  Well, I imagine that's as good a guess 

as saying in the afternoon or the next morning, but the 

petitioner, Ms. McDonald, is the -- her case in chief 

goes first.  

MR. KINNALLY:  I understand.  That's why I just 

wanted to let you know.  

THE COURT:  That's why you probably put them on for 

Tuesday, when it's your case in chief.  

MR. KINNALLY:  Okay.  I just wanted to let you know 

their availability, Judge.  

THE COURT:  All right.  We'll see you then.  

You can let them know that that's probably correct, 

Tuesday.  

MR. KINNALLY:  I just wanted to clarify.  

THE COURT:  We may not have a full day of witnesses 
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on Monday.  I don't know.  We'll see.  Your case may go 

over into Tuesday, but at least the -- I mean, the 

petitioner's case will go over into Tuesday, and then 

the administrator's case would start sometime during 

Tuesday.  Okay.  All right.  

MR. KINNALLY:  We'll prepare an order, Judge. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  

MS. MCDONALD:   Thank you, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

(END OF PROCEEDINGS.)
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
  ) SS.

COUNTY OF KANE    )

I, Jennifer L. Joyce, Official Court Reporter 

for the 16th Judicial Circuit of Illinois, do hereby 

certify that I reported in shorthand all of the 

proceedings had in the above-entitled cause and that 

the foregoing Report of Proceedings is a true, correct, 

and complete transcript of my shorthand notes so taken 

at the time and place hereinabove set forth. 

_______________________________
Jennifer L. Joyce, CSR
Official Court Reporter
License No. 084-003401
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Kane County Circuit C urt THOMAS M HARTWELL ACCEPTED 9/6/2018 2 03 PM By: LB Env #2102594 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

KANE CO UNTY, ILLINOIS 

Estate of 

JOHN W. MCDONALD, Ill, 

Deceased. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

No. 17 P 744 

MOTION 

~11Z- ~ 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Kane Counzy, 1Hinois 

9/6/2018 12 09 PM 

FILED/IMAGED 

NOW COMES Shawn McDonald ("Shawn"), Administrator of the Estate o o 

McDonald, III, by and through his attorneys, Kinnally Flaherty Krentz Loran Hodge & Masur PC, 

and for his Motion states as follows: 

1. The deposition of Ellizzette McDonald occurred on July 25, 2018. 

2. During the deposition, it was learned that Ellizzette McDonald has used many names, 

including Ellizzette Minnicelli, Ellizzette Duvall, Ellizzette Duvall Minnicelli, Ellizzette Duvall 

McDonald, Lisa Anne Blaydes, Lisa Ann Blaydes, Lisa Blaydes, Ellizzette Blaydes Duvall, Ellizzette 

A.M. Duvall, Ellizzette Anne Mareen McDonald, Ellizzette Anne Mareen Minnicelli and Ell izzette 

B. Miiu1icelli. Copies of various purported identification cards are attached hereto as Exhibit I. In 

fact, Ellizzette McDonald, when confronted with her own birth certificate, would not even admit that 

she was Lisa Anne Blaydes (See Exhibit 2). 

3. Additionally, Ellizzette indicated at the time she purportedly married John McDonald 

she was known as Duvall and was born in Lyon, France. (See Exhibit 3). 

4. Also during her deposition, Ms. McDonald indicated she was arrested in New York, 

but could not remember the details. It is believed at that time she was representing herself to be a 

physician, which she is not. 
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5. The identity of Ellizzette McDonald needs to be established. 

Accordingly, the Administrator, Shawn McDonald, by counsel, requests that Ms. McDonald 

be fingerprinted so that her true identity can be established. 

Patrick M. Kinnally (3 126201) 
Kinnally Flaherty Krentz Loran 
Hodge & Masur PC 
21 14 Deerpath Road 
Aurora, IL, 60506 
Phone: 630-907-0909 
Fax: 630-907-0913 
Email: Pkinnally@kfkllaw.com 

Respectfully submitted, 

SHAWN McDONALD 

By:___,7h1---· __,__k:_....c.=-:... . .,t/J.~ - __ 
Patrick M. Ki~ s attorney 
Signed Pursuant to lllinois SCR 137 
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EXHIBIT 1 
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l 

.':~;t)t~~,-~.'.'· 
·,_; ,.. . 

: ;.,,,,,,r- ·-,:;:i/t_·· 

gone 
p ' 

Surname I tlom 

-, DUVALi 
:Jwen names ! Prenoms 

ELLIZZETTE BLAYDES 
;~a!ro,1zlity I Naimnaltle 

UNITED !:HP, TE3 OF AMERICA 
·• ,Vi of o:rih , Gate de na,ssancH 

21 MAR/MAR 63 
·:;ex / S1:~e · Place at t1inl1 ,- lieu de na,ssance 

F ILLINOIS, UsS.A. 
:}a!?- of ;s'.;uc i OJie· G3 cei,vrance DJl:l or m:prration i Date er expiraticiq . 

23 NOV /NOV 99 22 NOV /NOV ,i(:l:;9 
., . . :\u111orlly i Autont,f 

· .. · .. / /.).i ·. PA S S PORT AG EN C Y 

. ....J NEW YORK 

Am"1ndrnents1 
Modificatlonf; 
SEE PAG'.: 

24 

P<USADUVALL<<ELLIZZETTE<BLAYDES<<<<<<<<<<<<< 
1122281395USA6303219F0911223<<<<<<~<<<<<<<<6 

EXHIBIT 
b 
I -----
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PAS_SP:ORT, -1 PASSEPORt:f •,­PASAPORTE ... 

Surname/ Norn/ Apemdos. .·. 
DUVALL 

• ,Given names/ Prenoms/ Nomnres 
.·.·••·•.E1.1IZZETTE BLAYDES · Nationality I Nationalit& / Naciooal!Clad 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Date of birth! Oata de naissance I Fecha de nacim1ento 

.,. ,21 MAR 1963 . ::P.~p_QJ)f birth/ lieu da naiss.:ince I Lugar de nac:1mienta ~i~ .·· ~,: ftllNOIS, USA F q~j1iJj;:;:;:;;::~ ,;':~•C:11w 
' Endorsements I Mlint,ons Spocialas ! Anoucion~ 

SEE PAGE 11 
P <US AD UVAL ~.--·. <<ELLI Z Z E TTE<BLAY DE s«««<.~.· .. <<<<<<. 
7
202 583911 -6303219F 130710800299242<1.134 
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·s IAL ( .. :.(' .. SECUllI'l'l" CCOUNT \,._ . -,,:. HUMBER 

I ~1769 ~ I • ➔ ~S BEEN EST.119LISHE.O FOR l I,.. . A M ; •. Ell1zz_ette .. 
i Ujl 

J 

! 11,1 I SIGN'. TUR£• 

,111 I 
--- ---------- ---- I 
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~--~P"!,,...-~ .. ..,,.-,w~ ........ """"---ill-<-..-..._----.. --- ··-··. 
lll1lc~ ,/ti \'ll< ,;,)i1te { <::;· ·: eC:x:1<'inc;~s en su 1tw-:,1 

_. la l'ur>cle(LJ de Vo·U11 en la Jlilll.·d .tlll\.~S de \1;\\.'\.'.\ \a\\\\\.:,., 

:: :,; 

,:., ':\ :- .. .. 1/i 
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NNJ: ct~LL 1 
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ILLINO[lS 
Jesse White • Secretary of St;ite 

... .ff' -
""·-"i.. ,_·· . ...... ~~~- -,~.,,. 
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. . . . . . : :.:.\'·: :Driver::·Licen·ce 
· ··-New South Wales, Australia 

Efli·zzette Blaydes DUVALL 

UNIT 45 
13 OATLEY RD 
PADPING:TON NSW 2021 
Licence No. 

•-■ ;-, 
~cen~ €~~:::(·· 

;f&:;;T_".~--
Date of Birth 
21 MAR 1963 

Expi~L Date 
25 JUN 2012 
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\ ·.·· 

' 

STATE OF 'ILLINOIS) 

CQunty ol Cook} . DAVID ORR, County Clerk May 10, 2018 

I, David Orr, County Clerk of the County of Cook, in the State aforesaid, and Keeper of the Records and files of said County do herby certify that 

the attache,d is ,the true il()d correct copy of the original Record on file, all of which appears from the records and files in my office:-IN WITNESS 

THEREOF, I :h_a,v~.hereu~~o sefmy hand and affi~ed t he Seal of the County of Co~k. at my office In the City of Chicago·, in said County'. 

' ~· . •.. : : . ·. ' . ' ~ . . . 

1:•1 ~ 

!w'ATCHtN<; I O C HU Uf TN,S ,OMI WlfH Ttl'fWl/fP. 01 e,.,,u l'V,,.,,.,O ORIGINAL 

., 

/ 

• ·, .. 
~~~---~•~' ~,:~~~~ . ~d~ . ~~ 
~ <; 1-1~ ~.,t ! ~ tf~_e.-,~ri.-,\ --,c;r~ Fd s,,,~ or .(,:,.,,.~I IV, 1<1 1,11..,,,, Qc~t,yt 118 ,:,."(! el _.&.'\i:'ICM Cl In{'!,.;;-) 

~ ~ y~ NoTtb State Policecian 
11 J,,lol~'l full 

C. tl.._., 

w.i. ... tJ.m, Keren ·---"T"""--:---- Scl!Y.l~--__ __ .._= ...... '----
I 1C •t1 r4 ,,,~ v c.,.,.,,., 1 16 !Jc11-«·, u..a"C J.<»N 

l,06 Bln Sh:cet 

~'-,t . ·or, l ''-' i,fo. 
,,.,•r, ~,t' 

Des PleiQ~s\ Illinoh 

County of Cook 
State of Illinois 

I 

Office of County Clerk 
David Orr .,,, 

--- --

EXHIBIT 

2 '5148763 

~ o..)r.,..__ 
DAVID ORA COUNTY CLERK 

.This copy is not valid unless displaying embossed seals of Cook <::punty and County Clerk signature. 

i'l'!'Mlftol7$' PU!~~:...,;.,;,_,.., ;n;;- p;;;r:;;li;;~;;:::srr,-r tn&;;:-,it - ~!!/ __. . . "' ~t,~ - • ~-i~~~[-
,\\W.?~t~1r=f'~if'f:rf1"~1.l''lf'r~~}'t'°'=,lltf"~",'.:-~~~~~~I ... ~: nri,.:i,~--r1i~:,::·:-~1; °!'Cl ·-f,. /--.. ~ ·l ., ,~-.... ~ :,_ 

~ .. ,:;. . • fl. 7iJ 111 Jl?:.1! t.~ l'i ~ )1 ft.§, l t fl il/!,l~i 1! ~ l! ~ ;1 ~'{J Y•!i :;.i .;$~~~}., ,; .t...,J.~:i:.1.!~/JL~-i,..!..3.f:1 ~J,.li.J~ .E~i,t~.~:7•w3 
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CERTIFICATION OF MARRIAGE 

GROOM Name: JOHN WOOD MCDONALD, Ill 

Date of Birth: June 6, 1963 

Age at Application: 54 

Place of Birth: ARCADIA, CA 

Parent's Namer JOHN WOOD MCDONALD, JR 

Parent's Name: BRENDA KAY WHITE 

BRIDE Name: ELLIZZETTE DUVALL MINNICELLI 

Last Name at Birth: DUVALL 

Date of Birth: March 21, 1964 

Age at Application: 53 

Place of Birth: LYON, FRANCE 

Parent's Name: BLAINE RAY BLAYDES 

Parent's Name: KAREN SCHULZ 

license Number: M2017-62 

Officiant Name and Title: RAYMOND CARL BEMENT, OFFICIANT 

Ceremony Date: July 11, 2017 

Ceremony Location: PARIS, IL 

Application Date; July 10, 2017 

File Date: July 17, 2017 

· issue Date: January 22, 2018 

CERTIFIED 

EXHIBIT 

I 3 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

Case No 
1
1:, ~A-f z ot 
_ _)0/,,.,v ~J. /v/rf)o.,J;,.lt\ I II 

~ 1'1. Y.:.~- -
Plaintiff(s) Defendant(s) erk of the Circuit Court 

r. 1:_;,,,,,.)A L l ~ 
Kane County, IL 

1"1 I /( l' u \ I..,, 
I ( · • f 1..r- uo:,.\\{,riJ 

Defendant(s) Atty. MAY - 1 2019 Plaintiff(s) Atty. 

Judge }1 u A' .(Ji1 , / I Court Reporter I Deputy Clerk FILED 043 
A copy of this order D should be sent D has been sent ENTERED 

D Plaintiff Atty. D Defense Atty. D Other File Stamp 

ORDER 

/) J ' c;:, I J • ....,, '"H1 ? l) Lil h,)Lh~ llll"[C£ <-

p;/( i',J h' Al/ A f ·11, ~ /r;',4 -v t 

~-/ 

Date: (; ; / o, } I l 
J 

P7-MISC-001 (11/09) 

b '7Af',.,,, # / ,'J ·v-t/{,,"",?--1, , •• / D Yes -Disposal D No - Disposal Judge_;;.,,.~...,~~~ '.v · x \ _,/ 
~7 p ...._ / / 

White - Clerk Yellow and Pink Copies - Parties 
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11/20/2019 8 34 AM IMAGED 

IN THE CIRCUIT C o~;Eo~OTUHNETSYIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
, ILLINOIS 

Case No. 11- p 1-'r'-t 
E,~Ah oF ~ 

_JD l. ,J W· hc/)o.,Jil-L<l nr 'E,(.(. ~l,C:.{ ltt 
Plaintiff(s\ 

/\ cbu,11.-Lcl 

r. I(;.,,, ,J ,t-L_Lr 

Defendant(s\ 

fao 
a!;' M -,.'.,-~ 

(j- . G-a >l ~ l;,,.J J l 

14~~ ~ fr-';'..,,... -
rk oi \he C1rcu1t Court 

Kano County, IL 

Plaintiff(s\ Atrv. 

Judue fl.,,,,_ ,o ~ v 

Defendant(s\ Attv. 

I Court Reporter C::/ ()11(2,_ 

' 

I Dcoutv Clerk 110 NOV 1 8 2019 

A copy of this brdcr D should be sent D has been sen; 
I , 

D Plaintiff Atty. D Defense Atty. D Other 
_ r.~~E~ 110 / / 0 

Et" EnED ilc - -
1'1 c Stamo 

ORDER 

P7-MISC-00 I ( 11109) 
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Kane County Circuit Court THOMAS M. HARTWELL ACCEPTED: 12/19/2019 1 :50 PM By: MF Env #7787265 

APPEAL TO THE APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS - SECOND DISTRICT 
FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KANE COUNTY 

In The Matter of the Estate Of: 

JOHN W. MCDONALD, III. 

Deceased 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 17 P 744 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 

~'111..~ 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Kane County, I l1 inois 

12/18/2019 3:59 PM 

FlLED/lMI\GED 

Respondent-appellant Ellizzette McDonald ("Ellizzette"), by her attorneys, Roeder Law 

Offices LLC, hereby appeals to the Appellate Court of Illinois, Second Judicial District, from the 

following orders of the circuit court entered in this case: 

1. The order of November 18, 2019, granting Shawn McDonald's oral motion for 

directed finding that Ellizzette failed to make a prima facie case for the existence of a valid 

marriage with the decedent and entering a finding of no just reason to delay enforcement or appeal, 

or both, pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 304(a), and from all orders entered in the procedural 

progression leading up to that order; 

2. All judgment and/or orders entered in the procedural progression leading up to the 

directed finding entered on November 18, 2019, including but not limited to the order entered 

September 10, 2018 denying Ellizzette's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. 

By this appeal, respondent-appellant Ellizzette McDonald, will ask the Appellate Court of 

Illinois, Second Judicial District, to reverse and/or vacate the foregoing orders of the circuit court 

and to otherwise remand this matter to the circuit court for proceedings, and for such other and 

further relief as the Appellate Court deems necessary, just, and appropriate. 
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Dated: December 18, 2019 

Steven J. Roeder (ARDC No. 6188428) 
Thomas D. Gipson (ARDC No. 6326949) 
Roeder Law Offices LLC 
77 West Washington Street, Suite 2100 
Chicago, Illinois 60602 
Telephone: (312) 667-6001 
Facsimile: (708) 843-0618 
sjr@roederlawoffices.com 
tdg@roederlawoffices.com 

Respectfully submitted, 

ELLIZZETTE McDONALD 

By: /s/ Steven J. Roeder 
One of Her Attorneys 
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08/16/2019 Order Case Continued for Status C 1884 V2
08/19/2019 Copy of Correspondence Filed C 1885 V2
08/22/2019 Motion C 1901 V3-C 1936 V3
08/22/2019 Notice of Motion Filed C 1937 V3-C 1938 V3
08/22/2019 Notice of Filing Filed C 1939 V3-C 1940 V3
08/23/2019 Notice of Motion Filed C 1941 V3-C 1942 V3
08/23/2019 Subpoena Issued C 1943 V3-C 1944 V3
08/23/2019 Motion Petition Request for Admissions Filed C 1945 V3-C 1952 V3
08/23/2019 Certificate of Service Filed C 1953 V3
08/23/2019 Motion C 1954 V3-C 1959 V3
08/23/2019 Request C 1960 V3-C 1967 V3
08/23/2019 Certificate of Service Filed C 1968 V3
08/23/2019 Subpoena Duces Tecum Certified Mail Filed C 1969 V3-C 1970 V3
08/29/2019 Order Case Continued for Status C 1971 V3
09/10/2019 Notice of Motion Filed C 1972 V3-C 1973 V3
09/10/2019 Motion C 1974 V3-C 1977 V3
09/12/2019 Motion Petition to Withdraw as Attorney Filed C 1978 V3-C 1979 V3
09/12/2019 Notice of Motion Filed C 1980 V3-C 1981 V3
09/12/2019 Notice of Motion Filed C 1982 V3-C 1983 V3
09/17/2019 Subpoena Issued C 1984 V3-C 1985 V3
09/18/2019 Order Grant Leave To Withdraw as Attorney Filed C 1986 V3
09/18/2019 Notice of C 1987 V3
09/19/2019 Notice of Filing Filed C 1988 V3-C 1989 V3
09/19/2019 Response to Motion Filed C 1990 V3-C 1994 V3
09/23/2019 Subpoena Issued C 1995 V3-C 1996 V3
09/23/2019 Notice of Filing Filed C 1997 V3
09/25/2019 Supplemental Disclosure Filed C 1998 V3-C 2003 V3
09/25/2019 Notice of Filing Filed C 2004 V3
10/16/2019 Motion in Limine Filed C 2005 V3-C 2039 V3
10/16/2019 Notice of Motion Filed C 2040 V3-C 2041 V3
10/23/2019 Order Case Continued for Status C 2042 V3
10/23/2019 Appearance Filed C 2043 V3
10/30/2019 Proof of Service Filed C 2044 V3-C 2051 V3
11/04/2019 Notice of Filing Filed C 2052 V3
11/04/2019 Reply to Response Filed C 2053 V3-C 2156 V3
11/13/2019 Proof of Service Filed C 2157 V3-C 2165 V3
11/13/2019 Order Grant C 2166 V3
11/18/2019 Order Grant C 2167 V3
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11/18/2019 Notice of Motion Filed C 2168 V3
11/18/2019 Motion C 2169 V3-C 2171 V3
11/20/2019 Petition for Attorneys Fees Filed C 2172 V3-C 2196 V3
11/20/2019 Report of Proceedings Filed C 2197 V3-C 2235 V3
11/20/2019 Notice of C 2236 V3-C 2237 V3
12/04/2019 Return for Hearing C 2238 V3
12/12/2019 Order Grant Attorney Fees Filed C 2239 V3
12/12/2019 Notice of Hearing Filed C 2240 V3
12/18/2019 Notice of Filing a Notice of Appeal Filed C 2241 V3-C 2242 V3
12/18/2019 Appeal Notice Filed C 2243 V3-C 2244 V3
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